

Bulletin of Yale University

New Haven 1 December 1937

Obituary Record of Graduates of Yale University Deceased during the Year

1936-1937

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

Entered as second-class matter, August 30, 1906, at the post office at New Haven, Conn., under the Act of Congress of July 16, 1894.

Acceptance for mailing at the special rate of postage provided for in Section 1103, Act of October 3, 1917, authorized August 12, 1918.

The BULLETIN, which is issued semimonthly, includes:

- 1. The University Catalogue.
- 2. The Reports of the President and Treasurer.
- 3. The Catalogues of the several Schools.
- 4 The Alumni Directory and the Quinquennial Catalogue.
- 5 The Obituary Record.

· BULLETIN OF

YALE UNIVERSITY

• Obituary Record of Graduates Deceased During the Year Ending July 1, 1937

Including the Record of a Few Who Died Previously, Hitherto Unreported

Number 96

NEW HAVEN Thirty-fourth Series · Number Six 1 December 1937

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Biographies of Graduates	
Yale College	· 5, 233
Sheffield Scientific School	. 139, 237
Graduate School .	. 190, 241
Masters of Arts .	. 190, 241
Doctors of Philosophy .	. 194, 243
School of Medicine	203, 243
Doctors of Medicine	203, 243
Doctor of Public Health	208
School of Law	210, 244
Bachelors of Laws	210, 244
Masters of Laws .	. 221, 249
Divinity School	223, 251
School of The Fine Arts .	. 256
School of Forestry .	231, 257
Supplement	233
Dates of Death of Recipients of Honorary Degrees	259
Dates of Death of Certificate Holders and Non-Graduates	259
Statistics	264
Index	. 265

.

.

-

•

YALE UNIVERSITY OBITUARY RECORD*

YALE COLLEGE

Samuel Dunham, B.A. 1860.

Born February 8, 1835, in Southington, Conn. Died December 4, 1936, in Binghamton, N.Y.

Father, Chauncey Dunham, a farmer and tavernkeeper in Southington; son of Cornelius and Jemima (Andrews) Dunham of Southington; descendant of John Dunham, a member of the original Plymouth Colony. Mother, Sylvia (Langdon) Dunham (1800–1906); daughter of Captain Giles Langdon, who served in the American Revolution, and Sarah (Carter) Langdon of Southington. Yale relatives include a nephew, George M. Dunham, ex-'82 S.

Lewis Academy, Southington. Entered Yale with Class of 1859 but due to a return of a serious eye affection was obliged to withdraw for a year; reëntered with Class of 1860; member Alpha Delta Phi and Scroll and Key.

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1860-62 and Andover Theological Seminary 1862-63 (graduated August, 1863); licensed to preach by South Essex Association of Salem, Mass., February 3, 1863; pastor Congregational Church of West Brookfield, Mass., March, 1863-1870 (ordained and installed October 4, 1864); acting pastor First Church (Congregational), Norwalk, Conn., 1870-72; moved to Binghamton January 1, 1873, and on February 12 organized West Presbyterian Society; pastor West Presbyterian Church 1873-1902, and pastor emeritus since 1902 (the present church building completed in 1899 is a memorial to Mrs. Sarah Clark Dunham); acting pastor Floral Avenue Presbyterian Church (now First Presbyterian Church of Johnson City) June 1, 1906–March 31, 1907, then pastor until retirement October 4, 1914, on the fiftieth anniversary of his ordination; traveled abroad during leaves of absence in 1869-70, March-August, 1890, and 1910; author: An Historical Discourse Delivered at West Brookfield, Mass., on the Occasion of the 150th Anniversary of the First Church in Brookfield, October 16, 1867 (1868), Retrospect of a Happy Ministry (1914), and,

* If the father of an alumnus is a Yale graduate, the father's record is not usually given in this volume, but may be found in published form elsewhere Additional information concerning the graduates whose biographies appear in this volume is on file in the Secretary's Office.

Yale University Obituary Record

several pamphlets and addresses; necrologist Presbytery of Binghamton for over twenty-five years, treasurer 1880–1910, and trustee since 1890; president New England Society of Binghamton; secretary City Ministerial Association 1873–1913 and Broome County Bible Society 1880-90; president State Sabbath Convention 1890; synodical visitor to Union Theological Seminary; commissioner to Auburn Theological Seminary; many times commissioner to the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America; director Broome County Humane Society; member board of examiners of Elmira College 1882–1903 and Broome County Historical Society.

Married (1) October 6, 1863, in Harwinton, Conn., Sarah Maria, daughter of Harley and Clarissa (Wilson) Clark. Children: Clara Langdon (died 1870); Chauncey Wilson (died 1875); Samuel Clark (died 1887); and Luther Langdon (died 1893). Mrs. Dunham died April 9, 1894. Married (2) December 10, 1901, in Binghamton, Robertha Clark, daughter of Robert Clark and Mary Alice (Bartholomew) McLeod of Philadelphia, Pa.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Binghamton Survived by wife. Since December 22, 1934, Mr. Dunham had enjoyed the distinction of being the oldest living graduate of Yale; he was the fifth graduate to exceed one hundred years of age.

> Henry Albert Stimson, B.A. 1865. Born September 28, 1842, in New York City. Died July 18, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Henry Clark Stimson, president Peoples Bank, Paterson, N J., Paterson & Hudson River Railroad, Paterson & Ramapo Railroad, and Dayton & Union of Ohio Railroad; son of Rev. Henry Bowen Stimson (honorary M.A. Williams 1814) and Rebecca (Pond) Stimson of Windham, N.Y. Mother, Julia Maria (Atterbury) Stimson; daughter of Lewis and Catherine (Boudinot) Atterbury of Baltimore, Md., and New York City. Yale relatives include: Rev. John G. Atterbury (B.A. 1831) and Rev. William W. Atterbury (B.A. 1843) (uncles); Dr Lewis A. Stimson, '63, John Ward Stimson, '72, and Frederick J. Stimson, '77 (brothers); Theodore Weston, '53 (brother-in-law); Henry L. Stimson, '88, Frederick W. Weston, '99, J. Frank Stimson, ex-'06, Alfred L. Loomis, '09, Frederick B. Stimson, ex-'15, Boudinot
Stimson, ex-'20, and Rev. William B. Stimson, ex-'22 (nephews); and Charles L. Atterbury, '64, and William W. Atterbury, '86 S. (cousins).

Clerk in drygoods firm of Morton, Grinnell & Company 1858-62; prepared himself for college; entered Yale as a Sophomore; premium in English composition Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; third prize Brothers in Unity debate Junior year and first prize Senior year; vice-president Yale Missionary Society Junior year and Brothers in Unity Senior year; purser Varuna Boat Club Senior year; member Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Traveled abroad 1865-66; attended Union Theological Seminary 1866-67 and Andover Theological Seminary 1867-69 (graduated 1869); pastor Plymouth Congregational Church, Minneapolis, Minn., 1869-80 (ordained May 25, 1870); pastor Union Congregational Church, Worcester, Mass., 1880–86, Pilgrim Congregational Church, St. Louis, Mo., 1886–93, and Broadway Tabernacle, New York City, 1893–96; founder Manhattan Congregational Church, New York City, 1896, pastor until 1917, and pastor emeritus since 1917; member of Commission on Indian Annuities, Redlake, Minn., 1871; recording secretary American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1880–1915; chairman National Council, Committee on Ministerial Relief, 1886-1901; chairman board of directors, Trustees of National Council of the Congregational Churches of the United States, 1901-07; president Congregational Board of Ministerial Relief 1907-23; vice-president American Missionary Association 1871–83 and 1893–1903; honorary vice-president American Tract Society since 1887; director American Bible Society 1908–35 (life member since 1859); lecturer Oberlin Theological Seminary 1891, Andover 1900-04, Chicago 1902-03, Yale 1904-05; acting professor of homiletics Hartford Theological Seminary 1916-17; D.D. Ripon College 1885 and Yale 1893; Litt.D. Mount Holyoke 1934; trustee Carleton College 1870-80, Drury 1886-93, Mount Holyoke since 1894 (honorary member 1928-36), and Hartford Theological Seminary 1903–19; director Chicago Theological Seminary 1874-79; member board of visitors Wellesley College 1882-86; president board of visitors Andover Theological Seminary 1908–12; president Phi Beta Kappa Society of New York 1915–16; corresponding member New York Genealogical and Biographical Society; author: Religion and Business (1894), Questions of Modern Inquiry (1895), The Apostles' Creed (1899), The Right Life and How to Live It (1905), The New Things of God (1908), Behind the World and Beyond (1910), and While the War Rages (1915); editorial writer: The Commercial and Financial Chronicle 1920-30.

Married April 19, 1877, in Chicago, Ill., Alice Wheaton, daughter of Samuel Colcord Bartlett (B.A. Dartmouth 1836; graduate Andover Theological Seminary 1842, D.D. 1861; Litt.D. Princeton 1878; president Dartmouth 1877-92) and Mary Bacon (Learned) Bartlett. Children: Alice Mary (B.A. Vassar 1901; died 1934), the wife of Wilson Fitch Smith (C.E. Columbia 1894); Major Julia Catherine Stimson, Army Nurse Corps (B.A. Vassar 1901; M.A. Washington University 1917; Sc.D. Mount Holyoke 1921); Lucile Hinkle (B.A. Vassar 1904; M.A. Columbia 1906), the wife of Elbert A. Harvey (B.A. Marietta 1902); Henry Bartlett (B.A. 1907; LL.B. Harvard 1910); Philip Moen (B.A. 1910; M.D. Cornell 1914); Dorothy (B.A. Vassar 1912; M.A. Columbia 1913, Ph.D. 1917; dean Goucher College); and Barbara Bartlett (B.A. Vassar 1919; M.D. Columbia 1923, Med.Sc.D. 1934).

Death due to old age complicated by chronic myocarditis. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife (died October 27, 1937), four daughters, two sons, and ten grandchildren, among whom are Dr. Wilson Fitch Smith, Jr., '30, Shepherd Fitch Smith, '36, and Henry B. Stimson, Jr., '40.

Charles Avery Collin, B.A. 1866.

Born May 18, 1846, in Benton, N.Y. Died December 18, 1936, in Goshen, N.Y.

Father, Henry Clark Collin, a farmer in Benton; son of Henry and Nancy (McAlpine) Collin. Mother, Maria Louise (Park) Collin; daughter of Avery and Betsy (Meech) Park. Yale relatives include: William W Collin, '07, and Frederick C. Crosby, '12 S. (nephews); William H. Welch, '70, John L. Wells, '82, Frederic C. Walcott, '91, William S Walcott, '94, Dr. Roswell Park, LL.D. 1902, Roswell Park, '07 S., and Alfred M. Bidwell, '11 S. (cousins).

Penn Yan Academy. Spent Freshman year at Genesee College; joined Class of 1866 at Yale in Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Brothers in Unity, Alpha Delta Phi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Taught at Norwich (Conn.) Free Academy 1866-70; admitted to Connecticut and New York bars 1870; practiced law in Elmira, N.Y., 1870-87; corporation counsel, Elmira, 1881-85; lecturer New York State Reformatory 1880-85; professor of law Cornell University School of Law from its establishment 1887 to 1895; counsel for Governor David B. Hill 1887-92 and for Governor R. P. Flower 1892-95; a commissioner of statutory revision 1889-95; commissioner to revise tax laws State of New York 1893-94; partner in law firm of Sheehan & Collin in New York City 1895-1905; senior partner Collin, Wells & Hughes, New York City, 1905 until retirement in 1935; vice-president National Prison Association; edited supplemental volume of eighth edition (1892) and the annotated ninth edition of the Revised Statutes of New York (1896); contributed to the New Englander, Andover Review, Journal of Social Science, and other periodicals; member Board of Statutory Consolidation 1913-17, National Civil Service Reform Association, American Social Science Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, and New York State Bar Association; affiliated with Presbyterian church.

Yale College

Married (1) May 23, 1871, in Norwich, Emily Lathrop, daughter of George Burbank and Hannah Gardiner (Lathrop) Ripley, and sister of George C. Ripley, '62. Children: Dwight Ripley (died 1932) and Grace Lathrop (B.L. Smith 1896; M.A. Columbia 1899; died 1913). Mrs. Collin died January 19, 1905. Married (2) May 8, 1914, in New York City, Cecilia Eustaphieve, daughter of George Henry and Eliza Cecilia (Eustaphieve) Ganson.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Chester Cemetery, Chester, N.Y. Survived by wife, three grandchildren, three greatgrandchildren, three brothers, Frederick Collin, '71, William W. Collin, '77, and Frank McA. Collin, '80 S., and two sisters, Mrs. Emma C. Crosby of Greenville, Mich., and Mrs. Mary C. Sears, of Geneva, N.Y. His brothers Henry P. Collin, '65, and George Collin, '75, died in 1923 and 1887 respectively.

Isbon Thaddeus Beckwith, B.A. 1868.

Born October 18, 1843, in Old Lyme, Conn. Died September 9, 1936, in Atlantic City, N.J.

Father, William Beckwith, a carpenter and shipbuilder in Old Lyme; son of Titus and Lucy (Chapel) Beckwith of Old Lyme. Mother, Caroline (Champion) Beckwith; daughter of Captain Reuben Champion and Esther (Chadwick) Champion of Old Lyme.

Tutored by Rev. John Cutler Nichols (B.A. 1824) of Old Lyme. Entered Yale in January, 1865; oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; awarded DeForest Gold Medal, first prize in English composition, and second prize in Brothers in Unity Senior debate; member Beethoven Society, Brothers in Unity, Gamma Nu, Alpha Delta Phi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Instructor in Greek University of Tennessee 1868-70; tutor in Greek and graduate student Yale 1870-72 (Ph.D. 1872); studied at universities of Göttingen and Leipsic 1872-74; tutor in Greek Yale College 1874-79; became deacon Protestant Episcopal Church 1875, priest 1876; professor of Greek Trinity College (Hartford, Conn.) 1879-98 (D.D. 1898); professor of literature and interpretation of the New Testament General Theological Seminary, New York City, 1898-1906; lecturer in biblical studies Trinity College 1907-10; engaged in scholarly research and occasional teaching in New York City and Hartford since 1906; editor: *Bacchantes* of Euripides in College Series of Greek Authors (1885); author: *The Apocalypse of John; Studies in Introduction, With a Critical and Exegetical Commentary* (1919); member Archaeological Institute of America, American Philological Association, Society of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, Old Lyme Congregational Church, and a Protestant Episcopal church in Hartford.

9

Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Old Lyme Cemetery. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Henry Taylor Terry, B.A. 1869.

Born September 19, 1847, in Hartford, Conn. Died December 26, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Roderick Terry (ex-1840); son of Roderick and Harriet (Taylor) Terry of Hartford, Conn Mother, Sarah Ann (Pierson) Terry; daughter of Isaac and Nancy (Crane) Pierson of Orange, N.J. Yale relatives include. Rev. John Taylor (B.A. 1784) (great-grandfather); Nathaniel Terry (B.A. 1786) (great-great-uncle); Henry W. Taylor (B.A. 1816) (great-uncle); Edmund Terry (B.A. 1837) (uncle); Charles G Bartlett, '99, and Bennet Bronson, '09 (nephews), Frederic P. Terry, '69, Roderick Terry, '70, Edmund R. Terry, '78, John T. Terry, '79, John P. Terry, '84 S., Wyllys Terry, '85, and George D. Terry, '92 (cousins).

Hartford High School. Second prize Brothers in Unity Freshman debate; fourth division stand and second prize for declamation Sophomore year; second prize Brothers in Unity debate Junior year; dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; treasurer Yale Missionary Society Sophomore year; member Varuna Boat Club, Brothers in Unity, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Delta Beta Xi, Alpha Delta Phi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

In law office of Welch & Shipman, Hartford, 1869-70; attended Yale Divinity and Graduate schools 1871-72; admitted to Connecticut bar in 1872, practiced law in Hartford 1872-74; in Cuba with Chinese Commission to investigate condition of coolies 1874-76; professor of law Imperial University of Tokyo 1876-84; practiced law in New York City 1884-94; instructor in law Yale 1886-87; professor of English law University of Tokyo 1894 until retirement in 1912; LL.D. Northwestern University 1920, decorated with Order of the Rising Sun (Third Class) and Order of the Sacred Treasure (Third and Second Class), Japan; author: *First Principles of Law, The Common Law*, and *Leading Principles of Anglo-American Law*; secretary of the Class of 1869 since 1933; member Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford.

Married July 12, 1899, in Tokyo, Japan, Emily, daughter of Rev. Guido F. Verbeck (Auburn Theological Seminary 1859; D.D. Rutgers 1875) and Maria (Manyon) Verbeck. No children.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. J. Hobart Bronson of Litchfield, Conn.

Stanley Perkins Warren, B.A. 1869.

Born September 15, 1846, in Hamden, Conn. Died October 5, 1936, in Portland, Maine.

Father, Rev. Israel Perkins Warren (B.A. 1838). Mother, Jane Stanley (Stowe) Warren.

Phillips-Andover. On Senior Class Crew; member Delta Kappa, Beethoven Society, Yale Missionary Society, and Brothers in Unity.

Engaged in life insurance business in Bridgeport, Conn., 1869-74; enrolled in Yale School of Medicine 1872-73 (M.D. 1874); practiced medicine in Bridgeport 1874-76, in Farmington, Maine, 1876-79, and in Portland 1879 until retirement in 1926 (specialized in obstetrics); consulting obstetrician Maine General Hospital, Portland, 1901-26; consultant on medical staff Children's Hospital, Portland, 1908-36; consulting physician Maine Eye and Ear Infirmary, Portland, and Portland Infirmary 1886–1936; consulting obstetrician Webber Hospital, Biddeford, Maine, 1917-36; advisory physician Temporary Home for Women and Children, Portland, 1921-36; member Maine Medical Association (president 1912), Cumberland County Medical Association, and New England Obstetrical and Gynecological Society; on Portland School Board 1903-09; first vice-president Maine Yale Alumni Association 1915; secretary Lister Club 1900-36; author: The Principles of Obstetrics (1903); contributed to medical journals; member State Street Congregational Church, Portland.

Married (1) September 13, 1869, in New Haven, Conn., Sarah Elizabeth, daughter of John Goodrich and Elizabeth (Dickinson) North. Mrs. Warren died January 8, 1922. Married (2) October 14, 1922, in Cambridge, Mass., Marion Tilton North, daughter of Charles T. and Marianne (Bennett) Tilton.

Death due to angina pectoris; had suffered from spinal arthritis for several years. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife.

Carrington Phelps, B.A. 1870.

Born October 3, 1848, in North Colebrook, Conn Died October 26, 1936, in Winsted, Conn.

Father, General Edward Arah Phelps of Colebrook; son of Captain Arah Phelps, a Revolutionary soldier. Mother, Elizabeth Strong (Carrington) Phelps.

South Berkshire Institute, New Marlboro, Mass. Second prize for declamation Sophomore year; member Class Baseball Club Freshman and Sophomore years; second lieutenant Senior Boat Club; stroke Senior gig crew; captain Yale Crew Senior year; member Yale Gymnastic Club; literary editor *Courant*; member Linonia, Delta Kappa, and Alpha Delta Phi.

Attended Yale School of Law 1870-71 (intercollegiate single scull champion 1871); practiced law in Milwaukee, Wis., 1871-72; M.A. Yale 1873; engaged in farming in Morris, Minn.; president First National Bank, Morris, 1885-97; returned to North Colebrook 1897 and engaged in farming.

Married September 19, 1872, in Madison, Wis., Anna Catherine Wolcott. Son, Carrington Arah Phelps, ex-'01, ex-'04 L.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in North Colebrook Cemetery. Survived by son and a granddaughter.

Charles Huntington Peck, B.A. 1871.

Born April 9, 1851, in New York City. Died March 18, 1937, in Norwich, Conn.

Father, Elias Peck, a merchant in New York City; son of James and Mary (Holmes) Peck of Greenwich, Conn. Mother, Ellen Perkins (Rogers) Peck; daughter of Daniel and Sally (Harris) Rogers of New London, Conn.

Bartlett High School, New London. Member Yale Missionary Society and Delta Kappa.

Taught in New London 1872-73, and in Huntington, N.Y., 1873-76; principal Bridgeport (Conn.) High School 1876-79; attended Yale Divinity School 1879-82 (B.D. 1882); ordained December 5, 1882; pastor Congregational church Griswold, Conn., 1882-89, North Bennington, Vt., 1889-1905, Hanover, Conn., 1905-12, Marshfield, Mass., 1912-17, Essex, Conn., 1917-24, and Broad Brook, Conn., 1924 until retirement in 1934 (became pastor emeritus October, 1934); had since lived in Norwich; secretary of the Class of 1871 since 1923; member Park Congregational Church, Norwich.

Married (1) December 27, 1876, in Huntington, Anna Crossman (Vassar 1872), daughter of Gilbert and Mary (Gould) Crossman. Children: Roger Crossman (B.A. 1900; M.A. Columbia 1904; died 1922); Edith Warren (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1902); Ellen Rogers; Theodora (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1910), the wife of Andrew Scarlett; and Carroll Wilmot. Mrs. Peck died March 26, 1906, in Stamford, Conn. Married (2) May 22, 1912, in Hanover, Helen, daughter of George and Margaret (Kane) Eadie of Glasgow, Scotland.

Death due to myocardîtis. Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New London. Survived by wife, one son, three daughters, and five grand-children.

Yale College

John Leal, B.A. 1874.

Born January 1, 1849, in Meredith, N.Y. Died October 25, 1936, in Plainfield, N.J.

Father, Alexander Thomas Leal, a farmer in Delaware County, N.Y.; son of John and Martha (McLaury) Leal of Delaware County. Mother, Margaret (Bell) Leal; daughter of James and Isabella (Mc-Morris) Bell of Delaware County.

Walton (N.Y.) schools. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Gamma Nu.

Principal Warren (Mass.) High School 1874–76, and Key West (Fla.) High School 1876–77; taught mathematics at Columbia Grammar School, New York City, 1877–78; taught at Pingry School, Elizabeth, N.J., 1878–82; founder and principal Mr. Leal's School for Boys, Plainfield, 1882 until retirement in 1916; had continued to reside in Plainfield and tutor individual students; member and former elder Crescent Avenue Presbyterian Church, Plainfield.

Married (1) January 30, 1879, in Manchester, Vt., Cornelia Harriet, daughter of Henry Purdy and Harriet (Seargent) Way. Children: Henry Way, ex-'02 S., and Margaret. Mrs. Leal died July 22, 1890. Married (2) April 3, 1893, in Plainfield, Elizabeth Dudley, daughter of Henry Purdy and Delia C. (Dudley) Way. Daughter, Dorothy Dudley.

Death due to an intestinal obstruction. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield. Survived by wife and children.

John Anson Garver, B.A. 1875.

Born July 11, 1854, in Scotland, Pa. Died October 23, 1936, in Oyster Bay, N.Y.

Father, Samuel Garver (Pennsylvania [now Gettysburg] College 1840-42), a farmer in Scotland and vice-president National Bank, Chambersburg, Pa.; son of Samuel and Margaretta (Emerick) Garver of Washington County, Md., and Scotland, Pa. Mother, Sarah (Coldsmith) Garver; daughter of David and Sarah (Huber) Coldsmith of Franklin County, Pa.

Phillips-Andover. Second prize in debating Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; Townsend Premium Senior year; Commencement Speaker; Class Baseball Team Junior and Senior years; Class Football Team Senior year; member Gamma Nu, Phi Theta Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Columbia University Law School 1875–77 (LL.B. 1877); admitted to New York bar 1877 and had since practiced law in New York City and before state and federal courts and United States Supreme Court; with Chamberlain, Carter & Eaton 1877-79; entered firm of Shearman & Sterling 1879, admitted to partnership 1884, senior partner 1918 -36; counsel for the Trustees of the Estate of John W. Sterling, '64, his partner, and for many years actively associated with the University in planning for the establishment of endowments and for the erection of buildings under the provisions of Mr. Sterling's will; officer and director of many corporations, including National City Bank of New York, New York Trust Company, Great American Insurance Company, and Consolidated Gas Company; author: John William Sterling (1929), member board of directors Phillips Academy Alumni Fund and benefactor of that school; member American Bar Association, New York State Bar Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York (vice-president 1920–22 and chairman executive committee 1910), New York Law Institute, Legal Aid Society, Metropolitan Museum of Art, Museum of Natural History, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Association for the Protection of the Adirondacks, New York Botanical Garden, and American Geographical Society; Associate Fellow of Trumbull College, Yale University, 1934-36.

Married October 5, 1882, in Mt. Carmel, Conn., Rebecca Cone, daughter of Rev. Joseph Brewster (B.A. 1842) and Sarah (Bunce) Brewster, and sister of the Rt. Rev. Chauncey B. Brewster, '68, James H. Brewster, '77 S., Rev. William J. Brewster, '81, and the Rt. Rev. Benjamin Brewster, '82. Son, Chauncey Brewster Garver, '08 (LL B. Harvard 1911).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Memorial Cemetery, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y. Survived by wife, son, and two granddaughters.

In 1927 Mr. Garver established the John A. Garver chair of Jurisprudence in the School of Law and added to this endowment by further gift in his will.

Clark Phelps Howland, B.A. 1875.

Born October 3, 1849, at Columbia Cross Roads, Pa. Died July 10, 1936, in East Smithfield, Pa.

Father, Thomas Balus Howland, a farmer at Columbia Cross Roads; son of Phineas and Hannah (Hammond) Howland of Columbia Cross Roads. Mother, Fanny Louisa (Phelps) Howland; daughter of Ralph and Esther (Rudd) Phelps of East Smithfield.

Walton (N.Y.) Academy; attended Wesleyan University 1871-73 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon); entered Yale as a Junior.

Teacher in General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven, 1875-77; principal Tabor Academy, Marion, Mass., 1877-93, The Academy of Drury College, Springfield, Mo., 1893-1906, and St. Johnsbury (Vt.) Academy 1906-09; engaged in farming at Milan, Pa., 1909 until retirement in 1924; principal East Smithfield High School 1917-22; honorary M.A. Drury 1896; president East Smithfield Dairy Company 1913-22; member East Smithfield Congregational Church.

Married July 11, 1876, in Warren, Mass., Mary Bishop, daughter of Silas and Caroline (Bishop) Wilder. Children: Henry Phelps (B.S. University of Wisconsin 1903; died 1928); Silas Wilder (B.A. Harvard 1904, LL.B. 1907); and Ralph Bishop (B.S. Purdue 1910). Mrs. Howland died November 2, 1912.

Death due to debility following an attack of pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Marion. Survived by two sons and five grandchildren.

John Harold Philip, B.A. 1876.

Born July 17, 1856, in Claverack, N.Y. Died November 23, 1936, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, James Francıs Philip, M.D., a physician in Claverack; son of John G. and Margaret (Kittle) Philip of Germantown, Pa. Mother, Nancy Evelyn (Porter) Philip.

Hudson River Institute, Claverack. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Class Baseball Team (captain Sophomore year), Delta Kappa, and Phi Theta Psi.

Engaged in teaching in New York State for several years; headmaster St. Matthew's Hall, a school for boys in San Mateo, Calif., 1884-92; attended Bellevue Hospital Medical College, New York University, 1892-95 (M.D. 1895); practiced in San Francisco as an eye, ear, nose, and throat specialist since 1896; member Grace Cathedral (Episcopal), San Francisco.

Married September 4, 1893, in Chicago, Ill., Eunice, daughter of Samuel William and Adalene Emma (Whipple) Johnson. Children Charles Whipple (Stanford University 1915–16); Eunice, the wife of William M. Hutchins; and John Harold, Jr.

Death due to septic poisoning. Buried in Cypress Lawn Columbarium, San Mateo County, Calif. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

James George Rodger, B.A. 1876.

Born July 3, 1851, in Hammond, N.Y. Died March 8, 1937, in Camden, N.J.

Father, Robert Rodger, a master carpenter and farmer in Hammond; son of William and Agnes (Hill) Rodger of St. Boswell's, Scotland. Mother, Ann (Waddell) Rodger; daughter of Henry and Elizabeth (Ferrier) Waddell of Parish of Jedboro, Scotland.

Geneseo Academy. Captain '76 Baseball Team Junior year; Secretary '76 Debating Club; on Class Supper Committee Senior year; member Gamma Nu.

Engaged in private study 1876-77; teacher of Greek Peekskill Military Academy 1877–78 and mathematics Indianapolis Classical School 1878-79; studied at Harvard Divinity School 1879-80 and at the University of Leipzig 1880-82; traveled abroad 1882-83; attended Union Theological Seminary 1883-84 (graduated 1884); ordained to Presbyterian ministry May 20, 1884; pastor New Hamburg (N.Y.) Presbyterian Church 1884-85; organized 1885 and pastor 1885-90 Benedict Memorial Church (Presbyterian), New Haven, Conn.; studied anatomy at University of Edinburgh 1890-92; pastor Ogdensburg (N.Y.) Congregational Church 1893-94; president National Correspondence College, Buffalo, N.Y., 1894-95 and Benzonia College (now combined with Olivet College) 1895-96; Ph.D. Benzonia 1896; professor of Christian evidence Interstate College, Humphreys, Mo., 1896–1903; founder 1904 and since president International University Union, Inc., with headquarters in Washington, D.C., and Shanghai, China (managing director of its religio-scientific institutes); director (for China, Japan, India, Russia, and Australia) American School of Correspondence 1914-16; author: Theada and Ganzalo (1895), The Science of the Ultimate (1900), The Gospel of Science (1904), Does Science Supply a Basis for Religion (1912), Living Epistles (1916), and The Christ of Science (1920); fellow Royal Meteorological Society, London; director Gardener's Institute (project for the unemployed), Camden, since 1930; member Presbyterian church.

Married (1) October 22, 1885, in Oberlin, Ohio, Mary Anne Waddell (B.L. Oberlin 1885), daughter of Peter Young and Sarah (Foster) Waddell. Children: Sarah Churchill (died in 1888); Theodora Ann (Occidental College 1910), the wife of Noble Karl Stogdill (Stanford University 1911–12); Hewit Douglass (LL.B. University of Chattanooga 1909); and Elizabeth Constance (University of California 1917–18). Mrs. Rodger died July 13, 1906. Married (2) May 22, 1920, in Camden, Clara Louise Horner (M.D. Woman's Medical College of Pennsylvania 1912), daughter of Lorenzo Dow and Suanna (Swing) Horner.

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Overlook Cemetery, Bridgeton, N.J. Survived by wife, son, two daughters, one grandson, and a brother, David R. Rodger (B.A. Hamilton College 1882; M.D. Columbia 1888) of Richmond Hill, N.Y.

James Parkhill Andrews, B.A. 1877.

Born October 23, 1854, in East Windsor, Conn. Died September 10, 1936, in West Hartford, Conn.

Father, Rev. Samuel James Andrews (B.A. Williams College 1839; Lane Theological Seminary 1845; D.D. Union College 1879), member Connecticut, Ohio, and New York bars, sometime professor of philosophy Trinity College, and pastor Catholic Apostolic Church, Hartford, Conn., 1868–99; son of Rev. William Andrews (B.A. Middlebury College 1806) and Sarah (Parkhill) Andrews of Danbury, Conn. Mother, Catharine Augusta (Day) Andrews; daughter of Thomas Day (B.A. 1797) and Sarah (Coit) Day of Hartford. Yale relatives include: Jeremiah Day (B.A. 1756) (great-grandfather); President Jeremiah Day (B.A. 1795) and Mills Day (B.A. 1803) (great-uncles); Thomas M. Day (B.A. 1837) (uncle); Thomas Day Seymour (honorary M.A. 1870), Thomas M. Day, '86, Arthur P. Day, '90, Clive Day, '92, Charles Seymour, '08, Charles M. Andrews (honorary M.A. 1910, Litt.D. 1935) (cousins).

Hartford Public High School. On Class Baseball Team Freshman and Sophomore years; secretary and treasurer Class Boat Club and Class Baseball Club Junior and Senior years; president University and Class Baseball clubs Senior year; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Phi Theta Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Yale School of Law 1877-79 (honors in Senior year; LL.B. 1879); engaged in practice of law in Hartford 1879-94 (served as deputy coroner and as special prosecuting city attorney); reporter Connecticut Supreme Court of Errors 1894 until retirement in 1924; director Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company 1910-36; trustee Connecticut Institute for the Blind, Connecticut Junior Republic 1909-36, and the Hartford Retreat 1918-36; author: An Index-Digest of the Connecticut Reports to Volume XLVIII (1883) and An Index-Digest of the Connecticut Reports to Volume LXIII (1896); editor: An Index-Digest of the Connecticut Reports, Volumes LXIV to XCVII, inclusive (1924); contributed to Yale Law Journal, Memorial History of Hartford County; member American Bar Association, Connecticut State Bar Association, and Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford.

Married August 27, 1895, in Ashfield, Mass., Julia Lincoln, daughter of Charles Henry and Julia Anna (Clark) Ray of Chicago, Ill. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Old North Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife.

Charles Hamot Strong, B.A. 1877.

Born March 14, 1853, in Erie, Pa. Died November 8, 1936, in Erie, Pa.

Father, Landaff Strong (B.A. Trinity 1842), a physician in Erie; son of Captain Martin Strong and Sarah (Drake) Strong of Summit Township, Pa. Mother, Catharine Cecilia (Hamot) Strong; daughter of Pierre Simon Vincent Hamot, who came to the United States from France in 1802, and Elizabeth (Keefer) Hamot of Erie.

Erie Academy and private tutor in New Haven, Conn. Class Historian; member Junior Prom Committee, Delta Kappa, Delta Beta Xi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Studied law in the office of Frank Gunnison in Erie 1877–79; shipping clerk Mount Hickory Iron Works, Erie, 1879–81, chairman 1881–83, and president about 1883–84; president Union Coal Company of Shamokin, Pa., 1884–87, Erie & Pittsburgh Railroad 1891– 1931, and Spring Valley Coal Company of Illinois 1891–1931; founded Edison Electric & Power Company (later Erie County Electric Company) 1886 (president 1886–1936); vice-president W. L. Scott Company and Youghiogheny River Coal Company about 1884–92; organized Dispatch Publishing Company of Erie (now Record Publishing Company, which publishes the *Erie Dispatch-Herald*) 1902 (president 1902–24 and 1932–36); organized the Hamot Hospital 1881 in his birthplace and supported it liberally; member board of managers 1884–1936 (secretary 1886–1918, president 1918–19, and member executive committee 1889–95); member St. Paul's Cathedral (Episcopal), Erie.

Married September 8, 1881, in Erie, Annie Wainwright, daughter of William Lawrence and Mary Matilda (Tracy) Scott. Daughter, Mrs. Thora Scott Strong. Mrs. Charles H. Strong died May 19, 1928.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Erie Cemetery. Survived by daughter and one granddaughter, Miss Thora Scott Ronalds.

Frank Woodruff Wheaton, B.A. 1877.

Born August 27, 1855, in Binghamton, N.Y. Died February 4, 1937, in Kingston, Pa.

Father, Thomas Jefferson Wheaton, a physician in Binghamton, NY., and Wilkes-Barre, Pa.; served as engineer on the monitor *Dictator* 1861-65; son of Moses Ballou and Mary (Aldrich) Wheaton of Jackson, Pa. Mother, Maria Theresa (Woodruff) Wheaton; daughter of Lewis Harlow Woodruff (B.A. Hamilton 1825) and Almeda (Hutchinson) Woodruff of Dimock, Pa. Yale relatives include: Aaron Hutchinson (B.A. 1747) (great-great-grandfather); Clarence S.Woodruff, '78 (uncle); George W. Woodruff, '89 (cousin); and Samuel W. Rhoads, '03, and William S. Kelly, '21 (nephews).

Binghamton Central High School and Hopkins Grammar School. Member Freshman Crew; on Class Baseball Team and University Baseball Team four years (substitute Freshman year); member Yale Record board, Junior Prom Committee, Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Read law in office of E. P. & J. V. Darling, Wilkes-Barre, 1877-79; admitted to Pennsylvania bar September 2, 1879; practiced with E. P. & J. V. Darling 1879-92; senior member Wheaton, Darling & Woodward, Wilkes-Barre, 1892-1901; judge Court of Common Pleas of Luzerne County, Pa., July, 1901-April, 1907; resigned to resume private practice; counsel for the Lehigh Valley Coal Company, Wilkes-Barre, 1892-1901 and 1907-10, general counsel and a director 1910-37, vice-president January 1-April 13, 1921, and chairman board of directors 1921-37; trustee Lafayette College 1921-26; director Miners National Bank of Wilkes-Barre 1899-1937, and general counsel 1916-37; a director and general counsel Wilkes-Barre Street Railway Corporation; represented Yale Alumni associations of the Wyoming Valley and Scranton on the Alumni Board 1920-37; member Wilkes-Barre City Council 1884-87, Historical Society of Pennsylvania, and St. Stephen's Episcopal Church, Wilkes-Barre.

Married May 16, 1879, in Binghamton, Lavinia Maria, daughter of Elisha and Mary (Cornwall) Covell. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Jessie E. Wheaton Sherman of Frankford, Pa.

Douglas Putnam Birnie, B.A. 1878.

Born September 3, 1856, in Springfield, Mass. Died March 21, 1937, in Washington, D.C.

Father, William Birnie, a railway contractor in Springfield; son of George and Anne (Quirie) Birnie of Edinburgh, Scotland. Mother, Martha Noyes (Perkins) Birnie; daughter of Henry and Abby (Noyes) Perkins of Plainfield, Conn. Yale relatives include: Joseph Perkins, B.A. 1727 (great-great-grandfather), and Edmond J. Birnie, '22 (nephew).

Springfield High School and Williston Academy. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; on Class Football Team Sophomore year; purser Dunham Boat Club and on Class Crew Senior year; member Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, Wolf's Head, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Principal Rockville (Conn.) High School 1878-80; studied at Yale

Divinity School and traveled abroad 1880-82; attended Union Theological Seminary 1882-85 (B.D. 1885); pastor First Presbyterian Church, Cazenovia, N.Y., 1885-90, Allston Congregational Church, Boston, Mass., 1890-95, Central Union Church, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1895-99, Presbyterian Church, Rye, N.Y., 1899-1913; acting pastor Sixth Presbyterian Church, Washington, 1914–17, Gunton Temple Memorial Presbyterian Church, Washington, 1918-22; pastor Chevy Chase Presbyterian Church, Georgetown Presbyterian Church, and First Presbyterian Church, Washington, 1922–29; retired in 1929 and resided in Washington and in Lakeville, Conn.; trustee George Washington University 1914-29 (D.D. 1918); member Sons of American Revolution.

Married January 22, 1890, in New York City, Lucia Lasell, daughter of Titus Benjamin and Lucia (Lasell) Meigs. Daughter, Martha Noyes (B.A. George Washington University 1915, M.A. 1916), the wife of James W. Farmer (Virginia Polytechnic Institute ex-'19).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Springfield Cemetery. Survived by wife and daughter. His brothers, Thomas N. Birnie, '76, and Walter Birnie, ex-'94 S., died in 1906 and 1934 respectively.

Alexander Jay Bruen, B.A. 1878.

Born August 10, 1855, in Newport, R.I. Died February 25, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Alexander McWhorter Bruen (B.A. Rutgers 1830; M.D. Columbia 1836); son of Mathias and Hannah (Coe) Bruen. Mother, Louisa (Jay) Bruen; daughter of William Jay (B.A. 1807) and Hannah Augusta (McVickar) Jay. Yale relatives include: Peter A. Jay, honorary M.A. 1798 (great uncle); W. Livingston Bruen, '79 (brother); Pierre Jay, '92, and the set of (cousins). Attended school and the City, Paris and Nice, France, and Dresden, Germany, Second Coloquy appointment Senior year; mem-

ber Dunham Boat Club, Gamma Nu, and Linonia.

Attended Columbia Law School (ex-1880); practiced law independently in New York City until retirement in 1927; author: Our Charities and How They are Managed; member St. James Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married June 19, 1907, in Little Silver, N.J., Constance Louise, daughter of Edward Charles and Eliza Winthrop (Carville) Fiedler. Children: Alexander Jay, Jr., '32; Edward Fiedler Livingston; Constance Louisa Jay Fiedler; and Evelyn Louisa. Mrs. Bruen died November 25, 1935.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Jay Cemetery, Rye, N.Y. Survived by children.

Andrew Fay Currier, B.A. 1878.

Born March 17, 1851, in Norwich, Conn. Died March 4, 1937, in Cheshire, Conn.

Father, Andrew Jackson Currier, a founder of Norwich Free Academy, and a merchant tailor and woolen manufacturer in Norwich and in Poughkeepsie, N.Y.; son of William and Martha (Hammond) Currier of Gonic, N.H. Mother, Anna Rice (Fay) Currier; daughter of Lewis and Anna (Tilton) Fay of Northboro, Mass.

Riverview Military Academy, Poughkeepsie. Entered Yale in 1867 with Class of 1871; withdrew in 1868 and engaged in business; reëntered in January, 1876, as a Sophomore with Class of 1878; first colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; leader Class Glee Club; business manager *Yale Record*; member University Glee Club (business manager Junior and Senior years), College Choir, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Psi Upsilon, Linonia, and Brothers in Unity.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1878-80 (M.D. 1880) and Columbia University 1880-81 (M.D. 1881); interne Woman's Hospital, New York City, 1880-82; practiced medicine in New York City 1882-1914, and in Mt. Vernon, N.Y., 1894–1914, specializing in obstetrics and gynecology; visiting and consulting surgeon (gynecology) Bellevue Hospital and Skin and Cancer Hospital, New York City, Mt. Vernon Hospital, and Ossining (N.Y.) Hospital; instructor in diseases of women New York Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital 1887-91; retired from active practice in 1914; health editor New York Evening Globe 1914-24, New York Evening Sun 1924-25, and Brooklyn Standard Union 1925-27; author: The Menopause (1897) and How to Keep Well (1924); contributed to medical journals and encyclopedias and wrote medical articles for syndicates and manufacturing chemists; secretary for over forty years New York Society for the Relief of Widows and Orphans of Medical Men; president Mt. Vernon Public Library 1895–1904; member St. Peter's Episcopal Church, Cheshire; bequeathed to Yale University the residue of his estate to establish the Andrew Fay Currier Fund for worthy, needy students.

Married May 2, 1883, in Hamden, Conn., Mary Lansing, daughter of Willis and Emily (Goodyear) Goodyear, and sister of Willis H. Goodyear, '86. Son, Scott Hurtt (died 1898). Mrs. Currier died January 8, 1929.

Death due to septicemia. Buried in Centerville Cemetery, Hamden. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Arthur Payson Dana, B.A. 1878.

Born January 23, 1855, in Brookline, Mass Died November 26, 1936, in South Yarmouth, Mass.

Father, Charles Blanchard Dana, a commission merchant in Boston, Mass.; son of Nathaniel and Mary (Blanchard) Dana of Boston and Brookline. Mother, Phoebe (Payson) Dana, a descendant of Elder William Brewster; daughter of Rev. George Payson and Lois Walker (Lord) Payson of Kennebunkport, Maine.

Allen's English and Classical School, West Newton, Mass. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; Commencement Speaker Senior year; member Gamma Nu.

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1878-81 and Andover Theological Seminary 1881-82; missionary and preacher at St. Saviour's Mills, Ga., 1882-85; studied and traveled in Europe 1885-86; attended Boston University Law School 1886-88; practiced law in Boston from about 1889 until retirement in 1920; water commissioner for Wellesley, Mass., 1894-1903; resided in Wellesley until March, 1936, and then in South Yarmouth; an incorporator in 1897 of the Massachusetts Society of Mayflower Descendants; treasurer Woodlawn Cemetery Corporation 1887-1928 (director until death) and Wellesley Chapter American Red Cross 1917-19; member Boston Art Club, Boston Artists Guild, the Athenæum Society, Horticultural Society, Wellesley Historical Society, Natick Historical Society, Society of Natural History; Congregationalist, but affiliated with St. Andrew's Episcopal Church, Wellesley.

Married June 1, 1912, in Boston, Mass., Annie Juliette Electa, daughter of Dr. George Thomas Perkins (Harvard Medical School 1855-58) and Annie Jane (Eccleston) Perkins. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Mount Auburn Cemetery, Cambridge, Mass. Survived by wife.

Wallace Worth Hite, B.A. 1878.

Born September 18, 1853, in Lancaster, Ohio. Died February 12, 1937, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, John Calhoun Hite, superintendent Boys' Industrial School, Lancaster; son of Samuel and Catherine (Hockman) Hite. Mother, Mary (Miller) Hite; daughter of Benjamin and Eleanor (Pence) Miller Yale relatives include a cousin, Howard Humiston, '02.

Prepared for college by Rev. George F. Moore, '72. President University Boat Club Senior year; member Linonia, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Taught in Boys' Industrial School, Lancaster, 1878–79; with Harper

Yale College

& Brothers in Columbus and Cincinnati, Ohio, 1879-85; an editor Cincinnati Graphic and manager of the St. Louis edition 1885-87; engaged in ranching in New Mexico 1887-91; owned and edited Albuquerque (N.Mex.) Weekly Times (changed to a daily publication 1892) 1891-95; chief of Draftsmen's Division, United States Patent Office, Washington, D.C., 1895-1906; was located in Los Angeles for some years; superintendent of talc mine in Mohave Desert 1919 until about 1927; engaged in free-lance newspaper work in Los Angeles 1927 until retirement in 1933; member Washington Anthropological Society and Washington Humane Society 1897-1901.

Married July 2, 1889, in Albuquerque, Olive Colvin Ennis, daughter of Isaac and Lucinda (Stafford) Colvin. Mrs. Hite died in 1917.

Death due to heart attack. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Carlton Rogers Jewett, B.A. 1878.

Born March 5, 1852, in Moravia, N.Y. Died May 20, 1937, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, Guernsey Jewett, owner of a general store in Moravia; son of Josiah and Elizabeth (Smith) Jewett of Moravia. Mother, Eliza (Carter) Jewett; daughter of Eleazer and Belinda (Buel) Carter of Warren, Conn. Yale relatives include: Josiah Jewett, '63, and Charles S. Jewett, '87 S. (cousins).

Union School, Moravia; assistant surveyor, farmer, and clerk in his father's store 1869–73; attended Morristown (N.J.) Preparatory School 1873–74. Entered Yale 1874; first colloquy appointment Junior year; secretary University Boat Club Junior year; an editor Yale *Index* Senior year; on Class Cup Committee; member '78 Chess Club, Delta Kappa, Delta Beta X1, Hé Boulé, Ps1 Ups10n, and Scroll and Key.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1878–81 (M.D. 1881); on staff of Charity Hospital, New York City, 1881–82, and of Maternity Hospital, New York City, 1882–83; practiced medicine in Buffalo 1883 until retirement in 1922; visiting physician Sisters of Charity Hospital, Buffalo; 1885–90; made his home in Buffalo but spent winters in the South since retirement; charter member Buffalo Pathological Society 1888; member New York State Medical Society, Erie County Medical Society, and Sons of the American Revolution; elder Westminster Church (Presbyterian), Buffalo, 1902–32.

Married October 8, 1885, in Buffalo, Jessie, daughter of Nelson and Susan Ann (Clarke) Holland, and sister of Nelson C. Holland, '99. Children: Nelson Holland, '09 (died 1922), Carlton Clarke, '10, and Theodore Carter (M.E. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1916).

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Ashes interred in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by wife, two sons, and six grandchildren.

Benjamin Rush Wendell, B.A. 1878.

Born November 13, 1855, in Cazenovia, N.Y. Died May 31, 1937, in Cazenovia, N.Y.

Father, Benjamin Rush Wendell, a lawyer in Cazenovia; son of Dr. Peter Wendell and Elizabeth (VanKleeck) Wendell of Albany, N.Y. Mother, Margaret TenEyck (Burr) Wendell; daughter of William Morchlar and Catherine (TenEyck) Burr of Cazenovia. Brother, TenEyck Wendell, '80.

Cazenovia Seminary. Dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; member Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Studied at home 1878–79; traveled abroad 1879–80; studied at Columbia University School of Law 1880–82 (LL.B. 1882); M.A. Yale 1883, practiced law in association with his brother in firm of Wendell & Wendell 1882 until the latter's retirement in 1891; had traveled extensively; made his home in Cazenovia; commissioner of Evergreen Cemetery, Cazenovia, since 1911; director Utica and Mohawk Valley Cotton Mills 1894–1914 and Cazenovia National Bank 1901–25; president Cazenovia club 1923–34; member Society of the Cincinnati, Order of the Acorn, and St. Nicholas Society; elder and a trustee First Presbyterian Church, Cazenovia, since 1900.

Married April 25, 1895, in New York City, Sarah Delano, daughter of Foster Swift (B.A. Harvard 1854; M.D. Columbia 1857) and Alıda (Fitzhugh) Swift. No children.

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery. Survived by wife.

John Wurts, B.A. 1878.

Born July 10, 1855, in Carbondale, Pa. Died August 6, 1936, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Charles Pemberton Wurts, general superintendent Delaware & Hudson Canal Company, Carbondale; son of George and Abigail (Pettit) Wurts of Boonton, N.J. Mother, Laura (Jay) Wurts; daughter of John Clarkson Jay (B.A. Columbia 1827, M.D. 1831) and Laura (Prime) Jay of Rye, N.Y. Yale relatives include: William Livingston (B.A. 1741) (great-great-great-great-grandfather); Peter VanB. Livingston (B.A. 1731), John Livingston (B.A. 1733), and Philip Livingston (B.A. 1737) (great-great-great-great-uncles); Peter A. Jay (honorary M.A. 1798) (great-grandfather); William Jay (B.A. 1807) (great-greatuncle), and Albert S. Wurts, '64, Edward V. Wurts, '92 S., Pierre Jay, '92, and John Jay, '98 (cousins).

Hopkins Grammar School. On Class Football Team Freshman and

Sophomore years; member Delta Kappa; left college in Sophomore year; enrolled with graduates of Class of 1878 in 1905.

Engaged in sheep farming in Fayetteville, W.Va., 1878-82; attended Yale School of Law 1882-84 (LL.B. 1884; won John Addison Porter Prize 1883); member of law firm of Wurts & Fletcher, Jacksonville, Fla., 1884–95; instructor in elementary law and real property Yale School of Law 1895–96, assistant professor of law 1896–97, professor of elementary law, real property, and trusts 1897-1903, Lafayette S. Foster Professor of Common Law 1903-20, and professor emeritus since 1920; exchange professor at University of California 1914-15; lecturer on law of contracts U.S. Military Academy 1916 and of prerogative writs University of Florida 1922-23; had lived in New Haven, Conn., and Melrose, Fla., since retirement; LL.M. Yale 1889 and honorary M.A. 1897; author: The Anti-Slavery Movement with Relation to the Federal Constitution (1883), Cases in Federal Practice (1905), and The Law of Habeas Corpus (1915); compiled Index-Digest of the Decisions of the Supreme Court of the State of Florida, Volumes 1-23 inclusive (1889 and subsequent editions); edited Washburn's A Treatise on the American Law of Real Property (1902); contributed to Yale Law Journal; member American Bar Association and American Social Science Association.

Married (1) June 26, 1878, in Bergen Point, N.J., Florence, daughter of Seguine and Lavinia (Young) LaTourette. Children: John Conrad, *ex-'00* S. (died 1911); Bertha, the wife of James L. Boyce, '01; Albert; Laura Jay; Burkhardt; and Eleanor (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1906-07), the wife of Thomas Wallace, 3d, *ex-'14*. Mrs. Wurts died March 27, 1922. Married (2) October 2, 1924, in New Haven, Louise Beverley Gue Johnson, daughter of Theron Rudd and Mary Josephine (Smith) Gue.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif. Survived by wife, daughters, two sons, and a brother, P. Jay Wurts, '91 S. His brothers Rudolf J. Wurts, '78, Charles P. Wurts, '80, and Alexander J. Wurts, '83 S., died in 1935, 1930, and 1932 respectively.

Oliver Turnbull Crane, B.A. 1879.

Born November 14, 1856, in Huron, N.Y. Died October 5, 1936, in Helena, Mont.

Father, Rev. Oliver Crane (B.A. 1845). Mother, Marion Dunn (Turnbull) Crane.

Morristown (N.J.) Select Classical School and Hopkins Grammar School. Member Delta Kappa and Psi Upsilon.

Studied law in private office in Morristown 1879-82; admitted to

New Jersey bar 1881; engaged in sheep raising in Montana 1883-86; postgraduate study of Semitic languages Princeton University 1886-87; continued study in Egypt, Palestine, and Syria, preparing data for publication, 1888-89; honorary M.A. Rutgers 1889; returned to Montana in 1890 and practiced law there until 1936; editor and reporter of decisions of the Supreme Court of Montana 1899-1905; librarian Montana State Law Library, Helena, 1902-05; master in chancery, United States Circuit Court, ninth circuit, for the District of Montana, with offices in Helena, 1905-19; deputy clerk Supreme Court of Montana 1919-36; author: *The Targums on the Books of Ruth and Jonab* (1886), translated from the Arabic *The Samaritan Chronicle entitled The Book of Joshua* (1889); contributed to *Hebraica* and *Youth's Companion;* edited Volumes XXII-XXX Montana Reports; member Sons of the American Revolution of Montana 1905-36 (president 1915-16, registrar 1925-36) and First Presbyterian Church, Helena.

Married January 6, 1892, in Philadelphia, Pa., Gertrude Newman, daughter of David Milton Boyd, Jr., and Aurelia Mann (Selmser) Boyd Children Gertrude Boyd (B.A. Montana Wesleyan 1921; B.D Garrett Biblical Institute 1925; M.A. Northwestern 1928; S.T.M. Union Theological Seminary 1930); and David Boyd. Mrs. Crane died in 1913.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia following injuries received when struck by an automobile. Buried in Forestvale Cemetery, Helena Survived by daughter and son.

Thomas Allen Frank Jones, B.A. 1879.

Born April 7, 1859, in Atlanta, Ga. Died November 17, 1936, in Kansas City, Mo.

Father, Thomas Allen Jones of Georgia. Mother, Susan Narcissus (Mastin) Jones; daughter of John Mastin of Tennessee.

Kansas City High School. Scholar of the second rank Sophomore year; second dispute appointment Junior year; member Gamma Nu.

Studied in a law office in Kansas City 1879-81; admitted to Missouri bar 1881; partner in firm of Fox & Jones (John M. Fox, '79), Kansas City, 1881-83; engaged in practice independently in Kansas City, 1883-1936; judge Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mo., 1908-09; attorney R. B. Jones & Sons Insurance Company 1912-15; member First Presbyterian Church, Kansas City.

Married June 21, 1900, in Higginsville, Mo., Jean LeGrand Taylor. Children Jean Anderson (Mrs. Charles D. Hertwick) and Howard Franklin (deceased). Mrs. Jones died October 13, 1911.

Death due to ulcers of the stomach. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Kansas City. Survived by daughter, one grandson, and a sister, Margaret J. Marshall, the wife of Arthur L. Marshall (Northwestern University 1898–1901) of Kansas City.

Herman Livingston, B.A. 1879.

Born June 24, 1856, in New York City. Died December 31, 1936, in Greendale, N.Y.

Father, Herman Tong Livingston, a ship owner and merchant in New York City; son of Herman and Sarah Lawrence (Hallett) Livingston of Oak Hill, N.Y. Mother, Susan Bard (Rogers) Livingston; daughter of Archibald and Anna (Pendleton) Rogers of New York City. Yale relatives include: Edmund P. Livingston, '79 (brother); and Samuel C. Hopkins, '23, and Howland P. Hopkins, '29 (nephews).

Private tutor, New York City. Entered Yale with Class of 1878 but joined.1879 in Sophomore year; left college in 1878; enrolled as a graduate in 1899; on University Crew Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; member Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Engaged in mining and farming 1879–1936; manager and treasurer House of Refuge, Hudson, N.Y., 1887–1904; president Paramount Oil Company, Hudson, 1930-36 and a director since 1925; commissioner of highways 1898–99; trustee Hudson River Trust Company 1910–36; honorary M.A. Yale 1899; member Christ Episcopal Church (junior warden for many years), Hudson.

Married November 9, 1882, Emeline Cornell, daughter of Henry and Mary Elizabeth (Cornell) Hopkins, and sister of Samuel C. Hopkins, '82, Henry C. Hopkins, '84, and Charles V. Hopkins, '96. Children: Herman, Jr., ex-'05; Henry Hopkins, '09; and Edmund Pendleton, '11.

Death due to nephritis. Buried in the family vault at Linlithgo, Columbia County, N.Y. Survived by wife, sons, eight grandchildren, 'two brothers, John C. Livingston of New York City and Archibald R. Livingston (C.E. Columbia 1891) of Medford, Ore., and two sisters, Miss Anna Pendleton Livingston of Medford and Mrs. George H. Williams of Haverford, Pa.

Walter Henry Chapin, B.A. 1880.

Born March 6, 1859, in Springfield, Mass. Died April 2, 1937, in Springfield, Mass.

Father, Walter Edward Chapin, a cabinetmaker, later armorer at the Springfield Arsenal; son of Walter and Hannah (Mosher) Chapin of Woodstock, Vt. Mother, Julia (Foster) Chapin; daughter of William and Eliza Ann (Hall) Foster of Springfield. Springfield High School. Member Yale Society of Natural History and Delta Kappa.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1880–83 (M.D. 1883); resident physician Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1883–84; practiced medicine in Springfield 1885–1937; city physician for Springfield 1889–1900 and school physician 1906–35; served as medical officer Local Board of District 2 during World War; charter member (about 1890) Springfield Medical Club (secretary 1910–35); member Massachusetts Medical Society, Botanical Society of Springfield, and Hope Congregational Church, Springfield,

Married September 28, 1887, in Hardwick, Mass., Lucy Celire, daughter of Dwight and Harriet (Clark) Thatcher. Children: Helen (died 1889); Hazel (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1912); and Edward Albert, '16 S. (M.S. Massachusetts Agricultural College 1917; Ph.D. George Washington University 1923).

Death due to acute pancreatitis. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Springfield. Survived by wife, one daughter, son, and one granddaughter.

John Tomlinson Hubbard, B.A. 1880.

Born November 30, 1855, in Litchfield, Conn. Died January 18, 1937, in Torrington, Conn.

Father, John Henry Hubbard, a lawyer; judge of Connecticut Supreme Court; member of Congress 1863-65; son of Parley and Anna (Catlin) Hubbard of Salisbury, Conn. Mother, Abby Jane (Wells) Hubbard; daughter of Tomlinson and Electa (Smith) Wells of Litchfield. Yale relatives include a cousin, Henry H. Wells, '00.

Litchfield School. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; on Class Baseball Team Senior year; member Gamma Nu and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Yale Law School 1880-83 (LL.B. 1883); admitted to Connecticut bar 1883; practiced law in Litchfield 1883-1937; partner Hubbard & Cramer (David Cramer, '28 L.) since 1928, with offices in Torrington and Litchfield; justice of the peace, Litchfield, 1889-1926, and judge of probate 1906-12, 1914-26; representative in the General Assembly 1901 and 1903; president Echo Farm Company; director Litchfield Mutual Fire Insurance Company and Litchfield Savings Society; former president Litchfield Men's Forum; president Litchfield County Bar Association since 1933; member State Bar Examining Committee from organization in 1890 to 1923 and Connecticut State Bar Association; senior warden 1933-37 and treasurer St. Michael's Episcopal Church, Litchfield.

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in New East Cemetery, Litchfield.

Survived by a brother, Philip P. Hubbard, '85. His brother, Frank W. Hubbard, '88, died in 1926.

Reuben Post Halleck, B.A. 1881.

Born February 8, 1859, in Rocky Point, N.Y. Died December 24, 1936, in Louisville, Ky.

Father, Rev. Luther Calvin Halleck (Auburn Theological Seminary 1845–46; diploma Union Theological Seminary 1848), missionary in Charleston, S.C., and acting pastor St. John's Island, S.C., Comac, New Village, Mt. Sinai, Rocky Point, and Wading River, N.Y.; son of Thomas and Polly (Gleason) Halleck of Smithtown, N.Y. Mother, Fannie (Tuthill) Halleck; daughter of Harry and Polly (Tuthill) Tuthill of Wading River.

General Russell's Commercial and Collegiate Institute, New Haven, Conn. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Gamma Nu.

Principal Cherry Valley (N.Y.) Academy 1881-83; instructor [title professor of psychology and English literature] Male High School, Louisville, 1883–96, and principal 1897 until retirement in 1912 (a recently erected city school building was named Halleck Hall in his honor); M.A. Yale 1896; LL.D. University of Kentucky 1912; lecturer; author: Psychology and Psychic Culture (1895), The Education of the Central Nervous System (1896), History of English Literature (1900), History of American Literature (1911), Halleck's New English Literature (1913), History of Our Country (1923 and seven subsequent editions), The Romance of American Literature (1934), The Story of English Literature (1937); coauthor: (with Elizabeth G. Barbour) Readings from Literature (1915), (with Juliette Frantz) Our Nation's Heritage (1925, 1931), Founders of Our Nation (1929), Makers of Our Nation (1930), Our United States (1935); advisory editor and contributor to School *Review* and other educational publications; president Secondary Department of the National Education Association 1904 (chairman committee of seventeen on professional preparation of high school teachers 1905-07), and National Society for the Scientific Study of Education 1906; trustee Louisville Free Public Library 1902-10; director Southern Society for Philosophy and Psychology, and American Printing House for the Blind since 1918; member American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Historical Association, Mississippi Valley Historical Association, American Eugenics Society, National Council for Social Studies, and Mt. Sinai (N.Y.) Congregational Church.

Married October 29, 1896, in Louisville, Annie, daughter of James Welstood and Annie (Clark) Ainslie. No children.

Death due to coronary sclerosis. Buried in Cave Hill Cemetery, Louisville. Survived by wife.

Frederick Pickersgill, B.A. 1881.

Born April 11, 1857, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died January 24, 1937, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, William Pickersgill, Jr., born in Yorkshire, England; came to United States in 1828; a wholesale merchant and banker in Pittsburgh; founder and first president First National Bank of Carnegie, Pa., and the United States National Bank of Pittsburgh; son of William Pickersgill, Sr., and Mary (Walton) Pickersgill of Steubensville, Ohio. Mother, Myrta (Sawyer) Pickersgill; daughter of John Mills and Mariah (Snow) Sawyer of Chester, Conn.

Newell Institute, Pittsburgh. Member Dunham Boat Club, Delta Kappa, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Yale Law School 1881–83 (LL.B. 1883); owing to ill-health never practiced law; managed his family's property 1899–1937; a director United States National Bank of Pittsburgh 1899–1914.

Unmarried.

Death due to asthma and heart complications. Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by a sister, Miss Lily V. Pickersgill (B.A. Vassar 1896; LL.B. University of Pittsburgh 1916) of Pittsburgh.

Henry Hezekiah Sprague, B.A. 1881.

Born September 7, 1857, in Newark, Ohio. Died May 29, 1937, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, Henry Day Sprague, a lawyer in Newark; son of Joseph and Mary (Aplin) Sprague of Cooperstown, N.Y. Mother, Elizabeth (Taylor) Sprague; daughter of James and Rebecca (Cully) Taylor of Newark.

Williston Academy and Siglar's Preparatory School, Newburgh, N.Y. On Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years; on Class Day Committee; member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, and Psi Upsilon.

Civil engineer in railroad work 1881-83; architect in New York City 1883-84, in Chicago 1884-94, engaged in the invention and manufacture of gas meters and meter appliances in Indianapolis, Ind., 1894-99, moved to Bridgeport 1899 and founded Sprague Meter Company (president until retirement in 1930, when he became chairman board of directors); an organizer (1930) and director of Black Rock Trust Company; member Presbyterian Church, Newark.

.

Yale College

Married (1) March 31, 1885, in Chicago, Rose, daughter of Johann Ulrich and Adeline Ottalie (Starck) Mueller of New York City. No children. Mrs. Sprague died July 30, 1924. Married (2) May 17, 1930, in Bridgeport, Helen, daughter of J. Alonzo and Frances Eliza (Mayhan) Magness. Children: Henry Hezekiah, Jr., and Jane.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Newark, Ohio. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Miss Mary A. Sprague of Newark.

Henry Washburn Gardes, B.A. 1882.

Born July 5, 1860, in Washington, Ark. Died March 7, 1937, in Washington, D C.

Father, Henry Gardes, came to the United States from Bremen, Germany, in 1843; merchant and banker in New Orleans, La.; son of Henry and Mina (Ballus) Gardes of Bremen. Mother, Geraldine (Washburn) Gardes; daughter of Collins and Olivia (Walsworth) Washburn of Watertown, N.Y.

Hopkins Grammar School. Member Delta Kappa.

With firm of Holloway & Gardes, wholesale hardware merchants in New Orleans, 1882–90; in insurance business in New Orleans, New York City, and San Francisco, Calif., 1890–96; chief yeoman U.S. Navy 1896–1900; participated in battle of Manila; statistical expert Bureau of the Census, Department of Commerce, Washington, 1900 until retirement in 1930; statistical expert War Trade Board, Quartermaster Corps July, 1917–June, 1920; had lived in West Falls Church, Va., for some years, and was there a member St. James Church (Roman Catholic).

Married November 7, 1888, in New Orleans, Lucie, daughter of Louis Alfred and Michail (Bienvenu) Wiltz. Children: Alfred Wiltz; Arthur Hutchins; George Wiltz (B.S. Catholic University of America 1928); Geraldine Washburn, the wife of Malcolm O. McDonald (University of Virginia 1921-23); and Hersilie Phelomene.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife, children, and thirteen grandchildren.

Bernard Titche, B.A. 1882.

Born December 31, 1858, in Winnsboro, La. Died May 30, 1937, in New Orleans, La.

Father, Lazarus Titche, came to the United States from Veringen, Germany, about 1849; a merchant in New Orleans; son of Jacob and Judith (Süp) Titche of Veringen. Mother, Betty (Haas) Titche, born in Rülzheim (Pfalz), Germany. Boys' High School, New Orleans, and Hopkins Grammar School. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin composition Freshman year; scholar of the second rank and second prize in English composition Sophomore year; dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Commencement Speaker; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon

Studied law in office of Gibson & Hall (Randall L. Gibson, '53), New Orleans, 1882-84; admitted to Louisiana bar 1884 and had since practiced law in New Orleans; member law firms of Titche & Rogers 1910-20, Titche, Kiam & Titche (his son Bernard) 1926-32, and Titche & Titche since 1932; member Yale Alumni Board as representative of Yale Alumni Association of Louisiana 1910-12 and since 1915; member Louisiana Historical Society, American Bar Association, Louisiana State Bar Association, and Temple Sinai.

Married June 18, 1890, in New Orleans, Fanny, daughter of Leon and Pauline (Dalsheimer) Kaufman. Son, Bernard, Jr., '17.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Metairie Cemetery, New Orleans. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Edward Titche of Dallas, Texas.

Henry Titus Folsom, B.A. 1883.

Born November 4, 1859, in St. Louis, Mo. Died February 26, 1937, in Llewellyn Park, West Orange, N.J.

Father, Henry Folsom, founder of The H. & D. Folsom Arms Company in St. Louis; son of Hon. John Folsom and Dorothy (Underhill) Folsom of Chester, N.H. Mother, Phoebe Brown Fenner (Titus) Folsom; daughter of Jonah and Nancy Wilmarth (Colwell) Titus of North Scituate and Providence, R.I.

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Entered Yale with Class of 1882, but joined 1883 the next year; placed in track sports; captain Class Crew Freshman year; stroke of University Crew four years; member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

In New York offices of The H. & D. Folsom Arms Company 1884– 1937 (president and secretary since 1897); member Grace Episcopal Church, Orange, N.J.

Married October 19, 1886, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Carolyn Nevers, daughter of Nicholas and Maria Seymour (Sanford) Saltus, granddaughter of Rollin Sanford (B.A. 1831), and sister of Rev. A. Wright Saltus, ex-'82. Son, Henry Lloyd, '11. Mrs. Folsom died in 1890.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange. Survived by son and four grandchildren.

Walter [Eben] Nettleton, B.A. 1883.

Born June 19, 1861, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 28, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, William Alfred Nettleton; member firm of Thomson, Langdon & Company, corset manufacturers in Bridgeport, Conn.; son of Alfred and Marie (Button) Nettleton of Goshen, Conn., and Stockbridge, Mass. Mother, Eliza Lyman (Thomson) Nettleton; daughter of Eben Norton and Sarah P. (Merriman) Thomson of New Haven. Yale relatives include four nephews: William N. Bourne, '17, James R. Bourne, '18, Edward W. Bourne, '19, and Henry T. Bourne, ex-'22.

Hopkins Grammar School. Second Berkeley Premium in Latin composition Freshman year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Delta Kappa, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Member Art Students' League, New York City, 1883-84; studied under Boulanger, Lefèbvre, and Carolus Duran; landscape painter; resided in Paris 1884-90, Brittany 1890-93, New York 1893-96, and Stockbridge 1896-1936; exhibited at Paris Salon 1889 and frequently since in Paris and at the principal American exhibitions (honorable mention Paris 1892, silver medal St. Louis Exposition 1904, gold medal American Art Society Exhibition in Philadelphia 1907, and bronze medal Buenos Aires Exposition 1910); B.F.A. Yale 1902 (given in recognition of attainment as artist); member advisory committee on art Panama Pacific International Exposition 1915; a founder Stockbridge Exhibition of painting and sculpture, and chairman 1910-14, 1916-23; made an Associate National Academician 1905; member New Haven Paint and Clay Club and American Federation of Arts. Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Stockbridge Cemetery. Survived by two sisters, Mrs. Annie Nettleton Bourne (B.A. Vassar 1889) of New Haven, widow of Edward G. Bourne, '83, and Miss Grace L. Nettleton of Stockbridge.

Daniel Albion Jones, B.A. 1884.

Born October 23, 1860, in Pleasant Valley, Barkhamsted, Conn. Died October 19, 1936, in Wallingford, Conn.

Father, Daniel Albion Jones, a dentist in Danielson, Conn.; son of Orville and Rhoda (Woodruff) Jones of Pleasant Valley, Barkhamsted. Mother, Emeline Annette (Roberts) Jones, the first woman dentist to open an independent office; daughter of John Eno and Deborah (Blakeslee) Roberts of Winchester and New Hartford, Conn. Yale relatives include a niece, Emeline A. Street (Certificate in Music 1910).

Hopkins Grammar School. Entered Yale with Class of 1883, with-

drew because of illness, and joined Class of 1884 in Junior year; won intercollegiate hurdle race (120 yards) in 1880 (medal and silver cup); pitcher University Baseball Team three years, including intercollegiate championship team (1883); received athletic champion medal 1884; member Apollo Glee Club; an organizer and member Yale Glee Club (whistling soloist); member Delta Kappa Epsilon and the Graduate Medical School Society.

Member Philadelphia Athletics Baseball Team 1884-85; attended Harvard Dental School 1886-89 (D.M.D. 1889); M.D. Yale 1892; practiced dentistry in New Haven, Conn., 1889-1916; since 1916 had devoted himself to teaching voice training and maintained studios in Metropolitan Opera House, New York City, in Bridgeport, and in New Haven; treasurer Connecticut State Dental Society 1897-99 and later secretary; director Davenport Church Choir, New Haven, for twentytwo years; member Gounod Choral Society, Second Company of Governor's Foot Guards of Connecticut, Sons of the American Revolution, Harvard Dental Alumni Association, and Pilgrim Church (Congregational), Fair Haven, Conn.

Married June 20, 1889, in New Haven, Emma Aurelia, daughter of Joseph Blakslee and Laura Atwater (Higgins) Beadle (Mount Holyoke 1848), and sister of John Beadle, '86. No children. Mrs. Jones died December 11, 1908.

Death due to a tumor of the stomach. Buried in East Lawn Cemetery, East Haven, Conn. Survived by no immediate relatives.

[Oliver] Taylor Sherwood, B.A. 1884.

Born October 9, 1861, in Southport, Conn. Died August 28, 1936, in New Rochelle, N.Y.

Father, Elisha Cornelius Sherwood, president Southport National Bank; son of Aaron and Mary Banks (Alvord) Sherwood of Southport. Mother, Emily (Taylor) Sherwood; daughter of Moses Jesup and Juliet (Burr) Taylor of Fairfield, Conn.

Hopkins Grammar School. Member Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Psi Upsilon.

Cashier Southport National Bank 1884–1903; had been in business in New Rochelle since 1915 as part owner and more recently president Dresden Cosmetic Company, Inc.; author: *The Silver Branch of a Tree* (1908); member Trinity Episcopal Church, Southport.

Married October 28, 1885, in New York City, Margaret Ann, daughter of Morris and Mary Rebecca (Owen) Roberts. Children. Morris Perry and Margaret Taylor, the wife of Arthur Libby (B.A. Dartmouth 1906, LL.B. Harvard 1913).

Death due to acute coronary occlusion. Buried in Oaklawn Ceme-

tery, Southport. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Emma C. Sherwood of Coral Gables, Fla. Mrs. Sherwood died March 16, 1937.

William Ambrose Taylor, B.A. 1884.

Born June 13, 1862, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died June 29, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Franklin E. Taylor, member firm of Lawrence, Taylor & Company, drygoods commission merchants in New York City. Mother, Mary E. (Rhodes) Taylor, whose parents lived in Manlius, N.Y.

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. In Class Glee Club Junior and Senior years; on Junior Promenade Committee and executive committee Yale Athletic Association Senior year; member Delta Kappa, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Studied in Hanover and Berlin, Germany, 1884–86; entered business with his father 1886, became a member of the firm in 1893, and so continued until retirement in 1928 (senior partner Taylor, Clapp & Beall for some years); resided in New York City; had traveled abroad extensively; director Merchants National Bank of New York; vicepresident New York Yale Club 1918–21 (member of Council 1913–21); member Sons of the Revolution and New England Society.

Married January 26, 1892, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Jessie, daughter of Thomas Edgar Stillman (B.A. Colgate 1859) and Elizabeth (Greenman) Stillman. Children: Thomas Stillman (died 1894); Henry Calhoun, '17; and William Ambrose, Jr., '19 (died January 10, 1938). Mrs. Taylor died February 7, 1929.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by two sons and five grandchildren.

Amos Parker Wilder, B.A. 1884.

Born February 15, 1862, in Calais, Maine. Died July 2, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Amos Lincoln Wilder (D.D.S. Baltimore Dental College 1850), a dentist in Calais and later president Amos Wilder & Company, oilcloth manufacturers in Hallowell, Maine; son of Theophilus and Lucy (Lincoln) Wilder of Milltown, N.B., Canada. Mother, Charlotte (Porter) Wilder; daughter of George Marks and Mary Baker (Topliff) Porter of Milltown. Yale relatives include a nephew, Wilder Hobson, '28.

Augusta (Maine) High School and Highland Military Academy, Worcester, Mass. Respondent to Fence Orator Freshman year; Fence Orator Sophomore year; in College Choir and Class Glee Club Junior and Senior years and University Glee Club Senior year; an editor *Yale Courant*; on editorial board *Yale Record* and Class Historian Senior year; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Instructor at Bartlett's School, Old Lyme, Conn., 1884-85, and The Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn., 1885–86; reporter on Philadelphia Press 1886-88; editor New Haven Palladium 1888-92; attended Yale Graduate School 1888–92 (Ph.D. 1892); editorial writer Mail and Express, New York City, 1892–93, and Commercial Advertiser, New York City, 1893–94; part owner and editor Wisconsin State Journal, Madison, 1894–1906; American consul general, Hongkong, China, 1906-09, and Shanghai 1909-14; executive secretary and treasurer Yale-in-China, New Haven, 1914-20 (vice-president 1910-13, trustee 1918-30, and honorary trustee since 1930; Wilder House on Yali campus [Changsha, Hunan] named in his honor); associate editor New Haven Journal-Courser 1920 until retirement in 1929; continued to reside in New Haven; president University Club of Shanghai 1911-12; member executive committee Yale Hope Mission 1923-28; governor Graduates Club 1924–27; member United Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married December 3, 1894, in Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., Isabella Thornton, daughter of Thornton McNess Niven (B.A. Williams 1855, D.D. 1882; B.D. Hampden-Sidney 1857) and Elizabeth (Lewis) Niven, granddaughter of Rev. William B. Lewis (B.A. 1831), and greatgranddaughter of Zechariah Lewis (B.A. 1794). Children: Amos Niven (B.A. 1917, B.D. 1924, Ph.D. 1933; D.D. Hamilton 1933); Thornton Niven (B.A. 1920; M.A. Princeton 1926; Litt.D. New York University 1931); Charlotte Elizabeth (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1919; M.A. Radcliffe 1925); Isabel (certificate in drama Yale School of the Fine Arts 1928); and Janet Frances (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1933, M.A. 1935).

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage and bronchopneumonia. Buried in Mt. Carmel Cemetery, Hamden, Conn. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and a brother, Julian Wilder, D.D.S., of Augusta, Maine.

William Jarvis, B.A. 1885.

Born August 15, 1864, in Louisville, Ky. Died August 12, 1936, in Louisville, Ky.

Father, Joshua Giddings Jarvis (Shelby College ex-'54), a merchant in Louisville; son of William and Mary (Wells) Jarvis of Shelbyville, Ky. Mother, Anne (Murrell) Jarvis; daughter of Robert and Emily (Moss) Murrell of Bowling Green, Ky.

Yale College

Louisville Male High School and Chenault's Private School, Louisville. Entered Yale as a Sophomore; second English composition prize Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Commencement Speaker; member Psi Upsilon and Scroll and Key.

Taught at Chenault's Private School 1885-86 and Louisville Male High School 1886-87; attended Louisville Law School 1885-87; admitted to Kentucky bar 1887 and practiced law in Louisville until retirement in 1933; member Broadway Baptist Church, Louisville.

Married March 6, 1901, in Memphis, Tenn., Margaret Vance, daughter of William Rochester and Annie (Plummer) Johnston. Children: William (University of Louisville ex-'25; died 1932); Joshua Johnston (University of Louisville ex-'27); and Margaret Vance.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Cave Hill Cemetery, Louisville. Survived by wife, daughter, one son, a granddaughter, and a sister, Mrs. Henry West Hughes of Los Angeles, Calif.

Daniel Doane Bidwell, B.A. 1886.

Born August 7, 1865, in East Hartford, Conn. Died April 24, 1937, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Charles Marcus Bidwell, a farmer in East Hartford. Mother, Emma W. (Brewer) Bidwell.

Hartford High School and Trinity Military Institute. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin composition and first mathematical prize Freshman year; first mathematical premium Sophomore year; dissertation appointment Junior year and first dispute appointment Senior year; an editor *Yale Record* Junior and Senior years; member Gamma Nu.

With Hartford Telegram 1886 and Springfield (Mass.) Union 1886-87; night editor Florida Times-Union, Jacksonville, 1887; professional reader New York Ledger 1888-94; news correspondent Hartford Post (later the Hartford Times) 1895-1928 and Hartford Courant; correspondent in London, France, and Italy for Hartford Courant and other newspapers 1914-19; secretary Noble & Westbrook Manufacturing Company, die cutters and engravers; member General Assembly of Connecticut 1905 and 1907; a founder of East Hartford Trust Company 1917, and trustee until 1936; director Safety Ladder Company of East Hartford; served in Naval Battalion Connecticut National Guard 1900-10; president Bidwell Family Association 1911-12, and secretary 1912–19; served on East Hartford School Board; chairman manufacturing sites committee of East Hartford Municipal Committee; member East Hartford Chamber of Commerce, Connecticut Society Sons of the American Revolution, and St. John's Episcopal Church, East Hartford.

Married April 18, 1891, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Edith Mary Mines Ross, daughter of John Flavel and Mary Woodbridge (Barry) Mines. Children: Pauline (Mrs. Hickmott) and Joseph.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Center Cemetery, East Hartford. Survived by wife and children.

Herbert Armstrong Jaggard, B.A. 1886.

Born January 21, 1865, in Altoona, Pa. Died October 7, 1936, in Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Father, Clement Jaggard, a founder of Altoona; son of Thomas and Matilda (Clement) Jaggard of New Jersey. Mother, Annie Jane (Wright) Jaggard of West Chester, Pa.

Phillips-Andover. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin composition Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute 1886–89 (C.E. 1889); with Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1889 until retirement in 1932, in the following capacities: in construction department 1889–93; assistant supervisor in maintenance of way department on the Philadelphia Division 1893–97 and supervisor 1897–1901; special agent in transportation department 1901–03; general agent at Pittsburgh and of Pennsylvania Lines West of Pittsburgh 1903–07; superintendent of Elmira Division 1907–24; secretary Association of Transportation Officers 1924–32; had resided in Merion, Pa., since 1924; delegate to International Railway Congress at Berne, Switzerland, 1910; a director of The Philadelphia City Institute.

Married September 17, 1900, in Ottawa, Ontario, Jessie Whidden, daughter of John Lathrop and Elizabeth (Whidden) Brown. Son, Herbert Armstrong, Jr. Mrs. Jaggard died September 25, 1915, on the Island of Lemnos where she had gone as supervisor of nurses with the Dardanelles expedition.

Death followed an operation for ulcers of the stomach. Buried in St. Asaph's Churchyard, Bala, Pa. Survived by son.

Chandler Parsons Anderson, B.A. 1887.

Born September 5, 1866, in Lakeville, Conn. Died August 2, 1936, at York Harbor, Maine.

Father, Henry Hill Anderson (B.A. Williams 1848), a lawyer in New York City; son of Rev. Rufus Anderson (B.A. Bowdoin 1818, LL.D. 1866, Andover Theological Seminary 1822; D.D. Dartmouth 1836) and Eliza (Hill) Anderson of Boston, Mass. Mother, Sarah Bostwick (Burrall) Anderson; daughter of William Porter and Harriet (Holly) Burrall of Hartford, Conn. Yale relatives include: Henry Hill Anderson, '16, and Grenville T. Anderson, '19 (nephews).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H., and tutored by Rev. Joseph D. Burrell, '81. Editor *Yale Courant* Senior year; member Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Harvard Law School 1887-88; studied in a law office in New York City 1888-90; admitted to New York bar 1890; managing clerk in a law office in New York City 1890-93; practiced law independently in New York City 1893-97; in partnership with his brother, Henry Burrall Anderson, '85, in firm of Anderson & Anderson, New York City, 1897–1910; secretary for the United States and Great Britain of Bering Sea Claims Commission 1896-97; United States secretary Joint High Commission with Great Britain for settlement of Canadian questions' 1898–99; United States associate counsel Alaska Boundary Tribunal 1903; special counsel for the Department of State in negotiation of treaties with Great Britain concerning British North America 1905–10; United States counsel Passamaquoddy Bay boundary settlement 1909; United States agent North Atlantic Coast Fisheries Arbitration, The Hague, 1910; counselor for the Department of State 1910-13; United States delegate to Fur Seal Conference, Washington, D.C., 1911; United States arbitrator American and British Claims Arbitration 1913-23; counsel for Costa Rica in Costa Rica-Panama boundary arbitration 1913-14; legal adviser for American embassies and legations in Europe on questions involving American interests growing out of European war, and for Department of State in Washington, 1914–15; counsel on international questions for United States War Industries Board 1917–18; counsel for Guatemala in Guatemala-Honduras boundary mediation 1918-20; counsel for International Committee of the Red Cross in the organization of League of Red Cross Societies held in France 1919; counsel for Nicaragua in Nicaragua-Honduras boundary mediation since 1920; United States arbitrator in American-Norwegian shipping claims arbitration 1921-22; United States legal expert Limitation of Armament Conference, Washington, 1921–22; counsel for Costa Rica in arbitration with Great Britain before the United States Supreme Court 1923; United States commissioner on Mixed Claims Commission between United States and Germany since 1923; commissioner between United States, Austria, and Hungary 1933; author: Inviolability of Private Property against Confiscation (1927); an editor American Journal of International Law since 1910 and contributor to the Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science and American Society of International Law, International Digest, the North American, and

Congressional Record; vice-president American Institute of International Law since 1922; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York.

Married May 17, 1899, in Washington, Harriet Sarah, daughter of Sylvanus Seely and Clara (Mathews) Ward. Children: Chandler Parsons, Jr. (Harvard ex-'21), and Harriet Alice, the wife of Daniel C. Long, ex-'26.

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in York Village (Maine) Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Henry Burrall Anderson, '85. His brother, William B. Anderson, '86, died in 1935.

Madison Grant, B.A. 1887.

Born November 18, 1865, in New York City. Died May 30, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Gabriel Grant (B.A. Williams 1846; M.D. Columbia 1850), a physician in New York City; served as surgeon (Major) with Army of the Potomac during Civil War; son of Charles and Caroline (Nutman) Grant of Newark, N.J. Mother, Caroline Amelia (Manice) Grant; daughter of DeForest and Catherine Maria (Booth) Manice of New York City. Yale relatives include: William D. Manice, '51, and Edward A. Manice, '58 (uncles); and Edward A. Manice, '91 (cousin).

Private tutors in New York City and Dresden, Germany. Entered Yale as a Sophomore; first colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; on board of *Yale Record* Junior and Senior years; member Psi Upsilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1887-90 (LL.B. 1890); admitted to New York bar 1889; practiced law independently in New York City 1890-1910; president Taylor Creek Ditch Company 1903-07; his interest in the preservation and conservation of wild life and natural endowment resulted in activities of civic and national importance; an organizer New York Zoological Society 1895, secretary and trustee until 1925, and president since 1925; president Bronx Parkway Commission since 1924 and Westchester County Park Commission 1907-25; an organizer Society of Colonial Wars 1893, American Bison Society 1905 (member board of managers 1905-37), Galton Society for the Study of the Origin and Evolution of Man 1918, National Parks Association 1919, and Save the Redwoods League 1919; vice-president National Institute of Social Sciences 1916-37, Immigration Restriction League 1923 (on national committee several years), and Society for the Preservation of the Fauna of the British Empire 1934-37; secretary 1903-13 and president 1928-37 Boone and Crockett Club; treasurer Second International Eugenics Congress; trustee American Museum of Natural History 1911-37, American

40

Defense Association 1922-37, and Eugenics Research Association 1913-37 (president 1918-19); councilor American Geographical Society; awarded gold medal of the Society of Arts and Sciences 1929; a species of caribou named Rangifer granti in his honor; author: The Passing of the Great Race (1916 and other editions), Early History of Glacier National Park (1919), The Conquest of a Continent (1933); edited (with Chas. Stewart Davison) The Founders of the Republic on Immigration, Naturalization and Aliens (1928) and The Alien in Our Midst (1930); contributed many articles on conservation and wild life in books of the Boone and Crockett Club, Bulletin and annual reports of the New York Zoological Society, and Century, the Forum, Geographical Review, National Geographic Magazine, and Review of Reviews; member New York Historical Society, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, and St. Bartholomew's Protestant Episcopal Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to nephritis. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown, N.Y. Survived by a brother, DeForest Grant, '91.

Clifford Wayne Hartridge, B.A. 1887.

Born June 1, 1866, in Savannah, Ga. Died April 10, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Alfred Lamar Hartridge, a stockbroker in Savannah; Major, Confederate Army, during Civil War; built Fort McAllister, Ga.; son of Charles and Mary Hubbard Greene (Davidson) Hartridge of Savannah. Mother, Julia Smythe (Wayne) Hartridge of Savannah. Yale relatives include a nephew, Julian Hartridge, ex-'18.

Belleview (Va.) High School. On Class Crew Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years and University Crew Junior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1887-89 (LL.B. 1889); practiced law for a short time in Atlanta, Ga., and then in New York City until 1899 and 1900-14; attorney for a railroad in Georgia 1899-1900; member of firm of Dennison & Hartridge 1894-95, Hartridge, Dowe & Murray 1897-1902, Russell & Hartridge 1902-03, and Hartridge & Peabody 1906-14; continued to reside in New York and had been engaged in writing; author of short stories and a novel, *Manteo* (1935); had contributed to *World's Work* and other periodicals; member Sons of the American Revolution.

Married December 17, 1895, in Canton, N.Y., Jessie, daughter of Judge Leslie W. Russell and Harriet (Lawrence) Russell, sister of Robert Russell, '00, and a lineal descendant of Rev. Samuel Russel, one of the founders of Yale College. Children: Harriet Russell, the wife of Richard A. Tompkins (Virginia Polytechnic Institute); Emelyn Battersby, the wife of Major General Sir James H. MacBrien, Commissioner of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police; and Jessie Russell, the wife of Lieut. Colonel Louis W. Whaley, U.S.M.C. Mrs. Hartridge died July 13, 1908.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Survived by daughters, three sisters, Miss Emelyn Battersby Hartridge (B.A. Vassar 1892; L.H.D. Smith 1928) of Plainfield, N.J., Mrs. Paschal N. Strong of Savannah, and Mrs. Lee Hamilton Parker of Brookline, Mass., a brother, Julian Hartridge, ex-'90 (B.A. Harvard 1890), and a half brother, Earle Hartridge of Paris, France.

Oliver Gould Jennings, B.A. 1887.

Born April 27, 1865, in New York City. Died October 13, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Oliver Burr-Jennings, member of firm of Jennings & Brewster, drygoods merchants in San Francisco, Calif., and a founder and trustee of the original Standard Oil Company; son of Abraham Gould and Anna (Burr) Jennings of Fairfield, Conn. Mother, Esther Judson (Goodsell) Jennings; daughter of David Judson and Ellen (O'Brien) Goodsell of New York City. Yale relatives include: Lewis B. Jennings (B.A. 1847) (uncle); Oliver B. Jennings, '17, Oliver B. James, '18, and Hugh D. Auchincloss, '20 (nephews); Charles B. Jennings, '87, William G. Rockefeller, '92, Percy A. Rockefeller, '00 (first cousins).

Phillips-Andover. President '87 Football Club Freshman and Sophomore years; member Yale Yacht Club, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Attended Columbia University Law School 1887-89 (LL.B. 1889); maintained a business office in New York City 1890-1936; engaged chiefly in care of the Jennings estate; vice-president Penfield Reef Corporation, Fairfield, 1920-36; director of several companies, including American Trading Company (vice-president 1902–15), Bethlehem Steel Corporation, McKesson and Robbins, Inc., National Fuel Gas Company, Bridgeport City Trust Company, Kingsport Press, and United States Industrial Alcohol Company; president of board of Fairfield Trust Company 1920-23, and chairman 1923-36; founder of the Stable Money Association; secretary Metropolitan Club of New York 1926-35 and a governor until his death; trustee American Museum of Natural History 1927-36; president board of directors Babies' Hospital, New York City, 1901-06, and vice-president 1907-33; presidential elector from Connecticut 1920; chairman Republican Town Committee, Fairfield, 1922-24 (a member 1915-34); member Connecticut House of Representatives 1923; on Fairfield

Board of Finance from organization October, 1918, and chairman since February 10, 1925; a corporator and director Fairfield Memorial Library from incorporation January 8, 1898, and president since July 30, 1903; one of five charter members (1902) and member of executive committee Fairfield Historical Society (president since 1928); a director Oak Lawn Cemetery Association from December, 1893, president January, 1930-April, 1931, and since vice-president; creator Country Club of Fairfield 1920, president 1920-35, a governor and honorary president 1935-36; a governor Newport Country Club, director Newport Casino, and a member Newport Chamber of Commerce; member of board Phillips-Andover Alumni Fund since its founding (1906), and chairman 1915-34; maintained residences in Fairfield, New York City, and Newport; vestryman St. James Protestant Episcopal Church, New York City, and St. Paul's Church, Fairfield.

Married December 16, 1896, in New York City, Mary Dows, daughter of Benjamin and Elmina (Dows) Brewster, and sister of George S. Brewster, '91, and Robert S. Brewster, '97. Children: Benjamin Brewster, '20, and Lawrence Kirtland, ex-'26.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Buried in Oak Lawn Cemetery, Fairfield. Survived by wife, sons, and three sisters, Miss Annie Burr Jennings of Fairfield, Mrs. Helen J. James, the widow of Walter B. James, '79, and Mrs. Emma J. Auchincloss, the widow of Hugh D. Auchincloss, '79, of New York City. His brother, Walter Jennings, '80, died in 1933.

Frederick Searle Woodward, B.A. 1887.

Born September 19, 1866, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died July 29, 1936, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, William Searle Woodward, a stockbroker in New York City; son of George and Elizabeth Hallam (Leverett) Woodward of Lowell, Mass. Mother, Mary Parkin (Saltonstall) Woodward; daughter of William Wanton and Mary (Parkin) Saltonstall of New London, Conn. Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Arnold W. Catlin, '62.

Adelphi Academy. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; in Class Glee Club Freshman and Sophomore years; member the Pundits.

In employ of Chicago & Northwestern Railroad in Chicago, Ill., and Huron, S.Dak., 1887–88; construction superintendent Minnesota Iron Company, Soudan, Minn., 1888–89; in independent real estate and insurance business, Tacoma, Wash., 1889–90; secretary and superintendent Yakima Water Company and Yakima Electric Light Company, North Yakima, Wash., 1890–93; engaged in the cultivation of hops, North Yakima, 1893-94; in Graniteville, Mo., 1894-95; general foreman of outside construction Edison Electric Illuminating Company of Brooklyn, N.Y., 1895-1901; electrical engineer with Long Island Railway, Long Island City, N.Y., 1901-15, when electrification of railroad was completed; secretary and treasurer The Signature Company, New York City, about 1907-17; district superintendent 1915 and acting superintendent of motive power 1915-18 New York & Queens Electric Light & Power Company, Long Island City; worked on development of an automobile radiator made by electro deposition 1914-21; engaged in farming in North Branch, N.J., 1921-22; electrical engineer with New York Central Railroad, New York City, 1922-36; member American Institute of Electrical Engineers and Church of the Holy Trinity (Episcopal), Brooklyn.

Married (1) in 1892, in Washington, D.C., Mary Eva Woodward. Mrs. Woodward died in June, 1895. Married (2) June 4, 1898, in New Haven, Conn., Mary Benedict, daughter of Edwin A. and Mary Elizabeth (Hopkins) Thrall. Children: William Searle; Frederick Benedict (died July 8, 1902); Marjorie; and Gurdon Saltonstall. Mrs. Woodward died September 16, 1927.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and arteriosclerosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Watertown, Conn. Survived by two sons, daughter, and a brother, William R. Woodward of New York City.

Edward Albert Stevenson, B.A. 1888.

Born April 27, 1867, in New York City. Died December 31, 1936, in Plainfield, N.J.

Father, John Henry Stevenson, paymaster United States Navy; son of Thomas Stevenson of New York City. Mother, Henrietta Louise (Stavey) Stevenson. Yale relatives include: Harvey Stevenson, '17, Robert F. Hopton, '25 S., and Nathan M. Hopton, ex-'27 (nephews).

Adelphi Academy. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; on Freshman Baseball and Football teams; president University and Dunham Boat clubs Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head.

Accountant Edison General Electric Company, Schenectady, N.Y., 1888–90, and in their New York office 1891–92; secretary General Fixture Company, New York City, 1892–95; manager Oxley & Enos Manufacturing Company, New York City (name changed to Enos Company 1905), 1895–1905, and secretary 1905–11; secretary and general manager J. P. Stevens & Company, commission merchants in New York City, 1912–13; secretary and general manager Nucoa Butter Company, Bayonne, N.J., 1913–17; vice-president E. F. Drew & Company, importers in New York City, and of E. A. Stevenson & Company, manufacturers of cocoanut oils, and oleomargarine, 1917– 29; director and secretary Bowen Research Corporation, New York City, 1929–31; with Lawyers Mortgage Company, Brooklyn, 1931–35; president Yale Club of Plainfield 1914–15 and representative on Alumni Board 1916–36; member Military Order of the Loyal Legion; trustee Crescent Avenue Presbyterian Church, Plainfield.

Married May 24, 1893, in New Haven, Conn., Alice Merwin, daughter of Joseph Thompson and Josephine E. (Merwin) Fitch. Children: Laurence (died September 6, 1921); Edward Ford; Frederic Fitch; Alan; and Gordon. Mrs. Stevenson died October 8, 1929.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Scotch Plains Township, N.J. Survived by four sons, seven grandchildren, two sisters, the Misses Lucy and Mary Stevenson of Brooklyn, and a brother, Frederic A. Stevenson, '88 (died December 17, 1937). His brother, John H. Stevenson, '84, died in 1911.

Philip Embury Browning, B.A. 1889.

Born September 9, 1866, in Rhinebeck, N.Y. Died January 2, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Rev. William Garretson Browning, a Methodist clergyman in New York State; son of William and Mary Ann (Garretson) Browning of New York City. Mother, Susanna Rebecca (Webb) Browning; daughter of Samuel McLean and Charity (Edsall) Webb of New York City. Yale relatives include a nephew, Walter G. Collins, '03.

DeGarmo Institute, Rhinebeck. First colloquy appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year; special one-year honors in natural and physical sciences.

Assistant in chemistry Yale University 1890–93 and student in Graduate School (Ph.D. 1892); studied in Munich, Germany, under Professor Krüss at Ludwig-Maximilian University, 1893–94; instructor in chemistry Yale 1894–98, assistant professor 1898–1929, associate professor 1929 until retirement in 1932, and curator of the Yale Chemical Exhibits 1930–37; during sabbatical year 1913–14 studied at the Sorbonne; councilman from the first ward of New Haven 1900–02; member New Haven Board of Park Commissioners 1901–02, and the committee representing the New Haven City Government at the Yale Bicentennial 1901; director New Haven Rotary Club 1927–30; author: *Introduction to the Rarer Elements* (1903; several editions); coauthor with Professor Frank A. Gooch: *Lecture Notes on Qualitative Analysis* (1898) and *Outlines of Qualitative Chemical Analysis* (1906; several editions); contributed to many German and American scientific journals; had also published some verse; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; president Yale Chapter of Sigma Xi 1903-04; served as Corporal, Second Company, Sanitary Detachment, Connecticut State Guard, 1917-19; member American Commission on Inorganic Chemical Nomenclature 1912, German Chemical Society, American Chemical Society, Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, National Institute of Social Sciences, New Haven Colony Historical Society, and Alpha Chi Sigma; a deacon Center Church (Congregational), New Haven, 1910-14, and treasurer the First Ecclesiastical Society of New Haven (Center Church) 1916-30 and 1931-37.

Married December 12, 1899, in New Haven, Elizabeth Sophia Bradley (B.A. Vassar 1893), daughter of Frank Stanley and Mary Louisa (Hall) Bradley, and sister of Newell C. Bradley, '97 S.

Death due to pulmonary embolism. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Ophelia G. Adams of Meredith, N.H. His brother, William W. Browning, '73, died in 1900.

Professor Browning bequeathed to the University his collection of rare element minerals and chemicals, books on chemistry, and his publication rights and royalties.

Henry Eager Mason, B.A. 1889.

Born October 13, 1868, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 13, 1937, in Highland Park, Ill.

Father, Edward Gay Mason, '60. Mother, Julia Maria (Starkweather) Mason. Yale relatives include: Henry B. Mason, '70, Alfred B. Mason, '71, and Chauncey C. Starkweather, '74 (uncles); Edward G. Mason, 2d, '26 (nephew); and James R. Trowbridge, '94, Henry G. Miller, '95, William S. Miller, '96, Roy Mason and Mason Trowbridge, both '02, Elmer B. Mason, ex-'02, Macdonnell Mason, ex-'03, and Calhoun Mason, ex-'04 (cousins).

Harvard School, Chicago. First colloquy appointment Junior year; member Freshman Baseball Team; on Class Crew Sophomore and Junior years; chairman *Yale Daily News* board Senior year; on board of governors University Club two years; president Chicago Club Senior year; member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1889-90 (member Hammer and Tongs); studied law with Mason Brothers, Chicago, 1890-91; admitted to bar 1891; partner Mason Brothers 1891-1937; director Wyoming Oil Fields Company (in the interests of which he went to Russia in 1916 as a United States courier); member Caxton Club, Chicago Bar Association, and the Standing Committee of the

۱.....

Episcopal Diocese of Chicago 1921-37; delegate to all general conventions of Protestant Episcopal Church from 1922 through 1934; vestryman Trinity Protestant Episcopal Church, Highland Park, 1902-37 (junior warden 1924).

Married October 27, 1892, in Chicago, Margaret Dalton, daughter of William Dale and Susan Ballinger (Mooklar) Kerfoot. Children: James Russell (died 1894); William Kerfoot (died 1906); Rodney Starkweather (B.A. University of Illinois 1921); Arnold Dale (B.A. University of Pennsylvania 1927); and Barrett Kerfoot, '32.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, three sons, and six brothers, Julian S. Mason, '98, Maurice Mason, '01, Norman H. Mason, '02, Lawrence Mason, '04, George C. Mason, *ex-*'07, and Frederick O. Mason, '09. Three other brothers, Edward H. Mason, '92, Roswell B. Mason, '95, and Huntington Mason, '99, died in 1928, 1934, and 1914 respectively.

Oliver Huntington Richardson, B.A. 1889.

Born December 10, 1867, in Providence, R.I. Died September 22, 1936, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Rev. Elias Huntington Richardson (B.A. Dartmouth 1850, D.D. 1876; Andover Theological Seminary 1853), a Congregational minister in Providence, Westfield, Mass., and Hartford and New Britain, Conn.; son of Daniel and Mary (Huntington) Richardson of Norwich, Conn. Mother, Jane Maria (Stevens) Richardson; daughter of Benjamin and Hannah (Roberts) Stevens of Plainfield, N.H.

New Britain (Conn.) High School. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Gamma Nu and Phi Beta Kappa.

Instructor in history and political economy Colorado College 1889-90; traveled and studied abroad 1890-92; professor of history Drury College 1892-97; on leave of absence 1895-97 to study at University of Heidelberg (M.A. and Ph.D. 1897); assistant professor of history Yale 1897-1909; professor of European history University of Washington 1909 until retirement in 1930; since professor emeritus; continued to reside in Seattle; visiting professor of history University of Southern California summer of 1924; author: The National Movement in the Reign of Henry III and Its Culmination in the Barons' War (1897); and Syllabus of Continental European History from the Fall of Rome to 1870 (1904, 1917); contributed to American Historical Review and English Historical Review; president Yale Club of Seattle 1917-26; vice-president Pacific Coast Branch, American Historical Association, 1917-18 and 1924-25, and president 1925-26; fellow Royal Historical Society; member American Association of University Professors and First Church of Christ, New Britain.

Married June 26, 1893, in Indianapolis, Ind., Eloise Wickard (Oxford College for Women 1883), daughter of Samuel Kratzer and Mary Elizabeth (Bridge) Wickard. No children.

Death followed a long illness of pernicious anemia. Buried in Washelli Cemetery, Seattle. Survived by wife (died January 13, 1937) and three brothers, Arthur E. Richardson of Springfield, Mass., Daniel A. Richardson (M.D. New York University Medical College 1889) of Arlington, Va., and Robert K. Richardson, B.A. Yale 1898, Ph.D. 1902.

Frank Stymets Bishop, B.A. 1890.

Born May 7, 1867, in New Haven, Conn. Died November 2, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Ezra Bishop, a jewelry manufacturer in New Haven; son of Jesse and Elizabeth (Hunter) Bishop of Scarborough, N.Y. Mother, Leah Catherine (Stymets) Bishop.

Hopkins Grammar School. First dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year.

Attended Yale School of Law 1890-92 (LL.B. 1892; Wayland Prize and on executive committee Kent Club Senior year); admitted to Connecticut bar 1892 and New York bar 1906; had practiced law in New Haven since 1892; partner in firm of Driscoll & Bishop 1892-96 (Cornelius T. Driscoll, '69); had since practiced alone; assisted corporation counsel of the City of New Haven 1892-93; member New Haven City Council 1893-94; representative in Connecticut General Assembly 1909-10 (served on several committees, including that on New Haven County Courthouse building); member State Bureau of Compensation; counsel and director Broadway Bánk & Trust Company, New Haven; president Federation of Baptist Churches for twelve years; director New Haven Council of Churches 1925-26; had traveled in Italy frequently; secretary Class of 1892 L.; member First Baptist Church, New Haven (served on finance committee).

Married December 31, 1920, in Toronto, Ontario, Canada, Anna May Struthers. Mr. and Mrs. Bishop were divorced in 1931.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by no immediate relatives.

John Williams Brady, B.A. 1890.

Born November 15, 1868, in Warsaw, N.Y. Died September 6, 1936, in Silver Springs, N.Y.

Father, Sylvanus Edwin Brady, a farmer in Warsaw and teacher in district school of Wyoming County; son of Michael and Sally (Hawley) Brady of Johnsonburg, N.Y. Mother, Mary Lucina (Williams) Brady; daughter of Anson and Urminda (Lamon) Williams of Castile, N.Y. Warsaw Union School. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years,

Instructor in classics Flushing (N.Y.) Institute 1890-91; instructor in Latin and Greek Davis Military School, Winston-Salem, N.C., 1891-92; in charge of classical department Merrill School, Stamford, Conn., 1893-96; M.A. Columbia 1896; instructor in Latin and Greek Wilson-Vail School, New York City, 1896-99, Dwight School, New York City, 1899-1901, Barnard School, New York City, 1901-02; taught English and mathematics Freehold (N.J.) Military School 1903-04; taught at Park Ridge (N.J.) School 1905-10; teacher of Latin and Greek Kelvin School, New York City, 1910 until retirement in 1930; had lived in Attica and Silver Springs, N.Y., and in Florida since retirement; member Calvary Baptist Church, New York City.

Married (1) January 1, 1891, in New York City, Grace Emily, daughter of Amasa L. and Lemira (Crawford) Jourdan. Daughter, Ruth Crawford (Michigan State College 1907-08), the wife of Jacques Massonnaud (Université de Paris). Mr. and Mrs. Brady were divorced in 1906. Married (2) September 28, 1916, in Silver Springs, Flora Estelle, daughter of Palmer and Harriet Roxania (Warner) Kimball. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Warsaw Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs. Alfred J. Burgess of Attica.

Hamilton Hill Durand, B.A. 1890.

Born May 20, 1867, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died February 10, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Charles William Durand, had an interest in the Seth Thomas Clock Company; son of Jeremiah and Marie (Kinny) Durand of Seymour, Conn. Mother, Maria (Hill) Durand; daughter of Hamilton and Anna (Andrews) Hill of Oberlin, Ohio.

Attended Oberlin College three years. Entered Yale in Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year; president Berkeley Association Senior year.

Tutored in New York City 1890–91 and while studying law at Columbia 1891–94; admitted to New York bar 1895; in law office of Simpson, Thacher & Barnum, New York City, 1893–1904; independently engaged in the practice of law (estate and corporation cases) in New York City 1904–37; secretary-treasurer Thursday Evening Club since 1922; member Bar Association of New York City, and St. James Protestant Episcopal Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by a sister, Miss Katharine Durand of New York City, with whom he resided.

Curtis Clark Bushnell, B.A. 1891.

Born August 10, 1870, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 27, 1936, in New Hartford, N.Y.

Father, Curtis Sylvester Bushnell, '52 L. Mother, Margaret Amelia (Clark) Bushnell; daughter of Daniel and Wealthy (Burr) Clark of Haddam, Conn. Yale relatives include: Clarence C. Ferris and Dr. Harry B. Ferris, both '87 (cousins).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. First Berkeley Premium in Latin composition and third DeForest Mathematics Prize Freshman year; second Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore year; first Winthrop Prize Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, two-year honors in political science, history, and law and in ancient languages Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Studied in Yale Graduate School 1891-92 and 1894-95 (Ph.D. 1895); instructor in Greek University of Cincinnati 1892-93 and Emory and Henry College 1899–1900; due to ill-health was unemployed 1895–96; instructor at Rectory School, New Milford, Conn., 1896-97, Boardman High School, New Haven, 1897–98, Hillhouse High School 1898–99, and Union College [N.Y.] 1899-1900; instructor in Latin Syracuse University 1900-03, assistant professor 1903-04, associate professor 1904-08, and professor of classics 1908 until retirement in 1933; on leave of absence and studied in Yale Graduate School 1926-27; traveled extensively; author: Selections from Latin Verse (1904), Readings from Latin Verse (1908), For Christmas Day, and Other Poems (1910), Historical Sketch of Old Fair Haven (1916), and other pamphlets; coauthor: Latin and the Agitation for a Single Degree in Liberal Studies (1916), Beginning Latin (1918), and Second Year Latin (1922); contributed to Proceedings of the American Philological Association; member Archæological Institute of America, Theta Chi Beta, and Grand Avenue Congregational Church, New Haven.

Married March 30, 1932, in Kingston, N.Y., Ethel Louise Lacy (B.A. Syracuse University 1911), daughter of George Washington and Elzada (Rector) Lacy.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Wiltwyck Cemetery, Kingston. Survived by wife.

Howard Thayer Kingsbury, B.A. 1891.

Born April 1, 1870, in Rome, N.Y. Died June 4, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Howard Kingsbury, '63. Mother, Sophia Howard (Thayer) Kingsbury. Yale relatives include: Rev. Oliver A. Kingsbury, '60 (uncle); and Daniel J. Holden, '64 (great-uncle).

Everson & Halsey's Collegiate School, New York City. Second Berkeley Premium in Latin composition Freshman year; first prize in English composition Sophomore year; philosophical oration appointments; a TenEyck Prize speaker Junior year; DeForest Prize, Townsend Premium, and honors in English Senior year; corresponding secretary Y.M.C.A. Senior year; on editorial board *Yale Literary Magazine* Senior year; member Zeta Psi, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa. Graduate member Elizabethan Club and Elihu.

Attended New York Law School 1891-93 (LL.B. 1893); admitted to New York bar 1893; tutor New York Law School 1893-95; clerk in law office of Lee & Lee, New York City, 1893-94, and managing clerk 1894-1900; associated with Coudert Brothers, lawyers in New York City, since 1900 (member of firm 1906-37); admitted to bar of United States Supreme Court 1904; special assistant to Attorney General of the United States in prosecution of anthracite coal trust cases 1913-14; counsel to the Transit Commission, State of New York, 1921-22; treasurer 1920-31 and president since 1931 Garden City (N.Y.) Company; president Village of Sands Point, N.Y., where he had a country residence, 1919-27; president and counsel Sands Point Association 1919-27; on executive committee and special counsel Empire Bond & Mortgage Corporation 1925-32; member of executive committee Argent Financial Corporation and a director 1929-30; enlisted in Veteran Corps of Artillery, New York State, 1911; transferred to New York Guard October, 1917; assigned as Judge Advocate General to staff of Brigadier General Charles H. Sherrill, '89, December, 1917-January, 1919; applied for commission as Judge Advocate, Officers' Reserve Corps, December, 1916; commissioned Lieutenant Colonel September 8, 1921; promoted to Colonel September, 1924, and assigned as Judge Advocate of New York; drafted revision of Military Law of New York State; retired 1934; member executive committee American Branch of the International Law Association 1927-37, vicepresident 1931-32, and president 1932-33; member executive council American Society of International Law 1923-34; member advisory committee Harvard Law School "Research in International Law" 1931; governor Yale Publishing Association 1933-36; chairman New York State Chapter Sons of the Revolution 1935-37 (member library committee 1912-29, on board of managers 1930-32, on law committee 1930-34); member American Law Institute, American Bar Association, New York State Bar Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Masonic order, Society of Colonial Wars, Society of the War of 1812, Pilgrim Society (London), France-America Society, St. Nicholas Society, and St. James Protestant Episcopal Church, New York City.

Married April 22, 1902, in New York City, Alice Cary, daughter of Abraham and Emma (Frost) Bussing. Children: Howard Thayer, Jr., '26, and Ruth Oliver, who married Frank F. Russell, '26.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Trinity Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife and son. His daughter died September 30, 1933.

Frank Richard Oastler, B.A. 1891.

Born July 19, 1871, in Hoboken, N.J. Died August 2, 1936, in Glacier National Park, Mont.

Father, William Churchill Oastler (born in England), a civil engineer in New York City; son of Sir Richard Oastler. Mother, Frank (MacNee) Oastler; daughter of Sir Daniel MacNee.

Holbrook School. Second colloquy appointment Junior year and second dispute appointment Senior year; in Banjo Club Senior year; member '91 Literary Society, Psi Upsilon, and Elihu.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1891-94 (M.D. 1894; won Harzen Prize); interne Roosevelt Hospital, New York City, 1894–97; had been engaged in the practice of surgery in New York City since 1897; attending surgeon Roosevelt Hospital 1897-1900; attending gynecologist Vanderbilt Clinic 1897-1908, and chief gynecologist 1908-14; chief gynecologist Good Samaritan Hospital 1900-05; attending physician Lincoln Hospital 1900-06, attending obstetrician and gynecologist 1906–16, and consulting gynecologist 1916-36; associate surgeon Woman's Hospital 1910-16; assistant attending gynecologist Sloane Hospital for Women 1912-14; associate gynecologist Lenox Hill Hospital 1912–16, attending gynecologist 1916-36, and senior gynecologist 1927-36; consulting surgeon St. Luke's Hospital 1913-16; assistant attending physician in obstetrics Gouvernor Hospital 1915–16; instructor in gynecology College of Physicians and Surgeons 1900-08, lecturer 1908-10, associate 1910-13, and professor of clinical gynecology 1913-32; surgeon to Police Department, New York City, 1902–23, honorary surgeon since 1923; F.A.C.S. 1913; at one time president New York Obstetrical Society; member New York State and New York County Medical societies, New York Academy of Medicine, and Bronx County Medical Association; since 1907 had spent several months each year photographing wild life inits natural environment; member executive committee National Confer-

Yale College

ence of Outdoor Recreation 1924–29; one of originators of educational programs in national parks 1924 (submitted report to Director, National Parks Service, after four-and-one-half-months' trip); member 1928–29 Committee on Educational Problems in the National Parks appointed by Secretary of the Interior; member Educational Advisory Board on National Parks March, 1929–January 30, 1936, and Advisory Board on National Parks, Historic Sites, Buildings, and Monuments since January 30, 1936 (chairman Committee on Scenic and Scientific Sites); vice-president National Association of Audubon Societies since 1929; secretary Camp Fire Club of America 1935–36 and vice-president since April 1, 1936; secretary Explorers Club 1935–36, and vice-president since January 18, 1936.

Married July 10, 1901, in Newburgh, N.Y., Maude, daughter of John Willis and Harriet (Garaway) Matthews. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, who has presented to Yale University for the School of Forestry, as a memorial to Dr. Oastler, the collection of negatives, slides, and motion-picture films which he had assembled. Provision was made by Dr. Oastler for a fund in the School of Forestry to be used for the conservation of wild life, both birds and mammals.

Hanford Smith Weed, B.A. 1891.

Born October 3, 1868, in New Canaan, Conn. Died May 1, 1937, in New Canaan, Conn.

Father, Seth Chauncey Weed, a merchant in New Canaan; son of Samuel Andros and Anna (Smith) Weed of New Canaan. Mother, Jennie Amelia (Smith) Weed; daughter of Hanford and Naomi Christeen (Wortendyke) Smith of New York City.

Selleck's School, Norwalk, Conn., and King School, Stamford, Conn. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member King School Club, '91 Literary Society, and University Club.

Attended New York Law School 1891–93 (LL.B. 1893); admitted to New York State bar 1893 and to Connecticut bar in 1898; practiced (chiefly corporate and real-estate law) independently in New York City and in New Canaan 1893–1937; vice-president Fairfield County Savings Bank 1932–37 (a director 1921–37); director Merchants Bank & Trust Company, Norwalk, 1931–37, and of several corporations; member Connecticut State Senate 1913–15 (chairman Committee on Banks, the Finance Committee, and Committee on Constitutional Amendments), Finance and Park boards of New Canaan, Democratic State Central Committee 1913–26, Library Association, and Historical Society; honorary member Society of Veterans of Foreign Wars; member St. Mark's Episcopal Church, New Canaan (vestryman 1902–11 and attorney 1893–1937).

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Weed Cemetery, New Canaan. Survived by two sisters, the Misses Amanda Priscilla and Naomi Wortendyke Weed, and a brother, Sherman Chauncey Weed, all of New Canaan.

Frederic Courtney Bishop, B.A. 1892.

Born November 9, 1870, in Minneapolis, Minn. Died December 22, 1936, in Woodmont, Conn.

Father, Charles Kitchel Bishop, a grocer in Bridgeport, Conn.; son of James Peck and Celestia (Kitchel) Bishop of Bridgeport. Mother, Julia Elizabeth (Lewis) Bishop; daughter of George and Jennet (Hubbell) Lewis of Stratford, Conn. Yale relatives include: George F. Lewis, '64 (uncle); and Sheldon Catlin, '94 S., George L. Catlin, '01, and Bradford Boardman, '24 (cousins).

Bridgeport High School. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years.

Taught at the University School in Bridgeport 1892-93; attended Yale School of Medicine 1893-95 (M.D. cum laude 1895; member Delta Epsilon Iota); interne Bridgeport Hospital 1895-96; practiced medicine in New Haven, Conn., 1896-1936; clinical assistant 1897-1904 and clinical instructor in otology Yale School of Medicine 1904-07; chief medical examiner Metropolitan Life Insurance Company in New Haven 1900-36; vice-president 1935 and president 1936 New Haven County Medical Association; member New Haven Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married October 20, 1902, in New Haven, Gertrude May Craig (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1893–97), daughter of William Allen and Alma A. (Wier) Craig. Son, Courtney Craig, '26, '30 M.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Julia Bishop Wood, the wife of Arthur E. Wood (B.A. Harvard 1906, S.T.B. 1911; Ph.D. University of Michigan 1920) of Ann Arbor, Mich., and Miss Katherine L. Bishop of Bridgeport, and a brother, Henry L. Bishop, also of Bridgeport.

)

Robert Allan Paddock, B.A. 1892.

Born May 15, 1869, in Alton, Ill. Died February 20, 1937, in Massapequa, N.Y.

Father, Gaius Paddock, member of firm of Paddock & Hawley Iron Company of St. Louis, Mo.; son of Orville and Mary Elizabeth (Bailey) Paddock of St. Louis. Mother, Sara Josepha (Foster) Paddock; daughter of Joseph and Sarah (Singleton) Foster of Virginia.

Episcopal Academy, Cheshire, Conn., and Hopkins Grammar School. Secretary University Football Association Junior year and on Junior Prom Committee; member board of governors University Club Senior year, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended New York Law School 1892-94 (LL.B. cum laude 1894) and studied under Judge Howland [Henry E., 1854] in firm of Anderson, Howland & Murray; admitted to Missouri and New York bars 1894; associated with law firm of Lord, Day and Lord 1895-1901; admitted to bar of the federal courts 1896; practiced independently 1901-02; member of firm of Van Ingen, Seibert & Paddock 1902-05, and of Seibert, Paddock & Cochran 1905-37; counsel to United States Commissioner of Immigration at the Port of New York 1903-13; member Association of the Bar of New York; vestryman Grace Episcopal Church, Massapequa.

Unmarried.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Paddock's Cemetery, near Edwardsville, Ill. Survived by a brother, Orville W. Paddock of St. Louis, and four sisters, the Misses Mary J., Sara S., and Alice B. Paddock, and Mrs. Innis Palmer Swift. His brother, Gaius F. Paddock, '90 S., died in 1932.

Alfred Harris Swayne, B.A. 1892.

Born April 5, 1870, in Washington, D C. Died April 16, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Major General Wager Swayne, '56. Mother, Ellen (Harrıs) Swayne. Yale relatives include: Noah H. Swayne, LL.D. 1865 (grandfather); Henry S. Swayne, '68, Noah H. Swayne, '70, and Francis B. Swayne, '72 (uncles); and Noah H. Swayne, 3d, '32 S. (nephew).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. President and captain '91 S. and '92 Boat Club Freshman year and captain Sophomore year; on Class Crew Junior year; member St. Paul's Club, Eta Phi, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended New York; Law School 1892–94 (LL.B. 1894); practiced law in New York City in firm of Davies, Stone & Auerbach 1894–95, and with father in firm of Dillon & Swayne 1896–99; legal adviser North American Trust Company in Cuba 1899 (while there acted as fiscal agent for United States Government and assisted in establishing a banking system); secretary Bankers Trust Company, New York City, 1899-1900; treasurer Atlantic Trust Company 1900-01; associated with banking firm of Moore & Schley (Reeve Schley, '03), New York City, 1901; partner Tailer & Robinson, brokers in New York City, 1902-18; vice-president General Motors Acceptance Corporation 1919-37 (chairman board of directors 1921-37); vice-president General Motors Corporation 1921-37 and Automobile Manufacturers Association 1928-37; director Irving Trust Company 1921-37, Lehigh Valley Railroad Company 1923-37, Long Island Railroad Company 1927-37, St. Louis Southwestern Railway Company 1929-37, General Reinsurance Company 1929-37, Stuyvesant Insurance Company 1932-37, and the National Fire & Marine Insurance Company; trustee and vicepresident North River Savings Bank since 1933; member Class reunion committees, Graduate Advisory Committee on Rowing, Military Order of the Loyal Legion, and St. Bartholomew's Protestant Episcopal Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Buried in Southampton (N.Y.) Cemetery. Survived by two sisters, Miss Eleanor Swayne of New York City, with whom he resided, and Mrs. Virginia S. Lomas (died October 4, 1937) and two brothers, Noah H. Swayne, '93, and Wager Swayne, ex-'95.

Martin John Synnott, B.A. 1892.

Born July 12, 1869, at Great Neck, N.Y. Died July 15, 1936, in Montclair, N.J.

Father, Joseph Synnott, a farmer in Montclair; son of Martin Synnott of Waterford, Ireland. Mother, Mary (Walsh) Synnott; daughter of John Walsh of Waterford. Brother, Rev. Joseph J. Synnott, honorary M.A. 1893.

Montclair High School.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1892-94 (M.D. 1894); interne St. Joseph's Hospital, Paterson, N.J., 1894-95; practiced medicine (specializing in gastro-intestinal diseases) in Little Falls, N.Y., 1895-1900, in Montclair 1900-03, 1905-17, 1919-36, and in New York City 1928-36; attended Yale Graduate School 1903-05 (M.A. 1905); associated in practice with Dr. Frank D. Scudder, '10, 1919-30; attending physician and chief of staff St. Vincent's Hospital, Montclair, since 1901 (retired in June, 1936); first president board of managers Essex County Isolation Hospital, Soho; proctologist outpatient department Mountainside Hospital, Montclair, 1927-30; director of proctology Midtown Hospital, New York City, since 1928; commissioned Major, Medical Corps, U.S. Army, June 1, 1917; chief of medical service Base Hospital, Camp Dix, N.J., August 30, 1917–January 15, 1919; commissioned Lieutenant Colonel, Medical Reserve Corps, May 15, 1919, and Colonel June 6, 1924; contributed to a number of medical publications; fellow American College of Physicians, New York Academy of Medicine, American Therapeutic Society, and American Medical Association; associate American Proctological Society; charter member International Society of Gastroenterologists; member Associated Physicians of Montclair and Vicinity (president 1925), New Jersey State Medical Society, Orange Mountain Medical Society, Essex County Medical Milk Commission from organization to 1915, Montclair Board of Health 1923, and Church of the Immaculate Conception (Roman Catholic), Montclair.

Married (1) January 5, 1898, in Paterson, Jane, daughter of John and Susan (O'Neill) Agnew. Children: Mary Jane and Paul Agnew (B.S. Dartmouth 1924). Mrs. Synnott died December 29, 1923. Married (2) November 12, 1925, in Springfield, Mass., Eleanor Southworth Hopkins, daughter of Charles Hayward and Caroline Ames (Bliss) Southworth, and sister of Constant Southworth, ex-'19 S.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and arteriosclerosis. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlıngton, Va. Survived by wife, son, daughter, one granddaughter, a stepson, Ralph Hopkins, a stepdaughter, Natalıe Hopkins (Sweet Briar College 1937), and a sister, Mrs. Edward D. Ring of Montclair.

Alfred Clark Thompson, B.A. 1892.

Born March 25, 1867, in Norwich Town, Conn. Died February 17, 1937, in La Jolla, Calif.

Father, Charles Thompson, a farmer in Norwich Town; son of Asa and Rhoda (Crumb) Thompson of Westerly, R.I. Mother, Prudence Stanton (James) Thompson; daughter of Clark and Mary (Babcock) James of Voluntown, Conn.

Norwich Free Academy. On Freshman Football Team, Class Crew Freshman and Sophomore years, and Yale Athletic Team Junior year; member Sigma Nu.

Principal Hopkins Academy, Hadley, Mass., 1892–95, and Rutland (Vt.) High School 1895–97; superintendent of schools Palmer, Mass., 1897–1902, Wakefield, Mass., 1902–05, and Auburn, N.Y., 1905–10; principal State Normal School at Brockport, N.Y., 1910 until retirement on June 30, 1936; studied at Clark University, Worcester, Mass., and at Ludwig-Maximilian University, Munich, Germany, summers of 1899 and 1900; Pd.D. New York State College for Teachers 1913; contributed articles to newspapers and magazines; president New York State Teachers Association 1914-16; chairman Board of School Directors Monroe County, N.Y., 1915-37, and board of managers Monroe County Traveling Library 1923-37; trustee Village of Brockport 1915-27; member National Education Association, New York State Regents Legislative Committee, and First Presbyterian Church, Brockport (trustee 1922-31).

Married June 30, 1896, in Hadley, Lina Miriam, daughter of Charles and Eunice T. Cook. Children: Elizabeth (died May 9, 1905); a son who died at birth May 26, 1910; and Miriam Cook (B.S. Sweet Briar College 1921), the wife of Robert F. Winne.

Death due to coronary occlusion and arteriosclerosis. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Brockport. Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Frank Hancox of Willimantic, Conn., and Mrs. George Griswold of Gales Ferry, Conn.

Stuart Webster, B.A. 1892.

Born October 10, 1869, in New York City. Died September 2, 1936, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, George Huntington Webster, member Armour & Company, packers in Chicago; son of Bela Camp and Emily Porter (Huntington) Webster of Springfield, Ill., and New York City. Mother, Ellen Frances (Pickford) Webster; daughter of Isaac and Jane (Smith) Pickford of England and New York City. Yale relatives include: Noah Webster (B.A 1778); and Joseph E. Otis, Jr., '16, George W. Otis, '19, Stuart Huntington Otis, ex-'23, Raymond Otis, '24, and Huntington Eldridge, '28 (nephews)

Phillips-Andover. Member Banjo Club Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; chairman Senior Promenade Committee; Class Historian; member Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Attended Columbia University 1892–95 (M.D. 1895); interne Roosevelt Hospital, New York City, 1895–96; studied medicine and surgery University of Vienna 1896–98; practiced medicine in Chicago, clinical assistant Rush Medical College and Chicago Polyclinic, and attending oculist Provident Hospital 1898–99; in sales department Diamond Match Company 1899–1901; vice-president and secretary Atwood & Steele Company, Chicago, 1901–10; secretary and treasurer Racine Rubber Company, Racine, Wis., 1910–17 (president 1916); vice-president and treasurer Ajax Rubber Company, New York City, 1917–22; partner Webster, Marsh & Company, stocks and bonds, Chicago, 1924–36; on governing board Chicago Stock Exchange 1932– 35; member Trinity Episcopal Church, Chicago.

Married October 4, 1905, in Racine, Marie, daughter of Henrý

George and Lily (Osgood) Mitchell. Children: Natalie, the wife of Lieut. John C. Bernet (U.S. Naval Academy 1927); Janet Huntington, the wife of Lieut. George H. Moffett (U.S. Naval Academy 1928); and Henry Mitchell (died May 8, 1914).

Death due to bilateral bronchopneumonia. Buried in Mound Cemetery, Racine. Survived by wife, two daughters, three grandchildren, two brothers, George H. Webster, ex-'91, and Herman A. Webster, '00 S., and two sisters, Mrs. Harold Eldridge of Chicago and Emily Webster Otis, the wife of Joseph E. Otis, ex-'90 S.

John Whitney Avery, B.A. 1893.

Born March 26, 1869, in Huntington, Mass. Died November 10, 1936, in Brunswick, Maine.

Father, John Avery, ex-'66 S. (B.A. Amherst 1861, M.A. 1864, LL.D. 1887), professor of Greek Bowdoin College; son of Joseph and Sylvia (Clary) Avery of Conway, Mass. Mother, Cornelia M., daughter of Judson Curtiss of New Haven, Conn.

Phillips-Andover. Second dispute appointment Junior year and first dispute appointment Senior year.

Studied in Yale Graduate School 1893–96; taught at Media Academy, Media, Pa., 1896–97, and St. John's Military Academy, Ossining, N.Y., 1897–99; taught English and history Gunnery School 1899–1900; studied in Yale Graduate School 1900–01; instructor Mount Beacon Military Academy, Fishkill-on-Hudson, N.Y., 1901–03; instructor in Greek Princeton Preparatory School 1903–04; taught at Manor School, Stamford, Conn., 1904–12; retired in 1912 and had since lived in New Haven, Conn., and Brunswick.

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic interstitial nephritis. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Brunswick. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Wendell Greene Brownson, B.A. 1893.

Born May 26, 1869, in New Canaan, Conn. Died July 15, 1936, in Springfield, Mass.

Father, William Greene Brownson (honorary M.A. Hamilton College 1864; M.D. New York University 1865), a physician in New Canaan; son of Simeon and Lucretia (Stewart) Brownson of Madison County, N.Y. Mother, Caroline Louise (Barstow) Brownson; son of Samuel and Polly (Jones) Barstow of Oswego, N.Y.

King School, Stamford, Conn. Entered Yale with Class of 1891 S but transferred to Class of 1893 in 1890; first dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; vice-president Yale Union Junior year.

Attended Yale School of Law 1893–95 (LL.B. 1895; honors Junior year; vice-president Kent Club Junior year; an editor Yale Law Journal Senior year; member Phi Delta Phi); admitted to Massachusetts bar December, 1895; practiced independently in Springfield 1895–1903 and since 1914; partner in law firm of Doherty & Brownson, Springfield, 1903–14; vice-president Yale Law School Alumni Association 1913–14; treasurer University Club of Springfield 1915, vice-president 1928, and president 1929; delegate from American Bar Association to World Bar Congress, London, England, 1924; member Massachusetts Council of the American Bar Association 1926–28; member executive committee Massachusetts Bar Association 1926–28; member committee on legislation 1923 and vice-president 1926–30 Hampden County Bar Association; member Springfield Chamber of Commerce, '93 Reunion Committee 1928, and First Church of Christ, Springfield.

Married (1) April 21, 1897, in Taunton, Mass., Addie DeVelle Place (special student in music Smith College 1888-89), daughter of Alfred Casey and Liely L. (Weeden) Place. Son, Alfred Gardner, '26 S. Mrs. Brownson died April 12, 1904. Married (2) April 30, 1927, in Springfield, Helen Carlotta Bailey (Simmons College 1907-08), daughter of Russell Arthur and Harriet Edna (Sweet) Bailey.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Springfield Cemetery, Springfield. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs. Stephen G. Beers of Taunton, and a brother, Carleton L. Brownson, B.A. 1887, Ph.D. 1897.

James Charles Fox, B.A. 1893.

Born June 6, 1869, in Clinton, Conn. Died November 22, 1936, in Middletown, Conn.

Father, Dr. David Austin Fox (M.D. New York University 1852), a physician in Thompsonville and Clinton, Conn.; son of David Austin and Wealthy (Saxton) Fox of Bozrah, Conn. Mother, Aurelia (Wood) Fox; daughter of Luke E. and Caroline (Buell) Wood of Clinton. Yale relatives include: Roswell Fox, 1844-45 M. (uncle); Paul F. Murdock, '14 S. (nephew); and Horace W. Barnes, ex-'19 (cousin).

Morgan School, Clinton. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale Union.

Deputy collector of internal revenue, Middletown, 1893–98; founder 1897 and since president the Fox-Becker Granite Company, Middletown; vice-president Central National Bank 1909–17 (director 1906– 17); director Middletown Trust Company 1909–17, and Arrigoni Coal Company; trustee Farmers' and Mechanics' Savings Bank 1905–36; member Holy Trinity Church (Episcopal), Middletown. Married April 11, 1894, in Springfield, Mass., Florence Willoughby, daughter of Rev. Charles Ellye Becker and Mary (Curtis) Becker. Children: James Charles, Jr. (B.A. Williams 1916; M.D. Johns Hopkins 1920; Yale Graduate School 1921–22), clinical professor of neurology at Yale; and Frederick Curtiss (University of Virginia 1921–22; Columbia ex-'25).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Indian Hill Cemetery, Middletown. Survived by wife, sons, five grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Fred G. Miner of Madison, Conn.

Gerald Laurence Rathbone, B.A. 1893.

Born August 26, 1871, in Albany, N.Y. Died September 25, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Henry Reed Rathbone (B.A. Union 1857), Major 12th U.S. Infantry during Civil War; Provost Marshal, City of Washington, D.C.; son of Jared Lewis and Pauline (Penney) Rathbone of Albany. Mother, Clara Hamilton (Harris) Rathbone; daughter of Ira Harris (B.A. Union 1824) and Louisa (Tubbs) Harris of Albany. Brother, Henry R. Rathbone, '92.

Phillips-Andover, Albany Academy, and Greylock Institute, Williamstown, Mass. Member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

In Cleveland, Ohio, office of Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railroad Company 1893-95; secretary and treasurer Macondray & Company, export and import commission insurance agents, San Francisco, Calif., 1895-1904, vice-president and secretary 1904-20, and president 1920-22; president Rathbone, King & Seeley, Inc., general insurance agents, San Francisco, since 1921; resided in Burlingame; served on staff of General Francis V. Greene at Manila June-August, 1898; commissioned Lieutenant, U.S. Naval Reserve Force, June 20, 1918; stationed at Naval Intelligence Office, San Francisco; member St. Matthew's Episcopal Church, San Mateo, Calif.

Married June 30, 1908, in San Francisco, Gertrude Greenwood, daughter of Charles and Mary (Greenwood) Josselyn. No children.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Cypress Lawn Cemetery, San Mateo. Survived by wife.

Robert Buchanan Wade, B.A. 1893.

Born October 26, 1869, in St. Louis, Mo. Died May 3, 1937, in St. Louis, Mo.

Father, Robert Buchanan Wade (U.S. Military Academy 1865); member firm of Budd & Wade, bankers in St. Louis, and representative of Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company in St. Louis; son of Colonel Richard Dean Arden Wade and Ann McKean (Buchanan) Wade. Mother, Belle Neff (Budd) Wade; daughter of George Knight and Rebecca Neff (Paterson) Budd of St. Louis.

Smith Academy, St. Louis. On University Athletic Team Freshman and Sophomore years; president Yale Athletic Association Junior and Senior years; president Intercollegiate Athletic Association, editor *Pot-Pourri*, director Yale Field Corporation, and governor University Club Senior year; chairman Senior Promenade Committee; on Class Day and Cup committees; member Psi Upsilon and Scroll and Key.

Attended Harvard Law School 1893-95; clerk in law firm of Masten & Nichols, New York City, 1895-96; attended University of Virginia Law School 1896-98; engaged in mining in Butte, Mont., 1898-99; with Bennett, Wasserman & Company, brokers in St. Louis, 1900-06; manager St. Louis office of Bartlett, Frazier & Carrington, grain brokers, and subsequently in their Chicago and New York offices; returned to St. Louis a few years ago but, owing to ill-health, had not engaged in business.

Married July 25, 1907, in St. Louis, Clara Louise, daughter of Hinman H. and Fannie E. (Todd) Clark. No children. Mrs. Wade died in 1931

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis. Survived by a brother, George K. B. Wade, '95.

Edward Mason Williams, B.A. 1893.

Born November 9, 1871, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died July 25, 1936, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Edward Porter Williams (B.A. Western Reserve 1864, M.A. 1868), cofounder Sherwin-Williams Company (paint and varnish manufacturers), Cleveland; son of William and Laura (Fitch) Williams of Cleveland. Mother, Mary Louise (Mason) Williams; daughter of Squire and Sarah (Granger) Mason of New Hartford, N.Y. Yale relatives include: Henry P. Baldwin, '25, Fred C. Baldwin, '28, and Lewis W. Baldwin, '36 (nephews); and William W. Crehore, '86, William C. Williams, ex-'89, Albert C. Crehore, '90, Harvey Cushing, '91, Perry W. Harvey, '91, Allyn F. Harvey, '93, Mervin C. Harvey, '99, and Douglas G. Harvey, '05 S. (cousins).

Central High School, Cleveland. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Freshman and University Glee clubs; in College Choir Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; member Alpha Delta Phi.

With Sherwin-Williams Company 1893–1913 when he retired to devote himself to educational and philanthropic interests (factory mill hand 1893–94, office and laboratory assistant 1894–95, superintendent and treasurer Walter H. Cottingham Company, Ltd. [subsidiary of Sherwin-Williams Company], Montreal, 1895–96, in sales department Sherwin-Williams Company 1897-98, manager railway sales department 1899-1913); director Sherwin-Williams Company 1903-36 (member executive committee since 1916); on executive committee American Electric Railway Manufacturers Association 1904-13; member City Charter Commission 1913; vice-president Morris Plan Bank, Cleveland, 1916-18; a director Central National Bank of Cleveland 1918-33, Superior Savings & Trust Company, and Cleveland Box Company; a director Cleveland Fresh Air Camp 1900-12 (president 1905-12); chairman Child Welfare Council 1910-12; a director Cleveland Chamber of Commerce 1912-13 (member committee on benevolent associations 1912–13, and vice-chairman 1912); an organizer Federation of Charities and Philanthropy 1913 (vice-president 1913-15, and member of board 1913-18); trustee Children's Aid Society 1918-30; member Cleveland Board of Education January 1, 1914–December 31, 1933 (vice-president 1914-18, president September 15, 1919-March 28, 1932); trustee Adelbert College, Western Reserve University, 1922-36, and Cleveland College 1926-36; LL.D. Rollins College 1931; trustee Playhouse of Cleveland 1923-29; civilian aide to Secretary of War for Ohio for National Military Training Camps Association 1927-31; a deacon Old Stone Church, Cleveland, 1902-34, and trustee First Presbyterian Society 1912-36.

Married October 11, 1899, in Cleveland, Mary, daughter of Samuel Atwater Raymond, '70, and Emma Eugenie (Stone) Raymond, and sister of Henry A. Raymond, '05, S. Edward Raymond, '13, and Jonathan S. Raymond, '17, and niece of Daniel E. Stone, '79 S. Children: Hilda, the wife of Andrew U. Thomas (B.A. Marietta 1921; LL.B. Harvard 1924); Madeline; Edward Porter, '29; Mary Raymond; and Raymond (died December 5, 1923).

Death due to monocytic leukemia. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, daughters, one son, one grandchild, a brother, Lewis M. Williams, '98 (died August 30, 1937), and two sisters, Sarah Williams Garfield, the wife of Abram Garfield (B.A. Williams 1893; B.S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1896), and Reba Williams Baldwin, the wife of Arthur D. Baldwin, '98.

Thomas Cochran, B.A. 1894.

Born March 20, 1871, in St. Paul, Minn. Died October 29, 1936, in Bedford, N.Y.

Father, Thomas Cochran (B.A. New York University 1863; LL.B. Columbia 1865), a lawyer and real-estate broker in New York City and St. Paul; son of James Blair Cochran of Kırkcudbright, Scotland, and Catharine (Baylis) Cochran of New York City. Mother, Emilie Belden (Walsh) Cochran; daughter of Alexander Robertson and Emily Maria (Brown) Walsh of New York City.

Phillips-Andover Academy. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; on Freshman and University Football teams; an editor *Yale Record*; class deacon Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; chairman Sophomore German Committee and Junior Promenade Committee; member Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

A tutor in Norfolk, Conn., 1894–95; engaged in hardware commission business in St. Paul 1895-98; with Albany & Hudson Railway and Power Company in Albany, N.Y., 1898-1902; entered real-estate business in New York City 1902 and became treasurer Ardsley Hall Company; entered banking business in New York City 1906; vicepresident Astor Trust Company 1906-14; president Liberty National Bank of New York 1914-16; partner in firm of J. P. Morgan & Company 1917-36 (also Drexel & Company of Philadelphia, Morgan, Grenfell & Company of London, and Morgan & Company of Paris); director Bankers Trust Company 1916-36 (chairman of the board 1936) and various other companies; a governor Bankers' Club of America; secretary and treasurer Group 8, New York State Bankers Association, 1915-16; trustee New York Association for Improving the Conditions of the Poor 1916-36, Milbank Memorial Fund 1924-36, Metropolitan Museum of Art 1932-36; president board of directors Doctors Hospital, New York City, 1928-36; member New York State Chamber of Commerce and Presbyterian Church, Englewood, N.J.; trustee 1923-36 Phillips-Andover Academy and donor of George Washington Hall, Paul Revere Hall, Oliver Wendell Holmes Library, Addison Gallery of American Art, Cochran Chapel, and the Moncrieff Cochran Sanctuary, besides assisting in many other enterprises of the school; LL.D. Amherst 1929 and St. John's College (Md.) 1932; Litt.D. New York University 1930.

Married September 30, 1910, in Minneapolis, Minn., Martha Andrews, daughter of Allen and Mary Elizabeth (Marshall) Griffin. Daughter, Emmy Lou (born and died April 3, 1914). Mrs. Cochran died May 7, 1914.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Brookside Cemetery, Englewood. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Louise C. Savage of St. Paul, and a brother, Williams Cochran, ex-'99.

Thomas Frederick Davies, B.A. 1894.

Born July 20, 1872, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died August 25, 1936, in Lenox, Mass.

Father, the Rt. Rev. Thomas Frederick Davies, '53, Bishop of Michigan. Mother, Mary Lang (Hackstaff) Davies. Yale relatives include: Thomas Davies, B.A. 1813 (grandfather); Lemuel Sanford Davies, '43 (uncle); Macgrane Coxe, '79 (cousin); and T. F. Davies Haines, '24, and Henry Haines, '26 (nephews).

Protestant Episcopal Academy of Philadelphia. High oration appointments; Class Historian; president Phi Beta Kappa; member Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta.

Studied abroad 1894-95; attended General Theological Seminary, New York City, 1895-97 (B.D. 1899); ordained deacon Protestant Episcopal Church 1897, and priest 1898; curate Church of the Incarnation, New York City, 1897-1900; rector Christ Church, Norwich, Conn., 1901-03, and All Saints' Church, Worcester, Mass., 1903-11; M.A. Yale 1907; D.D. General Theological Seminary 1911 and Amherst 1912; Bishop of Western Massachusetts since 1911; religious secretary Y.M.C.A. with American Expeditionary Forces in France September-December, 1918; an incorporator Springfield (Mass.) Hospital, Wesson Maternity Hospital, Springfield, and Associated Charities of Springfield; trustee Smith College 1915, General Theological Seminary since 1916, and Berkshire County Society for the Care of Crippled and Deformed Children; instrumental in opening Lenox School for Boys; president Board of Missions Episcopal Church of Western Massachusetts and Episcopal Synod of the Province of New England 1926-32; vice-president Lenox Garden Club 1933, and Pleasant Valley Bird and Wild Flower Sanctuary Corporation 1928-35; secretary Class of 1894, 1900-04; member Foreign Policy Association; served on Commission on Revision of the Hymn Book and Commission on the Revision and Enrichment of the Book of Common Prayer; author: All Saints Sonnets (1910), Priestly Potentialities (1917), Personal Progress in Religion (1925), The Charm of Trees (1930), The Diversion of Staying at Home (1935), and After Confirmation What? (1936).

Married February 24, 1930, in Boston, Mass., Anne Morton Thayer Patten, daughter of Nathaniel and Cornelia Street (Barroll) Thayer.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in "Cemetery-on-thehill," Lenox. Survived by wife, two stepdaughters, Nancy Thayer Patten and Jean Hunnewell Patten, the wife of Marchese Guiseppe Pellegrini Quarantotti, two stepsons, William Samuel Patten (Harvard 1928-32), and Arthur Nathaniel Patten, and two sisters, Miss Marion Sanford Davies and Mrs. Anna D. Haines of Lenox. \

Henry Perkins Moseley, B.A. 1894.

Born April 14, 1872, in New Haven, Conn. Died January 4, 1937, in Santa Barbara, Calif.

Father, Seth Hamilton Moseley, hotel proprietor in New York and New Haven; son of Samuel and Polly (Tarbox) Moseley of Springfield, Mass. Mother, Elizabeth Rogers (Perkins) Moseley; daughter of Henry and Abıgail Barker (Noyes) Perkins of Springfield. Yale relatives include a nephew, Seth H. Moseley, ex-'04.

Phillips-Andover. Second dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; two-year honors in natural sciences; on editorial board *Yale Daily News* Junior and Senior years; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1894–98 (M.D. 1898); during Spanish-American War served as acting assistant surgeon, with rank of First Lieutenant, for two months in 1898 at Fort Hamilton, N.Y.; interne Presbyterian Hospital, New York City, 1899–1901, and on medical and surgical staffs 1899–1902; practiced medicine in New York City 1901 until retirement (because of ill-health) in 1909; studied in Vienna summer of 1903 and in Freiburgim-Baden fall of 1907; associated with Dr. Francke H. Bosworth, '62, in New York City 1903–07; assistant surgeon throat department Manhattan Eye, Ear & Throat Hospital 1905–10; since 1909 had lived in California; medical assistant Santa Barbara County draft board during World War; secretary Montecito War Committee for Red Cross and Liberty Loan drives; member United Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married June 30, 1903, in Port Chester, N.Y., Kate Mallory Williams (B.L. Smith College 1896), daughter of Charles Phelps Williams, '62, and Fanny (Mallory) Williams, and sister of Lr. Charles M. Williams, '92 S. No children.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Santa Barbara Cemetery. Survived by wife.

By the terms of his will Dr. Moseley made provision for a trust fund, a share of which will ultimately benefit the Yale School of Medicine.

William Runk Wright, B.A. 1894.

Born August 29, 1873, in New York City. Died October 22, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Andrew Wright, member of firm of W. & J. Sloane, merchants in New York City; son of Rev. James Wright and Catherine (Wilson) Wright of Hawick, Scotland. Mother, Sarah Katherine (Runk) Wright; daughter of William T. and Elizabeth R. (Stagg) Runk of New Brunswick, N.J., and New York City. Cutler School, New York City. High oration appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; on editorial board *Yale Daily News* Senior year; member Yale Union, Phi Beta Kappa, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

With W. & J. Sloane 1894-1902, and the Farish-Stafford Company, drygoods commission merchants, New York City, 1902-11 (director and secretary 1903-08, secretary and treasurer 1908-11); secretary and treasurer Rohde and Haskins Company, manufacturers and dealers in books and stationery, New York City, 1911-16, when he severed all business connections to enter active military service; enlisted December 2, 1896, in Squadron A, New York National Guard; enlisted May 2, 1898, in Troop A, New York Cavalry, U.S. Volunteers, and served in Porto Rico campaign July 28-September 2; mustered out of federal service November 28, 1898; resumed service in New York National Guard and was promoted through the ranks; appointed Major, Squadron A, January 26, 1912; served on Texas border June 16-December 28, 1916; called into federal service July 16, 1917, and commanded Squadron A, Cavalry, until March 26, 1918 (designation changed to 105th Machine Gun Battalion, 27th Division, October 1, 1917); Major, Inspector General's Department, March 26, 1918-May 9, 1919 (at Washington March-May, 1918; Assistant Post Inspector, Camp Upton, May-September; Army General Staff College, Langres, France, October 8, 1918-January 15, 1919; assistant to Inspector General, 2d Army, Toul, January 15-February 15, 1919; Inspector, 77th Division, Sablé, February 15-April 28, 1919; mustered out at Camp Upton May 9, 1919); returned to State service; appointed Assistant Chief of Staff and promoted to Lieutenant Colonel March 31, 1921; graduated Special Command and General Staff School, U.S. Army, at Fort Leavenworth 1928 (placed on Initial General Staff Eligible List, U.S. Army, 1920); promoted to Colonel and Chief of Staff, New York National Guard, December 2, 1929; received citation from 27th Division during World War; awarded New York Conspicuous Service Cross and medal for over thirty-five years' service; president National Guard Association of the State of New York and of Ex-members Association of Squadron A at time of death; member Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married May 23, 1905, in New York City, Sarah Eloise Waddell, daughter of Robert James and Sarah Brower (Derickson) Waddell. Children: Dorothy (B.A. Vassar 1929), the wife of Thomas Wenning, and William Runk, Jr., '33.

Death due to heart failure following an operation. Accorded the honor of a military funeral; interment in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, daughter, son, and a brother, James Wright, '02.

Willoughby Pierce Beam, B.A. 1895.

Born October 27, 1871, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died December 19, 1936, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, Levi Martin Beam. Mother, Sophia Loud (Pierce) Beam.

Phillips-Andover. Honorable mention in English composition Freshman year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Instructor in the classical department Central High School and Hutchinson-Central High School, Buffalo, 1895–1936, and head of the department 1911–32, when position was abolished.

Unmarried.

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by no immediate relatives.

William Carson, B.A. 1895.

Born July 27, 1872, in Chillicothe, Ohio. Died February 13, 1937, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, William Carson, a farmer and banker in Chillicothe; son of Thomas and Nancy (King) Carson of Mercersburg, Pa. Mother, Louise (Ward) Carson; daughter of Asahel Fleetwood and Anna Mary (Silver) Ward of Philadelphia, Pa.

Friends' High School, Baltimore, Md.; an editor Yale Courant Senior year; member the Cincinnati Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Studied law in Chillicothe with the Honorable Lawrence T. Neal 1895–97; teller Valley Savings Bank & Trust Company of Chillicothe 1910–22; had been in ill-health for many years.

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic pulmonary emphysema. Buried in Grandview Cemetery, Chillicothe. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Stephen H. Wilder of Cincinnati, Ohio, and a brother, Ward Carson of Chillicothe.

Walter Frederick Carter, B.A. 1895.

Born December 10, 1873, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died August 7, 1936, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Walter Steuben Carter, senior member in law firm of Carter, Hughes & Dwight of New York City; son of Evits and Emma (Taylor) Carter of Barkhamsted, Conn. Mother, Harriet (Cook) Carter; daughter of George and Harriet (Hoskins) Cook of Chicago, Ill. Yale relatives include: Rev. Samuel H. Lee, '58 (uncle); Burgess Dickinson, '07 S. (nephew); and Rev. Theodore Lee Safford, '20 (cousin).

Gunnery School and Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute. On University

Baseball Team four years; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Skull and Bones.

Columbia University Law School 1895–98 (LL.B. 1898); admitted to the bar and practiced with his father's firm and its successors from 1898 until his death, the firm name at that time being Hughes, Schurman & Dwight; president Yale Association of Long Island 1923–28; alumni member Committee on Baseball of the Yale University Athletic Association for twenty-one years; member board of directors Brooklyn National League Baseball Club 1930–33; member Association of the Bar of New York and Bar Association of Richmond County.

Married January 30, 1901, in Brooklyn, Grace Cahoone, daughter of Oliver Sidney and Susan Varick (Cahoone) Ackley, and sister of Oliver S. Ackley, Jr., '02. Daughter, Harriet.

Death due to an enlarged aorta and an aneurism of the heart. Buried in Poughkeepsie Rural Cemetery, Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Antoinette C. Hughes (Wellesley 1882–85), the wife of Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes (LL D. 1915).

Stillman Witt Eells, B.A. 1895.

Born April 24, 1873, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died May 12, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Dan Parmelee Eells (B.A. Hamilton College 1843), president Commercial National Bank and secretary United States Express Company, Cleveland; son of Rev. James Eells (B.A. 1799) and Mehitable (Parmelee) Eells of Ohio. Mother, Mary (Witt) Eells; daughter of Stillman and Eliza (Flint) Witt. Yale relatives include: Rev. James Eells, B.A. 1763 (great-grandfather); and John Strong. Newberry, '06 (nephew).

Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland, Cleveland Manual Training School, and Taft School. Member University Club.

Traveled abroad 1895–96; secretary Chicago Drop Forge and Foundry Company for six months in 1896; president Wheeler Manufacturing Company and Alignum Company, makers of fireproof wood, New York City, 1897–1903; retired from business 1903; traveled abroad and lived in Cleveland 1903–09; went to Bermuda to live in 1909; in American Foreign Service Administration as consul 1916–35; assigned to Hamilton, Bermuda, 1916–18, Mombasa, British East Africa, May–July, 1918, Nairobi, Kenya Colony, 1918–21, Funchal, Madeira, 1921–25, Leeds, England, 1925–28, Colombo, Ceylon, 1928–31, Cardiff, Wales, 1931–34, and Valencia, Spain, 1934 until retirement in 1935; had since lived in New York City; decorated Cavalieri del Ordine della Corona d'Italia (1922); member American Foreign Service Association and Pilgrims Society (London). Married September 4, 1895, in Minneapolis, Minn., Hélène Florence, daughter of I. Worthington and Emily (Fite) Waterman. No children.

Death due to cancer of the throat. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife.

Charles Sumner Gale, B.A. 1895.

Born November 24, 1873, in Minneapolis, Minn. Died October 3, 1936, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, Samuel Chester Gale, '54. Mother, Susan Abigail (Damon) Gale Yale relatives include: Harlow Gale, '85, Samuel E. Damon, '96, Maurice S. Damon, '04, and Henry F. Damon, '06 (cousins); and Richard P. Gale, '22, and Alfred D. Lindley, '25 (nephews).

Central High School, Minneapolis. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Clerk National Bank of Commerce, Minneapolis, 1896–97 and Consolidated Milling Company, Minneapolis, 1897–1900; in partnership with father in firm of Gale & Company (real estate and mortgage loans), Minneapolis, 1900–16; engaged independently in real estate, mortgage loans, and insurance business, Minneapolis, since 1916; member Plymouth Congregational Church, Minneapolis.

Married October 7, 1918, in Forest City, Iowa, Florence Cornell (Kalkhoff) Holmes, daughter of Robert Calvin and Carrie W. (Cornell) Kalkhoff. No children; brought up but did not legally adopt Betty Anne Gale. Mr. and Mrs. Gale were divorced in 1928.

Death due to cirrhosis of the pancreas and liver. Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis. Survived by a brother, Edward C. Gale, '84, and three sisters, Alice Gale Jones (B.L. Smith 1887), the wife of David P. Jones (B.A. University of Minnesota 1883), Anna Gale Lindley (B L. Smith 1889), the wife of Clarkson Lindley (Amherst ex-'78), and Miss Marion Gale (B.L. Smith 1894), all of Minneapolis.

Frederick Holbrook Rawson, B.A. 1895.

Born May 30, 1872, in Chicago, Ill. Died February 5, 1937, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Stephen Wilson Rawson, president Union Trust Company, Chicago; son of Wilson and Phila (Adams) Rawson of Upton, Mass. Mother, Emily Mandana (Holbrook) Rawson; daughter of Eli Wheeler and Adaline (Worcester) Holbrook of West Boylston, Mass.

Harvard School, Chicago. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; secretary and business manager University Glee Club and Banjo Club Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Union Trust Company, Chicago, 1895-1933 (clerk

1895-98, assistant cashier 1898-1901, vice-president 1901-05, president 1905–24, chairman board of directors 1924–29; cochairman board of directors First National Bank of Chicago when this company merged with Union Trust Company 1929-30, and chairman 1930 until retirement because of ill-health in 1933); founder Mercantile Trust & Savings Bank 1912, president 1912-21, and chairman of the board 1921-33; vice-president Chicago Clearing House Association 1911-12, and president 1913-14; director Miehle Printing Press & Manufacturing Company 1911-34, Wilson & Company 1930-33, Chicago Railways Company 1906-10 (receiver 1926-33), Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad 1914-35, Baltimore & Ohio Railroad 1922-35; member board of operation Chicago Surface Lines 1920-34; treasurer Chicago Athletic Association 1908–14 and Lincoln Park Board 1913–21; director John Crerar Library 1908–28; trustee Chicago Public Library 1908-11, Chicago Zoological Society 1928-35, and Field Museum of Natural History 1927-35 (elected honorary member 1929 and a benefactor 1936); sponsor of first and second Rawson-MacMillan Subarctic expeditions of the Field Museum 1926 and 1927-28 and the Frederick H. Rawson-Field Museum Ethnological Expedition to West Africa 1929-30; treasurer Illinois Society for Mental Hygiene 1925, and director 1926-31; treasurer Chicago Sanitary District 1926-29; trustee Chicago Home for Incurables 1907-31, Rush Medical College 1917-23, Children's Memorial Hospital 1925-36; member board of managers Presbyterian Hospital of Chicago 1907-23 and advisory committee' Visiting Nurse Association 1920-33; honorary treasurer Chicago Lighthouse for the Blind 1919–32; treasurer Black Horse Troop Association 1927-32; member Chicago Boys' Club (member investment foundation 1929-32), Chicago chapter American Institute of Banking, Bankers Club of Chicago, Art Institute of Chicago, Chicago Association of Commerce, Chicago Historical Society, Society of Colonial Wars, Chicago Real Estate Board, and Central Church, Chicago (vice-president 1926-32, and member board of trustees 1922-36).

Married January 10, 1907, in Chicago, Edith, daughter of Francis Julian and Ella Frances (Durand) Kennett, and sister of Francis J. Kennett, '00 S. Children: Frederick Holbrook, Jr. (B.S. Northwestern University 1934), and Kennett Longley, '33.

Death due to cardiovascular degeneration. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife and sons.

[George] Frederick Truesdell, B.A. 1895.

Born January 15, 1872, in Montclair, N.J. Died May 3, 1937, in New York City.

Father, George Truesdell (University of Michigan 1856-59); Captain 12th New York Infantry 1861-63; Lieutenant Colonel U.S. Volunteers 1863-69; a commissioner of the District of Columbia; in real-estate business in Washington, D.C.; son of Seymour and Lucy (Jerome) Truesdell. Mother, Frances Martha (Prindle) Truesdell.

The Hill School. Elocution prize in Sophomore year.

Actor; had parts in productions of "Ben Hur," "Sherlock Holmes," "Mrs. Dering's Divorce," "The Degeneration," "Original College Widow," "Three of Us," "The Deserters," "The Last Warning," "On Trial," "East Is West," "Our Betters," and "The Apple Cart"; his one-act play, "The Fog," produced in 1914; had contributed to magazines; member The Lambs Club and Military Order of the Loyal Legion.

Married three times: (1) July 7, 1896, in Washington, Carolyn Dare Westcott; (2) in 1907 in Chicago, Laura Nelson Hall; (3) Helene Michellier of Paris, France.

Died after a long illness. Buried in Syracuse, N.Y. Survived by wife and mother.

George Arthur Smith, B.A. 1896.

Born March 26, 1871, in Winchester, N.H. Died January 19, 1937, in Yonkers, N.Y.

Father, Homer Morgan Smith; son of John Cook and Chloe (Day) Smith of Winchester. Mother, Caroline Sybyl (Holton) Smith; daughter of Theodore and Mary Ann (Doolittle) Holton of Northfield, Mass. Yale relatives include: Benjamin Doolittle (B.A. 1716), Jeremiah Day (B A. 1795), and two nephews, Harrison P. Smith, Jr., '26, and Morgan D. Smith, '30.

Winchester (N.H.) High School and Norwich (Conn.) Free Academy. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale Union.

Taught at Cascadilla Preparatory School, Ithaca, N.Y., 1896-1900; instructor in German and history Litchfield (Conn.) School 1900-02; principal and superintendent of schools in Litchfield 1902-03; head of German department Yonkers High School 1903-05; principal Yonkers Evening High School 1903-33 and Public School Two (Eickemeyer School), Yonkers, 1905-37; active in civic undertakings, particularly adult education, Americanization work, and improvement of playground and recreational facilities; studied at University of Heidelberg 1905; author: Ode to the Hudson and other poems which brought him recognition as the "schoolmaster poet of Westchester County"; first president Yonkers Council of Boy Scouts of America 1910–16 (received Silver Beaver Award of National Council 1935); president Schoolmasters Club of Yonkers 1921–22 and Yonkers chapter Westchester County Historical Society 1934–36; vice-president Westchester County Teachers Association 1930–31; treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County 1917–37; member of board Nurses Training School of St. Joseph's Hospital, Yonkers, 1929–37; on State Regents' Examining Committee; member Founders and Patriots Society of America and Sons of the Revolution; vestryman St. John's Episcopal Church, Yonkers, for many years.

Married March 7, 1900, in Brooklyn Heights, N.Y., Mary Elisabeth Dudley Bürk (Emerson College of Oratory 1893), daughter of Carl and Emma (Field) Bürk. Children: Caroline Dudley Morgan, the wife of Philip Rodney White (B.A. University of Montana 1922; Ph.D. Johns Hopkins 1928); Mary Theodora, the wife of William Seaver (B.A. Harvard 1927); Homer Morgan; Phoebe Conklin, the wife of Elliott Gordon Bailey; and Dudley Field (died 1931).

Death due to pneumonia following an operation. Buried in West Parish Cemetery, Winchester, N.H. Survived by wife, one son, three daughters, ten grandchildren, and a brother, H. Preserved Smith, '00.

Edmund Gerald Stalter, B.A. 1896.

Born January 8, 1875, in Paterson, N.J. Died April 10, 1937, in Paterson, N.J.

Father, Charles P. Stalter, manufacturer of machinery in Paterson. Mother, Matilda (Higginson) Stalter, daughter of William W. Higginson of Paterson.

Kimball Union Academy, Meriden, N.H. Second dispute appointment Junior year and first colloquy appointment Senior year; member University Glee Club Junior and Senior years.

Attended Yale Law School 1896–98 (LL.B. 1898); practiced law independently in Paterson since admission to the bar in 1898; had served as counsel for various municipalities and several corporations; elected corporation counsel of Paterson 1905; after expiration of term of office was retained by Democratic administration to represent city in two important civil actions dealing with diversion of waters of Passaic River and with pollution of that stream; in 1908 charged with codification of laws, charter, and ordinances of City of Paterson; member New Jersey State Assembly 1900–03 and had served on County Republican Executive Committee.

Married May 29, 1900, in Paterson, Lou Eugene, daughter of Zebulon Marcy Ward. Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Laurel Grove Cemetery, Paterson. Survived by a nephew, Charles C. Stalter of Paterson.

Henry Adams Truslow, B.A. 1896.

Born April 9, 1873, in Santiago, Cuba. Died May 31, 1937, in Summit, N.J.

Father, James Linklater Truslow, member Truslow & Company, manufacturers of cork in New York City; son of James Linklater and Amanda Phoebe (Buckmaster) Truslow of Brooklyn, N.Y. Mother, Amelia Louise (Adams) Truslow; daughter of William Newton and Maria del Carmen (de Michelena y Rogas) Adams of Caracas, Venezuela. Yale relatives include: Frederick C. Truslow, '86 (uncle); James Truslow Adams, M.A. 1900 (cousin); and Benoni J. Truslow, '34 S. (nephew).

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi.

In 1896 entered Truslow & Company, which merged with the Armstrong Cork Company of Pittsburgh, Pa., about 1900; was thereafter connected with that company until retirement in 1932 (assistant manager New York office 1900–11, manager 1911–30, vice-president, with headquarters in Lancaster, Pa, 1930–32, and treasurer 1931–32); had lived in Summit since retirement; from 1930 to 1932 vice-president and treasurer Armstrong Cork and Insulation Company and Armstrong Cork Company of California, treasurer and a director Armstrong Cork Company of Portugal, Armstrong Cork Products Company, Armstrong Cork Company of Spain, and Cork Import Corporation, and assistant treasurer Armstrong–Newport Company; director Summit Trust Company; member Summit Board of Education; vestryman Calvary Church (Episcopal), Summit.

Married April 18, 1900, in Philadelphia, Pa., Jane Kent, daughter of William Stuart and Martha Tuthill (Kent) Auchincloss. Children: James Linklater (B.S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1923); Frederick Kent; William Auchincloss (B.S. University of Pennsylvania 1926); Francis Adams, '28; Elizabeth Auchincloss; Martha Tuthill (Mrs. G. Christian Bourdery); Louise Adams (Vassar 1933), the wife of Robert M. Grummon (B.A. Princeton 1935); John Winthrop (B.S. University of Pennsylvania 1935); and Henry Adams, Jr.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Red Bank, N J Survived by wife, children, ten grandchildren, a sister, Miss Marie J. Truslow of Sewanee, Tenn., and a brother, Thomas H. Truslow, '96 S. His brother, Ernest Truslow, '99, died in 1934.

William Gardner Cooke, B.A. 1897.

Born October 5, 1874, in Honolulu, Hawaii. Died August 5, 1936, in Palo Alto, Calif.

Father, Joseph Platt Cooke, '63. Mother, Harriet Emilita (Wilder) Cooke. Yale relatives include: Joseph P. Cooke, '94 (brother); Joseph P. Cooke, Jr., ex-'20, Henry B. Cooke, '23, and Douglas A. Cooke, '24 (nephews); and Wallace M. Alexander, '92 S., C. Montague Cooke, Jr., '97, Clarence H. Cooke, ex-'97 S., George P. Cooke, '05, and Richard A. Cooke, '06 (cousins).

Oakland (Calif.) High School and The Hotchkiss School. First dispute appointments; treasurer Hawaiian Club Sophomore year; vicepresident Hotchkiss Club Senior year; member Zeta Psi.

Connected with Alexander & Baldwin, Ltd., of Hawaii, sugar factors, in San Francisco, Calif., 1897–1906, and manager of their New York office 1906–19; independent sugar broker under name of Sugar Industries, Inc., New York City, 1919–22; lived in Plainfield, N.J., 1907–22, and thereafter in New York City and California; trustee 1917–22 Plainfield Charity Organization and directed recreations of boys in Plainfield Community House; director Pratt-Low Company, preservers and canners in Santa Clara, Calif., 1927 until retirement in 1931; secretary Makaweli Sugar Company; director R10 Bonita Orchard Company; member New York State Chamber of Commerce 1912–22 and First Congregational Church, Oakland.

Married September 20, 1899, in Oakland, Helen, daughter of Joseph Harry and Elizabeth (Campbell) Bell. Children: Elizabeth Bell, the wife of Corydon Jones (B.A. Amherst 1924); Virginia Montague (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1926), the wife of Kenneth Linton Fitts (M.E. Cornell 1924); and William Gardner, Jr.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Alta Mesa Cemetery, near Palo Alto. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

Harold Meredith Kauffman, B.A. 1897.

Born December 20, 1875, in St. Louis, Mo. Died December 9, 1936, in St. Louis, Mo.

Father, John Wesley Kauffman, owner Kauffman Milling Company in St. Louis; son of Christian and Esther (Probst) Kauffman of Dayton, Ohio. Mother, Nellie (Bronson) Kauffman; daughter of Pitkin and Ellen (Merriam) Bronson of Waterbury, Conn.

Smith Academy, St. Louis. Second colloquy appointment Junior year and first colloquy appointment Senior year.

Spent three months after graduation in a flour mill in Mt. Vernon, Ind.; secretary Kauffman Milling Company 1897–1901; with brokerage firm of G. H. Walker & Company, St. Louis, 1901, and a partner 1902–13; president Kauffman-Smith-Emert & Company, Inc. (also Kauffman, Smith & Company, Inc.), dealers in municipal bonds, St. Louis, 1914–30; president Boatmen's National Company, St. Louis, 1930–34; partner Reinholdt & Gardner (brokers), St. Louis, 1934–36; member board of governors Investment Bankers Association 1912–15; member Lindell Avenue Methodist Episcopal Church, St. Louis.

Married May 22, 1906, in St. Louis, Janet, daughter of Isaac and Jeannette (Filley) Morton. Daughter, Janet (B.A. Smith College 1929).

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis. Survived by wife and daughter. His brother, Burt B. Kauffman, '97, died in 1900.

Luther Stephen Trowbridge, B.A. 1897.

Born July 2, 1875, in Detroit, Mich. Died February 27, 1937, in Grosse Pointe, Mich.

Father, Luther Stephen Trowbridge, '57. Mother, Julia (Buel) Trowbridge. Yale relatives include William P. Trowbridge, M.A. 1870 (uncle).

Detroit Central High School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; one-year honors in political science and law.

Attended Detroit College of Law 1897-1900 (LL.B. 1900); practiced law in firm of Gray & Gray, Detroit, 1897–1915; senior partner Trowbridge & Lewis (Edwin C. Lewis, '01), Detroit, 1915-19, and Trowbridge, Lewis & Watrous 1919-33; vice-president Grosse Pointe Savings Bank 1915-34 (also a director) and Guy W. Ellis Realty Company 1921-37; associated with his sons, Albert H. and Luther S., Jr., in the management of real estate and investments 1933-37; first secretary (1915) and a trustee for several years Grosse Pointe Country Day School; secretary-treasurer Village Homes Company 1916-37; trustee Grace Hospital, Detroit, 1917-37 (member Committee on Free Beds and Donations 1921, chairman Training School Committee 1922-37, and member Executive Committee 1922-37); director American Loan & Trust Company, Guardian Trust Company, and MacIvor Lumber Company; vice-director and treasurer for State of Michigan of War Savings Stamps campaign; member executive committee Michigan Yale Alumni Association 1918; member and treasurer Michigan Yale Scholarship Fund Committee from its inception; treasurer Association of Western Yale Clubs 1921; member Detroit Bar Association; founder and warden St. Columba Church (Episcopal), Grosse Pointe.

Married November 10, 1903, in Detroit, Mabel Winifred Hartsuff

76

(B.A. Smith College 1900), daughter of Brigadier General (surgeon) Albert Hartsuff, U.S.A. (M.D. Hillsdale College 1857), and Alice Alibone (Elliott) Hartsuff. Children: Albert Hartsuff (entered Yale in fall of 1925 but left before winter term because of a broken leg); Luther Stephen, Jr., ex-'33 S.; and Florence Hartsuff, the wife of Lieutenant Cecil Winfield Land (U.S. Military Academy 1927).

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Grosse Pointe. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Margaret T. Ricks, the wife of Charles Ricks (B.A. Kenyon College 1887) of Boston, and Julia T. Quirk, the wife of Dan L. Quirk, Jr. (B.A. University of Michigan 1893) of Ypsilanti, Mich., and a brother, Alexander B. Trowbridge (B.S. Cornell University 1890) of Washington, D.C.

Samuel Eliot Bassett, B.A. 1898.

Born August 11, 1873, in Wilton, Conn. Died December 21, 1936, in Burlington, Vt.

Father, Benjamin Franklın Bassett, '47. Mother, Mary Louisa (Brush) Bassett. Yale relatives include: William Elliott Bassett, '50 (uncle); Clement Long Clapp, ex-'73 G., John D. Bassett, ex-'80, and Edward Bull Clapp, Ph.D. 1886 (cousins).

Wilton Academy and Hopkins Grammar School. Freshman honor division; first TenEyck Prize and Waterman Scholar; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; two-year honors in ancient languages; Valedictorian and Class Orator; president Phi Beta Kappa; member Yale Union and Alpha Delta Phi.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1898–1900 and 1902–05 (Ph.D. 1905); held fellowships for study at American School of Classical Studies, Athens, 1900–02; studied at University of Berlin summer of 1900 and at University of Freiburg summer of 1901; instructor in Greek Yale College 1902-03 and tutor 1903-05; professor of Greek language and literature University of Vermont 1905–36, and since 1919 lecturer on Greek art and archæology; instructor Greek and Greek archæology summer sessions at Columbia University 1913 and 1914; had received an appointment as Sather Professor of Classical Studies at the University of California January–July, 1937, during leave of absence from the University of Vermont; member managing committee American School of Classical Studies, Athens, since 1905 (on executive committee 1908-10, and visiting professor 1931-32), American Philological Association (vice-president 1923 and president 1924), Archæological Institute of America, New England Classical Association, Linguistic Society of America, Classical Association of Great Britain, New England Classical Association, and American Association of University Professors; his critical studies were published in the American Journal

of Philology, Classical Journal, Classical Review, Classical Quarterly, Classical Philology, and American Journal of Archaeology; member College Street Church (Congregational), Burlington.

Married June 18, 1903, in New Haven, Conn., Bertha May, daughter of Edward Judd and Sarah Dwight (Parsons) Raymond. Children: Raymond Eliot, '28 (M.A. University of Vermont 1934); Catharine Brewster (B.A. University of Vermont 1929), the wife of George Ingersoll Hagar, 2d (Princeton ex-'27); and Thomas Day Seymour, '35 (Yale Graduate School 1935-36; University of California 1936-37).

Death due to thrombosis of the heart. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Burlington. Survived by wife, children, three granddaughters, and a half sister, Mrs. Henry Gieser of Cos Cob, Conn.

George Alexander Bridge, B.A. 1898.

Born January 25, 1873, in Hazardville, Conn. Died November 18, 1936, in Warren, Ariz.

Father, George Bridge, a powder manufacturer in Hazardville; served in 22d Regiment Connecticut Volunteers during Civil War; son of John and Mary (Prickett) Bridge of Kent County, England, who came to the United States in 1842 and settled in Hazardville. Mother, Jennett (Law) Bridge; daughter of James and Jane (Crawford) Law, of Kilmarnock, Scotland, who came to the United States in 1830 and settled in Thompsonville, Conn. Yale relatives include a cousin, Jessie M. Law, Ph.D. 1901.

Wilbraham Academy; attended Wesleyan University 1893–95. Entered Yale as a Sophomore; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1898-1902 (M.D. 1902); house physician New York Hospital 1902-February, 1904, when he resigned because of ill-health and went to Arizona; on hospital staff of Copper Queen branch of Phelps Dodge Corporation in Bisbee, Ariz., 1904-07, assistant chief surgeon 1907-20, and chief surgeon 1920 until retirement in 1929; president Cochise County (Ariz.) Medical Association 1919 and Arizona State Medical Association 1926–27; chairman Medical Advisory Board of Cochise County; secretary Medical Section of the State Council of Defense; member and on executive committee Volunteer Corps for State of Arizona during World War; member American Medical Association, Arizona governing committee of Gorgas Memorial Institute of Tropical and Preventive Medicine; fellow American College of Surgeons; chairman board of trustees Warren Community Church 1930; a leader in local and state Masonic work; member Bisbee Rotary Club and Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Bisbee.

Married April 8, 1908, in San Francisco, Calif., Jeane Post, daughter of Andrew and Margaret (Gordon) Holford. Son, John Holford.

Death due to spastic colitis following an attack of influenza. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Lowell, Ariz. Survived by wife, son, two brothers, Henry J. Bridge and John L. Bridge, ex-'99 G. (B.A. Wesleyan University 1888; Ph.D. Clark University 1894; M.D. Harvard 1903), both of Hazardville, and two sisters, Mrs. Arthur W. Gowdy and Mrs. Elizabeth B. Abbe, both of Springfield, Mass.

Bertram Llewellyn Cadwalader, B.A. 1898.

Born February 4, 1875, in Sacramento, Calif. Died November 1, 1936, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, George Cadwalader, a lawyer, who emigrated to California in 1849; descendant of John and Margaret Cadwalader, who came from Wales in 1691 and settled in Philadelphia, Pa. Mother, Eliza Maria (Bowen) Cadwalader.

Lawrenceville School. Freshman honor division; on Freshman Crew and Yale Gymnastic Team Sophomore and Junior years; member Lawrenceville Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Studied at Hastings College of Law, University of California; admitted to California bar 1904; secretary Police Commission of San Francisco 1899–1904, Chamber of Commerce 1904–05, and secretary and attorney Real Estate Board 1905-08; real-estate broker in San Francisco 1908–10, and practiced law 1910–17; attended First Reserve Officers' Training Camp, Presidio of San Francisco, May-August, 1917; commissioned Major, Infantry Section, Officers' Reserve Corps, August 15, 1917; overseas June 28, 1918-August 4, 1919; assigned to Ist Battalion, 363d Infantry, 91st Division, which he commanded in the Meuse-Argonne offensive from September 26 to October 4, 1918; at Army School of the Line, Langres, Haute-Marne, October 7-December 31, 1918; appointed Adjutant, 182d Brigade, 91st Division; studied in Law Department University of Paris March-July, 1919; honorably discharged in San Francisco August 23, 1919; Lieutenant Colonel, Infantry Section, Officers' Reserve Corps February 13-November 26, 1920; accepted appointment as Major, Infantry, U.S. Army, July, 1920; assigned to 58th Infantry, 4th Division; later stationed at Camp Lewis, Washington, in command of Special Troops, 3d Division, and as Provost Marshal of the camp; assigned to general staff 1923; stationed at Berlin as a military attaché of the American Embassy 1924-25; relieved from active duty May 16, 1929; made Chevalier of the Legion of Honor 1920; commander Military Order of the World War, San Francisco chapter, 1920; member Trinity Episcopal Church, San Francisco.

Unmarried.

Death due to valvular heart disease. Buried in Cypress Lawn Cemetery, San Francisco. Survived by no immediate relatives. His brother, George L. Cadwalader, ex-'01, died in 1920.

Moreau Delano, B.A. 1898.

Born June 14, 1877, in Orange, N.J. Died December 4, 1936, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Eugene Delano (B.A. Williams 1866), a trustee of Williams College; member banking firm of Brown Brothers & Company, New York City, son of Moreau and Sarah (Abram) Delano of Utica, N.Y., and New York City. Mother, Susan Magoun (Adams) Delano; daughter of Rev. William Adams (B.A. 1827) and Martha Bradshaw (Magoun) Adams of New York City. Yale relatives include: John Adams (B.A. 1795) (great-grandfather); John R. Adams (B.A. 1821) and Ripley P. Adams (B.A. 1825) (great-uncles); Thatcher M. Adams (B.A. 1858) and William Adams, ex-'61 (uncles); William Adams Delano, '95, and Eugene Delano, Jr., '08 (brothers); and William Adams Brown, '86, William Adams, '91 S., James Crosby Brown, '94, Thatcher M. Adams, '95 S., Thatcher M. Brown, '97, John B. Adams, '99, and Thomas S. Adams, '01 S. (cousins).

Rugby Academy, Philadelphia, Pa., and Lawrenceville School. An editor *Yale Record*; secretary and treasurer Lawrenceville Club Junior year; member governing board University Club; member Stevenson Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Connected with banking and brokerage firm of Kingsley and Mabon in New York City for a short time in 1898; with Brown Brothers & Company, bankers, 1898–1907, and a partner since 1907 (firm became Brown Brothers Harriman & Company in 1931); a trustee London Assurance Corporation 1919–29; director business corporations, including American Bank Note Company, United States Guarantee Company, Columbia Trust Company, Atlanta & Charlotte Air Line Railroad Company, Locust Mountain Coal Company, and Pine Hill Coal Company; member board of managers Presbyterian Hospital since 1912, for many years on its finance committee, and on School of Nursing committee since 1920 (chairman 1924–33); member board of governors Babies' Hospital, New York City, since 1930; governor Yale Publishing Association 1928–33; interested in horticulture and a patron of the Arnold Arboretum of Harvard University; member St. Cloud Presbyterian Church, West Orange, N.J.

Unmarried.

Death due to degenerative encephalopathy. Buried in Memorial Cemetery, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y. Survived by two sisters, Caroline Delano Wadsworth, the wife of Augustus B. Wadsworth (M.D. Columbia 1896), of Albany, N.Y., and Mrs. Susan D. McKelvey of Boston, and a brother, William Adams Delano, '95.

As a memorial his brother and sisters have presented to Yale for the use of Calhoun College a collection of books made by him in the fields of literature, history, art, and travel, and consisting of about two thousand volumes. This has now been installed in a special room in the Calhoun College Library where, its officers report, "these books are in constant use": adding that "the undergraduates seem to have sensed the fact that this library was assembled by a man who really cared for books, not a collector in any narrow sense of the word but a genuine book lover, a man who instinctively sought the society of his books because they represented to him recreation in the most real sense of the word."

Richard Butler Glaenzer, B.A. 1898.

Born December 15, 1876, in Paris, France. Died April 15, 1937, in Far Rockaway, N.Y.

Father, Georges Auguste Glaenzer (B.A. Stuttgart University 1870), member of firm of Georges A. Glaenzer & Company, architectural decorators in New York City and Paris; son of Jules and Virginia C. (Brette) Glaenzer of Paris. Mother, Alice Cary (Butler) Glaenzer; daughter of Richard and Luenna (Clough) Butler of Schenectady, N.Y.

Friends' Seminary, New York City, and The Hill School. Freshman honor division and Berkeley Premium of first grade; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; vice-president The Hill School Club Junior year; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Salesman retail book department Charles Scribner's Sons, New York City, 1898–1900; became associated with Georges A. Glaenzer & Company 1900 (treasurer 1902-06, vice-president 1906-08, and a director 1900-08); director and secretary El Zernac Company, importers and manufacturers of drugs in New York City, 1903-08; with L. Alavoine & Company, decorators in New York City, 1908-11; engaged in free-lance writing 1911-27 in St. George's, Bermuda, New York City, and Hollywood, Calif.; member staff of Goldwyn, Associated Producers, 1921-22; publicity director Robert M. McBride & Company, New York City, 1927–28, and editor in chief 1928 until retirement in 1934; author: The Auto Guest Book of Mobile Maxims (with Ethel Watts Mumford Grant) (1906), Beggar and King (1917), and Literary Snapsbots (1920); edited Decorative Art in America by Oscar Wilde (1906); contributed to Nelson's Loose-Leaf Encyclopedia, New Poetry, Atlantic Monthly, Century Magazine, Munsey's, Adventure, and many other publications; fellow in perpetuity Metropolitan Museum of Art since 1905; member Poetry Society of America, The Players, and the Episcopal church.

Married (1) June 3, 1903, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Anita, daughter of Rear Admiral William Campbell Gibson, U.S.N., ret., and Aurelia (Holbrook) Gibson. Children: Marion and Doris. Mr. and Mrs. Glaenzer were divorced in 1915. Married (2) August 18, 1915, in St. George's, Bermuda, Sophie Evelina, daughter of Frederick William and Catherine Mary (Tucker) Basham. Mrs. Glaenzer died July 7, 1935.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y. Survived by daughters and two brothers, G. Brette Glaenzer, '07, and Jules Glaenzer of New York City.

Philip Sanford Goulding, B.A. 1898.

Born September 6, 1876, in Rutland, Vt Died May 10, 1937, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Joseph Hiram Goulding (B.A. Norwich University 1865), a bank treasurer in Rutland; son of James Marshall and Amanda (Sanford) Goulding of Potsdam, N.Y. Mother, Frances Ellen (Pease) Goulding; daughter of Aaron Gaylord and Anne (Page) Pease of Rutland.

Rutland High School and Phillips-Andover. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended New York Library School, Albany, 1898-99; classifier New Hampshire State Library 1899-1900; head cataloguer Library of University of Missouri January-September, 1901; cataloguer and classifier Library of University of the South 1901-02; in catalogue division Library of Congress 1902-06; head of catalogue department Library of University of Illinois 1906-17; head cataloguer Henry E. Huntington Library and Art Gallery, San Gabriel, Calif., 1917-24; head cataloguer Library of University of California at Los Angeles (with rank of associate professor) since 1924; chairman catalogue section of American Library Association 1924-25; member American Library Association, Vermont Association, Washington, D.C., Nature Club of Southern California, Audubon Club of Pasadena (treasurer), and All Saints' Episcopal Church, Pasadena.

Married September 7, 1904, in Baltimore, Md., Helen Lancaster, daughter of Francis Wallace and Elizabeth (Byrnes) Plummer. No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Friends' Cemetery, Baltimore, Md. Survived by wife, a brother, James M. Goulding of Morro, Calif., and two sisters, Miss Matilda P. Goulding (Wellesley 1891-93) and Mrs Anne G. Ross, both of Rutland, Vt.

Frederic Kernochan, B.A. 1898.

Born August 12, 1876, in Newport, R.I. Died January 9, 1937, in Tuxedo Park, N.Y.

Father, Joseph Frederic Kernochan, '63. Mother, Mary Stuart (Whitney) Kernochan. Yale relatives include: Francis E. Kernochan, '61 (uncle); and Edward L. Kernochan, '91 (cousin).

St. Mark's School, Southboro, Mass. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; coxswain Class Crew Junior year; treasurer University Club Junior year and governor Senior year; member St. Mark's Club, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Enlisted June 20, 1898, in Battery A, Pennsylvania Light Artillery, for Porto Rico campaign; honorably discharged November 19, 1898; attended New York Law School 1898-1901 (LL.B. 1901); admitted to New York bar 1901; assistant corporation counsel New York City January 1-April 30, 1903; assistant district attorney New York County 1903-05; practiced with firm of Rand, Moffatt & Webb, New York City, 1905-07; magistrate City of New York 1907-13; appointed to Court of Special Sessions 1913, and served as associate justice 1913-16 and chief justice 1916-37; instrumental in working out an important change in Court of Special Sessions, when the Legislature conferred upon it the appellate jurisdiction formerly vested in the Court of General Sessions and the County Courts of New York City; an Independent Democrat and active opponent of the Tammany organization; fusion candidate for judge Court of General Sessions 1933; executive chairman New York Urban League 1933-37; chairman mayor's committee on protection of shipping and waterfront during World War; an incorporator Girls Service League of America 1909, a director since 1909, president 1923-29, and vice-president since 1929; awarded silver medal by Congress in President Cleveland's administration and gold medal by Society of the American Cross of Honor 1913 in recognition of bravery in saving a woman from drowning in 1886; director World Narcotic Defense Association, The Florence Crittenden League, and Green-Wood Cemetery; member board of Church Mission of Help 1918-32, and honorary adviser 1932; member executive board National Council of Boy Scouts of America (awarded Silver Buffalo) and Boy Scout Foundation of Greater New York; member New York Lawyers Association, New York State Bar Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, and St. Mary's Episcopal Church, Tuxedo Park.

Married January 26, 1910, in New York City, Elizabeth Lawrence, daughter of Louis Meredith and Virginia Lee (Lawrence) Howland. Children: Mary, the wife of Crawford Blagden (B.A. Harvard 1902), and Virginia. Death due to pleural pneumonia. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughters, a grandson, two sisters, Miss Everetta Kernochan and Mrs. Courtlandt Smith, and a brother, Whitney Kernochan, '07.

Frank Hunter Simmons, B.A. 1898.

Born January 1, 1874, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died April 11, 1937, in New York City.

Father, John Simmons, owner John Simmons Company, iron merchants in New York City; son of Mark and Sara Simmons of New York City. Mother, Mary (Rutzler) Simmons; daughter of John and Lisette (Torrey) Rutzler of New York City. Yale relatives include: W. Gayer Dominick, '25, Charles H. Simmons, Jr., '26, DeWitt Dominick, '30, Theodore W. Dominick, '31, and Joseph I. Simmons, Jr., ex-'39 (nephews).

Phillips-Andover. On Sophomore German Committee; floor manager Junior Promenade; on Class Day and Class Supper committees Senior year; assistant manager Junior year and president Senior year University Baseball Association; secretary University Football Association Junior year and a director Athletic Financial Union Senior year, president Stevenson and Brooklyn clubs; member Corbett Club, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Treasurer John Simmons Company 1900-33, president 1933-37, and a director 1900-37; vice-president and a director Simmons Realty & Construction Company 1903-37; treasurer Essex Foundry Company, Newark, N.J., and Vulcan Rail & Construction Company, Maspeth, N.Y., 1905-37; director Powhatan Brass & Iron Works, Simmons Pipe Bending Works, Reed Iron Works, Inc., Metcalf Shaw Corporation, Music School Settlement, New York City, 1911-37 (treasurer 1913-37), Yale Alumni University Fund Association (since 1926), and Phillips-Andover Alumni Fund (since its organization in 1921); Alumni Fund Agent for the Yale Class of 1898 since graduation and an active member of reunion committees; member council Yale Club of New York, board of managers Society for the Relief of the Ruptured and Crippled of New York City, and Ross Street Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn.

Married August 29, 1913, in New York City, Alice, daughter of William Gayer and Anne deWitt (Marshall) Dominick, and sister of William F. Dominick, '98. Daughter, Alice Dominick.

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, daughter, three brothers, Charles H. and John S. Simmons of New York City, and Joseph I. Simmons, '05 S., and four sisters, Mrs. Harry M. Robinson, Mrs. Edward J. Swords, and Mrs. Charles W. Weston, all of Montclair, and Miss Grace M. Simmons of South West Harbor, Maine.

Ezra Douglas Whitaker, B.A. 1898.

Born December 11, 1874, in North Adams, Mass. Died October 24, 1936, in Stamford, Vt.

Father, Valmore Augustus Whitaker, a banker in North Adams; son of Ezra Douglas and Amanda Malvina (Jones) Whitaker of North Adams. Mother, Emma Louise (Beckwith) Whitaker; daughter of Warren Comstock Beckwith of New London, Conn.

Drury High School, North Adams, and Worcester Academy. Member Zeta Psi.

Teller North Adams Savings Bank 1898–1903, assistant treasurer 1903–11, treasurer 1911–34, and vice-president 1934–36; treasurer Hoosac Valley Street Railway Company 1902–04, and vice-president and a director 1911; president North Adams Brick Company 1911–13, and a director 1911–20; assistant treasurer Richmond-Wellington Hotel Company 1909–14, and a director 1914–36; member North Adams City Council 1904–16 and 1924–30 (president 1914–16 and 1927–29; chairman streets committee 1913); mayor of North Adams 1917–21; vice-president 1921 and president 1922 Massachusetts Mayors' Club; president North Adams Rotary Club 1936; president Massachusetts Association of Savings Banks 1911; trustee North Adams Hospital 1911–36; chairman Public Safety Committee during World War; member Berkshire County, Massachusetts, and American Bankers associations, and First Baptist Church, North Adams.

Married April 30, 1900, in New York City, Josephine, daughter of Louis and Elizabeth Rumrill (Pierce) Coenen. Children: Elizabeth (New York University 1924–25), the wife of Frank W. Warren (B.A. Williams 1921; B.S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1924); Lois Amanda (B.A. Wellesley 1928), the wife of Dr. Frederick A. Almquist (B.A. Yale 1929; M.D. University of Vermont 1936); and Josephine (B.F.A. Syracuse University 1934), the wife of Hans A. Meissner (M.F. New York State College of Forestry 1935).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in North Adams Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughters, and four grandchildren.

John Bicknell, B.A. 1899.

Born May 26, 1877, in West Cummington, Mass. Died December 17, 1936, in Vaddukoddai, Ceylon.

Father, Luke Emerson Bicknell, a merchant in West Cummington, Mass.; son of Loren and Mary Ann (Abbott) Bicknell of Windsor, Mass. Mother, Lucretia Tower (Pierce) Bicknell; daughter of Almond T. and Betsey (Tower) Pierce of Windsor.

Williston Academy. Two-year honors in political science and law; oration appointment Senior year; president Y.M.C.A.

Attended Yale Divinity School 1899-1902 (B.D. 1902); ordained by Congregational Council, Cummington; taught at Jaffna College, Vaddukoddai, 1902-05; pastor Kennebunkport (Maine) Congregational Church 1906-10 and Mansfield (Mass.) Congregational Church 1910-15; missionary of the American Board; president Jaffna College 1915-36; M.Ed. Harvard 1924; chairman board of directors Jaffna Central Cooperative Bank 1929-31; director Jaffna Y.M.C.A.; appointed by Governor of Ceylon to serve on a commission to revise educational system of Ceylon; president Jaffna Educational and Psychological Association 1929-31, Christian Providence Association 1932-35, Jaffna Council of the South India United Church 1936, and first president Headmasters' Association of Ceylon 1936; member Ceylon Education Commission, and Orthodox Congregational Church, Mansfield.

Married June 5, 1902, in Winsted, Conn., Nellie Laurinda, daughter of John Thompson and Harriet Matilda (Walter) Smith. Son, John Walter (B.S. Hamilton College 1935, M.A. 1936).

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart. Buried in Uduvil Cemetery, Uduvil, Ceylon. Survived by wife, son, four brothers, Benjamin H. Bicknell of Malden, Mass., Frederick O. Bicknell of Charlemont, Mass., Harry E. Bicknell of Hadley, Mass., and Raymond E. Bicknell of West Cummington, and a sister, Mrs. Clara E. Allen of Dalton, Mass.

Henry Clifford Colwell, B.A. 1899.

Born September 11, 1876, in Mahoning, Pa. Died October 2, 1936, in Kittanning, Pa.

Father, Henry Alexander Colwell, an ironmaster; son of John Alexander and Rebecca (Pritner) Colwell. Mother, Phebe Bratton (Mosgrove) Colwell; daughter of James and Rebecca (Neale) Mosgrove. Both parents were members of pioneer families of Armstrong County, Pennsylvania. Yale relatives include two first cousins: John C. Neale, '91 S., and James B. Neale, '96.

St. Paul's School, Garden City, N.Y. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year.

Attended University of Pennsylvania Law School 1899-1901, New York Law School 1901-02 (LL.B. 1902); admitted to New York bar 1902; with Delafield & Longfellow, lawyers, New York City, 1902-05; admitted to Armstrong County bar January 9, 1905, but never engaged in active practice in the county; particularly interested in music and the theatre and in writing plays; resided in Kittanning; member Armstrong County Bar Association and St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Kittanning.

Unmarried.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Kittanning Cemetery. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Clarence Elmore Thompson, Jr., B.A. 1899.

Born June 1, 1877, 1n West Haven, Conn. Died August 6, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Clarence Elmore Thompson, president Clarence E. Thompson & Sons, investment brokers and insurance; State representative and senator; president Board of Education, West Haven, over forty years; son of Silas and Martha Minerva (Smith) Thompson. Mother, Helena Rich (Smith) Thompson; daughter of Cornelius and Emeline (Rich) Smith of Brooklyn, N.Y.

Hopkins Grammar School. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years.

Partner Clarence E. Thompson & Sons, Inc., 1899–1928, and president 1928–36; treasurer Wallingford (Conn.) Gas Light Company 1909–25, and a director 1906–26; director West Haven Buckle Company 1926–36 and Oak Grove Cemetery Association 1907–26 (president 1912–22); represented town of Orange in the State Legislature 1923 (member committees on Banks and on State Parks and Reservations); member West Haven School Board 1924–27, Sons of the American Revolution, and First Congregational Church, West Haven.

Married September 12, 1900, in New Haven, Alice Dorothy, daughter of James and Dora (Krause) Flaherty. Children: Dorothy Jane (Vassar ex-'24; died November 9, 1937), the wife of Leonard Eric deChantal (B.A. University of Ottawa 1913; M.D.,C.M. McGill University 1918; died August 2, 1936), and Ernest Smith.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in East Side Cemetery, Woodbridge, Conn. Survived by wife and children. His brother, Harry D. Thompson, '01 L., died in 1908.

Norman Bardeen, B.A. 1900.

Born July 17, 1877, in Syracuse, N.Y. Died October 9, 1936, in Kalamazoo, Mich.

Father, Charles William Bardeen, '69. Mother, Ellen Palmer (Dickerman) Bardeen. Yale relatives include an uncle, George L. Dickerman, '74. Syracuse High School and The Hotchkiss School. Second dispute appointments; member scrub football and baseball teams and crew.

Sales manager C. W. Bardeen, Publisher, in Syracuse, 1900-02; with Bardeen Paper Company, manufacturers, Otsego, Mich., 1902-04; secretary Lee Paper Company, manufacturers, Vicksburg, Mich., 1904-25, treasurer 1904-36, general manager 1911-36, and president 1922-36; vice-president First State Bank, Vicksburg, 1916-29 (a director 1909-29); trustee Franklin Memorial Hospital, Vicksburg, 1927-29; served on School Board and on Vicksburg Village Council for several terms; charter member Vicksburg Rotary Club; had resided in Kalamazoo since 1923; attended Unitarian church, Kalamazoo.

Married December 23, 1901, in New York City, Elizabeth Arnold Atwater (Syracuse University ex-'01), daughter of Richard Mead Atwater (B.A. Brown 1865) and Abby Sophia (Greene) Atwater. Children. Maxwell Dickerman, '26; Norman, Jr. (University of Michigan ex-'34); and Elizabeth Atwater (B.A. Smith College 1935).

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Vicksburg Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Bertha Bardeen Willett (B.A. Smith 1895), the wife of Allan H. Willett (B.A. Brown 1886, M.A. 1889; Yale Law School 1886–87; Ph.D. Columbia 1901) of Washington, D.C., and Beatrice Bardeen Atwater (Smith ex-'97), the wife of David H. Atwater (Brown ex-'99; M.D. Syracuse 1902) of Rochester, N.Y.

Robert Davis Carey, B.A. 1900.

Born August 12, 1878, in Cheyenne, Wyo. Died January 17, 1937, in Cheyenne, Wyo.

Father, Joseph Maull Carey (LL.B. University of Pennsylvania 1867, LL.D. Union College 1894), associate justice Supreme Court of Territory of Wyoming 1871-76; mayor of Cheyenne 1881-85; United States representative 1885-90 and senator 1890-95; governor of Wyoming 1911-13; son of Robert Hood and Susan Pitt (Davis) Carey of Milton, Del. Mother, Louisa (David) Carey; daughter of Edward Cornelius and Eliza J. (Smith) David of Dubuque, Iowa, and Cheyenne. The Hill School.

Engaged in livestock and ranching business of J. M. Carey & Brothers, Inc. (established by his father in 1877), throughout his life (manager 1922-24, and president 1924-37); president Wheatland Roller Mill Company 1922-37, Wyoming Development Company 1922-37, Wheatland Industrial Company 1922-37, and Converse County Bank, Douglas, Wyo., 1923-37; governor of Wyoming 1919-23; United States senator (Republican) 1931-37; president Wyoming State Fair Commission 1909-10 and Wyoming Stock Growers Association 1917-21;

chairman Republican State Central Committee for Converse County, 1908–09, Board of County [Converse] Commissioners 1912–13, State Highway Commission 1917–18, and Wyoming delegation to Republican National Convention 1924; appointed by President Coolidge chairman Agricultural Conference 1924; member Progressive National Committee 1912–16.

Married September 5, 1903, in Douglas, Julia Blanchard, daughter of Brigadier General Henry Blanchard Freeman, U.S. Army, and Sarah (Darlington) Freeman. Children: Sarah Darlington and Joseph Maull, 3d, '37.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Cheyenne. Survived by wife and children. His brother, Charles D. Carey, ex-'01 S., died in 1935.

Clarence Eugene Ordway, B.A. 1900.

Born November 12, 1878, in West Hampstead, N.H. Died January 5, 1937, in Winchester, Mass.

Father, Daniel Fairbanks Ordway, head of firm of D. F. Ordway & Company, merchants in West Hampstead; son of John Dana and Louisa Maria (Kent) Ordway of West Hampstead. Mother, Eugenia A. (Safford) Ordway; daughter of John Jeffery Safford of Methuen, Mass. Yale relatives include: Henry C. Ordway, '80, and Philip S. Ordway, '08 (cousins).

Winchester High School. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Freshman Union, Yale Athletic Team (won half-mile race at Cambridge in 1898); secretary Yale Athletic Association Junior year; member Zeta Psi.

Attended Harvard Medical School 1900-04 (M.D. 1904); interne Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, 1904-06; physician in Winchester 1906-37; on staff of Winchester Hospital; served on local Medical Advisory Board and as assistant physician, Outpatient Department, Massachusetts General Hospital, during World War; member Massachusetts Medical Society (censor Middlesex Eastern District and a member of the council), American Medical Association, Æsculapian Club, and First Congregational Church, Winchester.

Married April 8, 1902, in Winchester, Anna Lyman Ripley (Smith ex-'02), daughter of Frank Lyman and Ida (Law) Ripley. Children: John Ripley, ex-'29; Dorothy (B.A. Smith 1925), the wife of Vincent Farnsworth, Jr., '24 S.; and Marjorie (Mrs. Lawrence S. Martin).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Wildwood Cemetery, Winchester. Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren. Charles Benedict Buckingham, B.A. 1901.

Born August 9, 1878, in Watertown, Conn. Died October 17, 1936, in Watertown, Conn.

Father, John Aaron Buckingham; son of Scovill Merriam and Charlotte (Benedict) Buckingham of Waterbury, Conn. Mother, Annie (McLean) Buckingham; daughter of Samuel and Charlotte (Chapman) McLean of Brooklyn, N.Y. Yale relatives include Asa Chapman (B.A. 1792, M.A. 1817) (great-great-grandfather).

Taft School. Member Alpha Delta Phi.

Apprentice Scovill Manufacturing Company, Waterbury, 1901-02; with Oakville Company of Oakville, Conn., 1902-14; president and treasurer Watertown Manufacturing Company (moulded insulation and novelties) 1915-34, and acted in advisory capacity 1935-36; councilman Boy Scouts of America for Waterbury and Watertown; trustee Watertown Library since 1909 and Connecticut School for Boys, Meriden, 1920-35; president Litchfield County Y.M.C.A.; second vice-president Yale Alumni Association of the Naugatuck Valley 1920-23; vestryman Christ Episcopal Church, Watertown.

Married June 3, 1905, in Watertown, Agnes deForest, daughter of John William Curtiss, '79, and Isabel (Murray) Curtiss. Children: Harriet Anne, the wife of William M. Goss, ex-'17; John deForest, '30; Elizabeth Murray, the wife of Nelson A. Howard, Jr., '29; Nancy; and Charles Benedict, Jr. (died 1919).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Watertown. Survived by wife, one son, three daughters, four grandchildren, and a brother, S. McLean Buckingham, '99.

Herbert Scoville, B.A. 1901.

Born October 29, 1877, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died March 11, 1937, in Cintra, Portugal.

Father, Nathaniel Church Scoville, associated with Buffalo Car Wheel Works; son of Samuel Church and Lois Dorcas (Church) Scoville of Salisbury, Conn. Mother, Frances (Wasson) Scoville; daughter of Archibald and Emily Laura (Howard) Wasson of Cuylerville, NY.

Berkeley School, New York City. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; two-year honorsin history; secretary and treasurer the Wranglers Junior year; on Class Picture Committee Senior year; member Freshman Glee Club, Yacht Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Harvard Law School 1901-04 (LL.B. 1904); engaged in law practice in New York City with Simpson, Thacher, Barnum & Bartlett 1904–11, and thereafter as partner with Winthrop E. Dwight, '93, in firm of Dwight & Scoville; also had a home in Salisbury, and was a director of the Salisbury Bank & Trust Company; attended Officers' Training Camp, Plattsburg, N.Y., August-November, 1917; deputy commissioner, with rank of Major, Department of Administration, American Red Cross, Rome, Italy, 1918–19; decorated Officer of the Crown of Italy; trustee The Hotchkiss School 1935–37; director Mulberry Street Community House, New York City, and Girls Service League (also assistant treasurer five years, and acting treasurer and chairman investment committee 1936); member Yale Associates in Fine Arts, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), Salisbury.

Married October 23, 1909, in Stamford, Conn., Orlena, daughter of Cornelius and Orlena Adeline (Emerson) Zabriskie. Children: Elvia, the wife of Maurice Firuski, '16; and Herbert, Jr., '37 S.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in British Cemetery, Lisbon, Portugal. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and four sisters, the Misses Grace and Edith Scoville of New York City, Mrs. John McChesney of Lakeville, Conn., and Mrs Lois Scoville Warner, the wife of Donald J. Warner, '06, '08 L., of Salisbury. His brother, Robert Scoville (honorary M.A. 1918), died in 1934.

John Raymond Hall, B.A. 1902.

Born July 16, 1879, in Elmira, N.Y. Died July 29, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Francis Granger Hall, member of firm of Smith & Hall, bankers in Elmira; son of Hiland Bishop and Betsey Pomeroy (Hamlin) Hall of West Bloomfield, N.Y. Mother, Maria Almira (Angell) Hall; daughter of Jesse and Elizabeth (Kuhn) Angell of Dansville, N.Y. Yale relatives include Noah Webster (B.A. 1778).

The Hotchkiss School. On College Baseball Team and member Apollo Glee Club Junior year; vice-president Hotchkiss Club Junior year and president Senior year. On Senior Promenade and Class Supper committees; member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Elihu.

Clerk with Bankers' Trust Company, New York City, 1903-05; private secretary to president of National Commercial Bank, Albany, N.Y., 1905-07; in New York City as manager bond department Crawford, Dyer & Cannon, 1907-11, and its successor, Crawford, Patton & Cannon, 1911-13, and as manager investment department Hallgarten & Company 1913-18; chairman Finance and Overseas Committee and in charge of business administration, Y.M.C.A., with headquarters in Paris, December, 1918-July, 1919; partner Knauth, Nachod & Kuhne, bankers and brokers specializing in foreign securities, New York City, 1920–23; special agent New York Life Insurance Company 1924–27; president John R. Hall Corporation, business management counselors, New York City, since 1927; director Peytondu Pont Securities Company, United Oil & Fertilizer Company, Parral & Durango Railroad Company, Alvarado Mining Company, Mexican Northern Mining & Railroad Company, Cardiff Maryland Mining Company, Inc., McIntosh Morello Orchards Company, Peyper Corporation, and Standard Stoker Company, Inc.; trustee The Hotchkiss School 1929–32 and Riverside Church 1920–25.

Married June 8, 1909, in Hartford, Conn., Louise Hopkins, daughter of Joseph Hopkins Twichell, '59, and Julia Harmony (Cushman) Twichell, and sister of Dr. David C. Twichell, '98, Burton P. Twichell, '01, '05 L., and Rev. Joseph H. Twichell, '06. Children: Joseph Twichell, '32; Jesse Angell, '36; Deborah Cushman; and Anne Peyton.

Took his own life. Buried in Judea Cemetery, Washington, Conn. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Florence Hall Garnsey of New York City, widow of Owen A. Garnsey, '04 S., and a brother, Francis G. Hall, Jr., ex-'99 S. His brother, Edwin A. Hall, '04 S., died in 1924.

Frank Tucker Mason, B.A. 1902.

Born April 26, 1880, in Chicago, Ill. Died November 13, 1936, in Atlanta, Ga.

Father, William Mason, came to the United States from England in 1854; a silk manufacturer in Paterson, N.J., and an importer in New York City; son of William and Jane (Charlton) Mason of Great Marlow, Buckinghamshire, England, and Fond du Lac, Wis. Mother, Ella Jane (Tucker) Mason; daughter of Erastus Noyes and Mary Ellen (Lovering) Tucker of Worcester, Mass., and Chicago.

Phillips-Andover. First dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; won several medals Sophomore and Junior years as member Yale Bicycle Team; on Second University Football Team Junior year; captain Class Hockey ~: am Junior year; member Andover Club and Zeta Psi.

Member firm of Mason Brothers, growers and shippers of citrus fruits, Isle of Pines, 1902–12, and located at plantation 1902–07; founder Pine Mountain Granite Company, Atlanta, its secretary and treasurer 1907–12, and president and executive manager 1912–36; director Atlanta, Stone Mountain & Lithonia Railroad; member Atlanta Rotary Club and North Avenue Presbyterian Church, Atlanta.

Married August 29, 1906, at Stone Mountain, Ga., Elizabeth Vernon, daughter of William Richard and Sarah Cornelia (Hoyt) Venable. Children: Leila Elizabeth Venable, the wife of Thomas M. Eldridge (B.S. Georgia School of Technology 1930); and Samuel Venable (M.E. Georgia School of Technology 1936).

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Oakland Cemetery, Atlanta. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and two brothers, William H. Mason of Long Island and Fred C. Mason of Atlanta.

Milo Barnum Richardson, Jr., B.A. 1902.

Born January 26, 1879, in Lime Rock, Conn. Died August 11, 1936, in Lime Rock, Conn.

Father, Milo Barnum Richardson, president Barnum Richardson Company of Lime Rock, manufacturers of Salisbury charcoal, pig iron, car wheels, and general castings; son of Leonard and Lucy Ann (Barnum) Richardson of Lime Rock. Mother, Ellen Caroline (Miner) Richardson; daughter of Uriel Holmes and Eliza (Canfield) Miner of Falls Village, Conn.

The Hotchkiss School. Member Alpha Delta Phi.

Assistant treasurer Barnum Richardson Company 1902 until retirement in 1917; trustee Falls Village Savings Bank since 1912, and vice-president since 1931; director National Iron Bank, Falls Village; treasurer Lime Rock Cemetery Association since 1907 and Lime Rock-Falls Village Public Health Nurses Association since 1923; chairman Democratic Town Committee of Salisbury, Conn., 1925–35; vestryman Trinity Church (Episcopal), Lime Rock, since 1915, and junior warden since 1934.

Married December 28, 1909, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Edith, daughter of Edward Cuyler and Caroline Charlotte (Fay) Vanderlıp. Daughter, Marjorie, the wife of George H. Sawallis (B.A. Municipal University of Wichita 1927).

Death due to coronary thrombosis and arteriosclerosis. Buried in Lime Rock Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, and a brother, Edward Miner Richardson (Massachusetts Institute of Technology ex-'07) of New York City.

Ernest Fairbanks Bacon, B.A. 1903.

Born August 6, 1879, in Oberlin, Ohio. Died February 22, 1937, in Newton, Mass.

Father, Rev. Joseph Fletcher Bacon (B.D. Oberlin 1881), a Congregational minister; son of Ebenezer Carr and Lucretia (Brockway) Bacon of Colebrook, Ohio. Mother, Margaret Eliza (Shaw) Bacon; daughter of Abram and Rachel (McCandless) Shaw of Waterford, Pa.

Attended Yankton College, Yankton, S.Dak., and Gates College, Neligh, Nebr., before entering Yale as a Sophomore with Class of 1903. Apprentice with Cable Company, manufacturers of pianos in St. Charles, Ill., 1903-04, and in their Chicago factory 1904-06; with Mason & Hamlin Piano Company, Cambridgeport, Mass., 1906-08; superintendent Cable Company 1908-13, the Columbus (Ohio) Piano Company and its successor, the Lindenberg Piano Company, 1913-18, and Hardman Peck & Company, New York City, 1918-24; factory manager Sterling Piano Company, Shelton, Conn., a short time in 1924; factory superintendent Charles M. Stieff, Inc. (piano manufacturers), Baltimore, Md., 1924-29; salesman Frank W. Pearson Insurance Company of Chicago 1929-30; secretary Crawford Company (funeral directors), Newton, Mass., 1930-37; member Community Church of Great Neck, N.Y.

Married November 24, 1904, in Yankton, Grace Esther Felber (Yankton College 1903), daughter of James Jacob and Louisa (Jones) Felber. Children: Ernest Fairbanks, Jr. (Johns Hopkins 1925–26); Rachel Louise (Yankton College 1934), the wife of Arthur Boudreau; and Robert Francis.

Death due to coronary sclerosis. Buried in Mount Auburn Cemetery, Cambridge, Mass. Survived by wife, children, and one granddaughter.

Franklin Lockwood, B.A. 1903.

Born April 3, 1881, in New York City. Died September 25, 1936, in Mount Kisco, N.Y.

Father, Stephen Orloff Lockwood, a lawyer in New York City; son of Daniel Tompkins and Ann Augusta (Franklin) Lockwood of Randolph, N.Y. Mother, Elizabeth (Stevens) Lockwood. Yale relatives include a brother, Stephen C. Lockwood, ex-'00 S.

Brooklyn Latin School.

Attended New York Law School 1903-04, 1905-06; admitted to New York bar 1905; associated with his father's firm Crane & Lockwood 1905-15, when the firm was dissolved; thereafter partner in firm of Lockwood & Lockwood; since his father's death in 1924 he had been head of the firm; member Legal Advisory Board during World War, and St. Matthew's Church (Protestant Episcopal), Bedford, N.Y.

Married February 12, 1907, in New York City, Sarah Linton, daughter of Linton and Helen (Butler) McNeel. No children.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in St. Matthew's Cemetery, Bedford, N Y. Survived by wife. Yale College

Carroll Johnson Waddell, B.A. 1903.

Born September 16, 1881, in Ottawa, Kans. Died February 25, 1937, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Robert James Waddell, president R. J. Waddell Investment Company, Kansas City, Mo.; son of James and Rachel (Shannon) Waddell of Albany, N.Y. Mother, Mary Sybil (Carroll) Waddell; daughter of James and Sarah Francis (Jenness) Carroll of DeKalb, Ill.

Albany Academy. Spent Freshman year at Hamilton College; entered Yale as a Sophomore; Class Historian; member *Yale Daily News* board Junior and Senior years, Alpha Delta Phi, and Elihu (a founder).

In office of R. J. Waddell Investment Company 1903-04, and secretary of their Albany office 1904-06; with banking firm of N. W. Harris & Company (later Harris, Forbes & Company), New York City, 1906-08, their representative in Albany 1908-09, and manager of their Philadelphia office 1909–19; became associated with Drexel & Company, Philadelphia, December 1, 1919, and manager bond department 1920–29; general partner Winslow, Lanier & Company 1929-30; associated with N. W. Harris Company, Inc., New York City, 1931-34; manager investment department W. E. Hutton & Company, Philadelphia, 1935-37; active in five Liberty Loan campaigns 1918-19 and chairman Philadelphia Industrial Committee, Liberty Loan organization; chairman Scholarship Committee of the Yale Club of Philadelphia 1924; member Yale Alumni Advisory Board 1927–28, board of governors Investment Bankers Association of America (vice-president 1928), a founder and former president (1927) Philadelphia Bond Club; member Westminster Presbyterian Church, Albany.

Unmarried.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Rural Cemetery, Albany. Survived by his mother (Mrs. George E. Gorham) and a stepbrother, Dr. L. Whittington Gorham, '06.

Will Tilden Barker, B.A. 1904.

Born November 16, 1877, in Farmington, N.H. Died August 19, 1936, in Farmington, N.H.

Father, Hiram Hayes Barker of Farmington; son of Hiram and Maria (Hayes) Barker of Farmington. Mother, Ella (Peavey) Barker; daughter of Robert Knight and Mary Amanda (Beals) Peavey of " Farmington.

Phillips-Exeter. Entered Yale in 1899 and joined Class of 1904 in Senior year; member 1903 Freshman Baseball Team. Independently engaged in settling estates and as an investor and caretaker of property, Farmington, 1904-36.

Married September 23, 1907, in Farmington, Alta Florence, daughter of John Woodbury and Jennie (Tibbett) Leighton. Children: Shirley Frances (B.A. University of New Hampshire 1934) and Hiram Leighton (B.S. University of New Hampshire 1935).

Death due to an embolism. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Farmington. Survived by wife, children, a brother, Charles Barker of Melrose Highlands, Mass., and a sister, Mrs. Eda Clancy of Dover, N H.

James Timothy Craffey, B.A. 1904.

Born October 23, 1880, in Westboro, Mass. Died August 11, 1936, in Albion, N.Y.

Father, James Craffey, in boot and shoe industry in Westboro; son of James and Mary (Kelley) Craffey of Athlone, Ireland. Mother, Bridget (Dolan) Craffey; daughter of Timothy and Elizabeth (Higgins) Dolan of Athlone.

Westboro High School and Phillips-Exeter. On Freshman Baseball Team and College Baseball Team Sophomore year.

Manager brokerage office of Bird S. Coler, New York City, 1904-06; secretary Albion-Medina Stone Company (later Orleans County Quarry Company), Albion, 1906-12, and manager 1912-16; manager E. A. Dawson Produce Company, Lockport, N.Y., 1916-21; had operated a real-estate and insurance business in Albion since 1921; treasurer board of directors Arnold Gregory Memorial Hospital, Albion, 1926-36; member organizations for civic betterment and president Albion Rotary Club 1931-32; appointed executive secretary Orleans County Alcoholic Beverage Control Board 1936; charter member Knights of Columbus in Albion; member St. Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), Albion.

Married May 21, 1921, in Lockport, Claribel, daughter of John Freemont and Sadie F. Babbitt. No children.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in St. Luke's Cemetery, Westboro. Survived by wife, a brother, John F. Craffey, and four sisters, the Misses Gertrude, Frances, and Nellie Craffey, and Mrs. John J. McSherry, all of Worcester, Mass.

Earl Webster Evans, B.A. 1904.

Born October 2, 1883, in Chicago, Ill. Died April 30, 1937, in New Orleans, La.

Father, Louis Hyde Evans (C. E. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute 1876), consulting engineer Chicago Junction Railway Company; son of Enoch Webster and Caroline (Hyde) Evans of Kenosha, Wis. Mother, Frances Helen (Robinson) Evans; daughter of William Albert and Anne Eliza (Baldwin) Robinson of Brady's Bend, Pa.

Lewis Institute, Chicago.

Associated with F. D. Hyde, a contractor in Chicago, 1904-05; night superintendent of construction William Grace Company 1906-07; superintendent of construction Oneonta (N.Y.) Milling Company a short time in 1907; associated with brokerage firm of W. R. Holligan & Company, Chicago, 1907-08; superintendent of track elevation Chicago Junction Railway Company 1908-12; superintendent of construction Chalmette Slip Terminal, New Orleans Terminal Company, 1912-15; associated with C. H. Peters Company, efficiency engineers in Chicago, 1916–17; candidate Engineer Officers' Training School, Fort Sheridan and Fort Leavenworth, May-August, 1917; commissioned Captain of Engineers July 10, 1917; assigned to 503d Engineers September 7, 1917, and organized it for overseas service; transferred October 23, 1917, to 21st Engineers and arrived in France with that regiment January 1, 1918; ordered to Intermediate Section, Line of Communications, near Nevers; executive officer 21st Engineers in Zone of Advance, building and operating railway from Sorcy-sur-Gare to front-line trenches February 26-September 1, 1918; returned to United States to train recruits; promoted to Major September 14, 1918 (to rank from July 30); discharged December 13, 1918; commissioned Major Engineer Section, Officers' Reserve Corps, January 25, 1919 (active duty Major Engineers, 6th Corps Headquarters, Chicago, June, 1924); motor-truck transportation engineer in Chicago for The Four Wheel Drive Auto Company, White Motor Company, Kelly-Springfield Truck Company; auditor Pennsylvania Forge Company, Philadelphia, Pa., 1923-24; systems representative Dodge Brothers, Inc., Detroit, Mich., 1924–26, and assistant director dealer operations 1926–28; assistant director dealer operations Chrysler Corporation, Detroit, 1928-32, and director 1932; member Western Society of Engineers, Society of American Military Engineers, American Association of Engineers, Military Order of the World War, Officers' Reserve Association of the United States, American Legion, and Church of the Epiphany (Episcopal), Chicago.

Married August 2, 1919, in Chicago, Alice Emilie, daughter of Wilmot and Valentine (Durell) Knapp.

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound. Buried in Metairie Cemetery, New Orleans. Survived by wife, mother, and a sister, Louise Evans Hiscox (B.A. Smith 1904), the widow of Edward T. Hiscox, '04.

Basil John Scott, B.A. 1904.

Born June 14, 1881, at Shoreham, Sussex, England. Died July 10, 1936, in Pittsburgh, Pa

Father, [Victor] John Scott, vice-president and general manager London, Brighton & East Coast Railway; came to United States in 1881; president Cincinnati Southern Railroad, Colorado Midland Railroad, and consulting engineer Seaboard Air Line Railway Company; son of Captain John Scott, R.N., and Catherine (McGuirk) Scott of Shoreham-by-Sea, Sussex. Mother, Helen Mary (Cheesman) Scott; daughter of Captain Francis Cheesman, R.N., and Emily (Gates) Cheesman of Shoreham-by-Sea, Sussex.

St. Austin's School, West New Brighton, N.Y. On Freshman Football Team and Freshman Crew; on University Crew and Football squads; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Alpha Delta Phi

Engaged in construction work in the South for Seaboard Air Line Railway Company 1904-06; civil engineer New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad 1906-07; assistant to his father 1907-08; insurance underwriter Henry Stewart & Sons, New York City, 1908-09; surveyor and inspector American Cotton Oil Company, New York City, 1909-14; engaged in construction of shell-loading plants, Penniman, Va., with E I du Pont de Nemours & Company 1917-18; Captain Engineer Officers' Reserve Corps October 10, 1917-January 23, 1918; superintendent of construction and maintenance U.S. Ordnance Department 1918-19; construction superintendent St. Louis Coke & Chemical Company, Granite City, Ill., 1920-21; superintendent of construction W. J. Conners Highway of Florida 1921-22; resident manager and chief engineer for Barron G. Collier in charge of his Florida estates 1922-23; construction engineer Florida, Western & Northern Railway and Jefferson Construction Company, Okeechobee, Fla, 1923-26; resident construction engineer Okeechobee Seaboard Air Line Railway Company 1926–28; salesman and estimator W. A. Case & Son Manufacturing Company, makers of factory and mill supplies, Upper Montclair, N.J., 1928-30; resident engineer and inspector Federal Emergency Administration of Public Works, Beaver, Pa., 1931-36, member American Society of Engineers and Florida Engineering Society.

Married (1) February 14, 1910, in New Brighton, Laura Sanford Hoffmann, daughter of Dwight W. and Rita (Glaser) Sanford. Mr. and Mrs. Scott were divorced. Married (2) April 21, 1919, in Lynchburg, Va., Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Joseph and Mary Rebecca (Hudson) Burns Children. Basil John, Jr., and Mollie Rebecca

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Beaver Cemetery.

Survived by wife, children, four sisters, Mrs. Sheldon Searle of Lansdowne, Pa., Mrs. Helen S. Holcombe and Mrs. Rose B. Brown of New York City, and Mrs. P. Schuyler vanBloem of Great Neck, Long Island, and three brothers, Paul W. Scott of Salem, N.J., John Scott (M.E. Lehigh University 1907) of New Brighton, N.Y, and Vincent E. Scott (Colorado School of Mines 1898–1900) of New York City.

Thomas Mallon Shields, B.A. 1904.

Born October 1, 1882, in Norwich, Conn. Died March 18, 1937, in Boston, Mass

Father, William Hawthorne Shields, member law firm of Shields & Shields, Norwich; son of Patrick and Mary (Shanley) Shields of Norwich. Mother, Selina (Mallon) Shields; daughter of James and Catherine (Ryan) Mallon of Farmington, Conn. Yale relatives include Guy W. Mallon, '85, and Neil B. Mallon, '96 (cousins).

Norwich Free Academy. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi.

Studied law in father's office 1904–07; admitted to Connecticut bar 1907; partner Shields, Shields & Shields (brother, William H. Shields, Jr., '10, also a partner) 1907–37; assistant prosecutor and assistant clerk of the City Court, Norwich, 1935–37; referee in bankruptcy for New London County 1914–29; member St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Church, Norwich.

Married April 19, 1911, in Norwich, Edith Camilla, daughter of John Henry Eldred, D.D.S., and Annie Lincoln (Babcock) Eldred, and sister of Roger M. Eldred, *ex-*'15 S. Children. John Eldred (LL.B. University of Virginia 1937); David Stuart, '39; Stephen Mallon (died 1933); and Nathan Babcock.

Death due to carcinoma of the throat. Buried in St Joseph's Cemetery, Norwich. Survived by wife, three sons, a sister, Julianna Shields Haskell, the wife of Henry S. Haskell, '92, of New York City, and brother.

Frame Clemens Brown, B.A. 1905.

Born March 21, 1883, in Cambridge, Ohio. Died December 16, 1936, in Worthington, Ohio.

Father, Williams Clemens Brown (University of Michigan 1871–72), in firm of Orr, Brown & Price, wholesale druggists, Columbus, Ohio. Mother, Colenne Della (Gooderl) Brown; daughter of William King and Elizabeth (Woodrow) Gooderl of Washington, Ohio.

Lawrenceville School. Fence Orator Sophomore year; member University Dramatic Association for three years, treasurer Sophomore year and secretary Junior year; in Apollo Glee Club Junior year and University Glee Club Senior year; Class Historian; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head.

Attended Bliss Business College, Columbus, October, 1905–March, 1906; with Otis & Company (bankers and brokers) of Cleveland in their branch office in Columbus March–August, 1906; bond salesman First National Bank of Columbus 1906–07; with Orr, Brown & Price, Columbus 1907–08; had owned and operated The Brown Fruit Farm, Worthington, Ohio, since 1909; president Ohio State Horticultural Society 1919–20 and Franklin County Farm Bureau 1920–21; director U.S. Chain & Forging Company of Pittsburgh, Pa., 1924–28; member horticultural societies of New York, Indiana, Virginia, and Michigan, Master Farmer's Club of Ohio, and Church of the Immaculate Conception, Columbus.

Married November 26, 1912, in Columbus, Marie Andrews, daughter of Edmiston and Maria (Conrad) Gwynne. Daughter, Marie Andrews (B.A Ohio State University 1935; M.A. Catholic University 1936), the wife of John M. Caren (Williams ex-'26; LL.B. Columbus College of Law 1932). Mrs. Brown died August 8, 1936.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in St. Joseph Cemetery, Columbus. Survived by daughter and his mother, Mrs. Colenne D. Moll, of Chicago, Ill.

William Johnson Jack, B.A. 1905.

Born January 11, 1883, in Indiana, Pa. Died September 19, 1936, in Indiana, Pa.

Father, Summers Melville Jack, partner in law firm of Jack & Taylor (later Jack & Jack), Indiana, Pa.; son of Lowry and Cornelia (Baldwin) Jack. Mother, Margaret Florence (Mitchell) Jack; daughter of William Johnston and Sarah Elizabeth (Adair) Mitchell. Yale relatives include: Alonzo F. Jack, *ex-'00* (uncle); and James L. Jack, Jr, '37 (nephew).

Pennsylvania State Normal School and Phillips-Exeter. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; member Track Athletic Team Junior and Senior years.

Instructor and coach of track teams Los Angeles Military Academy 1905-06; professor of Greek and Latin (later geography and history and 1916-18 history) State Teachers College, Indiana, Pa., 1906-18 (preceptor 1906-17); organized (1914) and managed firm of William J. Jack, coal operators, 1914-16 and in automobile sales business in Indiana, Pa., 1916-36; M.A. Yale 1909; member Pittsburgh Athletic Association, Masters of Fox Hounds Association of America, and First United Presbyterian Church, Indiana. Married September 6, 1905, in Indiana, Pa., Martha Bell, daughter of Alexander T. and Lydia Caroline (Wettling) Taylor. No children.

Death due to a blood clot. Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Indiana, Pa. Survived by wife, father, and a brother, James L. Jack, '11, all of Indiana.

Carl Benton Smith, B.A. 1905.

Born November 29, 1880, in Oswego, N.Y. Died September 1, 1936, in Syracuse, N.Y.

Father, Warren Douglas Smith, member Smith, Murdock & Company, grain commissioners in Oswego; son of Joseph Douglas and Maria (Benton) Smith of Adams, N.Y. Mother, Sarah (Cooper) Smith; daughter of Hamilton and Mary Ann (Dole) Cooper of Kenosha, Wis. Yale relatives include: James Locke, '90, and J. Fenimore Cooper, '13 (cousins); and Edmund L. French, Jr., '35 S. (nephew).

Nichols School, Buffalo. Member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Zeta Psi.

Salesman Smith Premier Typewriter Company, Buffalo, 1905–06; foreman Pratt & Letchworth Company, Ltd. (malleable and steel castings), Brantford, Ontario, 1906–08, and order clerk, assistant to manager, and purchasing agent 1908–13; salesman Barber-Ellis Company, Ltd. (manufacturers of envelopes), Brantford, 1914–15; contractor Crucible Steel Company of America, Syracuse, 1915–30, and superintendent of heat treatment since 1930; president New York State Archery Association; scoutmaster and vice-president Onondaga Council, Boy Scouts of America; commissioner of Sea Scouts in Syracuse; member Syracuse Chamber of Commerce and St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Syracuse.

Married September 28, 1907, in Stamford, Conn., Irene Hart, daughter of Nathaniel Reeves and Mary Clarissa (Dickinson) Hart, and sister of William D. Hart, '04, and Reeves W. Hart, '16 S. Children: Carl Benton, Jr. (Hamilton College ex-'31; M.D. Syracuse University 1936), and Faith Irene.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Oswego. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Frances Smith French, widow of Edmund L. French (B.S. Syracuse University 1902, Sc.D. 1914), of Syracuse, and Mrs. E. Earl Thurston of Constantia, N.Y., and a brother, Allan Douglas Smith of Tampa, Fla.

James Beebee Brinsmade, B.A. 1906.

Born May 12, 1884, in Everett, Pa. Died September 13, 1936, in New Bedford, Mass.

Father, Henry Newman Brinsmade (C.E. Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute 1879), a mining engineer; son of James Beebee and Jennie (Newman) Brinsmade of New York City. Mother, Frances Norsworthy (Stilwell) Brinsmade; daughter of Silas Moore and Louisa Caroline (Norsworthy) Stilwell of New York City. Yale relatives include: James Beebe (B.A. 1745) (great-great-grandfather); James Beebee Brinsmade (B.A. 1813) (great-grandfather); James Beebee Brinsmade (B.A. 1845) (grandfather); William B. Brinsmade, '88, and Charles L. Brinsmade, ex-'95 S. (uncles); and Chapin Brinsmade (M.A. 1924) (cousin).

Brooklyn Latin School and The Hotchkiss School. Second Benjamin F. Barge Mathematical Prize Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior year; on 1906 Class Crew Junior year; member Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club, University Glee Club, Corinthian Yacht Club, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Student Western Electric Company, New York City, 1906-07; in sales department Bristol Company (manufacturers of recording instruments), New York City, 1908-09; assistant foreman West Pennsylvania Steel Company, Pittsburgh, Pa., 1909-11; graduate student in physics Harvard 1911-17 (M.A. 1913, Ph.D. 1917); assistant in physics Harvard University and Radcliffe College 1914-17 and instructor 1917; after volunteer experimental work 1917 commissioned First Lieutenant Air Service, Signal Reserve Corps, February 21, 1918, and assigned to Development Branch, Photographic Section, Ordnance and Instrument Department, Bureau of Aircraft Production, Washington, D.C.; instructor in physics Williams College 1919-20, assistant professor 1920–28 (visiting research fellow California Institute of Technology 1926-27), associate professor 1928-32, and professor and chairman department of physics 1932-36; contributed to The Physical Review, The American Physics Teacher, and Proceedings of the National Academy of Science; member American Physical Society, Sigma Xi, American Association of University Professors, American Association of Physics Teachers, and American Association for the Advancement of Science.

Married September 16, 1911, in Toledo, Ohio, Margery Gibson, daughter of Edward Platt Hickox, '78, and Emelyn (Colton) Hickox. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Washington Cemetery, Washington, Conn. Survived by wife and a brother, Paul S. Brinsmade, '12, of New York City.

Charles Carver, Jr., B.A. 1906.

Born September 1, 1883, in Bridgeton, N.J. Died January 7, 1937, in Portland, Ore.

Father, Charles Carver (B.A. University of Pennsylvania 1871, M.A. 1873, LL.B. 1874), a lawyer in Philadelphia, Pa.; son of Jacob and Emma (Buck) Carver of Philadelphia. Mother, Emily Virginia (Allibone) Carver; daughter of S. Austin and Mary (Henry) Allibone of Philadelphia.

Episcopal Academy and private tutor. On Class Tennis Team and Sophomore Baseball Team; a Sophomore Wrangler; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1906-07 (M.A. 1907); engaged in real-estate business and associated in law offices of his father and brother, Alexander Henry Carver, '01, in Philadelphia 1907-23; chief real-estate appraiser Portland (Ore.) Trust & Savings Bank 1923 until retirement in 1931; Y.M.C.A. secretary and director Leave Area Southern France Section 1918-19; trustee Rush Hospital for Consumptives in Philadelphia, 1916-24, and Pennsylvania Training School for Feeble-Minded Children, Elwyn, Pa., 1909-21; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Oregon 1926; member St. David's Church (Protestant Episcopal), Portland.

Married October 24, 1912, in Longport, N.J., Elsie Baily, daughter of Professor Joseph Price Remington (Pharm.D. Philadelphia College of Pharmacy 1866) and Elizabeth Baily (Collins) Remington. No children.

Death due to carcinoma of throat. Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife and brother.

William Stuart Glazier, B.A. 1906.

Born November 5, 1883, in Hartford, Conn. Died January 9, 1937, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Frank Dwight Glazier, member firm of Franklin Glazier & Son, manufacturers of woolens in South Glastonbury, Conn.; son of Franklin and Mary Cecilia (Skinner) Glazier. Mother, Emily Spencer (Williams) Glazier; daughter of William Stuart and Mary Edwards (Goodwin) Williams of Glastonbury, Conn. Yale relatives include: Dr. Thomas Williams (B.A. 1748) (great-great-grandfather); Rev. Solomon Williams (ex-1803) (great-grandfather); George G. Williams, '80 S., and Lewis S. Welch, '89 (uncles); and Richard B. Bulkeley, Jr., '34 (nephew).

Hotchkiss and St. George's schools. Assistant manager University Tennis Association Junior year and manager Senior year; a Sophomore Wrangler; on governing board University Club and Yale Corinthian Yacht Club; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head.

Apprentice with advertising firm of Calkins & Holden, New York City, 1906-08; assistant to advertising manager J. B. Williams Company, soaps, Glastonbury, 1908-16; Connecticut representative brokerage firm of Hambleton & Company, Hartford, 1916-28; special partner Eddy Brothers & Company (brokers), Hartford, 1928-37; resided in Hartford until a few years ago when he moved to South Glastonbury; attended Machine Gun Officers' Training School, Camp Hancock, Ga., fall of 1918; officer Fisher's Island Yacht Club; vestryman St. John's Church on Fisher's Island and Trinity Church, Hartford.

Married April 27, 1909, in Hartford, Helen Fitch, daughter of Gustavus Pierrepont Davis, '66, and Elise (Mitchell) Davis, and sister of Arthur W. Davis, '99 Daughter, Barbara. Mrs. Glazier died in 1928.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by daughter, father, two brothers, Franklin D. W. Glazier, '04, of South Glastonbury, and Philip A. Glazier, ex-'07S., of Hartford, and a sister, Mary Glazier Bulkeley, the wife of Richard B. Bulkeley, '08.

Harold Wade Headley, B.A. 1906.

Born March 7, 1885, in Irvington, N.J. Died November 4, 1936, in Basking Ridge, N.J.

Father, Will Courter Headley, member law firm of W. C. & E. Headley of Newark, N.J.; son of John Stiles and Sarah Ann (Courter) Headley of Headley Town (now Unionville), N.J. Mother, Rosetta (Ayres) Headley; daughter of David Cooper and Mary Frances (Camp) Ayres of Green Bay, Wis.

East Orange (N.J.) High School. First division stand Freshman year; high oration appointment and Scott Prize in German Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; member Yale Union, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended New York Law School 1906-09 (LL.B. 1908); admitted to New Jersey bar 1909 and became a counselor at law and master in chancery 1912; associated with his father and brothers in firm of W. C. & E. Headley in Newark 1909-12; independently engaged in practice in Newark 1912-18 and in Basking Ridge 1919-28; treasurer Bernardsville (N.J.) Water Company; treasurer and then vice-president Conkling Lumber Company; vice-president Bernardsville National Bank 1928-31, president 1932, and cashier January 1, 1933-

Yale College

June 30, 1934 (a director 1923–34); treasurer Basking Ridge Realty Company 1934–36; member Basking Ridge Board of Education 1919–25 and Basking Ridge Presbyterian Church (a trustee 1919–25).

Married (1) September 10, 1910, at Bradley Beach, N.J., Hilda Hinsdale, daughter of Robert Smith and Amelia F. (Nichols) Carter. Children: Louise (B.A. Santa Barbara State College 1935); Will Carter, '35; Roberta (Mrs. Archie L. Reeve); and Frances Camp. Mrs. Headley died April 14, 1931. Married (2) August 26, 1933, in Basking Ridge, Sara Mae, daughter of David Edward and Anna Caroline (Allen) Bockoven.

Took his own life. Buried in Presbyterian Cemetery, Basking Ridge. Survived by wife, children, father, and two brothers, Elroy Headley (B.A. Princeton 1901) of East Orange, and William F. Headley of Denville, N.J.

Richard Prendergast, B.A. 1906.

Born March 1, 1885, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 16, 1936, in Asheville, N.C.

Father, Richard Prendergast (B.A. St. Ignatius College 1876, M.A. 1878, LL.D. 1895), a lawyer and judge in Chicago (died August 17, 1899). Mother, Winifred M. Prendergast (died November 28, 1893).

St. Ignatius Academy and private tutor; B.A. St. Louis University 1904. Entered Yale as a Junior; member Yale Dramatic Association.

Studied law at Northwestern University 1906-09 (LL.B. 1909; member Phi Delta Phi); practiced law in Chicago for some years; resided in Wheaton and member General Assembly of Illinois 1910; had moved to Asheville a few months before his death.

Married February 5, 1935, Ada Whiteside Morton, daughter of Houston L. and Julia (Lattimer) Whiteside.

Death due to tuberculosis. Buried in Asheville Cemetery. Survived by wife, a brother, Edmund J. Prendergast (Harvard ex-'09) of Chicago, and a sister, Mrs. Lois Frimmel of Vienna, Austria.

Howard Boulton, B.A. 1907.

Born June 6, 1886, in Orange, N.J. Died July 13, 1936, in Hewlett, N.Y.

Father, William Bowen Boulton (B.A. University of Pennsylvania 1879), an owner Red D Steamship Line, New York City; son of William George and Mary Elizabeth (Bowen) Boulton of Philadelphia, Pa. Mother, Louisa Kuhl (Kelly) Boulton; daughter of Henry Kuhl and Louisa Warner (Hard) Kelly of Philadelphia.

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Second colloquy appointment

Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; stroke of Freshman Crew, University Four Oar Crew (1905), and Second University Crew (1906, 1907); on Class Picture Committee; member Psi Upsilon and Wolf's Head.

Runner for DeCoppet & Doremus, brokers, New York City, 1907-08; with W. B. Franklin & Company, brokers, New York City, 1909; admitted to membership in New York Stock Exchange 1909; board member Graham, Vaughan & Company, brokers, 1910-14; member firm of McAlpin & Boulton, brokers, 1914-19; in independent brokerage business in New York City 1919-36; in U.S. Army December 14, 1917-December 18, 1918 (attended School of Military Aeronautics, Columbus, Ohio; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Service, March 16; Supply Officer 628th Aero Squadron, Garden City, N.Y., and Radio Branch Training Section, Department of Military Aeronautics, Washington, D.C.); member Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1909-12; vestryman Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hewlett.

Married November 17, 1910, in New York City, Grace Russell, daughter of William Strother and Mary Grace (Russell) Jones, and sister of W. Strother Jones, Jr., '08 S. Children: Howard, Jr.; Grace Russell (Mrs. Charles D. Stearns); and Anita Teresa. Mrs. Boulton died April 30, 1925.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Red Bank, N.J. Survived by children, two sisters, Mrs. Newbold L. Herrick of Woodmere, N.Y., and Mrs. John Grenville Bates of Morristown, N.J., and a brother, William B. Boulton, '04, of Aiken, S.C.

Lawrence Merritt Connell, B.A. 1907.

Born April 27, 1885, in Scranton, Pa. Died January 17, 1937, in Clarks Green, Pa.

Father, James Lawrence Connell, a banker in Scranton; son of William and Annie (Lawrence) Connell. Mother, Leonora (Pratt) Connell. Yale relatives include Dr. Theodore E. Connell, ex-'94, and Ezra H. Connell, '95 (uncles); Bernard L. Connell and Edwin E. Connell, both '14 S, and Alfred H. Connell, ex-'26 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School. Member Apollo Banjo Club Sophomore year, University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Junior and Senior years, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Became associated with the Maccar Truck Company, manufacturers of motor trucks, Scranton, 1912, secretary 1914–32, and secretary-treasurer 1932; president and a director Lackawanna Mills, Scranton; director Third National Bank of Scranton; had sbeen in insurance brokerage business for several years.

Married July 8, 1914, in Sault Ste Marie, Mich., Cynthia Ann,

Yale College

daughter of Michael Jardin and Mary (Misky) Magee. Children. Lawrence Merritt, Jr., Mary Leonora, and Phelps Magee.

Death due to a heart attack. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Miss Mary Lucille Connell, and a brother, Carleton A. Connell, '10.

William Harding Longley, B.A. 1907.

Born October 27, 1881, in Paradise, N.S., Canada. Died March 10, 1937, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, Israel Manning Longley (B.A. Acadia 1875, M.A. 1899), a teacher; son of William Longley. Mother, Ermina Judson (Morse) Longley; daughter of Harris Harding and Margaret Eliza Morse.

Paradise High School; B.A. Acadia 1901. Entered Yale in 1906; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Assistant in biology and graduate student Yale University 1907-10, instructor 1910-11 (M.A. 1908, Ph.D. 1910; member Sigma Xi); instructor in biology and associate professor of botany Goucher College 1911-14, professor of botany 1914-19, and professor of biology 1919-37 (chairman of department 1917-37); executive officer Tortugas (Fla.) Laboratory of Marine Biology, Carnegie Institution of Washington, 1923-37; honorary collaborator Division of Marine Invertebrates at the Smithsonian Institution 1926-37; honorary Sc.D. Acadia 1931; recognized as an eminent authority on tropical reef fishes and the significance of their color patterns in the theory of methods of evolution; a pioneer in the use of diving apparatus and submarine photography in zoology; some thirty publications resulting from his research appear in yearbooks of the Carnegie Institution and in journals of scientific societies to which he belonged; had pursued his investigations in Puerto Rico, the East Indies, and three times in Polynesia and had studied most of the larger natural history collections in Europe; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member American Society of Naturalists, American Society of Zoologists, Ecological Society of America, and American Genetic Association.

Married September 12, 1908, in Paradise, Hazel Fowler, daughter of James Francis and Elizabeth Logan (Fowler) Baird. Children: William Harding, Jr. (B.A. Acadia 1931; M.D. Johns Hopkins 1935); Elizabeth Fowler Baird (B.A. Goucher 1933); John Prescott (died 1920); and James Baird.

Death due to a malignant brain tumor. Buried in Loudon Park Cemetery, Baltimore. Survived by wife, daughter, and two sons.

Simon Truby Patterson, B.A. 1907.

Born August 25, 1885, in Kittanning, Pa. Died June 3, 1937, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, Woodward Reynolds Patterson, a merchant; son of David and Eliza (Reynolds) Patterson of Kittanning. Mother, Rebecca Mosgrove (Truby) Patterson; daughter of Simon Truby and Jane Anna (Mosgrove) Truby of Kittanning.

Kittanning Academy and Roanoke College. An editor Yale Courant Senior year.

Levelman U.S. Geological Survey, Bedford County, Pa., July-November, 1907; law student University of Pittsburgh 1907–10 (LL.B. 1910; member Phi Delta Phi); admitted to Pennsylvania bar October, 1910; civil and corporation lawyer; with Wallace & Watson [Thomas, '00], attorneys in Pittsburgh, 1910–17; partner Wallace & Patterson 1917–26, Wallace, Patterson & Collin [William W., Jr., '07] 1926–30, Patterson, Goehring, McClintock [Bowdoin U., '07], & Collin since January 1, 1930; vice-president 1920-34 and president since 1934 Kittanning Brick Company, manufacturers of refractories; director McNees-Reese Coal Company, Kittanning, 1920-37; author of several articles on motor laws; voluntary aide, Pittsburgh office, U.S. Naval Intelligence, April-October, 1918; commissioned First Lieutenant Army Service Corps, Judge Advocate General's Department, October 29, 1918; assigned to Camp Upton with overseas orders; discharged December 11, 1918; member Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, and American Bar associations, and American Branch of International Bar Association; member executive committee Yale Club of Pittsburgh 1924, president 1926–28, representative on Alumni Board 1932–37, and trustee Yale Scholarship Trust of Pittsburgh 1932-34; charter member and first vice-president Harvard-Yale-Princeton Club of Pittsburgh 1930, and president 1932; member board of directors Pittsburgh Newsboys Home 1914-24 and Family Welfare Association since 1927; Independent Republican (for some years active on campaign committees); member East Liberty Post No. 5, American Legion.

Married June 14, 1916, in Pittsburgh, Edith Galbraith, daughter of William and Nancy G. (Galbraith) Flinn, and sister of A. Rex Flinn, '06. Children. Nancy Louise, Isabel, and George Reese.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife, children, and mother, Mrs. Francis H. Bermingham.

Harold Sherman Wells, B.A. 1907.

Born January 12, 1884, in Scranton, Pa. Died March 12, 1937, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, Thomas Fenimore Wells (Lafayette College ex-1874), a lawyer in Scranton; son of Corydon Hıram and Mary (Chittenden) Wells of Scranton. Mother, Louise (Jenkıns) Wells; daughter of William and Mary (Sherman) Jenkins of Scranton.

School of the Lackawanna and The Hill School. On Freshman Baseball Team, secretary University Baseball Association Junior year, and manager University Baseball Team Senior year; a Class deacon and treasurer College Y.M.C.A. Junior year; member Class Day Committee, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Watchman United States Immigration Bureau, Portland, Ore., 1907; clerk Oregon Electric Railway Company, Portland, 1908–10; salesman Pacific Power & Light Company, Portland, 1910–16; sales manager Weiss Engine Company, New York City, 1916–18; served with American Red Cross, London, England, 1918–19 (assimilated rank of Captain); assistant director of organizations, International League of Red Cross Societies at Geneva, Switzerland, 1919–22; in charge of Waterbury, Conn., branch of Jones Tea Company 1922–24; president Container Patents Corporation and Container Sales Company, Inc., of New York City and Stamford 1924–37; member St. John's Episcopal Church, Stamford.

Married February 26, 1920, in Washington, D.C., Ruth Allison, daughter of General Harry Rubens Anderson, U.S.A., and Margaret (Allison) Anderson. Children: Robert Anderson; Peter Sherman; and John Allison.

Death due to perianal epithelioma. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford, Conn. Survived by wife, three sons, and a sister, Mrs. Frank L. Phillips (Wells College *ex-*'01) of Boston, Mass.

John Charles McCarthy, B.A. 1908.

Born September 15, 1882, in McLean, N.Y. Died January 18, 1937, in Amityville, N.Y.

Father, John McCarthy, a farmer in McLean; son of John and Ellen (Regan) McCarthy of Bantry, County Cork, Ireland. Mother, Rose (O'Byrne) McCarthy; daughter of Michael and Margaret (Conlon) O'Byrne of McLean.

Cortland (N.Y.) Normal School. Dissertation appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year.

Principal Winchester School, New Haven, Conn., 1908–10; supervising principal Webster District, New Haven, 1910–13; assistant

Yale University Obituary Record

superintendent New Haven schools 1913-34 and superintendent 1934-37; vice-president and chairman New Haven Community Chest 1931-32 (a director 1929-32), vice-president New Haven Council of Social Agencies 1933-35; director Connecticut Branch of the National Committee for Mental Hygiene, New Haven Chamber of Commerce 1932-37, and New Haven Building and Loan Association; on executive committee New Haven branch Federal Housing Administration 1935; member St. Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, New Haven.

Married June 24, 1912, in New Haven, Anne Pauline, daughter of Edward Francis and Elizabeth (McKenna) Murphy, and sister of Charles C Murphy, '06 M. Children: John Charles, Jr., '35 S.; Edward William, Class of 1938 S; and Nancy Elizabeth (Smith 1940).

Death due to complications following an operation. Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Mrs Timothy J. Hastings of Groton, N.Y., and a brother, Edward F. McCarthy (B S. University of Michigan 1911, M.F. 1916) of Syracuse, N.Y

Joel Andrew Sperry, B.A. 1908.

Born July 10, 1887, in New Haven, Conn. Died August 22, 1936, in State College, Pa.

Father, Frank Howard Sperry, member Sperry & Barnes, packers in New Haven, son of Joel Andrew Sperry, founder of Sperry & Barnes and president of Derby Railroad, and Anna Jane (Fowler) Sperry of New Haven Mother, Mary Beecher (Wells) Sperry; daughter of Henry and Hettie (Beecher) Wells of New Haven. Yale relatives include Effie H. Sperry, ex-'87 Art, and Anna Sperry Watson, ex-'99 Music (aunts).

Miss Whedon's School and New Haven High School. Member Beta Theta Pi

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1908-09; governing tutor at a boys' camp, West Ossipee, N.H., 1909, enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1910-14 (M S. 1912, Ph.D. 1914; member Sigma X1); instructor in bacteriology University of Illinois 1914-17; commissioned December 22, 1917, First Lieutenant, Sanitary Corps; in active service February 1, 1918-April 18, 1919, and overseas from May, 1918; instructor in experimental medicine University and Bellevue Hospital Medical School, New York City, 1919-22; bacteriologist New York State Board of Health, Albany, N.Y., 1920-22; special student Yale School of Medicine 1923-27, and assistant in pathology and bacteriology 1923-25, professor of bacteriology and head of division Pennsylvania State College 1930 until retirement because of ill-health in 1936; contributed to scientific journals; fellow American Public Health

*

Yale College

Association; president Central Pennsylvania Branch Society of American Bacteriologists; member Society of American Bacteriologists, Pennsylvania Public Health Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, and Delta Theta Sigma; vestryman and clerk St. Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married June 12, 1915, in New Haven, Caroline Ziely, daughter of Marquis Barnes and Mary (Ensign) Newton, and sister of Howard M. Newton, '18.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife.

Henry Clarence Wick, Jr., B.A. 1908.

Born November 1, 1885, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died October 17, 1936, near Marion, Ky.

Father, Henry Clarence Wick, partner Henry Wick & Company, bankers, and president The Wick Investment Company, Cleveland; son of Henry and Mary Sophia (Hine) Wick of Cleveland. Mother, Florence (Cobb) Wick; daughter of Ahira and Maria (Bryant) Cobb of Cleveland. Yale relatives include. John Wick (B.A. 1722); and Henry Wick, '91 S., and Tennis Wick, *ex-*'02 S (cousins).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Captain University Soccer Team Junior and Senior years; member Class Tennis Team and winner of University doubles championship Senior year.

Salesman Fox Furnace Company, Elyria, Ohio, 1908–16; connected with The Wick Investment Company 1916–36 (a director 1931–36); president Tell-Stop Appliance Company 1921–31 and Mausoleum Builders Corporation 1930–36; vice-president Stover Signal Engineering Company; Chief Quartermaster, U.S. Naval Reserve Flying Corps, August 21, 1918–January 18, 1919; a founder Cleveland Tennis and Racquet Club (twice a member amateur tennis doubles championship team of Ohio); member Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Cleveland.

Married May 15, 1910, in Columbus, Ohio, Florence, daughter of James B. and Mary (Fitzgerald) Ovington. Children: Henry Clarence, 3d, '34; Robert Bruce, *ex-*'34 S.; Virginia (Sarah Lawrence College 1932–33); Douglas, Class of 1939 S.; David; William Ovington; and James Alan.

Killed in an automobile accident. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, children, parents, and a brother, Kenneth B-Wick (Princeton ex-'11) of Cleveland Heights, Ohio.

Harold Brooks, B.A. 1909.

Born March 30, 1884, in New York City. Died March 12, 1937, in Plandome, N.Y.

Father, Frederick Brooks, '80. Mother, Elinor Gertrude (Stokes) Brooks. Yale relatives include: John E. Brooks, '65, and Walter Brooks, '77 (uncles).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H., and Phillips-Andover. Entered with Class of 1908, but joined Class of 1909 in 1905.

In woolen and travelers' department Brooks Brothers, retail clothiers in New York City, 1909–15, and director 1915–37; resided in Plandome, Long Island; member St. Thomas' (Episcopal) Church.

Married January 9, 1917, in New York City, Maude, daughter of John and Elizabeth (Hatten) Harris. Daughter, Elinor.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, daughter, a half sister, Mrs. Ashbel T. Wall, Jr., of Providence, R.I., and a half brother, Winthrop H. Brooks, '15.

Lyall Dean, B.A. 1909.

Born February 11, 1887, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died August 23, 1936, in Worcester, Mass.

Father, Louis Bailey Dean (B.A. Harvard 1878), partner Hawley, Dean & Company, cotton brokers in New York City; son of Francis Baylies and Sarah Bailey (Crandall) Dean of Taunton, Mass. Mother, Isabella Mary (Lyall) Dean; daughter of David Cooper and Isabel (Buchanan) Lyall of New York City.

Columbia Institute (New York City) and The Hotchkiss School. Second dispute appointment; member Freshman Glee Club, University Cross Country Team Junior and Senior years, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Clerk Waterbury Company (manufacturers of rope) 1909–10; in New York office of Glidden Varnish Company 1910–11; in mill of Fort Orange Paper Company, Castleton, N.Y., 1911–12, and assistant sales manager of their New York office 1912–14; secretary and treasurer Titan Film Corporation, New York City, for a short time in 1914 and then of The Pan-American Film Manufacturing Company, Inc., New York City; conducted L. Dean Company, investment securities, New York City, 1916–18; attended Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, September–December, 1918; ill for several years; department manager George Ferguson Company (retail hardware, housefurnishings, and groceries), New Rochelle, N.Y, 1923–26; warehouse and traffic manager Melville Shoe Corporation, Worcester, 1926-31; member All Saints Episcopal Church, Worcester.

Married November 3, 1915, in New York City, Helen, daughter of Louis and Clara Amanda (Searles) Stearns. Children: Louis Bailey, Class of 1938 S.; Dorothy Stearns; Lyall, Jr.; and David Lyall.

Death due to tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus. Buried in Center Burying Ground, Norfolk, Conn. Survived by wife, children, a half brother, Emerson Bigelow, '17, of Rye, N.Y., and a half sister, Mrs. Ward Melville of Stony Brook, N.Y.

Leonard Kennedy, B.A. 1909.

Born May 20, 1886, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died December 28, 1936, in Port Chester, N.Y.

Father, Elijah Robinson Kennedy, partner Weed & Kennedy, insurance brokers in New York City; son of Leonard and Parthenia (Robinson) Kennedy of Hartford, Conn. Mother, Lucy Brace (Pratt) Kennedy; daughter of Henry Zachariah and Lucy Elizabeth (Brace) Pratt of Hartford. A descendant of Rev. Samuel Mather (B.A. Harvard 1671), one of the founders of Yale, his Yale relatives include three Samuel Mathers (1726, 1756, 1784), Rev. Judah Lewis (1726), and Ephraim Lewis (1758); Jonathan Brace (1779) (great-great-grandfather); Thomas K. Brace (1801) (great-grandfather); Algernon S. Kennedy (1825), Henry C. Pratt (1857), and William H. B. Pratt (1864) (uncles); William B. Pratt, '06, and John Favill, '09 (cousins); and Francis W. Tully, Jr., '30, and S. Kennedy Tully, '33 (nephews).

Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Class Historian; a Cup man; member the Pundits, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Traveled to British Guiana summer of 1909 to see the Kaieteur Fall; salesman Wm. A. Read & Company, investment bankers in New York City, 1909–18; M.A. Yale 1913; attended Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, September–December, 1918; commissioned First Lieutenant Officers' Reserve Corps (expired 1923); vice-president Ludlum Steel Company, Watervliet, N.Y., 1918–20; organized Leonard Kennedy & Company, Inc., administrative engineers, New York City, 1920 (president 1920–26); his later companies were Kennedy & Carey (president 1926–30) and Carey, Baxter & Kennedy, Inc., contractors (partner 1930–36, president 1933–36); contracts included extensive operations in South America and Europe; a director in the Curtiss group of air transport companies, Zonite Products Corporation, and Rye (N.Y.) Trust Company; resided in Rye where he had served as police commissioner and on board of trustees Village of Rye; member board of trustees Rye Country Day School since 1931 (vice-president 1934, president 1935-36); a director Phillips Academy Alumni Fund 1927 and on 1909 class dinner and reunion committees; member Grolier Club and Plymouth Church (Congregational), Brooklyn.

Married September 29, 1913, in Cincinnati, Ohio, Frances Angela, daughter of Richard Hannaford Mitchell (Troy Polytechnic Institute 1869) and Mary (Lincoln) Mitchell, and sister of P. Lincoln Mitchell, '01, W. Ledyard Mitchell, '04, Mark L. Mitchell, '08, John L. Mitchell, '14, and Francis H. Mitchell, '22. Children: Angela, Joan, and Susan.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford, Conn. Survived by wife, daughters, a sister, Susan Kennedy Tully (B.A Smith College 1903), the wife of Francis W. Tully, '02 L., of Chestnut Hill, Mass., and a brother, Sidney R. Kennedy, '98, of Buffalo, N.Y.

Arthur Perkins McWilliams, B.A. 1909.

Born December 2, 1886, in Norwich, Conn. Died December 26, 1936, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, John McWilliams, a contractor in Norwich; son of John McWilliams of County Monaghan, Ireland. Mother, Elizabeth Anne (McClure) McWilliams; daughter of Robert McClure of Norwich.

Norwich Free Academy.

With contracting firm of Peck, McWilliams & Company, Norwich, 1909-14; clerk Chatham and Phoenix National Bank, New York City, 1914-16; in statement and transfer departments Equitable Trust Company 1916-18 and Farmers' Loan & Trust Company 1918-23, became partner M. C. Henderson Company (real estate), 1924; bank stock specialist with B. H. Roth & Company 1928-30, with Prince & Whitely for a short time until their liquidation in 1930, and with Guttag Brothers 1931-36; resided in Brooklyn; member Greeneville Congregational Church, Norwich.

Married July 5, 1913, in Norwich, Adelaide Brines, daughter of Samuel and Margaret (Brines) Crookes. Son, Arthur Perkins, Jr.

Death due to a brain tumor. Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Norwich. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs. Charles W. Stephen of Bridgeport, Conn., and a brother, John D. McWilliams of Norwich.

Theodore Schulze, B.A. 1909.

Born November 16, 1889, in St Paul, Minn Died September 22, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Theodore Albert Schulze, president Foot, Schulze & Company, wholesale boot and shoe manufacturers in St. Paul; son of Frederick S. Schulze of Germany. Mother, Emma (Lindeke) Schulze; daughter of William and Rosahe (Brabec) Lindeke of St. Paul. Yale relatives include a cousin, Jule M. Hannaford, Jr., '08.

St. Paul Academy. Member Freshman Glee, Mandolin, and Banjo clubs, Apollo Mandolin Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Zeta Psi.

Secretary Foot, Schulze & Company 1909–15, and chairman board of directors; engaged in banking in New York City 1915–32; founded banking firm of Theodore Schulze & Company, Inc., in 1922 (president until retirement in 1932); appointed First Lieutenant Ordnance Department October 25, 1917; Captain Equipment Division, Ordnance Department Reserve Corps, in Washington, D.C., June 28, 1918, until discharge December 12, 1918; at various times had been a director Texas Gulf Sulphur Company, C. Gotzian & Company, Western Shoe Company, Consolidated Cigar Company, Sinclair Oil & Refining Company, First National Bank of St. Paul, the Carrier Engineering Corporation, the Five Power Products Corporation, Chase Securities Corporation, Utah Copper Company, Inspiration Copper Company, and Mason Valley Mines Company; member St. John's Episcopal Church, St. Paul.

Married September 30, 1916, in Yonkers, N.Y., Margaret Hickman, daughter of Colonel William Boyce Thompson and Gertrude (Hickman) Thompson. Children: Theodore, Jr., and Boyce Thompson. Mr. and Mrs. Schulze were divorced in 1926.

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Oakland Cemetery, St. Paul. Survived by children, mother, and two sisters, Louise Schulze Hammond, the wife of Colonel John S. Hammond (U.S. Military Academy 1905) of New York City, and Katharine Schulze Milbank, the wife of Jeremiah Milbank, '09.

Robert Young Hayne, B.A. 1910.

Born June 7, 1889, in San Francisco, Calif. Died December 17, 1936, in Coronado, Calif.

Father, Robert Young Hayne, attorney in San Mateo, Calif.; judge of Superior Court, San Francisco, 1881; commissioner Supreme Court of California; son of Colonel William Alston Hayne of Charleston, S.C., and Margaretta L. (Stiles) Hayne, a descendant of Rev. Ezra Stiles, B.A. 1746. Mother, Grace (Parrott) Hayne; daughter of John and Abby Eastman (Meagher) Parrott of San Francisco and San Mateo.:

Attended Georgetown University 1905-06. Entered Yale in 1907; member Freshman'and University Golf teams (golf champion Senior year). Engaged in several business ventures before entering Aviation Service in 1917; during military training at Norfolk, Va., he contracted an infection, which, in addition to injuries received in an airplane accident, severely undermined his health and prevented him from subsequently taking an active part in business; member St. Matthew's Roman Catholic Church, San Mateo.

Married (1) October 19, 1911, in San Francisco, Jane Elena, daughter of Percy Walker and Elena Atherton (Macondray) Selby. Daughter, Mary Grace Mr. and Mrs. Hayne were divorced in 1916. Married (2) in 1919, Hazel Williams. Mr. and Mrs. Hayne were divorced about 1924. Married (3) June 13, 1931, in San Diego, Calif., Helen Louise, daughter of Claus and Margaret (Karland) Muenster.

Death due to a heart attack following a long illness. Buried in St. John's Cemetery, San Mateo. Survived by wife, daughter, and mother.

Stephen Van Culen Hopkins, B.A. 1910.

Born November 12, 1886, in Alpine, N.J. Died June 12, 1937, at Point O'Woods, N.Y.

Father, Franklin Whetstone Hopkins, '80. Mother, Jennie Chandler (White) Hopkins. Yale relatives include an uncle, Arthur White, '88, and a nephew, Franklin V. Thompson, '28 S.

Polytechnic Preparatory School, Brooklyn, N.Y., and The Hotchkiss School Member Freshman Union (president part of the year) and Yale Union; on *Yale Record* board; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Market reporter Bragdon, Lord & Nagle Company, Inc., publishers of Textile Manufacturers Journal, New York City, 1910-11; advertising solicitor Metropolitan Magazine, New York City, 1912-14; on advertising staff New York Evening Post Magazine 1914-16, and American Architect, New York City, 1920-22; partner with his father and brother-in-law, Willard T. Thompson, in Hopkins Brothers, members of New York Coffee and Sugar Exchange, 1916–20, 1922–29, and head of firm 1929 until January 1, 1937, when he retired (had served since as special partner); entered Officers' Training Camp, Fort Myer, Va, May 14, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant August 15; went overseas May 18, 1918, with 319th Infantry, 80th Division, and later served as Aide to Brigadier General Frank S. Cocheu at headquarters of 58th Infantry Brigade, 29th Division; promoted to First Lieutenant September 18 and took part in engagements in the Artois Sector, at St -Mihiel, the Meuse-Argonne, and near Verdun; transferred to 319th Infantry until discharge May 26, 1919; councilman of the Borough of Alpine 1921–24; member Society of Mayflower Descendants; deacon First Presbyterian Church, Englewood, N.J., 1925–28.

Married May 27, 1920, in Pittsburgh, Pa., Elisabeth, daughter of Arthur and Fonti (Ford) Mandell. Children: Stephen Van Culen, Jr., Phyllis, and Constance.

Death due to acute coronary occlusion. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Mrs. Elsie H. Thompson of Alpine.

Harold Talbot Hartwell, B.A. 1911.

Born June 7, 1890, in Danbury, Conn. Died January 8, 1937, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, Frank Elmer Hartwell, member clothing firm of F. E. Hartwell & Company, Danbury; son of Chauncey and Mary (Elwood) Hartwell of Westboro, Mass. Mother, Julia Ella (Wildman) Hartwell; daughter of Thomas G. and Mary B. (Kehler) Wildman of Danbury. Yale relatives include: Horatio Wildman, B.A. 1847, and William W. Kehler, LL.B. 1864 (great-uncles); and William E. Barton, Jr., ex-'30, and John H. Barton, ex-'34 (nephews).

Danbury High School. Scholar of the third rank Freshman year and of the second rank Junior year; high oration appointments; business manager *Yale Courant* Senior year; member Beta Theta Pi and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Harvard Law School 1911–14 (LL.B. 1914); in law firm of Crocker & Wickes (Forsyth Wickes, '98), New York City, 1914 until its dissolution in 1917; associated with Mr. Wickes, Nathan F. George, '10, and Herman E. Riddell (LL.B. Harvard 1914) in New York City 1917–22; partner Wickes & Neilson, New York City, 1922–35; counsel for Commercial Solvents Corporation of America 1935–37; vicepresident Hartwell-Delap Company 1918–37; director Bellows & Company 1934–36; member Bar Association of the City of New York and St. John's Episcopal Church, Stamford, where he resided.

Married November 18, 1916, in Scarsdale, N.Y., Kate Dobridge, daughter of John Henry and Lillian Balch (Nairne) Penchoen. Children: Katharine Duncan, Mary Wildman, and Barbara Byrd.

Death due to a perforated gastric ulcer. Buried in Wooster Cemetery, Danbury. Survived by wife, three daughters, mother, and a sister, Mrs. William E. Barton of New York City.

Francis William Kittredge, B.A. 1911.

Born October 26, 1889, in Boston, Mass. Died December 10, 1936, in Brookline, Mass.

Father, Francis William Kıttredge, '65. Mother, Mary Hascal (Wheaton) Kittredge.

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Second colloquy appointment

Junior year and first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Studied at Harvard Law School 1911–12, 1913–15 (LL.B. 1915); spent winter 1912–13 in the Philippines and then completed trip around the world, partner law firm of Kittredge & Dana, Boston, 1915–17; enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve Force April 30, 1917, as yeoman and served on U.S.S. *Tarantula* (S.P. 124); commissioned Ensign U.S Naval Reserve Force, February 7, 1918, and assigned to Office of Naval Operations, Washington, D.C.; relieved from active duty December 28, 1918; partner Coburn, Kittredge & Company, investment bankers in Boston, 1919 until retirement in 1928 to assume charge of his father's real estate; member Episcopal church.

Married (1) September 28, 1921, in Cambridge, Mass., Edith Ross Johnson, daughter of Charles R. and Elizabeth F. (Connors) Ross. Mr. and Mrs. Kittredge were divorced in 1935. Married (2) June 22, 1935, in Rye, N.Y., Fanita, daughter of James and Mary Antoinette (Kearney) Ewing.

Death due to myocarditis and grief over the death of his brother. Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Forest Hills, Mass. Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Cornelia Kittredge of Belmont, Mass. His brother, Wheaton Kittredge (B.A. Harvard 1903, LL.B. 1907), died August 9, 1936, in Geneva, Switzerland.

Yun-siang Tsao, B.A. 1911.

Born March 29, 1881, in Nan-ziang, China. Died February 8, 1937, in Shanghai, China.

Father, Tse-zih Tsao, a student in Nashville, Tenn., during Civil War; a minister and physician in Soochow, China. Mother, Sou-Tjen (Yen) Tsao. Yale relatives include an uncle, Dr. Fu-Chun Yen, '09 M.

St. John's College, Shanghai; teacher in China; in 1907 sent to the United States on government support. Dissertation appointment Junior year and oration appointment Senior year; member Class Debating Team Junior and Senior years and University Debating Association; won College Declamation Premium Sophomore year, the TenEyck Prize Junior year, and the DeForest Prize Medal Senior year

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1911–14 (M B.A. 1914), second secretary Chinese Legation in London 1914–19 and acting consul general 1917–19; traveled and organized Western Returned Students' Federation of China 1919; first secretary Chinese Legation at Copenhagen 1920 and *chargé d'affaires* 1920–21; represented his Government at Geneva and served as general secretary Chinese delegation to the Limitation of Armament Conference, Wash-

ington, 1921; after returning to China assumed office of councilor of Ministry of Foreign Affairs April 24, 1922, and presidency of Tsing Hua College, positions which he held until 1928; liaison officer British-American Tobacco Company, Shanghai, 1928-33; member economic research committee of the Central Bank of China 1934-37; civil and military adviser to Hunan Provincial Government 1935-37; president American Returned Students' Association and China League of International Cultural Coöperation; secretary-general China Institute of Scientific Management and Red Cross Society of China 1934-36; chairman board of directors Besant School for Girls 1931-37 and Shanghai Y.M.C.A. 1933-37; in 1932 director War Work Council; director China Institute of International Relations and editor in chief of its China Quarterly (in English); author: A Guide to Europe for Chinese Students (in English, French, and German); translated several books into Chinese and compiled in Chinese a book on Scientific Management; contributed to many newspapers and magazines; received Eps d'or (fourth class) decoration from Chinese Government 1919, and Eps d'or (third class) 1921, and decorations from Denmark and Poland; vice-president Yale-in-China 1925-29; honorary member China Society in London and British Foreign Bible Society, and honorary foreign correspondent Royal Society of Literature; former president American University Club of Shanghai; member Church of Our Savior, Shanghai.

Married July 28, 1914, in London, England, Elin Louise, daughter of Louis and Severina (Borsom) Halling.

Death due to heart failure. Buried in Chapei, Shanghai. Survived by wife and a brother.

Richard Wheeler Baker, B.A. 1913.

Born October 7, 1891, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died February 8, 1937, in Princeton, N.J.

Father, Rev. Frank Woods Baker (B.A. Harvard 1881; B.D. Episcopal Theological Seminary 1883; D.D. Cedarville College 1897); rector Trinity Episcopal Church, New Haven, Conn.; son of Abijah Richardson and Harriet Newell (Woods) Baker of Dorchester, Mass. Mother, Jennie Porter (Mills) Baker; daughter of John Franklin and Sarah Rumsey (Dudley) Mills of Boston, Mass. Yale relatives include: John M. Warren, '96 S., Bronson M. Warren, '04, and Harvey T., Warren, '10 (cousins).

Groton School. On Freshman Football, Relay, and Track teams; on University Football Team Sophomore and Senior years; first dispute appointment Junior year and oration appointment Senior year; vicepresident Berkeley Association Junior year; member Junior Promenade Committee, Triennial Committee, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Harvard Law School 1913-16 (LL.B. 1916); with law firm of Storey, Thorndike, Palmer & Dodge in Boston, 1916-19; in U.S. Army December 13, 1917-January 3c, 1919; commissioned Second Lieutenant Air Service, March 6, 1918, and assigned to Call Field, Wichita Falls, Texas, as personnel officer; general attorney in Trenton for Manufacturers' Association of New Jersey, New Jersey Manufacturers' Casualty Insurance Company, New Jersey Manufacturers' Association Fire Insurance Company, and New Jersey Manufacturers' Association Hospitals, Inc., 1919-37; resided in Princeton and a police magistrate there since 1933; president Yale Club of Mercer County 1932-35; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Princeton.

Married June 26, 1915, in Castine, Maine, Doris, daughter of Wolcott Ely and Mary (Buttles) Newberry, and sister of Roger W. Newberry, '12 S Children: Richard Wheeler, Jr., '38; Wolcott Newberry, '40; and Eileen (died 1921).

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Princeton Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, a sister, Clara Baker Peirce (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1913–15), the wife of George A. Peirce, '08, and a brother, Dudley M. Baker, ex-'10 S. His brother, Leonard W. Baker, '08 L., died in 1934.

Joseph Epes Brown, Jr., B.A. 1913.

Born July 15, 1891, in Bellport, N.Y. Died May 5, 1937, in Asheville, N.C.

Father, Joseph Epes Brown, with Blake Brothers & Company, bankers in New York City; son of Nathan and Ann (Haggett) Brown of Boston, Mass. Mother, Lavinia Mary (Ireson) Brown; daughter of Wesley and Martha Pierce (Stiles) Ireson of Roxbury, Mass.

Brooklyn (N.Y) Latin School and The Hill School. Dissertation appointment Junior year and oration appointment Senior year; secretary Yale Dramatic Association Senior year; member Elizabethan Club, Alpha Delta Phi, Wolf's Head, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Book advertising manager Doubleday, Page & Company, New York City, 1913–18, graduate student Princeton University 1919–23 (M.A. 1920, Ph D. 1923), instructor in English 1921–22, 1923–26, assistant professor 1926–34, and lecturer 1934 until retirement because of illhealth in 1936; compiled *The Critical Opinions of Samuel Johnson* (1926); prepared with J. Duncan Spaeth a reading list, *American Life and Letters* (1934); member Southwest Harbor (Maine) Congregational Church

Married September 6, 1916, in Ridgefield, Conn., Janet, daughter

of James Arthur Booth (B.A. Columbia 1878, M.D. 1882) and Cornelia Arnold (Olcott) Booth. Children: Janet Olcott and Joseph Epes, 3d.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Survived by wife, children, a brother, Nathan H. Brown, ex-'02 S., and three sisters, Martha B. Fincke (B.A. Smith 1898; Ed.M. Harvard 1924) of South Hadley, Mass., the widow of Dr. Charles L. Fincke, '96; Florence B. Newton, the wife of William L. Newton, '93; and Mrs. Marion B. Shelton of Princeton, N.J.

Vincent Leo Keating, B.A. 1913.

Born September 15, 1891, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died November 22, 1936, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, Bernard Keating, '80 L. Mother, Catherine Ann (Donahue) Keating. Yale relatives include: John Keating, ex-'76 M. (uncle); John J. Cullinan, '87, Thomas M. Cullinan, '89, Thomas E. Keating, '05 S., and Paul H. Cullinan, '35 (cousins).

Bridgeport High School. Dissertation appointment and member editorial board *Yale Courant* Senior year; member Beta Theta Pi.

Attended Yale School of Law 1913-15 (LL.B. 1915; member Phi Delta Phi); independently engaged in practice in Bridgeport 1915-17; in U.S. Army August 23, 1917-April 26, 1919; commissioned First Lieutenant, Infantry, at Plattsburg, N.Y., November 27, 1917, and assigned to Company L, 26th Infantry, First Division; wounded at Cantigny June 14, 1918; received *Croix de Guerre* decoration; resumed law practice in Bridgeport; partner Cullinan, Cullinan & Keating 1919-25; member firm of Marsh, Stoddard & Day (Arthur M. Marsh, '92, Sanford Stoddard, '99, and David S. Day, '02) 1925-36; prosecuting attorney City Court of Bridgeport 1921-23; appointed to Connecticut State Board of Finance and Control for six-year term from July, 1935; member American, Bridgeport, and Connecticut Bar associations, Fairfield Historical Association, council of Yale Alumni Association of Fairfield County 1921-22, and St. Augustine's Roman Catholic Church, Bridgeport.

Married December 29, 1924, in Bridgeport, Mary Clarissa Radel (B.A. Smith College 1920), daughter of Andrew and Bena (Berg) Radel, and sister of Andrew A. Radel, *ex-*'18, and J. Louis Radel, '24 S. Children: Mary, Nancy, and Vincent Radel.

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in St. Michael's Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by wife, children, three brothers, John F. Keating and Joseph P. Keating of Bridgeport, and Walter A Keating of Rutherford, N.J., and a sister, Miss Helen L. Keating of Bridgeport.

Harold Hixon Brittingham, B.A. 1916.

Born March 21, 1894, in Madison, Wis. Died January 6, 1937, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Thomas Evans Brittingham, in lumber business in Madison; son of Irvin Baird and Mary J. (League) Brittingham of Hannibal, Mo. Mother, Mary (Clark) Brittingham; daughter of James Adams and Mary Jane (Hughes) Clark of Waterloo, Wis.

The Hotchkiss School. Second division honors Freshman year; first division honors and a high oration appointment Junior year; member Beta Theta Pi, Sigma Xi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Harvard Medical School 1916–20 (M.D. 1920 cum laude; John Harvard Fellow 1917–20; member Alpha Omega Alpha); house officer Peter Bent Brigham Hospital, Boston, Mass., 1920–22; engaged in practice of medicine in Cleveland 1922–37; demonstrator of physiology Western Reserve University 1922–23, demonstrator of medicine 1923–34, senior clinical instructor 1934–36 and assistant clinical professor of medicine 1936–37; assistant visiting physician in medicine City Hospital 1924–31, visiting physician in medicine since 1931, assistant department head in medicine and secretary professional staff and executive committee since 1935; visitant to private wards at St. Luke's Hospital; member Academy of Medicine, Pasteur Club, Medical Arts Club, and Phi Rho Sigma.

Married November 8, 1921, in Fort Worth, Texas, Lucile, daughter of John Alexander and Sallie (Reynolds) Matthews. Children: Thomas Evans, 2d, Sally, Mary, John Matthews, and Robert Matthews.

Death due to glioblastoma of the brain. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Madison. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Margaret B. Reid, the wife of Bryan S. Reid (B.S. University of Wisconsin 1913) of Chicago, Ill, and a brother, Thomas E. Brittingham, Jr. (B.A. University of Wisconsin 1921), of Wilmington, Del.

James White Knapp, B.A. 1916.

Born July 13, 1892, in Bloomingdale, N J. Died January 21, 1937, in Paterson, N.J.

Father, Angelo H. Knapp, a coal merchant in Paterson; son of John Lewis and Antoinette (Halstead) Knapp of Johnson, N.Y. Mother, Clara Thurston (White) Knapp; daughter of James and Isabelle (Thurston) White of Bloomingdale.

Paterson High School, Centenary Collegiate Institute, and the Mackenzie School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y. Second colloquy appointment Senior year

Employed by A. H. Knapp & Company 1916-April, 1918; served in

U.S. Navy April, 1918–July, 1919; special student Sheffield Scientific School 1919–20; attended Yale Medical School 1920–22 (member Nu Sigma Nu); président A. H. Knapp & Company, Inc., retail coal merchants in Paterson, since 1923; president Paterson Methodist Episcopal Union since 1928; member Trinity Methodist Episcopal Church.

Unmarried.

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis. Buried in Cedar Lawn Cemetery, Paterson. Survived by an aunt, Miss Harriet Knapp of Paterson.

John Harbison McLennan, B.A. 1916.

Born March 13, 1892, in Louisville, Ky. Died August 14, 1936, at Saranac Lake, N.Y.

Father, Alexander McLennan, engaged in ranching in Alberta, Canada; son of Hugh and Isabella (Stewart) McLennan of Montreal, Canada. Mother, Margaret Rosanna (Harbison) McLennan; daughter of John J. and Mary Elizabeth (Berry) Harbison of Louisville.

Patterson-Davenport School, Louisville, and Phillips-Andover. Entered Yale with Class of 1915; attended McGill University 1913-14; joined Yale Class of 1916 in 1914; member Freshman Glee Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Attended Columbia University School of Architecture 1916–17, 1918–19; enlisted U.S. Army May 1, 1917, and assigned to Officers' Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison, Ind.; commissioned Captain Field Artillery Officers' Reserve Corps, August 15, 1917; assigned as Adjutant, 2d Battalion, 325th Field Artillery; discharged January 21, 1919, at Camp Zachary Taylor; architect in Paris, France, and resided abroad for some years; lived at Saranac Lake 1935–36; member Second Presbyterian Church, Louisville.

Married October 1, 1919, in Montreal, Edythe Rachel, daughter of Cuthbert and Rachel (James) Fetherstonhaugh. Son, Alexander Bartlett.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in Cave Hill Cemetery, Louisville. Survived by wife, son, mother, and two sisters, Mrs. Sam H. McMeeken and Mrs. William F. Woodward.

Jesse Lathrop Moss, Jr., B.A. 1916.

Born October 29, 1894, in Lake Forest, Ill Died November 9, 1936, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Jesse Lathrop Moss, '69, honorary secretary The Newberry Library, Chicago; son of Jesse Lathrop and Fanny (Dixon) Moss of Westerly, R.I. Mother, Harriet Allison (Calhoun) Moss; daughter of Rev. Simeon Howard Calhoun (B.A. Williams 1829) and Emily Pitkin (Raynolds) Calhoun of Longmeadow, Mass. Yale relatives include Rev. Reuben Moss (B.A. 1787) (great-grandfather).

University School, Chicago, and The Hotchkiss School. Dissertation appointment Junior year; member Beta Theta Pi.

With Connecticut National Guard at Tobyhanna, Pa., summer of 1916; 11 employ of Swift & Company, Chicago, 1916–17; Chief Yeoman U.S. Naval Reserve Force, U.S. Naval Training Station, Great Lakes, Ill., September, 1917–March, 1919; salesman Wagner Electric Corporation, Chicago, 1919–23; assistant manager Hotel Belmont, Chicago, 1923–26; building manager Hugh McLennan & Company, Chicago, 1927–29; midwestern sales manager Bellanca planes 1929–30; vice-president Pal-Waukee Airport, Inc., Chicago, 1930–35; was a licensed pilot and injured in two airplane crashes; salesman Air Conditioning Corporation, Hubbard Woods, Ill., 1935–36; member Church of the Holy Spirit (Episcopal), Lake Forest.

Unmarried.

Death due to retroperitoneal sarcoma. Ashes buried in River Bend Cemetery, Westerly, R.I. Survived by parents. His mother died on December 8, 1936.

Ralph Leon Roll, B.A. 1916.

Born August 26, 1895, in Lebanon, Ohio. Died February 27, 1937, in Lebanon, Ohio.

Father, William Zimmer Roll, a lawyer in Lebanon and mayor of the city; son of David and Laura (Long) Roll of Butlerville, Ohio. Mother, Frances Guttery (Bird) Roll; daughter of Daniel and Letitia C. (Mounts) Bird of Butlerville.

Lebanon High School; B.A. Lebanon Valley College 1913; principal Genntown High School, Lebanon, 1913–15. Entered Yale as a Senior; oration appointment.

Automobile salesman 1916–17; in U.S. Army Service May 15, 1917–July 14, 1919; attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison; commissioned Second Lieutenant Infantry, August 15, 1917; promoted to First Lieutenant August 14, 1918; acting regimental supply officer and commanding Supply Company, 802d Pioneer Infantry, February 1–July 14, 1919; overseas September 1, 1918–July 9, 1919; discharged July 14, 1919; teacher in Lebanon High School 1920–22 and principal 1924–25; with Werk Realty Company, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1922–23; secretary Wickham Realty Company, Cincinnati, 1923 until retirement in 1927, and director since 1927.

Married (1) July 16, 1918, in Lebanon, Laurine, daughter of Thomas C. and Grace (Gilmour) Christie. Children: Phyllis Laurine and Robert

124

Christie (died in 1nfancy). Mrs. Roll died January 24, 1927. Married (2) October 14, 1936, in Brookville, Ind., Clara Marguerite, daughter of Albin Clinton and Mary Elizabeth (Lansdowne) Bell.

Death due to acute uremic poisoning. Buried in Lebanon Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, one sister, Mrs. Mary R. Biles of Cincinnati, and four brothers, Bird D. Roll of Oregonia, Ohio, Arlie M. Roll of Morrow, Ohio, Leslie W. Roll of Dayton, Ohio, and Robert Roll of Lebanon.

Howard Noble Phillips, B.A. 1917.

Born February 25, 1895, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died August 30, 1936, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, William Elmer Phillips, formerly treasurer Monumental Bronze Company, Bridgeport; son of William Williamson and Hannah Eliza (VanFleet) Phillips of Fairhaven, N.Y. Mother, Sadie (Noble) Phillips; daughter of David Nelson and Laura (Hoyt) Noble of Bridgeport.

Bridgeport High School. Manager Class Basketball Team Sophomore and Junior years and assistant manager and on team Senior year. Enrolled in Battery D, Yale Batteries at Tobyhanna, Pa., summer of 1916.

Had been connected with First National Bank and Trust Company of Bridgeport since graduation; chief note teller 1917–35, and assistant cashier since January 8, 1935; resided in Stratford, Conn.; member Stratford Methodist Episcopal Church.

Married May 22, 1926, in Stratford, Marguerite Thompson Grasse, daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Ella Caroline (Lewis) Thompson. Son, Richard Elmer (died 1928).

Death due to the effects of gas poisoning. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by wife, father, and a stepdaughter, Dorothy Janet Phillips.

George Faber Downey, Jr., B.A. 1918.

Born November 14, 1896, in New York City. Died January 13, 1937, in Sewickley, Pa.

Father, Brigadier General George Faber Downey, Quartermaster Corps, U.S. Army; son of Major George Mason Downey and Elizabeth (Faber) Downey of Prescott, Ariz. Mother, Mattie Louise (Davis) Downey; daughter of William Robinson and Mary Tillson Davis of Piedmont, W.Va. Yale relatives include: Joseph E. Davis, '00, and Thomas B. Davis, '97 S. (uncles); and Fairfax S. Landstreet, Jr., '17, and John K. Berry, '31 (cousins). The Hill School. Second dispute appointment Junior year; member Apollo and University Banjo and Mandolin clubs; with 10th Field Artillery, Connecticut National Guard, Tobyhanna, Pa., June-September, 1916; elected leader of Apollo Banjo and Mandolin Club but left college in Junior year for war service; associate editor *Tale Record*; member Yale Gun Team, Yale Dramatic Association, Zeta Psi, and Elihu; B.A. *bonoris causa* 1919 with enrollment in Class of 1918.

Attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Myer, Va., May 5-August 15, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant Field Artillery, August 25, 1917; promoted to First Lieutenant October 30, 1917, and Captain July 30, 1918; overseas January 18–July 21, 1918; assigned to Company C, 1st Battalion, 12th Field Artillery, 2d Division, August 25, 1917-July 15, 1918; thereafter to Company D, 2d Battalion, 31st Field Artillery, until honorably discharged December 5, 1918; at the front in Troyon Sector and at Belleau Wood June 1-July 7, 1918; with Guaranty Trust Company, New York City, 1918-19; assistant mine foreman Island Creek Coal Company, Holden, W.Va., 1919–21; vicepresident and general manager Landstreet Downey Coal Company, Burch and Huntington, W.Va., 1921-27; assistant to president North American Coal Corporation and vice-president Pittsburgh Terminal Coal Corporation 1927-29; salesman Hill, Wright & Frew, Pittsburgh, Pa, 1928-34; salesman Advance Insulating Company, Pittsburgh, 1934-37; member executive committee Yale Club of Pittsburgh since 1934 and St. Stephen's Episcopal Church, Sewickley.

Married June 1, 1922, in New York City, Katherine, daughter of Edward Van Ingen, '91 S, and Mae Anderson (Bell) Van Ingen, and sister of Edward Van Ingen, 2d, '21. Children: Katherine Van Ingen and Joan Faber.

Death due to an internal hemorrhage. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife, daughters, mother, and a brother, Fairfax D. Downey, '16.

Frederic Daniel Grab, B.A. 1918.

Born April 10, 1897, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 2, 1937, near El Dorado, Venezuela.

Father, Maximilian Grab, born in Prague, Bohemia; in importing business in New York City under firm name of The Max Grab Fashion Company; son of Friederich and Katherin (Jokl) Grab of Prague. Mother, Helen Frances (McCoy) Grab; daughter of Daniel and Gail Lyon (Ayer) McCoy of Grand Rapids, Mich.

Yonkers High School and Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Freshman Mandolin Club, R.O.T.C., and Zeta Psi

€

Enlisted as Private in Field Artillery Replacement Depot, Camp Jackson, June 22, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant August 6, 1918; overseas October 27, 1918-July 18, 1919; assigned to Company A, 306th Ammunition Train, 81st Division; with A.E.F. University Detachment at the Sorbonne March-July, 1919; received discharge July 26, 1919; assistant in Havana, Cuba, Nestlé & Anglo-Swiss Condensed Milk Company 1919-20; in Havana office W. R. Grace & Company, steamship operators, 1920-21; sales agent in Minnesota for the Fleischmann Company 1921–22; reporter Springfield (Mass.) Republican April-October, 1922, and Syracuse, N.Y., Post-Standard October, 1922-January, 1923; night state editor at Philadelphia, Pa, Bureau of the Associated Press 1923–24; reporter in New York City for the Associated Press 1924–25; newspaper correspondent in Washington, D.C., for Associated Press and Hearst Service 1925-26; manager Griffin News Bureau, Washington, 1926-27; assistant trade commissioner United States Department of Commerce, stationed in Caracas, Venezuela, 1927-29; assistant chief Foreign Service Division, Bureau of Foreign and Domestic Commerce, Washington, 1929-34; assistant commercial attaché to American Embassy in London 1934-35; commercial attaché at Caracas since 1935; member St. Andrew's Episcopal Church, Yonkers, N.Y.

Married (1) July, 1926, in Washington, Helen Blanche, daughter of William Moye. No children. Mrs. Grab died June 11, 1931 Married (2) June 18, 1932, in Washington, Esther, daughter of Charles and Clara (Vick) Cottingham. Children, Elizabeth and Frederic Daniel, Jr.

Death due to injuries received in an airplane crash in a Venezuela jungle and to subsequent hardships. Funeral services held on September 15 at The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Miss Margaret Grab of New York City, and a brother, Robert M. Grab (B.A. University of Michigan 1926) of Detroit, Mich.

Clement Buffum Lewis, B.A. 1918.

Born April 29, 1893, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died July 27, 1936, in San Pedro, Calif.

Father, George Lester Lewis, '79. Mother, Nellie Augusta (Sweet) Lewis. Yale relatives include Austin Roe Preston, '18, and Julian L. Kahle, '19 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School and St. Paul's School, Garden City, N.Y. Entered Yale in 1913, left in February, 1914, and joined Class of 1918 in fall of 1914; enlisted in U.S. Naval Reserve Force May²26, 1917; active service September 23, 1917–December 7, 1918; made Machinist's Mate October 30, 1917, and Chief Machinist's Mate August 1, 1918; attached to U.S.S.C. 223 (convoy duty); returned to college December 7, 1918 (B.A. 1919 with enrollment in Class of 1918).

Enrolled in Yale School of the Fine Arts 1919–22, 1926–27 (B.F.A. 1927); engaged in development of the Little Rattler mine with Philip C. Dunford, Jr., '18 S., in Hassayampa district, Prescott, Ariz., 1922– 23; draftsman for Webber, Staunton & Spaulding, architects in Los Angeles, Calif., 1923–24; architect with Myles, Regan Company, San Pedro, 1924–28; became certified architect in State of California December, 1927; engaged in practice of architecture independently in San Pedro 1928–36, except for part of 1931 spent in Phoenix, Ariz.; member Junior Chamber of Commerce and vestryman St. Peter's Episcopal Church, San Pedro.

Married December 7, 1918, in New London, Conn., Phyllis, daughter of Philip Courtlandt and Mary Isabel (Lynch) Dunford, and sister of Philip C. Dunford, Jr., '18 S. Daughter, Phyllis Natalie.

Death due to a coronary embolism. Buried in Pacific Crest Mausoleum, El Nido, Calif. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, a brother, Lester S. Lewis, '07, and two sisters, Jessica Lewis Coope (Smith College ex-'10), the wife of George F. Coope (E.M. Columbia School of Mines 1916) of Carlsbad, N.Mex., and Marjorie Lewis Comings (B.A. Smith College 1908), the wife of Henry E. Comings (Trinity College, Oxford, 1906) of Manhasset, N.Y.

Robert Wilcox Seitz, B.A. 1919.

Born March 15, 1898, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died June 11, 1937, in Allentown, Pa.

Father, Daniel Stoafer Seitz (B.A. Lafayette College 1883), a lawyer in Harrisburg; son of Noah and Elizabeth (Landis) Seitz of Harrisburg. Mother, Annie Dean (Wilcox) Seitz; daughter of Isaac Jackson and Mary Elizabeth (Dean) Wilcox of Harrisburg.

Harrisburg Academy. Received preliminary honors in history and honors of the third rank Freshman year; high oration appointment and a scholar of the third rank Junior year; on University Soccer Team 1917; member University Glee Club Junior year; member Y.M.C.A. Committee and Beta Theta Pi.

Private in Battery B, Yale R.O.T.C., 1917–18, and Corporal Battery A summer of 1918; enlisted and commissioned Second Lieutenant Field Artillery September 13, 1918, at Camp Jackson, S.C.; transferred to Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, Ky.; graduated and received discharge December 4, 1918; instructor in English Yale-in-China 1919–20; instructor and student Columbia University 1920–21 (M.A. 1922); instructor in English The Hill School 1921–23; graduate student Yale 1923–26 (Ph.D. 1926), assistant in English 1923-24, and instructor 1926-30; assistant professor of English University of Buffalo since 1930 (member Advisory Committee 1933-34, secretary Committee on Preparation of Teachers 1935-36); on leave of absence 1936-37 as holder of a Sterling Fellowship from Yale to continue research on the background of Oliver Goldsmith's *History* of England; spent most of the year in Ireland and England; articles reporting his research published in *Review of English Studies*, *Modern Philology*, and *Notes and Queries*; wrote two biographical sketches in *The Memorial Quadrangle* (1929); member Modern Language Association (secretary Eighteenth Century Group 1935-37) and Grace Methodist Episcopal Church, Harrisburg.

Married July 28, 1926, in Highlands, N.J., Katharine Louise Ward (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1921; M.A. Yale 1923), daughter of Henry Heber and Mary Minturn (Hartshorne) Ward, and sister of Henry H. Ward, Jr., '33. Son, Daniel Ward.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in the Harrisburg Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, and mother.

Nelson Jerome Smith, B.A. 1920.

Born March 17, 1898, in Syracuse, N.Y. Died August 3, 1936, in Syracuse, N.Y.

Father, Walter Snowdon Smith, '77 S., president Gurney Realty Company, Syracuse; son of Walter and Elizabeth (Snowdon) Smith of Cincinnati, Ohio. Mother, Annie Jerome (Lapham) Smith; daughter of Smith Gurney Lapham (B.A. Williams 1863) and Emma Jerome (Jackson) Lapham of Syracuse. Yale relatives include: George H. Snowdon, '05 S., Felix B. Snowdon, '10, and Charles N. Snowdon, '14 S. (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School. Dissertation appointment Junior year; on Class Football and Baseball squads and Class Hockey Team Freshman year (numerals); assistant manager University Track Team and on Class Baseball Team and University Hockey Team Junior year; manager University Track Team ("Y") and on University Hockey Team Senior year; member Apollo Banjo-Mandolin Club Freshman year and University Banjo-Mandolin Club the next three years; a governor University Club; member Whiffenpoofs, Sword and Gun Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Enrolled as Chief Boatswain's Mate in U.S. Naval Reserve Force, June 29, 1918, and assigned to Officers' Material School, Hampton Roads, Va., until discharged December 10, 1918; clerk New York Trust Company December 13, 1920-September 20, 1921 and April 3, 1922–July 31, 1923; broker with E. G. Childs & Company, Syracuse, 1924–25; vice-president Gurney Realty Company, Syracuse, 1925–26; secretary Howard N. Yard & Co., Inc., Syracuse, 1926–27; formed firm of N. Jerome Smith & Company, bonds and securities, Syracuse, 1927– 33; broker with L. F. Rothschild & Company, New York City, 1933– 35; credit man General Motors Acceptance Corporation, Portland, Maine, 1935–36; member St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Syracuse.

Married June 7, 1924, Marjorie, daughter of William S. Dalzell, '91, and Mary Ruth (Hough) Dalzell, and granddaughter of John Dalzell, '65. Children: Sonia and Sage Jerome. Mr. and Mrs. Smith were divorced in 1933.

Death due to meningitis. Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Syracuse. Survived by children, his parents, and a brother, Walter Snowdon Smith, Jr His brother, Gurney L Smith, '14, died in 1932

Samuel Jacob Allinson, B.A. 1923.

Born June 12, 1898, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 8, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Louis Allinson, a baker in New Haven; son of Eli Allinson, born in Russia Mother, Lena (Berman) Allinson; daughter of Joseph Maurice and Bluma (Lear) Berman of New Haven. Yale relatives include an uncle, Barnett Berman, '04 L.

New Haven High School; attended Trinity College (Hartford, Conn) for one year before entering Yale. Member Yale University Orchestra Sophomore year.

Attended Yale Law School 1923-25 (LL.B. 1925); passed examinations for admission to Connecticut bar 1925; practiced law in New Haven 1927-37; president New Haven Musicians Protective Association 1935-36 and New Haven Branch of the American Federation of Musicians 1936-37; member New Haven Symphony and Civic orchestras, Choral Club, and Congregation Magin David.

Married November 6, 1927, in New Haven, Elizabeth, daughter of Harry and Pearl (Krevsky) Glazer. Daughter, Harriet.

Death due to chronic colitis. Buried in Mt. Sinai Memorial Park, Westville, Conn. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, a brother, Sydney M Allinson (D.D.S. University of Pittsburgh Dental School 1933) of Milford, Conn, and five sisters, Mrs. Jack Brown, Rose Allinson Smith, the wife of Benjamin D. Smith (Fordham College of Pharmacy 1926), Miss Celia Allinson, Janet Allinson Schulman, the wife of Gershon Schulman (New York University 1930-32), and Beulah Allinson Cutler, the wife of Milton Cutler, '34.

Ansley Newman, B.A. 1923.

Born June 10, 1900, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died February 18, 1937, in New York City.

Father, John Burrows Newman, owner W. H. H. Newman & Company, sheet metal jobbers in Buffalo; son of William Henry Harrison and Jerusha (Avery) Newman of Buffalo. Mother, Frances (Ansley) Newman; daughter of John Urquhart and Mary Elizabeth (Lynde) Ansley of Augusta and Atlanta, Ga.

Nichols School, Buffalo. Attended Plattsburg Training Camp 1916; member Yale R.O.T.C. 1917–18 and Battery A, Field Artillery, Yale S.A.T.C. September–December 17, 1918. Entered Yale with Class of 1921; transferred to Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1919–20 (editor *The Tech*); returned to Yale in 1920 as a member of Class of 1923; scholar of third rank and won Henry P. Wright Memorial Prize Senior year; associate editor *Yale Graphic* and *Yale Courant*; member Playcraftsmen and Phi Sigma Kappa.

Salesman W. H. H. Newman & Company 1923–28; salesman Hartley Rogers ['21] & Company, investment securities, Los Angeles, Calif, 1929–30; with banking firm of Higgins et Cie in Paris 1931; technician in production laboratories of Colonial Radio Corporation, Buffalo, 1934–35; secretary and a director Rodalite Company, Inc., New York City, 1935–37; member Westminster Presbyterian Church, Buffalo.

Married June 5, 1924, in Seattle, Wash., Helen Macdonell, daughter of Grenville and Florence Helen (Macdonell) James. Children: Frances Ansley and Joan Worth.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by wife, daughters, mother, and a sister, Miss Emily Burrows Newman (B.A. Smith 1924, M.A. 1927), all of Palm Springs, Calif

Charles Evander Schley, B.A. 1923.

Born January 19, 1901, in New York City. Died March 17, 1937, in Huntington, N.Y.

Father, Fayette Evander Schley (M.D. Albany Medical College 1881), a physician in New York City; son of Evander Higby and Rachel Anne (Power) Schley of Canandaigua, N.Y. Mother, Ada (Adams) Schley; daughter of Charles Lee and Eliza (Byron) Adams, of Chicago, Ill.

Conover School, Bedford Hills, N.Y., and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Business manager *Yale Literary Magazine* Senior year; member St. Paul's Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1923-25; traveled

1925-28; clerk investment department Chase National Bank, New York City, 1928-32; salesman Rex Cole, Inc., General Electric distributors in New York City, 1932-33; salesman Stiles Motor Company, Northport, NY; had not been in business for several years.

Married January 11, 1928, in New York City, Helen R. Lynn. No children. Mr and Mrs. Schley were separated in 1933

Died suddenly after a long illness. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y. Survived by a sister, Helen S. Gillette, the wife of Dr. Curtenius Gillette, '97.

James McHenry Hopkins, Jr., B.A. 1925.

Born February 21, 1903, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 25, 1937, in Lake Forest, Ill.

Father, James McHenry Hopkins, chairman of the board of the Camel Company, manufacturers of railroad supplies in Chicago; son of Finley Glasgow and Rachel (McHenry) Hopkins of Xenia, Ohio. Mother, Anna Mary (Farley) Hopkins; daughter of Andrew Jackson and Frances Virginia (Everts) Farley of Chicago.

Chicago Latin School and The Hill School. Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Sophomore years and of the third rank Junior year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; on Freshman Soccer and Golf teams; on Varsity Soccer Squad Sophomore year; member Freshman Debating Team and University Debating Team Sophomore and Junior years; assistant manager University Debating Association Senior year (won a Thacher prize); member Delta Sigma Rho, Zeta Psi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Northwestern University Law School 1925–28 (LL.B. 1928, member Phi Delta Phi and Order of the Coif; chairman *Illinois Law Review* 1927–28); admitted to the Illinois bar 1928; associated with firm of Winston, Strawn & Shaw, lawyers, in Chicago since 1928; member Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago.

Married (1) December 22, 1925, in New York City, Dorothy Radford Peck (Smith *ex-*'28), daughter of Herbert Ritchie and Dorothy (Radford) Peck. Daughter, Patricia. Mr. and Mrs. Hopkins were divorced in 1932. Married (2) July 13, 1936, in Chicago, Madlaine, daughter of Paul Theodore and Grace (Vanderway) Hensel.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mt. Hope Cemetery, Worth, Ill. Survived by wife, daughter, father, and a brother, Farley Hopkins, '17 S.

Ernest Harvey Manus, B.A. 1926.

Born August 3, 1904, in Hartford, Conn. Died June 10, 1937, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Harry Siegal Manus, treasurer Moeller Theatre Service, New York City. Mother, Esther (Fisher) Manus; daughter of Michael and Ida (Skulnick) Fisher of Hartford. Wilbur J. Fisher, '26 (cousin). Arsenal School, Hartford, and Hartford Public High School.

Salesman for the American Cinema Association, New York City, 1926–27, George's Honey Kiss Popcorn, Inc., New York City, 1928–29, and Honeycrisp, Inc., New York City, 1930–32; secretary Pantry Cream Sales Corporation, food brokers in Chicago, 1932–36, and Bliss & Manus, also food brokers in Chicago, since 1936; member Chicago Council of Foreign Relations and Emanuel Synagogue, Hartford.

Unmarried.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Ashes interred in Z10n Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by no immediate relatives.

John Clarke Munger, B.A. 1926.

Born July 19, 1905, in Waterbury, Conn. Died September 21, 1936, aboard the S.S. Samaria.

Father, Dr. Carl Eugene Munger, '80 S. Mother, Lucy Lovine (Smith) Munger. Yale relatives include: Walter S. Munger (M.D. 1855) (grandfather); and John C. Smith, '81, and Ralph H. Smith, '88 S. (uncles).

Taft School. Berkeley Premium, Samuel Henry Galpin Latin Prize, and New York Yale Club Prize in Spanish Freshman year; scholar of the first rank Freshman year and of the second rank Sophomore year; philosophical oration appointment Junior year; member Class Glee Club Sophomore year and in College Choir Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Clerk Randolph-Clowes Company, Waterbury, 1926-29; taught ancient and American history, biology, and elementary English Wooster School, Danbury, Conn., 1929-30; traveled abroad and conducted tours; attended School of Library Service, Columbia University, 1933-34 (B.S. 1934); assistant reference department New York Public Library 1934-36 (last assignment in economics and sociology division); at time of death was returning with his father from a trip to London; member of St. John's Episcopal Church, Waterbury.

Unmarried.

Took his own life. Buried at sea. Survived by father (died September 26, 1936) and a brother, Ralph S. Munger (B.A. Williams 1920) of Waterbury.

William Floyd Noonan, B.A. 1927.

Born November 9, 1904, in Newark, N.J. Died October 29, 1936, in Titusville, Fla.

Father, Thomas Joseph Noonan, superintendent Rescue Society Mission, New York City; son of Peter and Annie (Morrissy) Noonan of Ireland, who later resided in Brooklyn, N.Y. Mother, Anna Elizabeth (Reaney) Noonan; daughter of Henry and Charlotte (Henshaw) Reaney, who came from England to New Britain, Conn.

Peddie School. Secretary-treasurer Peddie School Club Sophomore year; member Alpha Sigma Phi.

Accountant in sales statistical department Paramount Pictures, Inc, New York City, September, 1928–February, 1930, and chief accountant in their Cleveland, Ohio, office February–November, 1930; traveled abroad 1931–33 and in the United States 1933–36 (in California 1934–35 and Florida 1935–36).

Married November 29, 1929, in New York City, Henrietta M., daughter of John and Margaret (Staik) Robinson.

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart and chronic myocarditis. Buried in Fairview Cemetery, New Britain, Conn. Survived by wife and mother.

Reginald Birks, B.A. 1929.

Born December 10, 1905, in Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, England. Died March 28, 1937, in Trenton, N.J.

Father, Isaiah Birks, president Birks Mortgage Company, Washington Heights Realty Company, and Pingree Holding Company, Trenton; son of Jesse Isaiah and Elizabeth (Tabinor) Birks of Fenton, England. Mother, Elizabeth (Leese) Birks; daughter of William and Clara (Nixon) Leese of Fenton, England.

Lawrenceville School. Member Class Baseball Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years.

Head of sales department in the Cairo, Egypt, office of the Arnold Cheney Exporting Company of New York, which later became Lyon, Cowdrey & Despard, Inc., 1929-31; instructor in English and French Junior No. 3 High School, Trenton, 1931-33, and Central High School, Trenton, 1933-36; insurance agent Massachusetts Life Insurance Company, Trenton, since 1936; member Episcopal Church of Pennington, N.J.

Married August 20, 1929, in Doylestown, Pa., Dora Mabel, daughter of James and Mabel (Heath) Turner. Daughter, Nancy Ellen.

Death due to peritonitis. Buried in Ewing (N.J.) Church Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, two brothers, Leslie A. Birks (B S. University of Pennsylvania 1935) and Jesse Birks of Trenton, and three sisters, Winifred Birks Grace, the wife of C. Brewster Grace, Jr. (M.E. Lehigh 1924), and Miss Marjorie Birks of Trenton, and Mrs. Richard J. Gallavan of Yardley, Pa.

Charles Edwin Brown, B.A. 1929.

Born September 25, 1906, in Wrentham, Mass. Died November 20, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Charles Edwin Brown, member firm of Daniel Brown & Son, hat manufacturers in Wrentham; son of Daniel and Hester Ann (Getchell) Brown of Wrentham. Mother, Grace Evelyn (Armsby) Brown; daughter of Willard Addison and Anna Leslie (Ware) Armsby of Winchester, Mass.

Roxbury Latin School. On Freshman Baseball Squad; member Class Baseball Team Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years (captain Sophomore year).

Connected with National City Bank of New York since graduation, in 14th Street branch and later in the personal loan department of the 32d Street branch; member Riverside Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to a streptococcic infection. Buried in Wrentham Cemetery. Survived by mother and a brother, Daniel Brown of Denver, Colo.

Leslie Andrew Barna, B.A. 1931.

Born March 9, 1910, in Budapest, Hungary. Died May 7, 1937, in Woodbury, N.J.

Father, Bertalan Barna (attended University of Budapest; died in October, 1936). Mother, Hermine (Ernst) Barna; daughter of Hermann and Amalie (Hauser) Ernst of Budapest.

Came to United States in 1912. Ascott House School, Brighton, England, and Franklin School, New York City. Ranking scholar in German and scholar of the second rank second term of Freshman year; on Freshman Football and Lacrosse squads, University Football Squad Sophomore year, University Rugby Team Junior year, and Class Basketball Team Senior year (numerals); member Pi Lambda Phi.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1931-32; assistant manager of a restaurant in New York City 1932; salesman for A. M. Webb & Company, Inc., makers of knitwear, first part of 1933; salesman R. H. Macy & Company, New York City, latter part of 1933; First Lieutenant Civilian Conservation Corps, Fort Moultrie, S.C., December, 1933-fall, 1934; assistant to president National Malting Company, Paterson, N.J., 1934-36; electrical welder with New York Shipbuilding Company, Camden, N.J., since 1936; member First Magyar Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to an accident. Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, Flushing, N.Y. Survived by mother.

Charles Heber Dickerman, 2d, Ph.B. 1931.

Born December 12, 1909, in New York City. Died January 10, 1937, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, William Carter Dickerman (M.E. Lehigh 1896), president American Locomotive Company, New York City; son of Charles Heber and Joy Ivy (Carter) Dickerman of Bethlehem, Pa. Mother, Alice (Carter) Dickerman (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1899); daughter of William Thornton and Cornelia (Redington) Carter of Philadelphia. Yale relatives include. Charles D. Williams, '22, George A. Fletcher, 2d, '27 S., and Howard H. Williams, '30 (cousins).

St. Bernard's Preparatory School, New York City, and Phillips-Andover. On *News Pictorial* board Freshman year and Junior University Golf Team Junior year; member Chi Psi.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1931-33 (M.B.A. 1933); in student sales course International Business Machines Corporation of New York from June, 1935, until February, 1936, when he became senior salesman in Philadelphia office; member Sons of the Revolution.

Unmarried.

Death due to valvular heart disease. Buried in Easthampton, N.Y. Survived by parents, three sisters, Mrs. Orson L. St. John of Greenwich, Conn., and the Misses Honour R. and Cornelia R. Dickerman of New York City, and a brother, William C. Dickerman, Jr., '28.

Sawyer Reed Brockunier, B.A. 1932.

Born August 16, 1909, in Wheeling, W.Va. Died July 27, 1936, in Harlem, Mont.

Father, Sam Hugh Brockunier (B.S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1893; M.S. Toronto School of Mines 1898), a mining engineer and petroleum geologist in West Virginia, California, and New York; assistant editor *Engineering and Mining Journal* and for Webster's Dictionary; son of Charles Wesley and Elizabeth Caldwell (Brady) Brockunier of Wheeling. Mother, Clare Sawyer (Reed) Brockunier; daughter of John Wesley and Clarina Adelia (Sawyer) Reed of Lowell, Mass.

Lowell High School. Scholar of the second rank Freshman and

136

Junior years and of the third rank Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; on Class Basketball Team Freshman year and Class Football Team Senior year.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1932–36 (Ph.D. 1936 in geology; member Sigma Xi); appointed assistant geologist with U.S. Geological Survey June, 1936; member St. Anne's Episcopal Church, Lowell.

Unmarried.

Death due to burns received in a forest fire in the Little Rocky Mountains. Buried in Lowell Cemetery. Survived by mother, who is the wife of Philip S. Marden (B.A Dartmouth 1894, honorary M A. 1914; LL B. Harvard 1898), two brothers, Charles W. Brockunier (Carnegie Institute of Technology ex-25) of Cambridge, Mass., and Sam H. Brockunier (B.A. Harvard 1926, M.A. 1928) of Middletown, Conn., and two sisters, Miss Elizabeth B. Brockunier (Simmons College ex-26) of Boston, Mass., and Miss Clara R. Brockunier of Lowell.

Roscoe Whalen Armstrong, Jr., B.A. 1933.

Born April 22, 1910, in Clinton, Iowa. Died October 3, 1936, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Roscoe Whalen Armstrong, '02; president C. E. Armstrong & Son, wholesale hardware, Clinton; son of Charles Emerson and Ida (Whalen) Armstrong of Clinton. Mother, Ruby Elizabeth (Stone) Armstrong; daughter of Augustus Lisbon and Katherine (Angell) Stone of Clinton.

Staunton Military Academy, Roxbury School, and The Hill School. On Freshman Football and Basketball squads and University Football Squad Sophomore year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Had been ill since graduation.

Married in Los Angeles, April 22, 1935, Ruth Martha, daughter of Hans Wilhelm and Selma Augusta (Anderson) Kallhauge.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Survived by wife, parents, a brother, Kenneth Stone Armstrong (Dartmouth ex-'34), and a sister, Miss Katharine Jane Armstrong, all of Clinton.

Thomas Magill Patterson, Jr., B.A. 1933.

Born February 6, 1911, in Wayne, Pa. Died November 30, 1936, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Thomas Magill Patterson (Grove City College ex-'01), secretary Pennsylvania Fire Insurance Company, Philadelphia; son of General Frank Karns Patterson, who served in the Third Pennsylvania Light Artillery during the Civil War, and Sadie (Magill) Patterson of Pittsburgh, Pa. Mother, Emma Boxley (Cox) Patterson (B.A. Wellesley 1909); daughter of Wiley O'Dillon and Emma (Boxley) Cox of Kansas City, Mo. Yale relatives include: Wiley O. Cox, '97 S., and Percy B Cox, ex-'97 S (uncles); and John D. Cox, '28 S. (cousin).

ş

Radnor High School, Wayne, and Phillips-Andover. Scholar of the third rank Junior year; member Davenport College and Beta Theta Pi.

Reporter for *Philadelphia Record* since October, 1933; his duties on the special assignment desk required night work; on November 28 he left the office about 4 A.M. and was found an hour later in Fairmount Park unconscious and badly injured in his almost demolished car which had gone off the road and into a tree; member Wayne Presbyterian Church.

Unmarried.

Buried in Lower Merion Baptist Cemetery, Bryn Mawr, Pa. Survived by parents, two sisters, Mary Elizabeth Patterson (B.S. Hood College 1936) and Harriet Bell Patterson (Wheaton College '40), and two brothers, John Brisbin Patterson and William Cox Patterson.

138

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

Arthur VanHarlingen, Ph.B. 1864.

Born October 25, 1845, in Philadelphia, Pa Died September 23, 1936, in Rosemont, Pa.

Father, John Martin VanHarlingen, a merchant in Philadelphia; son of Rev. John Martin VanHarlingen (B.A. Queens College [now Rutgers] 1792) and Maria (Stiles) VanHarlingen of Burlington, N.J. Mother, Isabel (Campbell) VanHarlingen; daughter of Captain John Campbell and Mary (Robb) Campbell, who came from Scotland to America about 1800. Yale relatives include a brother, Martin Van-Harlingen, '65 S.

Rittenhouse Academy, Philadelphia, and private tutor. Entered Yale in 1862 after two months' service as guard at the du Pont Powder Mills; chemistry course; member Undine Boat Club, Scientific Society, and The Colony and Berzelius.

Attended University of Pennsylvania 1864-67 (M.D. 1867); resident physician Philadelphia and Pennsylvania hospitals 1867–69; practicing physician (specialist in skin diseases) in Philadelphia 1869 until retirement about 1928; instructor in dermatology University of Pennsylvania 1870-71; chief of skin clinic 1871-83; clinical lecturer on dermatology Jefferson Medical College 1883-95; a founder of the Philadelphia Polyclinic and professor of dermatology 1883-97 (professor emeritus 1897–1936); dermatologist Children's Hospital 1895–1912; author: Handbook of the Diagnosis and Treatment of Skin Diseases (1884, 1889, 1895, and 1907; fourth edition entitled Text-book of Diseases of the Skin); wrote section on "Diseases of the Skin" in A Handbook of Local Therapeutics (1893) and contributed to medical journals; fellow College of Physicians of Philadelphia, member American Dermatological Association (president 1907-08), Pennsylvania Historical Society, and Church of the Good Shepherd (Protestant Episcopal), Rosemont.

Married August 31, 1882, in London, England, Bessie Butler, daughter of John Randall and Louisa Caldwell (Butler) Whitney. Children: John Martin, '07 S., and Arthur (died 1885).

Death due to a stroke Buried in the grounds of the Church of the Redeemer, Bryn Mawr, Pa. Survived by wife and son. Dr. Van-Harlingen was the last survivor of graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School in the sixties.

Yale University Obituary Record

Livingston Gifford, Ph.B. 1875.

Born September 8, 1855, in Bergen, N.J. Died February 11, 1937, in Atlantic City, N.J.

Father, George Gifford, a lawyer in New York City. Mother, Eleanor Catherine (Van Ranst) Gifford; daughter of Cornelius W. and Eleanor Catherine (Willett) Van Ranst of New York City.

Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course; Class Historian Senior year; member Fencing Club and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Attended Columbia University Law School 1875–77 (LL.B. 1877); admitted to New York bar 1877, specialized in patent and trademark cases; associated with his father and later practiced independently in New York City 1877–94; senior partner successively of Gifford & Bull, Gifford, Bull & Scull, Gifford & Scull, Gifford, Scull & Burgess 1894– 1937; member American Bar Association, Patent Bar Association of New York, and First Presbyterian Church, Jersey City, N.J.

Married June 11, 1885, in Jersey City, Marie Louise, daughter of Joseph and Martha Jane (Watson) Davis. Daughter, Evelyn, the wife of Henry A Gardner, '05.

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, and four grandchildren, two of whom are Henry A. Gardner, Jr., '36, and Gifford Gardner, '40.

Charles Purdy Lindsley, Ph.B. 1875.

Born September 30, 1854, in New Haven, Conn. Died March 29, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Professor Charles Augustus Lindsley, M.D. 1852. Mother, Lydia Louise (Harrison) Lindsley Yale relatives include: Harrison W. Lindsley, '72 S. (brother); and Lindsley McChesney, '22 (nephew).

Public schools, New Haven Biology course; secretary Freshman Consolidated Baseball Team and captain S.S.S. Baseball Club Sophomore year; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1875–78 (M.D. 1878); resident physician New Haven Hospital 1877–78; practiced medicine in New Haven 1878 until retirement in 1919; demonstrator of anatomy Yale School of Medicine 1883–86; quarantine officer New Haven 1879–89; had served as Major (surgeon) of Second Regiment, Connecticut National Guard, and as medical director and Lieutenant Colonel of Brigade; a medical examiner during World War; secretary Class of 1875 S. 1925–30, secretary and treasurer 1930–35, treasurer 1935–37, and Alumni Fund agent 1920–37; president School of Medicine Alumni Association 1915–16, member American Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, New Haven County and City Medical associations, and St. Thomas' Protestant Episcopal Church (vestryman since 1892), New Haven; bequeathed funds for church building and gave his residence for a rectory as a memorial to Caroline Ackerman Lindsley.

Married (1) May 12, 1891, in Middletown, Conn., Mary Laura Dickson Paterson, daughter of Samuel Robert Dickson. No children. Mrs. Lindsley died July 19, 1908. Married (2) August 9, 1919, in Cooperstown, N.Y., Caroline Elizabeth, daughter of Theodore J. and Ellen D. (Lockwood) Ackerman. Mrs. Lindsley died March 8, 1931.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a sister, Caroline Lindsley McChesney (Cert. Yale School of the Fine Arts 1883), widow of Calvin S. McChesney, '81, '84 L.

Alfred Newton Wheeler, Ph.B. 1875.

Born January 2, 1855, in Southbury, Conn. Died April 13, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Elisha Wheeler, a farmer in Southbury; member Connecticut State Legislature 1855; State Senator 1863; son of Moses and Betsey (Loveland) Wheeler of Southbury. Mother, Eliza Ann (Leavenworth) Wheeler; daughter of Calvin and Sophia (Wooster) Leavenworth of Oxford, Conn.

General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven. Select course; member Sheffield Scientific School Glee Club.

Attended Yale Law School 1875–77 (LL.B. 1877; honors Junior and Senior years; won Betts Prize in 1876); practiced law in New Haven 1878–1937; assistant State's attorney New Haven County 1896–1907; assistant clerk Superior Court for New Haven County 1907–12, and clerk 1912–37; councilman New Haven 1882; member New Haven Board of Health 1887–93; president Class of 1875 S. since 1925; secretary Class of 1877 L.; vestryman Trinity Episcopal Church, New Haven, 1897–1934, treasurer 1905–34, junior warden 1922–25, senior warden 1925–34, and senior warden emeritus since 1934; member New Haven County Bar Association.

Married September 30, 1891, in New Haven, Lillian Edith, daughter of Elisha Wilson, ex-'47, and Julia Anna (Benjamin) Wilson, and sister of William V. Wilson, '67 M., and Eugene B. Wilson, ex-'79 S. Children: Richard Elisha, '15; Elizabeth Cruttenden, the wife of William S. Innis, '14; and Alfred Newton, Jr., '23. Mrs. Wheeler died March 18, 1924.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by children, seven grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Charles E. Webster of Bethlehem, Pa.

Henry Stacy Whipple, Ph.B. 1875.

Born December 8, 1855, in Derby, Conn. Died December 27, 1936, in Rockford, Ill.

Father, Henry Whipple, superintendent Birmingham Iron Foundry, Derby; deputy sheriff of New Haven County; son of James Jefferies and Sally (Johnson) Whipple of New London, Conn. Mother, Roxana (Terry) Whipple of East Windsor, Conn.

Derby public schools. Civil engineering course.

In contracting buşiness in Derby 1875-78; office assistant Derby Gas Company 1878-80, manager Derby Gas Company and engineer Birmingham and Shelton Water companies 1880-87; manager Elgin Gas Company, Elgin, Ill., 1887-90; manager and president Rockford Gas Light & Coke Company 1890 until retirement in 1928, and chairman board of directors 1928-36; president University Club of Rockford 1913-14; president board of directors Rockford Public Library 1915-24 and Rockford Rotary Club 1922; member Masonic order, Yale Engineering Association, American Gas Association, and Illinois Gas Association (president 1919).

Married November 15, 1881, in Derby, Mary Wheeler, daughter of Joseph Merwin and Angeline (Brown) Hoadley. Son, Robert Hoadley (B S. in C.E. University of Illinois 1906). Mrs. Whipple died December 23, 1936.

Death due to chronic myocarditis and arteriosclerosis. Buried in Oak Cliff Cemetery, Derby. Survived by son and one grandson.

William McCulloh Brown, Ph.B. 1876.

Born November 13, 1854, in New York City. Died December 14, 1936, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, William Isaac Brown (Princeton 1841–42; B.A. New York University 1844), engaged in real-estate business in Baltimore; son of Silas and Olivia (Walsh) Brown of New York City. Mother, Annie Lucretia (McCulloh) Brown; daughter of James Williamson and Abigail (Sears) McCulloh of Philadelphia, Pa.

Phillips-Andover. Chemical engineering course; entered in 1872 but joined Class of 1876 S. the following year.

In chemical importing house in New York City 1876-79; chemist for a sugar refinery in Boston, Mass., 1879-81; moved to Garrett County, Md., in 1881, where interested in farm and timberlands; took up surveying and engineering in 1890; surveyor for State of Maryland in Boundary Dispute 1897-1900, and for U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey 1900-08; represented Garrett County in the Maryland Senate 1906-10; commissioner for building County Court House, Oakland, Md., 1908; member Maryland-West Virginia Boundary Line Commission 1910; member Maryland State Board of Forestry 1911-22; president McCulloh Coke & Coal Company of West Virginia 1920-26; president Yale Alumni Association of Maryland 1906, and its first representative on Advisory Board; secretary Maryland Forestry Association 1927; vestryman St. Matthew's Episcopal Church, Oakland.

Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma of the stomach. Buried in Glencoe (Md.) Cemetery. Survived by a sister, Miss Susan T. Brown of Baltimore.

Robert Jackson Gibson, Ph.B. 1876.

Born November 26, 1854, in North Haven, Conn. Died October 9, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Robert Gibson, superintendent of the L. Candee Company, manufacturers of rubber products in New Haven; son of Anne (Neal) Gibson of Manchester, England. Mother, Jemima (Carey) Gibson; daughter of Thomas and Jane (Christie) Carey of Preston, England. Yale relatives include George W. Gibson, *ex-'80* S. (brother), and Willis Clarke Noble, Jr., '06 S. (nephew).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Biology course; member Yale Society of Natural History; Commencement Speaker.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1876-79 (M.D. 1879); interne New Haven Dispensary 1879-80; entered U.S. Army medical service February, 1880; commissioned First Lieutenant (assistant surgeon) June 16, 1880, Captain June 16, 1885, Major (surgeon) April 23, 1898, Lieutenant Colonel, retired, January I, 1910; stationed in Colorado 1880, following the uprising of Ute Indians; at Pine Ridge, S. Dak, 1890-91, during campaign against Sioux Indians; and in Texas 1892; Chief Surgeon, Second Division, 4th Army Corps, 1898-99; medical superintendent, Army Transport Service, San Francisco, 1899-1901; commanded Hospital Ship *Missouri* February-March, 1900; stationed in Philippine Islands (chiefly in Moro section, Mindanao) May, 1902-April, 1904; on duty as surgeon at Fort Adams, Rhode Island, 1904-10; resided in New Haven 1912-36; member American Medical Association, Association of Military Surgeons, and United Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married April 26, 1881, in New Haven, Ella Julia Banks (B.A. Vassar 1880), daughter of Isaac Turney and Julia Maria (Jennings) Banks, and sister of Mary Ona Banks, '87 Cert. Art. Children: Robert Banks (Ph.B. 1902, Ph.D. 1906); Ona Caroline (B.A. Vassar 1904), the wife of Major Avery J. Cooper, C.A.C.; William Carey, '07 S.; Edward Banks (U.S. Naval Academy 1910); Richmond Trumbull (U.S. Military Academy 1915); Julian Burr, '15 S. (died January 14, 1934); and Banks Chapman (B S. Lafayette College 1922). Mrs. Gibson died in 1925.

Death due to cystitis and uremia. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by daughter, five sons, two sisters, Mrs. Sarah G. Lowe of New Haven and Mrs. Wilhelmina G. Noble of Montclair, N.J, and a brother, Colonel William Wesley Gibson, '76 S.

Francis Dana Winslow, Ph.B. 1878.

Born December 8, 1856, in Pittsford, Vt. Died February 22, 1937, in New York City

Father, Benjamin Franklin Winslow, employed in United States Treasury Department, Washington, D.C.; son of Dr. Kenelm Winslow and Beulah (Dana) Winslow of Pittsford. Mother, Mary Williams (Brown) Winslow; daughter of Elijah Brown, 3d, and Mary (Williams) Brown of Pittsford and Chittenden, Vt. Yale relatives include: Fayette W. Brown, '78 S, and George T. Brown, ex-'85 S. (cousins)

Washington public schools. Select course; member *Yale Courant* board Junior year; Commencement Speaker; member The Cloister and Book and Snake and Sigma Delta Chi.

Attended New York University 1878-80 (LL.B. 1880); customhouse lawyer in New York City 1880-82; in brokerage business in New York City since 1882; established in 1907 firm of Winslow & Company, which in 1919 became Munds, Rogers & Stackpole, later Munds & Winslow, and in 1932 Munds, Winslow & Potter; remained a partner until his death, but had not been actively engaged in business for some time; member New York Stock Exchange for many years; member Trinity Chapel (Episcopal), New York City.

Married June 28, 1883, in New York City, Emma, daughter of Eugene and Mary Carroll. Children: Margaret (Mrs. Richard Gordon Williams; died 1925); Helen (died 1904); Kenelm, '05 (died 1918); Carroll Dana, '10 S. (died 1932). Mrs. Winslow died January 16, 1931.

Death due to heart disease with complications. Buried in Pittsford Survived by eight grandchildren and two great-grandchildren.

Walter Nordhoff, Ph.B. 1879.

Born May 27, 1858, in New York City. Died February 25, 1937, in Santa Barbara, Calif.

Father, Charles Nordhoff, born in Westphalia, Germany; an author and journalist in New York City and Washington; son of Carl and Adelheid (Platte) von Nordhoff of Westphalia Mother, Lida (Letford) Nordhoff; daughter of James and Martha (Fallon) Letford of Cincinnati, Ohio. Gunnery School. Agricultural course; Commencement Speaker; member Scientific Union and Alpha Chi.

Foreign correspondent for the New York Herald in London and Berlin 1885-89; engaged in farming in Ensenada, Lower California, Mexico, 1889-1912; president California China Products Company, Inc., manufacturers of tile in National City, Calif., 1911-17; resided in Santa Barbara; author: The Journey of the Flame (1933) and Rico-Bandit and Dictator (1934).

Married October 6, 1885, in Philadelphia, Pa., Sarah Cope, daughter of James and Mary Wistar (Cope) Whitall. Children: Marmaduke (died 1888); Charles Bernard (B.A. Harvard 1909); Margaret Evelyn, the wife of Laurence S. Morrison, '11; Franklin Whitall; and Mary Cope Whitall, the wife of Allen H. Williams (B.A. Harvard 1892, M.D. 1902).

Death due to peritonitis. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Redlands, Calif. Survived by wife, two sons, two daughters, and eleven grandchildren.

Carl Eugene Munger, Ph.B. 1880.

Born April 13, 1858, in Bergen, N.Y.

Died September 26, 1936, aboard S.S. Samaria.

Father, Walter Seward Munger, M.D. 1855. Mother, Lucy Maria (Wilcox) Munger.

Watertown Academy. Biology course; rowed on Freshman Crew; an editor of Class History and Commencement Speaker; member Franklin Hall and Theta X1.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1880-83 (M.D. 1883); assistant to his father in Watertown, Conn., for a short time; practiced in Waterbury, Conn., specializing in diseases of the nose, ear, and throat, 1884–1936; studied at Vienna and Berlin 1891–92; laryngologist and aural surgeon on attending staff Waterbury Hospital 1894-1927 and consulting staff 1928-36; clinical assistant throat department Manhattan Eye, Ear and Throat Hospital, New York City, 1892-94, and assistant surgeon 1894-1935; an incorporator Gaylord Farm Sanatorium 1902, a director and a member of the medical board 1902-36, and vice-president 1936; First Lieutenant (assistant surgeon), Second Regiment, National Guard of Connecticut, 1887-88; president Waterbury Medical Association 1906-07 and New Haven County Medical Association; elected a fellow American Laryngological Society 1914 and a director Mattatuck Historical Society 1921; contributed reports of professional observations to a number of medical journals; had traveled extensively and was returning from a trip to London with his son, John, when taken ill on September 18 as he

was boarding the ship at Liverpool; member Society of Colonial Wars, Connecticut State Medical Society, New York Academy of Medicine, American Laryngological, Rhinological and Otological Society, Inc., Connecticut Civil Service Reform Association, Yale Club of the Naugatuck Valley, and St. John's Episcopal Church, Waterbury

Married (1) October 18, 1888, in Waterbury, Mary Rose, daughter of Rev. Joseph Anderson (B.A. College of the City of New York 1854, M.A. 1857, M.A. Union Theological Seminary 1857; D.D. Yale 1878; member Yale Corporation 1884–1916) and Anna (Sands) Anderson. Mrs Munger died in November, 1889. Married (2) November 30, 1893, in Waterbury, Lucy Lovine, daughter of John Edward and Lucy Lovine (Clarke) Smith, and sister of John C. Smith, '81, and Ralph H. Smith, '88 S. Children Ralph Smith (B.A. Williams 1920); Walter Seward (died February 14, 1933); and John Clarke, '26 (died September 21, 1936, q.v.). Mrs. Munger died February 15, 1934.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Watertown. Survived by one son and three grandchildren.

Chauncey Pratt Williams, Ph.B. 1882.

Born December 6, 1860, in Albany, N.Y. Died December 25, 1936, in Albany, N.Y.

Father, Chauncey Pratt Williams, president National Exchange Bank, Albany; son of Josiah and Charity (Shaler) Williams of Middletown Upper Houses (now Cromwell), Conn. Mother, Martha Andrews (Hough) Williams; daughter of Reuben and Ruth Parmelee (Lewis) Hough of Whitesboro, N.Y. Yale relatives include Roger H. Williams, M.A 1903 (cousin).

Albany Academy. Select course; member Dunham Crew Junior year, vice-president University Boat Club Senior year; president Class of 1882 S. Senior year, and of University Rifle Club; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Attended Albany School of Law of Union University 1882-83 (LL.B. 1883); learned banking business in National Exchange Bank, Albany, 1883-90; financial head of New York State Excise Commission 1896-99, enlisting in the State Militia in 1884, he was advanced through the ranks and from 1899 until retirement in 1920 was at the headquarters of the National Guard of New York; served as Assistant Adjutant General (rank of Lieutenant Colonel and Colonel) 1899-1909, Colonel, Adjutant General's Department, Headquarters Division, 1909-20 (brevet Brigadier General November 12, 1909); student of American frontier history and author Lone Elk (1936); contributed to Forest and Stream and Overland Montbly and Out West Magazine; trustee Albany Exchange Savings Bank, State Street Presbyterian Church and its successor, Westminster Presbyterian Church; president Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1923-24; chairman of several Class reunion committees, and secretary Class of 1882 S. since 1932; member Yale Engineering Association, Order of Founders and Patriots of America, and Sons of the Revolution.

Married March 9, 1886, in Albany, Emma, daughter of Archibald and Elizabeth (Strong) McClure. Children: Elisabeth, the wife of F. Marvin Callan (Hobart College 1906–07); Alice, the wife of Laurence McKinney (B.A. Harvard 1912); and Chauncey Pratt, Jr., '23.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren.

Albert Park Campbell, Ph.B. 1884.

Born November 25, 1861, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died June 18, 1937, in Riverside, Calif.

Father, James Abram Madison Campbell, a tugboat builder in Brooklyn; son of James William and Sally (Bogert) Campbell of Bergen Fields, N.J. Mother, Sarah Ann (Bentley) Campbell; daughter of David Niles and Letitia (Gardner) Bentley of Norwich, Conn.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, Conn. Dynamic engineering course.

Draftsman Silsby Manufacturing Company, Seneca Falls, N.Y., 1884-86; rodman Burlington & Missouri Railroad Company 1886-87; assistant engineer with Riverside Water Company 1887-90 and with Bear Valley Irrigation Company 1890-92; as chief engineer Bear Valley Land & Water Company, was engaged in laying out the town of Lakeview, Calif., 1890-92; assistant to city engineer of Riverside; engineer San Gabriel Light & Power Company 1896-98 and Bakersfield and Kern City Electric Railroad 1898-1901; superintendent Operators Oil Company, Bakersfield, 1898-1901; city engineer of Riverside 1901-18 and 1926-27; secretary Riverside County Highway Commission 1912-14; engineer State Highway Commission for Fresno County 1918-26; engineering contractor 1928; retired in 1929; prominent in Masonic order and member Universalist Church, Riverside.

Married January 20, 1889, in Riverside, Lizzie Pomeroy, daughter of David and Sarah (McKissick) McBurney of Seneca Falls. Children: Neva, the wife of Loyal C. Kelley (LL.B. University of Southern California 1911); and Dorothy (died 1896). Mrs. Campbell died May 19, 1896.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Riverside. Survived by one daughter and two grandchildren.

Henry Oliver, Ph.B. 1885.

Born October 19, 1862, in Wooster, Ohio. Died July 1, 1936, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, David Brown Oliver, born in Donaghmore, Ireland, and in 1842 came to United States; member firm of Oliver Iron & Steel Company, Pittsburgh; son of Henry William and Margaret (Brown) Oliver. Mother, Rebecca Beall (Cunningham) Oliver; daughter of John and Maria (Beall) Cunningham of Wooster. Yale relatives include: David O. Ross, '29, John C. Oliver, Jr., '35, and David B. Oliver, 2d, '38 (nephews); and Berne H. Evans and George S. Oliver, both '99, Augustus K. Oliver, '03, Daniel L. Oliver, ex-'07 S., Deane M. Evans, '11 S., Norman K. Evans, '14, and Bennett Oliver, ex-'17 (cousins).

Pittsburgh Academy. Chemistry course; member The Colony and Berzelius.

Chemist Oliver Iron & Steel Company 1885–1900; general superintendent Shoenberger Works, American Steel & Wire Company, 1900–02; superintendent steel works Oliver & Snyder Steel Company 1900–05, vice-president 1902–05, and president 1905–28; president Monongahela Natural Gas Company 1905–12 and Oliver Iron & Steel Corporation 1915–29; resided in Sewickley, Pa.; member board of governors Allegheny Country Club 1927–36; vestryman St. Stephen's Episcopal Church, Sewickley.

Married January 21, 1903, in Lexington, Ky., Eliza Wheeler, daughter of James Fisher and Mary Elizabeth (Wheeler) Robinson. Children: Henry, Jr., '30; Mary Robinson, the wife of William C. Robinson, Jr., '28; and Robinson (died 1915).

Death followed an operation. Buried in Sewickley Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, one son, four sisters, Mrs. Charles S. Shoemaker and Miss Jessie Oliver, both of Pittsburgh, Mrs. Rebecca Oliver Ross of Madison, N.J, and Mrs. Charles L Doyle of Sewickley, Pa, and a brother, Charles Oliver, '07. His brothers, John C. Oliver, '85 S., and David B. Oliver, ex-'97 S., died in 1927 and 1897 respectively.

Harvey Farrington, Ph.B. 1886.

Born February 17, 1863, in New York City. Died July 17, 1936, in Rangeley, Maine.

Father, Harvey Parsons Farrington, president Hudson River Day Line; son of David Farrington of Croton-on-Hudson. Mother, Martha Jane (Wells) Farrington; daughter of William G. Wells of Westerly, R I. Yale relatives include a nephew, Harvey Stevenson, '17.

St Paul's School, Concord, N.H Civil engineering course; member Freshman Crew and rowed on University Crew in 1885; was anchor on last tug-of-war team at Yale and won shot put and hammer throw events Junior year; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Traveled abroad 1886–88; with engineer corps New York Central & Hudson River Railroad 1888–96; engineer Department of Docks, New York City, 1896–1901; resident engineer New York Central & Hudson River Railroad 1901–02; in private practice as an engineer 1902 until retirement about 1910; had since lived in Yonkers, N.Y., and Bemis, Maine, devoting much time to development of his summer homes at Rangeley Lakes; member American Society of Civil Engineers and St. Augustine's Episcopal Church, Croton-on-Hudson.

Married December 19, 1894, in Detroit, Mich., Lucy Eliot, daughter of Stephen Griggs (M.D. Bellevue Hospital Medical College) and Lucy Eliot (Smith) Griggs. Children: Helen (died in infancy); Harvey (died 1921); Eliot Griggs, '19 S.; Edward Chandler; and Stephen Griggs, '25 S.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown, N.Y. Survived by wife, three sons, two grandchildren, and three sisters, Mrs. Florence F. Johnson of Florence, Italy, Elisabeth Farrington Stevenson, the widow of Frederic A. Stevenson, '88, of Croton-on-Hudson, and Jane Farrington Hamilton, the wife of Clarence M. Hamilton (B.A. Princeton 1895) of Hewlett, N.Y.

George Howard Davison, Ph.B. 1888.

Born July 16, 1867, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died September 2, 1936, in Maiden Newton, Dorset, England.

Father, Henry James Davison, an engineer in New York City; son of James and Theresa (Danziger) Davison of New York City. Mother, Ella Cole (Howard) Davison; daughter of George Washington and Carolyn (Foreman) Howard of Baltimore, Md. Yale relatives include: C. Beverly Davison, Jr., '18 S, and Alden Davison, ex-'19 (nephews).

M. W. Lyon's School, New York City. Agricultural course; member Intercollegiate Athletic Team Sophomore year and Class Crew Junior and Senior years; president Class of 1888 S. Junior and Seniors years; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Attended Cornell University 1888–89 (B.S.A. 1889); D.V.S. American Veterinary College 1900; owned and operated Altamont Stock Farm (Guernsey cattle and Shropshire sheep), Millbrook, N.Y., 1890–1931; had served as president of companies which published *The Field* and *Agricultural Digest*; had resided in England for several years; president American Shropshire Registry Association 1904–07 (a director 1897–1912), American Dairy Shorthorn Association 1912–14, and International Livestock Exposition 1917–18 (a director since 1900); secretary National Association of Exhibitors of Livestock 1894-1936; served four years on board of control New York State Experiment Station (Geneva), ten years on board of New York State Fair (held under auspices New York State Agricultural Society), and member board of directors Dutchess County Fair since 1892; a director National Horse Show Association of America and Association of American Horseshows, Inc.; member Royal Agricultural Society of Great Britain 1895-1936; on executive committee American Live Stock Association 1898; life member New York State Agricultural Society, American Guernsey Cattle Club, and American Hackney Horse Society; director Bank of Millbrook 1892-1932; first lieutenant and veterinary surgeon Squadron A, N.G.N.Y., 1898-1908, and veterinary surgeon First Cavalry, N.G.N.Y., for several years; chairman 1888 S. Reunion in 1923; member Dutch Reformed Church, Millbrook.

Married (1) April 28, 1897, in New York City, Marion Maxwell, daughter of Robert A. and Margaret (McCreedy) Chesebrough. Children Howard Chesebrough, '24 S., and Margaret Woodhull, the wife of Vansel S. Johnson (M.D. University of Kansas 1925). Mr. and Mrs. Davison were divorced in 1931. Married (2) December 25, 1931, in Edgewater, N.J., Marguerite Richardson Wood, daughter of Dwight Sumner and Ada (Blake) Richardson.

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Nine Partners Cemetery, Millbrook Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, three sisters, the Misses Evelina Brown Davison and Ella Howard Davison and Mrs. Reginald Pownall, and two brothers, Henry J. Davison and Clarence B. Davison, '90 S.

Horace Bushnell Cheney, Ph.B. 1890.

Born May 20, 1868, in Hartford, Conn. Died August 15, 1936, in Santa Fé, N.Mex.

Father, Colonel Frank Woodbridge Cheney (B.A. Brown 1854, honorary M.A. 1886), Lieutenant Colonel 16th Connecticut Volunteers during Civil War; treasurer Cheney Brothers, silk manufacturers; son of Charles and Waitstill Dexter (Shaw) Cheney of Manchester, Conn. Mother, Mary (Bushnell) Cheney; daughter of Rev. Horace Bushnell (B.A 1827) and Mary (Apthorp) Bushnell of Hartford. Yale relatives include four nephews. Ward Cheney, '22, David H. Cheney, '27, Kimberly Cheney, '31, and Timothy Cheney, '36.

Hartford High School and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Mechanical engineering course; member St. Paul's School Club.

With Cheney Brothers 1890 until retirement in 1934; an apprentice 1890–93, head of the experimental weaving department 1893–1910, director 1910–34, production manager 1930–34, and vice-president 1920–36; received Henry L. Gantt Gold Medal of the American Society of Mechanical Engineers in 1934 for distinguished achievement in industrial management; a founder of the Designers' Protection Association, Inc.; chairman legislative committee of the Silk Association of America (later National Federation of Textiles, Inc.) 1904-34, and their chief representative and spokesman in legislative textile arbitration in Washington; vice-president Horace Bushnell Memorial Association 1930-36; chairman board of selectmen of South Manchester 1909-13 and member South Manchester Charter Revision Committee 1909; director Manchester Memorial Hospital 1920-36 and Hartford Institute for the Blind; member State Committee on Tuberculosis Prevention and executive committee of the Yale Engineering Association; coauthor (with Garnet Warren): *A Romance of Design*; Alumni Fund agent for the Class of 1890 S. 1915-36.

Married June 8, 1898, in Hartford, Mary Caroline Ogden, daughter of Stephen Condit Pierson, '64, and Hannah Pettibone (Latimer) Pierson, and sister of Decius L. Pierson, '94. Children. Horace Bushnell, Jr., '22 (died 1930); Stephen Pierson, ex-'27; Roger Williams, '30; Antoinette Phelps (B.A. Vassar 1924), the wife of Frank W. Crocker (B.A. Harvard 1922, LL.B. 1924); and Hannah Latimer (B.A. Sarah Lawrence College 1935).

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in East Cemetery, South Manchester. Survived by wife, two sons, two daughters, three grandchildren, four sisters, the Misses Marjorie and Dorothy Cheney, Emily Cheney Learned, the widow of Henry B. Learned (B.A. Harvard 1890, M.A. 1897; Ph.D. Yale 1909), all of Manchester, and Ruth Cheney Goodwin, the wife of Charles A. Goodwin, '98, of Hartford, and five brothers, Charles Cheney, Seth L. Cheney, Howell Cheney, '92, Austin Cheney, '98 S., and Frank D. Cheney, '00. His brothers, John Davenport Cheney, ex-'92 S., and Ward Cheney, '96, died in 1919 and 1900 respectively.

Charles Bailey Spruce, Ph.B. 1890.

Born March 30, 1870, in Waterbury, Conn. Died October 21, 1936, in Pretoria, South Africa.

Father, James Spruce, a manufacturer of brass cords in Kenosha, Wis.; son of James and Hannah (Briggs) Spruce of England. Mother, Adelaide (Bailey) Spruce; daughter of Julius Caesar and Rebecca (Judd) Bailey of Waterbury.

Hopkins Grammar School. Chemistry course, member Yale Drum Corps Junior year and Theta Delta Chi.

Worked in his father's office in Kenosha 1890-91; with Illinois Steel Company, Chicago, Ill., 1892-93; prospected in Northern California 1893-94; mining engineer Mozambique Reefs Land & Exploration Company in Portuguese East Africa 1895-96; served with Mashonaland Field Force during Malabele Rebellion in Rhodesia 1896; assistant surveyor United Rhodesia Goldfields of South Africa, Ltd., Johannesburg 1896-97; secretary General Electric Power Company (a subsidiary of Consolidated Goldfields) 1897-99; joined Imperial Light Horse during Boer War 1899 and served in the reliefs of Ladysmith and Mafeking; assigned to Field Intelligence Department for secret service work; mentioned in dispatches; with United Rhodesia Goldfields, Johannesburg, 1902 until retirement in 1917; librarian Transvaal University College at Pretoria 1920-30; among recent Government appointments was one for reclassifying and cataloguing the Supreme Court Library at Pretoria.

Married June 30, 1906, in Johannesburg, Annie May Spruce. Son, Clifford Craig.

Death due to pneumonia. Cremated in Johannesburg. Survived by wife and son.

Arthur Eli Booth, Ph.B. 1891.

Born March 22, 1868, in Peace Dale, R.I. Died December 15, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, George Booth, a manufacturer with Peace Dale Manufacturing Company; born in Lancashire, England, and in 1849 came to America, son of John Booth. Mother, Mary Jane (Hudson) Booth of Lancashire, England. Yale relatives include: Mary Booth Booth Perry, ex-'05 Mus. (sister); Malcolm D. Booth, ex-'04, and George A. Booth, ex-'06 S. (nephews); and Ethel Booth Greacen, ex-'00 Art (niece).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course; Freshman chemistry prize; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Assistant in civil engineering Sheffield Scientific School 1892-93; C E. 1893; taught mathematics New Haven High School 1894 until retirement in 1936 (head of department of mathematics 1912-36); an organizer New Haven Teachers League, and president 1910-13; active in securing passage of Teachers Tenure Act and Teachers Retirement Act in General Assembly 1927; secretary New Haven Teachers Retirement Fund since 1911; secretary Class of 1891 S. for a number of years; attended Congregational Church.

Married (1) December 25, 1894, Helen Prince, daughter of Joseph Hastings. Married (2) December 24, 1897, in North Kingstown, R.I., Hortense Allen, daughter of James Allen and Mary Ann (Nichols) Matteson.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Elm Grove Cemetery, Allenton, R.I. Survived by wife and a brother, George A. Booth (Ph B University of Omaha 1894; Yale Graduate School 1896–97) of New York City. His brother, Malcolm Booth, '79 S., died in 1929.

Douglas Brown, Ph.B. 1891.

Born September 16, 1869, in New York City. Died June 6, 1937, at Castle Point, N.Y.

Father, Joseph Henry Brown, head of firm of Brown, Draper & Company, wholesale drygoods merchants in New York City. Mother, Ellen Douglas (Brookes) Brown; daughter of Alfred and Ellen Douglas (Loomis) Brookes of New York City.

The Hill School. Biology course; Class Secretary Junior year and Historian Senior year; member St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia, 1891–94 (M.D. 1894); interne Bellevue Hospital 1894–97; medical inspector with New York Board of Health 1893-1903; practiced medicine in New York City 1897-1908; in charge of foreign medical section Ancon Hospital, Panama, 1908–10; postgraduate work in Allgemeines Krankerhaus, Vienna, 1910; practiced medicine in California 1911–15; physician in charge of first U.S. Government Hospital for Natives, Juneau, Alaska, 1915–17; in U.S. Army July 25, 1917–July 11, 1919; Captain, Medical Corps, July 25, 1917; promoted to Major April 25, 1918, and Lieutenant Colonel February 18, 1919; regimental surgeon, 55th Infantry, Camp Forrest, Ga., and Camp McArthur, Texas; in charge medical section Evacuation Hospital, 77th Division, Toul area, Meuse-Argonne offensive; gassed November 2, 1918; medical director Texas Oil Company, Tampico, Mexico, 1920–21; director U.S. Public Health Service, Santa Fé, N.Mex., 1923-24; made a trip around the world 1924-25; specialist in gastro-enterology in medical service of U.S. Veterans' Bureau since 1926; assigned to Memphis, Tenn., 1926-29, Washington, D.C., 1929-31, Rutland Heights, Mass., 1931-32, and Castle Point, N.Y., since 1932; fellow American Medical Association and American College of Physicians; member Dutchess County Medical Society and Unitarian Church.

Married (1) November 23, 1908, in Panama, Emma Birdsall Quick, daughter of Anson Beebe and Catherine (Egbert) Birdsall. No children. Mrs. Brown died April 15, 1924. Married (2) December 4, 1934, in Memphis, Helen Louise, daughter of Charles Lee and Laura Belle (Bass) Carter.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Green Mountain Cemetery, Burlington, Vt. Survived by wife and two brothers, Herbert P. Brown of St. Michaels, Md., and Elliot C. Brown (C.E. Princeton 1904) of Rye, N.Y.

Henry Albert Carpenter, Ph.B. 1891.

Born September 26, 1869, in Willimantic, Conn. Died March 5, 1937, in Calcutta, India.

Father, Charles Edwin Carpenter, a merchant in Willimantic and mayor of the city; son of Noah Avery and Abbey (Carpenter) Carpenter of Attleboro, Mass. Mother, Susan Emily (Prosser) Carpenter; daughter of Oliver and Louise (Colvin) Prosser of West Warwick, R.I.

Willimantic High School. Mechanical engineering course.

In charge of construction of gas holders, R. D. Wood & Company, Camden, N J., 1891–95; gas engineer Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, manufacturers of gas works and steel in Pittsburgh, Pa., 1895–1907, president 1907–09, and vice-president in charge of operations 1909 until retirement in 1916; had traveled extensively since retirement; member American Society of Mechanical Engineers and American Gas Association.

Married June 12, 1895, in Bloomfield, N.J., Jessamine Nelson, daughter of Henry Ball Walker. A son died in infancy. Mrs. Carpenter died May 5, 1919.

Death due to paralysis. Survived by a brother, Harold Carpenter, '98 S., and a nephew, Charles H. Carpenter, '31 S.

Noyes Dwight Clark, Ph.B. 1891.

Born April 2, 1869, in Woodbridge, Conn. Died March 17, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Dwight Noyes Clark, a livestock dealer in Bethany, Conn.; representative in Connecticut Legislature 1859 and 1860; First Selectman and Town Agent 1861–69; son of Noyes and Mary Abigail (Clark) Clark of Woodbridge. Mother, Althea (Bradley) Clark; daughter of Jason Willis and Elizabeth (Sperry) Bradley of Bethany.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course; prizes for excellence in all studies of Freshman year and also in physics and mathematics, and in civil engineering Senior year; Commencement Speaker

Student in civil engineering at Yale (C.E. 1894); in city engineer's office, New Haven, 1895–96; traveled in Europe, Nova Scotia, and Quebec 1896–97; investigated timber tracts in West Virginia, Tennessee, and North Carolina 1898–99; in 1900 took over management of his father's business affairs and real-estate interests; member Connecticut Legislature and clerk of joint standing committee on education 1903– 04; secretary of the Class of 1891 S. for a number of years; member Sons of the American Revolution and New Haven Colony Historical Society; gave the funds for a library building in Bethany and provided in his will for construction of a similar building in Woodbridge as memorials to his parents; attended Woodbridge Congregational Church.

Unmarried.

Death due to pulmonary edema. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by no immediate relatives. By the terms of his will Mr. Clark established the Dwight N. and Noyes D. Clark Scholarship Fund in the Sheffield Scientific School, gave his previous loans of furniture, paintings, and other items to the School of the Fine Arts, and his collection of coins to the University.

Edward Sherman Nettleton, Ph.B. 1892.

Born October 24, 1868, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 23, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, John Francis Nettleton, a farmer in Westville, Conn., and Ogle County, Ill.; served in 72d Illinois Infantry in Civil War; son of Oliver and Sarah (Treat) Nettleton of New Haven. Mother, Sarah Langdon (Peck) Nettleton; daughter of Evelin and Louisa (Shumway) Peck of Berlin, Conn.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course; prize for excellence in chemistry and honorable mention in German Freshman year.

Overseer of construction on fortification work Fort Wadsworth, Staten Island, N.Y., 1892–94; engineer on new water supply system at Waterbury, Conn.; draftsman with Purdy & Henderson, construction engineers, New York City, 1894–96; general assistant engineer Bureau of Engineering, Department of Public Works, City of New Haven, 1896–1919, acting city engineer 1919–21, and city engineer since 1921; secretary New Haven City Plan Commission since 1924; member New Haven Zoning Commission 1924–27; director Elm City Building & Loan Association; president New Haven chapter American Association of Engineers 1924–25; member American Society of Civil Engineers, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, Yale Engineering Association, American Road Builders Association, American City Planning Institute, and New Haven Chamber of Commerce; vestryman and treasurer Church of the Epiphany (Episcopal), New Haven, since 1921.

Married June 4, 1901, in West Haven, Conn., Elizabeth Wilson, daughter of William Hyndman (LL.B. Harvard 1871) and Elizabeth Havens (Broderick) Hyndman. Children: John Edward, '26 S., and Elizabeth (Connecticut College ex-'28), the wife of P. Starr Cressy.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Westville Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a brother, George R. Nettleton of Elsinore, Calif.

William Parker Sargent, Ph.B. 1892.

Born December 4, 1868, in Chicago, Ill. Died November 9, 1936, in Barrington, R.I.

Father, Homer Earle Sargent, general manager Northern Pacific Railroad and president Fargo & Southern Railroad; an incorporator of The Pullman Company; son of Asa and Charlotte (Earle) Sargent of Cherry Valley, Mass. Mother, Rebecca Eddy (Wheaton) Sargent; daughter of John Robert and Rebecca Maxwell (Eddy) Wheaton of Warren, R.I. Yale relatives include: Henry B. Sargent, '71 S., Edward R. Sargent, '80 S., George L. Sargent, '81 S., Joseph D. Sargent, '81 S., Russell Sargent, '84 S., and John Sargent, '94 S. (cousins).

South Division High School, Chicago. Mechanical engineering course.

Worked in the shops and laboratories of the Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, 1892-93, 1894-98, and in their sales department 1898-1902; manager Pittsburgh agency of Holtzer-Cabot Electric Company 1902-07; had since lived in Barrington and Providence, R.I.; hunted for big game in the West; member Sons of the American Revolution, Society of Colonial Wars, and Episcopal Church, Barrington.

Married April 7, 1896, in Boston, Mass., Alice, daughter of James Maxwell and Julia Augusta (Gooding) Wheaton. Children: Earle Wheaton, '21 S.; William Parker, Jr., '26 S.; and Richard Maxwell, '30 S.

Death due to chronic endocarditis. Buried in South Cemetery, Warren, R.I. Survived by wife, sons, one grandson, and two brothers, John R W. Sargent, '87 S., and Homer E. Sargent, '96 S. Mr. Sargent bequeathed to Yale for the Peabody Museum his extensive collection of Indian material.

Albert Leslie Sessions, Ph.B. 1892.

Born January 5, 1872, in Bristol, Conn. Died April 29, 1937, in Bristol, Conn.

Father, John Henry Sessions, partner J. H. Sessions & Son, manufacturers of trunk hardware in Bristol; son of John Humphrey and Emily (Bunnell) Sessions of Burlington and Bristol, Conn. Mother, Maria Francena (Woodford) Sessions; daughter of Ephraim and Juliette (French) Woodford of West Avon, Conn.

Bristol High School and Wesleyan Academy, Wilbraham, Mass. Mechanical engineering course; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Entered business with his father in J. H. Sessions & Son in 1893, became a partner in 1899, and was president and treasurer 1905-37; president Bristol Water Company 1905–11, and treasurer 1909–11; treasurer Sessions Clock Company, Forestville, Conn., 1902–17, and a director 1902–34; director Bristol Trust Company 1907–11 and Peck, Stow & Wilcox Company 1918–32; vice-president board of corporators Methodist Church Home 1923–33 (corporator 1920–35 and honorary corporator since 1935); trustee Methodist Episcopal Church, Bristol, 1904–37.

Married February 7, 1894, in Bristol, Leila Belle, daughter of Henry Lee Beach, ex-'61, and Marion (Stevens) Beach, and sister of Arthur G. Beach, ex-'91 S. Children: Paul Beach, '17; Ruth Juliette (B.A. Smith 1919), the wife of Stanwood Hillard Cook; John Henry, 3d (Wesleyan ex-'22); Judith Helen (B.S. Skidmore College 1924), the wife of Robert Henry Ostrander; and Janet Maria (died in 1908). Mrs. Sessions died April 1, 1932.

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by two daughters, two sons, and seven grandchildren.

Ernest Rudolph Folger, Ph.B. 1894.

Born May 8, 1871, in Oakland, Calif. Died November 7, 1936, in Belmont, Calif.

Father, James Athearn Folger, a coffee and tea importer in San Francisco, Calif.; son of Samuel B. and Nancy (Hiller) Folger of Nantucket, Mass. Mother, Ellen (Loughran) Folger. Yale relatives include: James A. Folger, '22, and Peter Folger, '29 (nephews).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Select course; captain Class Crew Freshman year, and rowed on Class Crew Junior and Senior years; vice-president Yale University Boat Club; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Connected with J. A. Folger & Company, coffee and tea importers, San Francisco, since 1894, and president 1921–36; director Thayer Telkee Corporation, Los Angeles; member Episcopal church.

Married August 11, 1897, in Oakland, Elizabeth Claire, daughter of Thomas and Ann (Cannovan) Moffitt. Children: Elizabeth, the wife of Robert Watt Miller, and Elena, the wife of Cyril McNear (B.A. Harvard 1920).

Death due to pleurisy. Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, Piedmont, Calif. Survived by wife, daughters, five grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. LeGrand C. Tibbits of Monte Carlo, Monaco.

Archibald Binford Gwathmey, Ph.B. 1894.

Born January 15, 1874, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died May 13, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Archibald Brown Gwathmey, member of firm of Gwathmey & Company, cotton brokers in New York City; son of Robert Temple Gwathmey of Canterbury, Va. Mother, Annie Amelia (Binford) Gwathmey; daughter of James M. and Mary A. (Rutter) Binford of Portsmouth, Va.

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute; attended Richmond (Va.) College. Select course; received honors in all studies of the Freshman year; Senior appointment; member The Colony and Berzelius.

Member of firm of Gwathmey & Company and of its successors, A A. Housman-Gwathmey & Company, and E. A. Pierce & Company; member New York Cotton Exchange 1903–28 (secretary 1907–08); with American Ambulance Service in France during World War.

Married (1) October 1, 1895, Mary Isabelle, daughter of Harvey Horatio Coomes of New Haven. Divorced in 1923. Married (2) July 4, 1924, in Stamford, Conn., Mrs. Betsy Chapin Judd.

Buried in Richmond, Va. Survived by wife.

Edward Erle Brownell, Ph.B. 1895.

Born March 26, 1874, in Woodland, Calif. Died May 3, 1937, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, William W. Brownell, a banker of Humboldt Wells, Nev. Mother, Harriett V. (Lowe) Brownell; born in Westport, Mass.

Trinity School, San Francisco. Entered Yale in 1891; biology course; general honors Senior year; member Dunham Boat Club and Sigma X1.

Attended Johns Hopkins Medical School 1895–99 (M.D. 1899); because of ill-health 1900–01 gave up professional work for more active life out-of-doors; lived in California and engaged in ranching; member of commission appointed by President Hoover in 1929 to study proposed changes in the boundaries of Yellowstone National Park; member Pacific Union and University clubs.

Married September 10, 1902, in San Francisco, Sophia Gleason (B.A Vassar 1900), daughter of Ira and Sophia G. (Talbot) Pierce. Children: Sophia Pierce (Mrs. Curtis Wood Hutton); Harriett Talbot (Mrs. George Pope, Jr.); and William White.

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Cypress Lawn Cemetery, San Francisco Survived by wife and children.

Charles Augustine Morrogh, Ph.B. 1895.

Born March 27, 1873, in New Brunswick, N.J. Died August 25, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Clifford J. Morrogh, M.D., a physician in New Brunswick. Columbia Grammar School, New York City. Select course; member Theta Delta Chi.

With United Brewers Association until 1917; bond statistician Wall Street Journal from 1917 until retirement in March, 1936.

Married (1) June 6, 1898, in New York City, Clara, daughter of George F. Martin. Mrs. Morrogh died in 1901. Married (2) March 14, 1903, Louise, daughter of Louis and Frances Elvira (Reynolds) Rathbun.

Death due to carcinoma. Survived by wife.

Franck George Darte, Ph.B. 1896.

Born April 12, 1873, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died August 10, 1936, at Spitfire Lake, near Paul Smith's, N.Y.

Father, George Leonard Franck, professor of civil and dynamic engineering University of Pennsylvania. Mother, Alvina (Eckert) Franck. Adopted son of Alfred Darte (Wyoming Seminary 1858), attorney-at-law and judge of Orphans' Court, Luzerne County, Pa., and Caroline (Seeley) Darte.

Wyoming Seminary. Civil engineering course; member University Club, Delta Phi, and St. Elmo.

Studied law in office of the Honorable Henry A. Fuller in Wilkes-Barre, Pa., 1896-99; minute clerk Court of Common Pleas, Luzerne County, 1897-98; admitted to bar in 1899; attorney in Wilkes-Barre 1901-36; assistant district attorney one term; president Wilkes-Barre Can Company 1918-30, and vice-president since 1930; president Jackson (Tenn.) Home Telephone Company 1914-29 and Guarantee Title Mortgage Company 1929-30; director Hanover Fire Insurance Company since 1907, Miners National Bank since 1908 (secretary of the board 1931-36), Founders Investment Corporation since 1929; a trustee Wyoming Seminary 1911-36 (president board of trustees since 1920); trustee Wilkes-Barre General Hospital 1916-36 and Home for Friendless Children 1934-36; member Pennsylvania National Guard 1896-1910 (in U.S. volunteer service, 9th Pennsylvania Regiment in 1898; Captain 1901, Major 1904, Lieutenant Colonel 1906); secretary Exemption Board No. 1, Wilkes-Barre, during World War; had served Yale Alumni Association of the Wyoming Valley in different offices; '96 S. Alumni Fund agent 1926–32; member St. Stephen's Episcopal Church, Wilkes-Barre.

!

Married February 27, 1906, in Wilkes-Barre, Dorothy Ellen, daughter of Allan Hamilton Dickson, ex-'72, and Kate (Pettebone) Dickson Children: Allan Dickson (died 1911) and Katharine Dickson (B.A. Vassar 1935).

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Forty-Fort (Pa.) Cemetery. Survived by wife and daughter.

Cornelius Joseph Gaffney, Ph.B. 1897.

Born December 8, 1875, in Orange, Conn. Died October 25, 1936, in New York City.

Father, James Gaffney, superintendent of schools, West Haven, Conn.; son of Cornelius and Mary (Cooney) Gaffney of County Caven, Ireland. Mother, Annie (Cronin) Gaffney; daughter of John and Annie Cronin of County Caven.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven. Civil engineering course.

Chainman Metropolitan Street Railway Company, New York City, 1897–98, and rodman 1898–99; rodman Third Avenue Railroad Company, New York City, 1899–1900; assistant engineer Board of Rapid Transit Railroad Commissioners, New York City, 1901–08, Public Service Commission, New York City, 1908–09, and Board of Transportation, New York City, 1909–36; member Church of Our Lady of Mount Carmel (Roman Catholic), Astoria, Long Island.

Married September 16, 1903, in New York City, Kathryn, daughter of James and Bridget (Byrne) Mee. Son, Cornelius (died 1905).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Queens County, NY. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Bernhard Beinecke, Jr., Ph.B. 1898.

Born July 15, 1876, in New York City. Died July 9, 1936, in Monrovia, Calif.

Father, Bernhard Beinecke, born in Elberfeld, Germany; came to United States 1865; president Eastman Company, Ltd. (meat packers in New York City), Commonwealth Bank, and Hammond Hotel Company; son of John and Christine (Knipscher) Beinecke of Germany. Mother, Johanna Elizabeth (Weigle) Beinecke; daughter of Gottlob Helmuth and Caroline Sontag (Engesser) Weigle of New York City. Yale relatives include a nephew, William S. Beinecke, '36.

Columbia Grammar School, New York City. Chemistry course; member Theta Delta Chi.

Manager Hotel Essex, Boston, 1898–1903; traveled abroad 1904; postmaster, Melville, Mont., in 1906 and later president Melville Trading Company; member of firm of Bryant & Beinecke, importers and exporters, Los Angeles; statistician Sperry & Hutchinson Company (brother Edwin J. Beinecke, ex-'07, president), advertising agency in New York City, 1924–36; resided in Monrovia; member Church of the Divine Paternity, New York City.

Married October 19, 1904, in Melville, Elizabeth Agnes, daughter of Paul Ledyard and Alice (David) VanCleve. Children: Helen Scarlett and Theodora Johanna.

Death due to cardiac decompensation and chronic nephritis. Buried in Liveoak Cemetery, Monrovia. Survived by wife, daughters, mother, three brothers, Edwin J. Beinecke, ex-'07, Frederick W. Beinecke, '09 S., and Walter Beinecke, ex-'10, and two sisters, Theodora Beinecke Strong of New York City, widow of Edwin A. Strong, ex-'00 S., and Mrs. Fritz Weickert of Leipzig, Germany.

Edward Reed Ingraham, Ph.B. 1898.

Born October 23, 1876, in Hartford, Conn Died March 2, 1937, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Clarence Bancroft Ingraham, associated with the Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company, Hartford; son of James Ingraham, Jr., and Sarah (Bancroft) Ingraham of Vergennes, Vt. Mother, Virginia Hart (Reed) Ingraham; daughter of Edward Mordicai and Mary Catherine (Kreider) Reed of New Haven, Conn.

Hartford Public High School. Civil engineering course; member University Club, Hartford Club, and The Colony and Berzelius.

Civil engineer with Mexican International Railroad and New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company; general agent in New Haven for Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company 1904-08; assistant civil engineer Connecticut River Bridge and Highway District Commission 1908-13; secretary Hartford Life Insurance Company 1913-16; assisted in Federal Food Administration for Connecticut 1917-18; manager property-management department Herbert F. Fisher Real Estate Company, Hartford, since 1922; member Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford.

Married July 27, 1927, in Hartford, Louise Emma, daughter of Henry Theodore and Emma (Burnotte) Warnecke.

Death due to hypernephroma, Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife and a brother, Dr. Clarence B. Ingraham, '02 S. (M.D. Johns Hopkins 1906).

Irvin Wilbur Sanford, Ph.B. 1898.

Born December 20, 1873. in Shehawken, Pa Died September 7, 1936, in Rutherford, N.J.

Father, Francis Burrall Sanford, a Methodist minister in Pennsylvania; son of Joseph and Mary (Woodmansee) Sanford of Shehawken. Mother, Emily Louise (Muzzy) Sanford. Yale relatives include: Robert G. Sanford, '05 (cousin), and Leon S. Bohlman, '31 S. (nephew).

The Hotchkiss School. Select course; in second Glee Club Freshman year; on University Basketball Team Junior year.

Taught at The Hotchkiss School 1898–1904; engineer Wege Marble & Tile Company of Alton, Ill., and St Louis, Mo., 1904–08; salesman Welsbach Company, Columbus, Ohio, 1908–11; salesman Eclipse Folding Machine Company 1911–21; independently engaged in electrical business in Columbus 1921–24, road inspector New Jersey State Highway Commission 1924–26 and Connecticut State Highway Commission 1926–28; in business for himself in Milford, Conn., as a contractor for stone flagging 1928–36; deacon Church of Christ (Congregational), Milford, since 1934.

Married August 29, 1900, in Bridgeport, Conn., Mabel Llewellyn, daughter of William Morgan and Sarah Elizabeth (Simpson) Thomas. Children Wilbur Thomas; Emily Louise (B.S Ohio State University 1925), the wife of Richard N. Platt, '27; and Frances Llewellyn (Ohio State University 1920–21), the wife of Robert Melsheimer (Ohio State University 1920–21). Mrs. Sanford died August 2, 1934.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by children, three grandchildren, two half brothers, Clarence H Sanford, '05 S., and Arthur G. Sanford of Pittsfield, Mass., and two half sisters, Mrs. Walter Mosher of Cobleskill, NY, and Mrs Charles Bohlman of Lakeville, Conn.

Zenas Harrison Sikes, Ph.B. 1898.

Born March 5, 1874, in Suffield, Conn. Died August 1, 1936, in Yonkers, N.Y.

Father, Zenas Lewis Sikes, a farmer in Suffield; son of Lewis Zenas and Margaret (Stebbins) Sikes of Suffield, Conn. Mother, Emma Caroline (Harrison) Sikes; daughter of William Robinson and Susan Lydia (Kasson) Harrison of Bethlehem, Conn. Yale relatives include: Dr. Wallace K Harrison, '74, and Rev. Fosdick B. Harrison, '93 D. (uncles)

Williston Academy Civil engineering course; honorable mention in elementary German and mathematics Junior year; honors in civil engineering Senior year; member Sigma Xi.

Draftsman and transitman with Pennsylvania Railroad Company

working on lines west of Pittsburgh 1898–1901; draftsman and estimator, bridge department, Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, 1901–06; designer and estimator on railroad and highway bridges New York Central System 1906–10 and assistant engineer of structures since 1910; trustee Y.M.C.A., Yonkers; director Railroad Y.M.C.A., New York City, since 1930; member American Society of Civil Engineers and Baptist Church of the Redeemer, Yonkers.

Married February 12, 1900, in Palmer, Mass., Jennie Louise, daughter of Cecil Henry and Emma Jane (Kendall) Fuller Children: Marion Emma, the wife of Ernest A. Warner (Bentley School of Accounting and Finance 1925); and Ralph Fuller, '31, '35 M

Death due to chronic endocarditis. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Suffield. Survived by wife, children, one grandchild, three brothers, Franklin V. Sikes, '00, Olin L. Sikes, '01 S, and Wallace H. Sikes, and a half sister, Zena Sikes Conley, the wife of Walter J. Conley (E.E. Syracuse University 1908) of Cranford, N.J.

Walter Henry Sykes, Jr., Ph.B. 1898.

Born March 20, 1877, 1n New York City. Died September 28, 1936, 1n New York City.

Father, Walter Henry Sykes (B.A. University of Oxford 1868); born in Huddersfield, Yorkshire, England, and came to United States in 1869; manager of E. H. VanIngen & Company, wholesale woolen importers, New York City; son of David and Ann (Parry) Sykes. Mother, Anna (Bell) Sykes, whose parents came from Bradford, Yorkshire, England.

Wilson & Kellogg School, New York City. Civil engineering course; honors Senior year; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Served in Light Battery A, First Regiment Artillery, Connecticut Volunteers, Niantic, Conn., May 18-October 25, 1898; with Post & Flagg, members of New York Stock Exchange, since 1898, cashier 1902-08, executive assistant 1908-16, and partner 1916-36; governor New York Curb Exchange 1922-36; president Association of Stock Exchange Firms 1924-26 and Knollwood Golf Club 1933-36; director executive committee New York Curb Security Clearing Association and New York Curb Realty Association; member St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married October 5, 1909, in New York City, Marguerite Mesier, daughter of Charles Nathaniel and Julie Huston (Burns) Coles. Daughter, Peggy.

Death due to appendicitis. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Kensico, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, and two half brothers, Howard C Sykes, ex-'13 S., and Edward P. Sykes, '16 S

Harry LeBreton Gray, Ph.B. 1899.

Born June 11, 1876, in Springfield, Mass. Died July 16, 1936, in Rochester, N.Y.

Father, William Henry Gray, partner in firm of H. & J. Brewer, druggists, Springfield; son of Daniel and Marcella (Woodard) Gray of Enfield, Conn. Mother, Sarah Higginson Astley (Stickney) Gray; daughter of Dr. Peter LeBreton Stickney (B.A. Dartmouth 1839; M.D. Jefferson Medical College 1842) and Marie Rhea (Astley) Stickney of Chicopee and Springfield, Mass.

Springfield High School. Chemistry course; attended Sheffield Scientific School 1894–95 and 1897–99; two-year honors Senior year.

With Eastman Kodak Company, Rochester, since graduation; assistant in industrial chemical laboratory 1899–1900, assistant to superintendent of films and head chemist 1900–01, superintendent of films 1901–14, and head of department of organic chemistry research since 1914; contributed to *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *Chemical Reviews*, *Chemical Market*, and *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, charter member Rochester Section, American Chemical Society (member executive committee 1913–36, chairman 1917, councilor since 1918, chairman cellulose division 1924–26, and building committee 1924–25, member endowment committee 1925–27, and committee on hazardous chemicals and explosives 1926–36); chairman chemical committee Rochester Chamber of Commerce; member Society of Chemical Industry.

Married September 15, 1903, in Brantford, Ontario, Grace Isabel Brophey (diploma in music Moulton College [Toronto] 1898), daughter of Edward and Rotha Hobart (Adams) Brophey. Son, Edward LeBreton (B.S. Hamilton College 1927; Yale Graduate School 1927– 28; Ph D. University of Rochester 1934).

Death due to carcinoma of the liver. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Rochester. Survived by wife, son, and one grandson.

Frank Herman Lindenberg, Ph.B. 1899.

Born July 31, 1877, in Columbus, Ohio. Died May 13, 1937, at Miami Beach, Fla.

Father, Charles Herman Lindenberg, came to United States in 1854 from Germany; president M C. Lilley & Company, manufacturers in Columbus. Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (Robbins) Lindenberg. Yale relatives include. Otto H Lindenberg, '99 S., George W. Lindenberg, '02, and Philip H. Lindenberg, '16 (cousins).

Michigan Military Academy, Orchard Lake, Mich., and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course. Associated with Columbus Brass Company 1899–1931 (apprentice and timekeeper, advertising agent 1901–02, assistant manager 1902– 03, manager 1903–07, treasurer 1904–07, vice-president [inactive] until 1931); vice-president Bruce Electric Company, Columbus, 1906–08; promoted and organized Ohio & Texas Sugar Company of Brownsville, Texas, 1907 (president and treasurer 1907–11); research engineer Jeffry Manufacturing Company, Columbus, 1911 until retirement in 1914; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Columbus.

Married September 29, 1904, in Columbus, Desha Darling Hubbard (Ohio State University ex-'02), daughter of Charles Mantle and Clara Catherine (Diehl) Hubbard. Children: Charles Herman (B.S. Ohio State University 1928); Carl Richard (B.S. University of Miami [Fla.] 1935); and Frank Hubbard, ex-'33 S.

Death due to an acute heart attack. Buried in Green Lawn Cemetery, Columbus. Survived by wife, sons, and two brothers, Leo Lindenberg of Cincinnati, Ohio, and Paul Lindenberg, '03. His brothers, Carl R. Lindenberg, '95 S., and Robert Lindenberg, ex-'05 S, died in 1928 and 1925 respectively.

Philip Troup, Ph.B. 1900.

Born May 22, 1878, in New Haven, Conn. Died August 31, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Alexander Troup, born in Halifax, Nova Scotia, and came to United States 1856; cofounder and editor *New Haven Union*; Democratic leader in Connecticut for many years; son of Alexander and Elizabeth (Nevers) Troup of Halifax. Mother, Augusta (Lewis) Troup; daughter of Charles and Elizabeth (deRoch) Lewis of New York City.

Hopkins Grammar School. Select course; member Intercollegiate Debating Committee; president Sheff Debating Society; vice-president Yale Debating Association Senior year.

Attended Yale School of Law 1900-03 (LL.B. 1903; Wayland Prize Speaker; member Kent Club); admitted to New York bar 1903; counsel for Metropolitan and Interborough Railway System, New York City, 1903-07; a founder and member of the National Press Bureau, Washington, D.C., 1907-08; upon the death of his father in 1908 became editor of the *New Haven Union* and served in this capacity until 1914; postmaster of New Haven 1914-22; editor *New Haven Union* 1922 until it merged with the *New Haven Times-Leader* in 1927; partner Troup, Quinn & O'Brien 1927-36; president and taught law Connecticut College of Commerce 1929-35 when name was changed to Junior College of Commerce (chairman board of trustees 1935-36); judge of the City Court 1931-33; director New Haven; member

′ م

Board of Education 1908–12; Democratic candidate for mayor of New Haven 1927 and 1929; received cross of chevalier of the Crown of Italy in 1925 in recognition of his activities in Italian immigration; member Class reunion committees, governing board of Mory's Association, and New Haven County Bar Association.

Married November 23, 1907, in Buffalo, N.Y., Daisy Emily, daughter of Benjamin Spencer and Sophia Emily (Ryckman) Sherman. Daughter, Mary Jane, the wife of Ralph T. Marcello (Ph.B. Holy Cross 1932; LL.B. Georgetown 1936).

Death, due to aortic stenosis and insufficiency, occurred after an illness of several years. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughter, a brother, Alexander Troup, Jr., and three sisters, Miss Grace Troup and George Bernardine Troup Glynn, the wife of Vincent dePaul Glynn (B.A. Catholic University 1921; LL.B. Yale 1928), and Mrs. Elsie T. Daignault, all of New Haven.

Charles Edwin Day, Ph.B. 1901.

Born February 15, 1879, in Lakeville, Conn. Died November 9, 1936, in Alexandria, Va.

Father, Charles Day, a cutler and market gardener in Lakeville; son of George and Anne (Burgess) Day, who came from Worcester, England, in 1844 and settled in Amesville, Conn. Mother, Irene Ellen (Gillette) Day; daughter of Lawrence and Abigail (Lawrence) Gillette of Canaan, Conn.

The Hotchkiss School. Chemistry course.

Chemist for Pennsylvania Railroad Company at Altoona, Pa., 1901–06; chief chemist Southern Railway System, Alexandria, since September 1, 1906; part owner Virginia Testing Laboratory, Richmond; member American Chemical Society.

Married October 1, 1907, in New Haven, Conn., Harriet May, daughter of Samuel Dryden and Helen (DeMond) Betts. Children: Harriet Irene; Charles Gladstone (George Washington University ex-'37), and George Samuel (George Washington University 1938).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Ivy Hill Cemetery, Alexandria. Survived by wife, children, five sisters, Mrs. John S. Le-Fevre of Burnsville, N.C., Miss Lena L. Day (B.S. Columbia 1926, M.A. 1928) of East Orange, N.J., Miss Abbie G. Day (New England Conservatory of Music 1908) of Lakeville, Miss Elizabeth I. Day (B.A. Vassar 1909) of Chester, Conn., and Mrs. George L Alpers of Westfield, N.J., and two brothers, Earle W. and Henry M. Day, both of Lakeville.

166

Jacob Duhan, Ph.B. 1901.

Born October 13, 1878, in Courland, Russia. Died November 8, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Lazarus Duhan, a news dealer in New York City; son of Menuhin and Etta (Levenson) Duhan of Memel, Germany. Mother, Celia (Levenson) Duhan; daughter of Abraham Levenson of Memel. Yale relatives include: Dr. Eliot Duhan, '27 S. (nephew); and Ethel R. Duhan, '34 Art (niece).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, Conn. Electrical engineering course.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1901-02; with General Electric Company in Pittsburgh, Pa., 1902-06, and sales manager Salt Lake City, Utah, 1906-08; sales manager Montana Electric Company, Butte, Mont., 1913-21; with New York Life Insurance Company 1922-23; treasurer Queens County News Company, New York City, 1923-34; accountant Fur Division, Bureau of Internal Revenue, 1934-36; member Temple of the Covenant, New York City.

Married October 23, 1913, in Butte, Dena Ziborah, daughter of Henry and Sophia (Kahner) Auerbach. Children: Charles Sigmund (St. John's College, Brooklyn, 1939) and Howard Lawrence.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in New Mount Carmel Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, sons, three sisters, Mrs. David W. Haber, Mrs. Aaron Pearlman, and Mrs. Adolph Kramer, of New York City, and three brothers, Morris and Maxwell G. Duhan of New York City, and Adam Duhan of New Haven.

Nelson Camp Johnson, Ph.B. 1901.

Born December 12, 1879, in Portsmouth, Ohio. Died April 17, 1937, at Natural Bridge, Va.

Father, Sherman Gilbert Johnson, member of firm of Johnson & Roads, manufacturers of carriage hubs and spokes in Portsmouth; son of Samuel Camp and Phoebe Baldwin (Camp) Johnson of Ironton, Ohio; both were born in Durham, Conn. Mother, Emily Harriet (Savage) Johnson; daughter of William Henry and Adah Ann (Camp) Savage of Berlin and Middletown, Conn.

Meriden (Conn.) High School. Mechanical engineering course.

Associated with Foster, Merriam & Company, iron and brass foundry, Meriden, Conn., from graduation until retirement about 1928 because of ill-health (secretary 1912–28, superintendent 1916, assistant general manager 1920); active in Masonic circles and member First Congregational Church, Meriden.

Unmarried.

()

-

Death due to heart failure. Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden. Survived by two brothers, Sherman F. Johnson, '97, and William S. Johnson, '00.

Hugh MacKean Jones, Ph.B. 1901.

Born August 12, 1878, in Allegheny, Pa. Died July 15, 1936, in Canandaigua, N.Y.

Father, George Marshall Jones, treasurer Kelly & Jones Company, manufacturers of valves and pipe fittings, Pittsburgh, Pa.; son of Marshall and Barbara Ann (Root) Jones of Sudbury, Mass. Mother, Mary Viola (MacKean) Jones; daughter of Hugh Straley and Isabelle (Lindsay) MacKean of Allegheny.

Central High School, Pittsburgh. Select course; prize for excellence in chemistry Freshman year; honors Junior year; two-year honors Senior year; president of Class Senior year; secretary and treasurer Sheffield Debating Society Senior year.

Connected with Kelly & Jones Company 1901 until retirement in 1925; had been vice-president of the company for some years; lived in Acton, Mass., until 1935 when he moved to Canandaigua; member Edgewood Board of Education, Pittsburgh, 1917–22; burgess of Edgewood 1922–27; member Society of Mayflower Descendants, Sons of the American Revolution, and Pittsburgh Chamber of Commerce.

Married (1) October 24, 1901, in Pittsburgh, Myra Olivia, daughter of Josiah Benjamin and Catherine (Wismer) Nobbs. Children: Annie Lee, the wife of Lee Charles Wassell (D.D.S. University of Pittsburgh 1921), Mary Catherine, the wife of Frederick S. Wallace (Carnegie Institute of Technology 1907-09); and Hugh MacKean, Jr., '33. Mrs. Jones died June 2, 1919. Married (2) February 14, 1925, in Pittsburgh, Helena, daughter of Peter Dickson and Mary Elizabeth (Brady) McKercher Son, George Marshall, 3d.

Death due to aplastic anemia. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Canandaigua. Survived by wife, children, father, and a brother, George M. Jones, Jr., of Annapolis, Md.

[Watson] Cooke Lewis, Ph.B. 1901.

Born November 22, 1879, in St. Louis, Mo. Died April 5, 1937, in Brookline, Mass.

Father, Edward Simmons Lewis, president St. Louis Star; son of Judge Edward Augustus Lewis and Parthenia A. (Bransford) Lewis of St. Louis. Mother, Pattie (Cooke) Lewis; daughter of Watson M. and Maria A. (Shoves) Cooke of Nashville, Tenn.

Smith Academy, St. Louis. Select course; vice-president St. Louis

Club Junior and Senior years; member Sheff Debating Society, Cap and Gown Committee, University Club, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Engaged in the wholesale drygoods business in St. Louis 1901-06; farming in Texas 1906-08; salesman Woods Electric Automobile Company, St. Louis, 1908-11; sales manager Missouri Black Enamel & Paint Company, St. Louis, 1911-12; assistant auditing department Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, St. Louis, 1912-17; with American Red Cross in Washington, D.C., 1917-21; comptroller Liberty Mutual Insurance Company in Boston, Mass., 1921-24, and vice-president and comptroller 1924-37; vice-president American Management Association 1930-32 and a director 1929-30; director New England Office Management Association 1930-31 and Controllers Institute of America since 1936; member St. John's Methodist Church, St. Louis.

Married March 18, 1911, in St. Louis, Helen Marie (Carrick) McLemore, daughter of Dr. Anthony Lawless Carrick and Marie (DeRoode) Carrick. No children.

Death due to prostatic obstruction. Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis. Survived by wife, father, two sisters, Marian Lewis English, the wife of Fred L. English (B.A. Washington University; LL.B. Harvard 1910), and Mrs. Charles V. Hill, of New York City, and a brother, Edward McE. Lewis, ex-'05 S.

Jeptha Homer Wade, Jr., Ph.B. 1901.

Born September 20, 1879, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died December 3, 1936, in Thomasville, Ga.

Father, Jeptha Homer Wade (M.A. Western Reserve 1903), capitalist in Cleveland; son of Randall Palmer and Anna Rebecca (McGaw) Wade of Cleveland. Mother, Ellen (Garretson) Wade; daughter of Hiram and Ellen M. (Howe) Garretson of Cleveland. Yale relatives include: Randall W. Everett, '03 S., and S. Homer Everett, '06 S. (cousins).

University School, Cleveland. Mechanical engineering course; chairman Class Day Committee Senior year; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Independently engaged in real-estate and insurance business in Cleveland 1901–10; vice-president Wade Realty Company 1910–16, 1926–36; Private U.S. Army Ambulance Service, 1917–19, serving with the French Army in the Champagne and Ardennes districts; awarded *Croix de guerre* with gold star in 1918; trustee Cleveland Museum of Natural History 1927–34; director Union Trust Company, Cleveland; member Loyal Legion, American Legion, and Veterans of Foreign Wars. Married (1) September 18, 1917, in Chicago, Ill., Alice Maxwell Reynolds Pickands, widow of Jay M. Pickands, '02, and daughter of Josiah G. and Jeannie (Kennedy) Reynolds. Mrs. Wade died January 22, 1919. Married (2) April 11, 1931, in New York City, Elizabeth Alice, daughter of Joseph Henry and Margaret A. (Lewis) Firth.

Death, due to coronary thrombosis, occurred at Mill Pond Plantation, his winter home in Georgia. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, a brother, George G. Wade, '04 S., and a sister, Helen Wade Greene, the wife of Edward B. Greene, '00, a member of the Yale Corporation since 1925.

Carroll Trow Runyon, Ph.B. 1902.

Born June 1, 1880, in Plainfield, N.J. Died April 8, 1937, in Newark, N.J.

Father, Nelson Runyon, a lawyer in Plainfield; city judge of Plainfield; member 30th New Jersey Volunteers in Civil War; son of Squire and Mary (LaFarge) Runyon of Green Brook, N.J. Mother, Wilhelmina Frances (Trow) Runyon; daughter of William and Jane (Adams) Trow of Brooklyn, N.Y.

Mr Leal's School for Boys, Plainfield. Mechanical engineering course; on Athletic Squad Junior year; a Cup man and Class Historian; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

With Ingersoll-Rand Company, Easton, Pa., and other companies 1902–12; mechanical engineering work with International Motor Company 1915–30 (at Plainfield plant 1915–16, 1920–21, 1928–30, New York office 1918–20, Long Island plant 1921–28); member National Association Stationary Engineers.

Married June 17, 1916, in Plainfield, Josephine Elizabeth (Joseph) Woodward, daughter of Stephen Britten and Sarah Elizabeth (Collins) Joseph.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield. Survived by wife, and a stepson, Stephen Britten Runyon, ex-'30.

Bradford Milton Couch, Ph.B. 1903.

Born May 9, 1883, in Nyack, N Y. Died April 23, 1937, in Venice, Fla.

Father, Louis Bradford Couch (M.D. New York Homeopathic College 1874), a physician and surgeon in Nyack; son of Bradford Milton and Lucy Lucinda (Davis) Couch of Lee, Mass. Mother, Natalie Phillipina (Kreuder) Couch; daughter of Charles and Augusta (Matthews) Kreuder of Haverstraw, N.Y.

Hudson River Military Academy, Nyack. Chemistry course; busi-

ness manager Yale Scientific Monthly Senior year; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Metallurgist at Cleveland plant of the United States Steel Corporation 1903; entered investment business in Cleveland with Lamprecht Brothers & Company later that year; in New York City with banking house of C. D. Shepard & Company 1904-05; with brokerage firm of Lawrence Barnum & Company 1905-06; manager securities department, Flint & Company, industrial organizers in Philadelphia, Pa., 1906-13; vice-president Investment Registry of America, Inc., of Philadelphia 1914-37; trustee First Investment Fund 1922-30; resided at Green Hill, West Chester, Pa., and at Osprey, Fla.

Married November 25, 1914, in New York City, Lillian Pauline, daughter of Charles and May (Hertz) Tilp. No children.

Death due to cardiovascular renal disease with hypertension. Buried in Mount Repose Cemetery, Haverstraw. Survived by wife and four sisters, Misses Natalie (LL.B. Fordham 1924), Hilda (B.A. Smith 1922), and Lucille Couch, of Nyack, and Donna Couch Kern (B.A. Smith 1917), the wife of Richard A. Kern (B.A. University of Pennsylvania 1910; M.D. 1914).

John Farson, Ph.B. 1904.

Born June 3, 1882, in Chicago, Ill. Died June 25, 1937, in New York City.

Father, John Farson; president of Farson, Son & Company, investment brokers, in Chicago; son of John Thomas and Harriet Caroline (Page) Farson of Chicago. Mother, Mamie (Ashworth) Farson; daughter of William and Martha (Thornton) Ashworth of Chicago.

Phillips-Andover. Select course; on Freshman Baseball Team, Apollo and University Banjo and Mandolin clubs; member University Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Entered business in Chicago with his father; removed to New York in 1906; partner Farson, Son & Company, investment bonds, since 1906; member New York Stock Exchange 1906–24; for some years director Art Metals Construction Company, Jamestown, N.Y., and Liquidation & Realization Company, New York City; member New York Athletic Club, Lawyers' Club, and St. James Protestant Episcopal Church, New York City.

Married April 19, 1905, in Chicago, Pearl Isabelle, daughter of Rodney Augustus and Prudence Belle (MacGary) Laverty. Children: John, 3d, '31, and Rodney (died October 15, 1934).

Death due to heart failure. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, one son, mother, and a brother, William Farson, '09 S. (died October 17, 1937).

John Michael Clancey, Ph.B. 1905.

Born July 4, 1884, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 1, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Michael Clancey, an iron moulder in New Haven; born in County Roscommon, Ireland. Mother, Hannah (Sexton) Clancey; born in County Clare, Ireland.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Electrical engineering course; entered Sheffield Scientific School in 1901; joined Class of 1905 S. in Junior year.

In electrical testing laboratories of the General Electric Company, Schenectady, N.Y., 1905-07; with the Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company on the New Haven Railroad electrification about 1907; inspector in charge of factory tests of incandescent lamps Electrical Testing Laboratories, New York City, 1917-19; taught in Parental and Probationary School, New York City, since 1926; member Yale Engineering Association.

Unmarried.

Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a sister, Miss Catherine Clancey of New York City.

James Bond Curtiss, Ph.B. 1905.

Born May 1, 1883, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Died December 5, 1936, at Fort Erie, Ont., Canada.

Father, Walter Langden Curtiss, a lumber merchant with offices in Buffalo, son of Peter and Eliza (Wadsworth) Curtiss of Buffalo. Mother, Alice (Bond) Curtiss (Wells College 1872); daughter of James and Mary (Marshall) Bond of Utica, N.Y.

Buffalo Central High School. Forestry course; member Swimming Team Junior and Senior years and of the Water Polo Team Junior year, manager and president Swimming Association Senior year.

In lumber business with his father in Buffalo and in Eastern Kentucky 1905-06, and in Northern Canada 1906-08; partner Invisible Frozen Ink Company and the Niagara Frontier Development Company, served as United States vice-consul at Fort Erie for five years and at Bridgeburg, Ontario; supervisor Curtiss Airplane Company in Buffalo 1914-19; production manager Tuttle & Bailey Manufacturing Company, Bridgeburg, 1919-24, and Hart & Cooley plant, Fort Erie, 1924-36; resided in Buffalo and member Church of the Transfiguration (Episcopal).

Married September 9, 1914, at Fort Erie, Gladys, daughter of Edgerton Elliot and Charlotte Augusta (Warren) Riselay. Children: Alice Bond and Margaret Riselay. Death due to accidental poisoning by carbon monoxide gas. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by wife, daughters, and a sister, Miss Emily M. Curtiss of Buffalo.

William Tyler Berry, Ph.B. 1906.

Born October 9, 1884, in Nashville, Tenn. Died March 10, 1937, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, Coburn Dewees Berry, '68. Mother, Amanda McNairy (Kırkman) Berry. Yale relatives include a nephew, John K. Berry, '31.

Hotchkiss and the University School, Nashville. Civil engineering course; member The Colony and Berzelius.

In real-estate firm of Hagan & Company, Nashville, for some years; became partner in real-estate firm of Early & Berry in Nashville about 1921 and had continued independently under the same firm name since his partner's death; member Davidson County Board of Education 1916-37; trustee Montgomery Bell Academy for Boys.¹

Married June 24, 1916, in Nashville, Mary Washington, daughter of George Newton and Martha (Washington) Tillman. Son, Coburn Dewees.

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Nashville. Survived by wife and son. His brothers, John K. Berry, '96, Coburn D. Berry, '99, and James P. K. Berry, ex-'04 S., died in 1927, 1901, and 1903 respectively.

Marcus Gaylord Merwin, Ph.B. 1906.

Born February 25, 1883, in New Milford, Conn. Died October 6, 1936, in New Milford, Conn.

Father, Joseph Butler Merwin, a farmer in New Milford; son of Marcus Elliott and Orria Ann (Gaylord) Merwin of New Milford. Mother, Mary Agnes (Beach) Merwin (Mount Holyoke 1868); daughter of Merritt and Mary Esther (Hollister) Beach of New Milford. Yale relatives include an uncle, Timothy Dwight Merwin, '77.

Williston Academy and The Taft School. Civil engineering course; member Freshman and Junior Hockey teams.

Assistant engineer New Mılford Power Company, Bulls Bridge, Conn., summer 1906; rodman Pennsylvania Railroad Company at Shire Oaks, Pa., 1906–07; assistant engineer Northern Pacific Railway at Cle Elum, Wash., for six months in 1907; assistant in engineering corps, Pennsylvania Lines West of Pittsburgh 1907–09; clerk New Milford Savings Bank 1909–27, treasurer 1927–36, and vice-president 1935–36; secretary and treasurer New Milford Water Company 1911–36; secretary Merwin-Wilson Company, Inc. (manufacturers of trophy cups), New Milford, 1912-36; treasurer Connecticut Savings Bank Association 1931-36; treasurer of New Milford 1918-26; had served as vice-president of Litchfield County University Club; member School Board 1920-29 (secretary 1918-27), Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, New Milford.

Married November 11, 1909, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Bessie Joy (Beaver College 1906-08), daughter of Rev. Robert Stewart Ross (D.D. Mount Union College 1903) and Mary (Zimmerman) Ross. Children: Theo Jane (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1931; M.A. University of Iowa 1933; courses at Columbia 1937); Marjorie Ross (B.S. Russell Sage College 1933), Kathryn Gaylord (Bradford Junior College 1937); and Joseph Butler.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Center Cemetery, New Milford Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Grace Hollister Merwin Pepper (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1900), the wife of Woolsey Pepper of New Milford, and Mrs. Florence Merwin Hayes (B A Mount Holyoke 1901, M.A. Columbia 1925) of Mission, Texas. His twin brother, Merritt B. Merwin, '07 S, died in 1912.

Henry Swan Manning, Ph.B. 1907.

Born April 5, 1885, in New York City. Died September 17, 1936, in Outwood, Ky.

Father, Henry Swan Manning, '63 S. Mother, Leona Coe (Pearce) Manning

Browning School, New York City, and Morristown (N.J.) School. Select course; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and The Colony and Berzelius.

Employed by the United States Express Company, New York City, 1907-09, 1910-13 (general agent 1911-13); engaged in building construction in New York City 1909-10; in insurance business in Louisville, Ky, after 1913; enlisted at Columbus Barracks October 4, 1917, and assigned to Quartermaster Corps Casual Detachment at Fort Sam Houston, attached to Motor Truck Company 68 until December 9, 1917; at Officers' Training Camp, Leon Springs, Texas, January-March, 1918, attached to Motor Truck Company 385, March-July, 1918, instructor in mathematics Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, July-October, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant Field Artillery October 16 and discharged December 14, 1918, employed in the West for some years and then returned to Louisville where he was supervisor Department of Works.

Married November 12, 1913, in Orange, N.J., E Louise, daughter of Oliver DeGray and Emily Augusta Vanderbilt. Mr. and Mrs. Manning were divorced. Death, due to chronic pulmonary tuberculosis, occurred at the Veterans Administration Facility, Outwood. Buried in Louisville. Survived by a brother, John Pearce Manning, '04 S. His half brother, Richard Fisher Manning, '92 S., died in 1908.

George Warren VanBrunt, Ph.B. 1907.

Born December 31, 1884, in Council Bluffs, Iowa Died April 23, 1937, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Henry Horatio VanBrunt, a carriage manufacturer in Council Bluffs and later head of VanBrunt Automobile Company; son of William H. and Julia (Palmer) VanBrunt of Council Bluffs. Mother, Tillie (West) VanBrunt, whose parents lived in Iowa.

Council Bluffs High School and Phillips-Andover. Electrical engineering course; member Freshman Musical clubs and Sheff Debating Association; on Sheff Advisory Committee and Class Day Committee; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

President VanBrunt Automobile Company, distributors in Council Bluffs and Omaha from 1911 until about 1922; member of firm Hannan-VanBrunt Auto Company, Omaha, until July, 1927; vice-president Pacific States Savings & Loan Company, Los Angeles, 1927–34, with American Distributors, investment brokers in Los Angeles, since 1936; treasurer Norwood House, Los Angeles; member Masonic order, Council Bluffs School Board, and St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Council Bluffs.

Married October 5, 1910, in Council Bluffs, Hazel, daughter of Charles R. and Jessie (Turner) Hannan. Children. Barbara (University of California ex-'33), George Hannan (B.A. University of California 1937), and Eleanor.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife, children, mother, and a brother, Harry L. VanBrunt of Council Bluffs Mr. VanBrunt's mother died May 13, 1937.

Lyman Earle Bassett, Ph.B. 1908.

Born January 7, 1888, in North Haven, Conn. Died October 9, 1936, in Cedartown, Ga.

Father, Irving Lyman Bassett, engaged in the furniture business; son of Lyman and Celia (Clinton) Bassett of Clintonville, Conn Mother, Catherine (Tuttle) Bassett; daughter of Amos Allen and Marion Jeanette Webster (Francis) Tuttle of North Haven. Yale relatives include: Lyman Hall (BA 1747) and Noah Webster (B.A. 1778).

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven. Mechanical engineering course.

Yale University Obituary Record

Apprentice Standard Cotton Mills, Cedartown, Ga., 1908–14, office manager in charge of shipping 1914–23, vice-president and a director 1923–35; half owner Bradford's Drug Store, Cedartown, 1917–25; became interested in radio engineering 1921, building transmitters and teaching; received amateur license and call W4LL in 1924 and continued actively in this field until his death; reporter for 2ST (amateur radio magazine) for some years; charter member Northwest Georgia Amateur Radio Club (first president); member American Radio Relay League 1922–36 and the A.I. Operator's Club; vestryman St. James Episcopal Church, Cedartown, 1914–36.

Married June 28, 1913, in Cedartown, Almira Berry, daughter of William and Annie (Berry) Parker, and sister of William Parker, Jr., '08 S. Children: a son who died in infancy; Almira, the wife of William W. Gibbons, Catherine; Eloise; and Lyman Earle, Jr.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Cedartown. Survived by wife, son, three daughters, a granddaughter, and a brother, Arthur F. Bassett, '11 S.

Hiram Waldemar Dodd, Ph.B. 1908.

Born November 14, 1879, in Jackfield, Shropshire, England. Died September 21, 1936, in Atlantic City, N.J.

Father, Andrew Dodd, a mine contractor in Shropshire, England. Mother, Emma (Lloyd) Dodd.

Graduated from Millersville (Pa.) State Normal School 1901; taught in Wiconisco (Pa.) public schools 1901–03, at Cheltenham Military Academy, Philadelphia, 1904. Entered Sheffield Scientific School 1904; metallurgy course.

Chemist Federal Furnace Company, Chicago, Ill., for three months after graduation, supervising principal of schools Lykens, Pa., 1908–11; superintendent of schools Columbia, Pa., 1911–14, Mahanoy City, Pa., 1914–16, and Allentown, Pa., since 1916; M.A. Columbia 1914; Ph.D. Muhlenberg 1920; president Pennsylvania State Education Association 1921–23, and Allentown Rotary Club 1928; vice-president National Education Association 1922–23; treasurer Pennsylvania State Education Association 1925–35; trustee Kutztown (Pa.) State Teachers College 1928–33; member Pennsylvania State Educational Council and Methodist Episcopal Church, Allentown.

Married July 30, 1908, in New Haven, Conn., M. Louise, daughter of Louis and Barbara (Heckler) Hallbauer. Children: Madeline Louise (B.A Hood College 1932), the wife of Alfred E. Bray (B S. Indiana [Pa] State Teachers College 1931; University of Pennsylvania 1932– 34); Roberts Kitchener (Duke University 1932–35; Hahnemann Medical College 1939); Donald Revellyn (Duke University 1934–36; Muhlenberg College 1939); Vivian Mae (Indiana [Pa.] State Teachers College 1940); and Frances Elaine.

Death due to acute coronary insufficiency. Buried in Grandview Cemetery, Allentown. Survived by wife, children, one brother, Andrew A. Dodd, and two sisters, Mrs. Emma Dodd Crawley and Mrs. Edward Boden, all of Wiconisco.

John Innes Kane, Ph.B. 1908.

Born January 25, 1887, in Ossining, N.Y. Died December 21, 1936, at Saranac Lake, N.Y.

Father, John Innes Kane, a captain in the Spanish-American War; son of John Innes and Mary (Kip) Kane of Albany and Ossining, N.Y. Mother, Fanny (Brandreth) Kane; daughter of George and Virginia (Ward) Brandreth of Ossining. Yale relatives include: George Borup, '07, and Orlando B. Potter, '10 S. (cousins).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Entered Yale with Class of 1907 S.; left college for a year to work in the mines at Durango, Mexico, and returned to college with the Class of 1908 S. in Junior year; member Freshman Glee and Mandolin clubs and St. Elmo.

Attended Columbia 1908–10 (E.M. 1910); mining engineer in Mexico for American Smelting & Refining Company 1911–22 with headquarters in El Paso, Texas; president John I. Kane & Company, engineers and general contractors in El Paso, 1922–26; president John I. Kane & Company (mortgage investments), El Paso, 1926–31; had been ill for several years; member North Carolina Society of the Cincinnati, American Institute of Mining Engineers, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Ossining.

Married August 8, 1914, in Ventnor, N.J., Marjorie Elliott Simmons (B.A. Smith 1910), daughter of Jesse G. and Emily (Elliott) Simmons

Death due to chronic nephritis and tuberculosis. Buried in Dale Cemetery, Ossining. Survived by wife, mother, a sister, Mary Kane Drury, the wife of Walter M. Drury (Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1903) of New York City, and a brother, Edward Winslow Kane (B.S. Princeton 1918) of New York City.

Benjamin Thaw, Jr., Ph.B. 1909.

Born December 11, 1888, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died March 5, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Benjamin Thaw (B.A. University of Pittsburgh 1878; graduate student at Yale 1878–79), a capitalist in Pittsburgh; son of William and Burd (Blair) Thaw of Pittsburgh. Mother, Elma Ellsworth (Dows) Thaw; daughter of Stephen Leland and Henrietta Waddell (Safley) Dows of Waterford, N.Y., and Cedar Rapids, Iowa. Yale relatives include Thompson McClintock, '70, Stephen L Dows, '90 L., and Josiah C. Thaw, '96 S. (uncles); and William Thaw, ex-'00 S., and Sutherland C. Dows, '13 S. (cousins).

Shadyside Academy, St. George's School, Westminster School, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Select course; honors Junior and Senior years, secretary and treasurer Gun Club Junior year, and captain Senior year; editor *Yale Scientific Montbly* Senior year; member Junior Promenade Committee and Sheff Debating Society.

Traveled in United States and Europe 1909–13; studied law University of Texas 1914; engaged in railroad construction in Wyoming, 1915, and later studied international law at University of Zürich in Switzerland, in diplomatic service August 7, 1916, until retirement in 1935, serving as third secretary of the American Embassy at Paris, France, 1916–20, second secretary at Warsaw, Poland, 1920–22, first secretary at Brussels, Belgium, 1922–23, Santiago, Chile, 1923–24, Buenos Aires, Argentina, 1924–26; assistant chief of the Latin-American Division, Department of State, Washington, 1926–30; first secretary American Embassy at Paris 1930–31, and of the American Embassy at London, England, 1931–33; and counselor at Oslo, Norway, 1933–35; had since lived in Washington; member American Geographical Society

Married May 24, 1923, in Brussels, Consuelo Kilpatrick, daughter of Harry Hays and Laura (Kilpatrick) Morgan. No children.

Death due to heart failure. Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife, and a sister, Henrietta Thaw Slade (Barnard ex-'14), the wife of Lawrence Slade (B.A. Williams 1902) of Pittsburgh. His brothers, Rev. Stephen Dows Thaw, '07, and Lieutenant Colonel William Thaw, ex-'15, died in 1923 and 1934 respectively.

Lindell Theodore Bates, Ph.B. 1910.

Born February 13, 1890, in Tacoma, Wash. Died April 13, 1937, in London, England.

Father, Lindon Wallace Bates, ex-'79 S., an engineer and expert in hydraulic dredging; son of William Wallace and Marie (Cole) Bates of Denver, Colo. Mother, Josephine (White) Bates (Lake Forest College 1876–80), daughter of Georges Edouard White of Quebec, Canada. Yale relatives include a brother, Lindon Bates, Jr., '02 S.

Lawrenceville School. Select course; president Freshman Union; member Sheff Debating Team three years; president Sheff Debating Society, chairman *Yale Scientific Monthly* Senior year, secretary and treasurer of the Class Senior year; on Class Book Committee and Senior Reception Committee; member Delta Sigma Rho, The Colony and Berzelius, and Aurelian Honor Society.

Studied law at New York University 1910-12 (LL.B. 1912, J.D. 1913), New York Law School 1912-13 (LL.M. 1913), University of Paris 1913-14 (LL.D. 1915), and Central University of Spain 1914-15 (Licenciade and LL.D 1915); studied diplomacy at the Ecole des Sciences Politiques, Paris, ecclesiastical law at the Catholic Institute of Paris, English law at The Temple, London, and banking at the School of Professional Legislation, Paris; practiced law in New York City with special regard to French, Spanish, and South American affairs 1916, 1919 until retirement in 1934; associated with law department of American International Corporation 1916-19; invented Sinuous Course Indicator, a method of steering naval fleets along constantly curving courses; secretary-treasurer Submarine Defense Association 1917-19; traveled extensively; decorated with Knight's Cross of Isabel Católica of Spain for distinguished legal services to the government 1915; Captain Military Intelligence Reserve U.S. Army 1926-31 and Major since 1931; Class Secretary of 1910 S. from graduation until 1919 and Class Agent 1916-19; author Unauthorized Diplomatic Intercourse by American Citizens with Foreign Powers as a Criminal Offence Under the Laws of the United States (1915), El Gobierno Federal y los Estados en los Estados Unidos (1915), Les Traités Fédéraux et La Legislation des Etats aux Etats-Unis (1915), Sinuous Courses and the Automatic Course Indicator for Naval Warfare (1918), and The Divorce and Separation of Aliens in France (1929); member Spanish, French, and English bars, American Bar Association, New York County Bar Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, College of Advocates, Madrid, Spain, Honor Society of Middle Temple of London, St. Nicholas Society, Holland Society, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, and Huguenot Society; bequeathed his residence to the Yorktown Community Church and his law library and diplomas to the Yale School of Law.

Unmarried.

Death due to a stroke of paralysis. Buried in family plot in Pittsfield, Mass. Survived by an aunt, Mary Elizabeth Bates (M D. Northwestern 1881) of Denver, Colo.

Wesley Monteith Graff, Ph.B. 1911.

Born May 11, 1890, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died June 5, 1937, in Westfield, N.J.

Father, Charles Edward Graff; in charge bookkeeping department Strong & Trowbridge Export Corporation, New York City; son of Henry John and Margaret (Foulds) Graff of Brooklyn. Mother, Margaret (Barclay) Graff; daughter of William Monteith and Annie (Brown) Barclay of New York and Brooklyn.

Polytechnic Preparatory School and Polytechnic Institute of Brook-

lyn. Entered Yale in 1910; mechanical engineering course; member Yale Mechanical Engineers Club.

Engaged in power-cost investigation, Hartford (Conn.) Electric Light Company about six months; assistant power engineer Edison Electric Illuminating Company, Brooklyn, 1911-13; laboratory assistant in mechanical engineering and graduate student, Yale, 1912-13 (M.E. 1914); consulting engineer (and vice-president from October, 1917) Graves Engineering Corporation (later Graves, Graff & Dresser, Inc.) September, 1913-April, 1918, and December, 1918-1919; president Graff Engineering Corporation 1919-27; consulting industrial engineer 1927-31; director, Safety Engineering Division, National Bureau of Casualty and Surety Underwriters 1931-35, and manager Conservation Department (including division of safety engineering and those relating to traffic engineering, safety education, etc.) since 1935; director of compilation (civilian), Specification Unit, Motor Equipment Section, Engineering Division, Ordnance Department, April–December, 1918; lived in Brooklyn until 1917 when he moved to Westfield; member executive committee, Union County (N.J.) Republican Committee since 1931; chairman Westfield Republican Committee since 1933; member Congregational Church of Westfield.

Married November 29, 1913, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Marjorie, daughter of Algernon Sidney and Mary Ida (Preston) Higgins. Children: Marian Barclay, the wife of John Edward Greaves (New York University 1935-36), Wesley Monteith, Jr., and Barbara Preston.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, children, and mother.

Donald Meredith McNeale, Ph.B. 1911.

Born August 17, 1888, in St. Paul, Minn. Died February 13, 1937, in Miami, Fla.

Father, Charles Agnew McNeale, British vice-consul in St. Paul; son of John and Emily (Brown) McNeale of County Antrim, Ireland. Mother, Mary (Goodyear) McNeale; daughter of Charles Adolphos and Eirene (King) Goodyear of Athens, Greece.

Sidwell's Friends' School, Washington, D.C. Electrical engineering course.

With Potomac Electric Power Company, Washington, 1911–12; owned and operated a farm near Leesburg, Va., 1912–16; conducted Windom and McNeale School for Boys in Washington 1916–19; chemist District of Columbia Paper Manufacturing Company, Washington, 1919–21 and American Writing Paper Company, Holyoke, Mass., 1921–22; secretary and treasurer the Smoot Sand & Gravel Corporation, Washington, 1922–37; member St. Margaret's Episcopal Church, Washington. Married February 11, 1915, in Leesburg, Richard Edwards, daughter of William Newton and Ella (Vandevanter) Wise. Children: Mary Goodyear, the wife of Lieutenant Commander Charles Cunningham Brown, R.N., Margaret Douglas, and Sylvia.

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis. Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Charlottesville, Va. Survived by wife, daughters, one grandchild, and his mother, Mrs. Lewis Edgerton Smoot of Washington.

Samuel Warren, Ph.B. 1911.

Born November 16, 1889, in Albany, N.Y. Died October 4, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Henry P. Warren, '70. Mother, Annie Laurie (Lyman) Warren.

Albany Academy. Secretary Yale Aëro Club; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Yale Rifle Club.

Rodman, maintenance of way department, New York Central System, Albany, 1911–12, bridge inspector, Utica, N.Y., 1912–14; engineer Turner Construction Company of New York at New Bedford, Mass., 1914–16; engineer Atlas Portland Cement Company, New York City, 1916–18; enlisted as Private, Engineer Corps, at Fort Slocum, N.Y., March 28, 1918; promoted to Battalion Sergeant, 32nd Engineers; overseas June 22, 1918–June 23, 1919; discharged July 17, 1919; engineer Atlas Portland Cement Company, New York City, 1919–26; technical manager Concrete Surface Corporation, New York City, 1926–28; in advertising agency business with Doyle, Kitchen & McCormick, Inc., New York City, 1928–29; president Petertoy Company, New York City, 1929–34; sales engineer, Building Chemicals Corporation, New York City, 1934–36; member Presbyterian church. Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in North Waterford, Maine. Survived by a brother, Henry P. Warren, Jr., '13, of Greenwich, Conn., and two sisters, Miss Constance Warren (B.A. Vassar 1904; M.A. Columbia 1905), president of Sarah Lawrence College, and Dorothy Warren Andrews (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1905-06), widow of J. Charles Andrews (Swarthmore ex-'95), of Great Neck, N.Y.

Broussais Coman Beck, Ph.B. 1912.

Born August 29, 1886, in Walla Walla, Wash. Died August 7, 1936, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, William Wirt Beck (B.A. University of Indiana 1874); in real-estate business in Seattle. Mother, Louise Emmet (Coman) Beck.

Seattle High School and Webb Preparatory School, Bellbuckle, Tenn.; attended University of Washington 1907–10 (member Varsity Crew three years, Phi Beta Kappa, and Beta Theta Pi). Entered Yale as a Junior; electrical engineering course; on Crew Squad Junior and Senior years; chairman Yale branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers Senior year; member The Cloister and Book and Snake and the Aurelian Honor Society.

Independently engaged in real-estate business in Seattle 1912-13; with Meier & Frank Company, department store, Portland, Ore., January-April, 1913; assistant to president Bon Marché department store in Seattle 1913-15; in Boston studying progressive merchandising and store operation 1915-17; store manager Bon Marché, Seattle, 1917-30; chairman State Restaurant Committee of the U.S. Food Administration 1917, and Federal Food Administrator for Western Washington 1918; served for several years as chairman Board of Rowing Stewards University of Washington; member Seattle Chamber of Commerce.

Married April 2, 1913, in Seattle, Eleanor Josephine, daughter of Edward and Patricia Josephine (McDermott) Nordhoff. Children: Broussais Coman, Jr., Edward Nordhoff, Robert Lindley, Brennor William, and Eleanor Patricia.

Death due to tuberculosis. Survived by wife and children.

Robert Carr Churchill, Ph.B. 1912.

Born October 20, 1890, in Roanoke, Va. Died September 9, 1936, in Roanoke, Va.

Father, Charles Samuel Churchill, '78 S. Mother, Anna (Green) Churchill

Roanoke High School and Mercersburg Academy. Civil engineering course; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

With Flickwir & Bush, contractors, in Nicholson, Pa., 1912–15; resident engineer in charge of valuation Norfolk Division, Norfolk & Western Railway Company, at Suffolk, Va., 1915–17; in charge of plant construction in South Philadelphia, Pa., for Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Officers' Reserve Corps, May, 1917; overseas December, 1917–April, 1919, with Company F, 12th Engineers, and saw active service at St. Mihiel, in the Argonne, and around Toul; promoted to First Lieutenant July, 1918; cited for exceptionally meritorious and conspicuous service in the Toul sector and awarded Purple Heart decoration October 9, 1934; superintendent J. F Barbour & Sons, contractors, Roanoke, 1919–20; proprietor R. C Churchill Limestone Company, Roanoke, 1920–28; president Fireproof Storage Warehouses, Inc., 1925–35, and R C. Churchill Concrete Company 1928–36, member Roanoke City School Board 1934–35, Rotary Club, American Society Civil Engineers, and St. John's Episcopal Church, Roanoke.

Married (1) January 20, 1921, in Overbrook, Pa, Muriel Viancourt, daughter of Herbert Thacker Herr, '99 S., and Irene Florence (Viancourt) Herr. Son, Robert Carr, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. Churchill were divorced in 1924. Married (2) January 29, 1931, in Roanoke, Dorothy Fontaine Lacy (Randolph-Macon Woman's College 1921), daughter of Joseph Bartow and Laura Edmonston (Crawford) Lacy. Daughter, Dorothy Fontaine.

Death due to carcinomatosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Roanoke. Survived by wife, children, mother, and three sisters, Mary Churchill Littlejohn (Wellesley ex-'10), the wife of Paul V. Littlejohn (University of Virginia ex-'03), Miss Ethelind Churchill, and Helen Churchill Bertie, the wife of Cecil Erskine Bertie (B.S. University of Pennsylvania 1912), all of Roanoke.

Darwin Lathrop Gillett, Ph.B. 1913.

Born July 1, 1890, in Westfield, Mass. Died March 2, 1937, at Coconut Grove, Fla.

Father, Ralph Dickinson Gillett, a realtor, railway promoter, and woolen manufacturer in Westfield; son of Darwin Lathrop and Sarah Jane (Dickenson) Gillett of Westfield. Mother, Annie (Sherman) Gillett; daughter of Robert F. and Nancy E. (VanDeusen) Sherman of Westfield.

Holbrook School and Hotchkiss. Select course; honors in history and social sciences Junior year; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Independently engaged in real-estate business in Westfield 1913-15; treasurer Westfield Clay Products Company 1915-37; Quartermaster, First Class, U.S. Naval Reserve Force, August-December, 1918; member First Church of Christ (Congregational), Westfield.

Married October 2, 1915, in Catasauqua, Pa., Eleanor Ruth, daughter of Edwin and Ellen-Dale (Boyd) Thomas. Children: Darwin Lathrop, 3d, '41, and Ellen-Dale Ruth.

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease. Buried in Pinehill Cemetery, Westfield. Survived by wife, children, a brother, Edgar Lathrop Gillett of Canton, Mass., and three sisters, Mrs. Mary G. Tifft of New York City, Mrs. Ann G. Kingsbury of Ormond Beach, Fla., and Elizabeth G. Kingsbury, wife of Frederick M. Kingsbury, '20 (LL.B. Harvard 1924) of Longmeadow, Mass.

้า

,

James Robert O'Hara, Ph.B. 1913.

Born February 28, 1890, at Twin Lakes, Conn. Died November 14, 1936, in Canaan, Conn.

Father, Thomas O'Hara, a farmer at Twin Lakes; son of John and Margaret (Daley) O'Hara of Chapinville, Conn. Mother, Mary (Graham) O'Hara; daughter of James and Mary (Daly) Graham of County Mayo, Ireland.

The Hotchkiss School. Mechanical engineering course.

Consulting engineer Casey & Hurley, contractors in Bridgeport, Conn., 1913-14, chemist Mulford Drug Company, Philadelphia, Pa., 1914-16; instructor Stevens Institute, Hoboken, N.J., 1916-18; enlisted in U.S. Naval Reserve Force May 10, 1918; commissioned Ensign April 3, 1919, and released from active duty August 19; engaged in farming in Taconic, Conn., 1919-36; member Yale Engineering Association and St. Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, Canaan.

Unmarried.

٩

Death due to injuries received when attacked by a Holstein bull. Buried in St. Joseph's Cemetery, Canaan. Survived by parents, four brothers, John G. O'Hara, Thomas F. O'Hara (B.A. St. Bonaventure College 1912), Stephen P. O'Hara, and Francis J. O'Hara (Ed.M. Harvard 1927), and two sisters, Mrs. Edward F. Terry and Mrs, Daniel L. Pullin.

William Lowell Robertson, Ph.B. 1914.

Born September 11, 1892, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died January 1, 1937, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, William Frederick Robertson (LL.D. Moores Hill College), president W. F. Robertson Steel & Iron Company, Cincinnati; son of William and Amelia (Eggbrecht) Robertson, who came to Cincinnati from England about 1850. Mother, Westanna O'Neil (Brown) Robertson; daughter of William Kennedy and Martha (McClellan) Brown of Cincinnati. Yale relatives include: Wilbur Witt, '06 S., Reed M. Brown, '10 S., S. Kennedy Brown, '13, and Clarence E. Barton, '13 (cousins).

University School, Cincinnati, and Twin Valley College [Miami Military Institute, Germantown, Ohio]. In University Orchestra Freshman and Junior years; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

With W. F. Robertson Steel & Iron Company since graduation, becoming head of the firm upon the retirement of his father.

Married (1) August 23, 1916, in Cincinnati, Ruth Evangeline, daughter of George W. and Virginia G. (Bridwell) Gale. Children: William Lowell, Jr, and Marcia. Married (2) August 27, 1932, in Asheville, N.C., Mary Wallace, daughter of Edwin Dart and Cannie (Finch) Lambright.

Death due to streptococcic pneumonia. Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by wife, children, father, and a brother, Merlin G. Robertson, '18 S.

Leslie Wheeler, Ph.B. 1914.

Born May 19, 1892, in Evanston, Ill. Died February 27, 1937, in Bocagrande, Fla.

Father, Charles Pinckney Wheeler (B.A. Northwestern University 1876, M.A. 1879); president Pickands Brown & Company, pig iron and coke merchants in Chicago, Ill.; son of David Hilton and Sophia E. (Seymour) Wheeler of Evanston. Mother, Martha Frances (Seymour) Wheeler; daughter of Thomas Hartley and Louisa (Abel) Seymour of Chicago.

College School and the Chicago Latin School. Select course; member The Colony and Berzelius.

Treasurer Pickands Brown & Company 1914 until retirement in 1930 because of ill-health; entered U.S. Naval Reserve Force July 14, 1917; commissioned Ensign October 1, 1917, and assigned to Great Lakes Naval Station October, 1917–June, 1918; U.S.S. *Kansas* June– November, 1918, and U.S.S. *Lawrence* November, 1918–June, 1919; his interest in ornithology led to an association with the Field Museum of Natural History of Chicago and as a result of his activities the bird collections were enriched by more than 1,000 specimens of hawks and owls as well as many hundreds of other birds (trustee 1934–37, research associate in ornithology 1935–37, a contributor, and a corporate and associate member); had practically completed for publication his first formal research, a taxonomic revision of a group of South American wood-owls, together with a description of a new species from a Chilean island; fellow American Geographical Society; member American Ornithologists' Union.

Married January 15, 1916, in Evanston, Violet, daughter of Henry Jay and Emma Thérèse (Herpin) Patten. Children: Leslie, Jr., Class of 1940, and Henry Patten.

Death due to generalized septicemia from a streptococcic infection. Buried in Lake Forest Cemetery, Lake Forest, Ill. Survived by wife, sons, mother, a sister, Mrs. John Burnham of San Diego County, Calif., and two brothers, Seymour Wheeler of Lake Forest and Elliot Wheeler of Easton, Md.

Robert VanArsdale Norris, Jr., Ph.B. 1915.

Born June 9, 1894, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa. Died January 17, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Robert VanArsdale Norris (E.M. Columbia School of Mines 1885), member firm of R. V. Norris & Son, consulting engineers in Wilkes-Barre; son of Thomas Baldwin and Mary (Ruxton) Norris of Newark, N.J Mother, Esther Wadhams (Shoemaker) Norris; daughter of Lazarus Denison Shoemaker (B.A. 1840) and Esther Waller (Wadhams) Shoemaker of Wilkes-Barre. Yale relatives include: Levi I. Shoemaker, '82 (uncle); and L. Denison Stearns, '96 S., John C. Phelps, '06, William G. Phelps, Jr., '14, and Denison S. Phelps, ex-'10 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School. Honors in German and English composition Freshman year; one-year honors in mining engineering Senior year; member Franklin Hall and Theta X1.

Attended Columbia University 1915–17 (E.M. 1917); assistant superintendent Lansford Colliery of the Lehigh Coal & Navigation Company 1917–18; entered Fourth Engineers Officers' Training Camp at Fort Lee, Va., May 5, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant Engineers July 22, 1918; overseas September 17, 1918–May 9, 1919; discharged May 19, 1919; mining engineer Lehigh Coal & Navigation Company 1919–20; accountant Loomis, Daw & Company, Los Angeles, Calif., 1920–22; junior partner R. V. Norris & Son 1923–29; auditor of operations for Jeddo (Pa.) Highland Coal Company 1929–35; independent consulting mining engineer in New York City 1935–37; secretary and treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Wyoming Valley, Pa, 1924–28; member American Institute of Mining Engineers and First Presbyterian Church, Wilkes-Barre.

Married (1) January 17, 1917, in New York City, Claire Church, daughter of Albert Thomas and Angie May (Foster) Hadley. Daughter, Claire Irene. Mr. and Mrs. Norris were divorced in 1925. Married (2) June 6, 1936, in New York City, Anne, daughter of Edmand Kinicutt and Anne (Wilson) Thompson.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Forty-Fort Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre Survived by wife, daughter, and two sisters, Jane Shoemaker Zerbey, the wife of Arthur L Zerbey, '17, of Pelham Manor, N.Y., and Mrs Rudolf M. Triest of New York City.

Lawrence Allderdice, Ph.B. 1918.

Born May 26, 1896, in McKeesport, Pa. Died May 7, 1937, in Pittsburgh, Pa.

Father, Taylor Allderdice (Lehigh ex-'83), president National Tube Company, Pittsburgh; trustee Carnegie Institute of Technology; member Board of Education, Pittsburgh; son of James and Mary (Taylor) Allderdice of Philadelphia, Pa. Mother, Ellen Ford (Hansell) Allderdice; daughter of Samuel Robb and Jane (Martin) Hansell of Philadelphia.

St. Luke's School, Wayne, Pa., and St. George's School, Newport, R.I. Select course; member Junior Promenade Committee, Student Council, and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Transferred June 19, 1918, from Yale R.O.T.C. to Field Artillery Replacement Detachment, Camp Jackson, as Sergeant, 15th Battalion; commissioned Second Lieutenant August 7, 1918; attended School of Fire, Fort Sill, and subsequently assigned to 48th Field Artillery at Camp Kearny; spent some time at U.S. Army Hospital, Fort Bayard, N.Mex., before his discharge on May 29, 1920; lived in Arizona until 1931; salesman Hagan Corporation, chemical and combustion engineers in Pittsburgh, 1931–34; manager Carnegie Hero Fund Commission, Pittsburgh, since 1934; vice-chairman Girls Service Club, Pittsburgh, since 1927; member Calvary Church (Episcopal), Pittsburgh.

Married January 6, 1923, in Pittsburgh, Frances Boyle, daughter of Edward Heaton and Adelaide (Boyle) Brainard. No children.

Death due to chronic interstitial nephritis. Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife, four sisters, Mrs. Jane A. Reed, Nancy A. Mudge, the wife of Leonard S. Mudge, '29, Louise A. Travers, the wife of Rev. Edward S. Travers (B.A. Trinity College 1898, D.D. 1918), and Mary A. Pryor, the wife of Samuel F. Pryor, Jr., '21 S., and a brother, Norman Allderdice of Sewickley, Pa.

John George Williams, Ph.B. 1919.

Born October 23, 1898, in Bianford, Conn Died May 9, 1937, in Branford, Conn.

Father, Thomas David Williams, engaged in real-estate and contracting business in New Haven and Branford; son of John and Ellen (Gallahue) Williams of Branford. Mother, Annie L. (McKeon) Williams; daughter of Francis and Mary (Reilly) McKeon of Branford. Yale relatives include: John G. Williams, '00 M. (uncle); and Frank E. Toole, '16, '19 M., and John Toole, '17, '20 M. (cousins).

Hopkins Grammar School. Biology course, enrolled in Premedical Unit, Student Army Training Corps Senior year.

Special investigator National City Bank, New York City, 1919-21; associated with his father in the real-estate and contracting business 1921-24; member St. Mary's Roman Catholic Church, Branford.

Unmarried.

Death due to chronic pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in St. Agnes Cemetery, Branford. Survived by two sisters, Miss Mary G. Williams of Branford and Mrs. William F. Foley of Philadelphia, Pa., and two brothers, Frank R. Williams (Fordham University ex-'25), and Thomas D. Williams, '31, of Branford.

Richard Whitmore Harr, B.S. 1925.

Born June 28, 1903, in Washington, D.C. Died August 26, 1936, in West Haven, Conn.

Father, William Richard Harr (LL.B. Georgetown University 1895, LL.M. 1896), assistant U.S. Attorney General; private practice in Washington; now commissioner District Court of the United States for the District of Columbia; son of Peter and Adelaide L. (Schleigh) Harr of Washington. Mother, Martha Beach (Harvey) Harr; daughter of William Egbert and Martha Bates (Beach) Harvey of Hartford, Conn. Great-grandfather, Samuel B. Beach (B.A. 1805).

Central High School, Washington. Cıvıl engineering course; scholar of the second rank Freshman year; two-year honors Senior year; Thompson-Starrett Prize in Building Construction Senior year; member Book and Bond, Sigma Xi, and Tau Beta Pi.

In New York City and Pittsburgh, Pa., with Thompson-Starrett Company, building construction engineers, 1925-29, in estimating department and as draftsman and assistant superintendent; superintendent Crow, Lewis & Wick, architects in New York City, 1929-32; in Washington office of Penn Mutual Life Insurance Company 1932; assistant in father's office 1933-36 and student Washington College of Law 1934-36 (Junior class president); member Yale Engineering Association of New York, American Society of Civil Engineers, Oliver Wendell Holmes Chapter of Sigma Nu Phi, and Fourth Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to miliary tuberculosis. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Washington. Survived by parents and a sister, Elizabeth Harr Perrin, the wife of Lilo M. Perrin (University of California 1913) of Stockton, Calif.

Howard Melville Hanna, Jr., B.S. 1931.

Born February 19, 1909, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died August 27, 1936, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Howard Melville Hanna, ex-'00 S., chairman of board of M. A. Hanna Company, operators in coal, coke, iron ore, and pig iron, Cleveland; son of Howard Melville and Kate (Smith) Hanna of Cleveland. Mother, Jean Claire (Hanna) Hanna; daughter of Leonard Colton and Fanny (Mann) Hanna of Cleveland. Yale relatives include: Leonard C. Hanna, Jr., ex-'13 (uncle); and R. Livingston Ireland, Jr., ex-'18 S., and Melville H. Haskell, ex-'24 S. (cousins).

188

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Industrial engineering course; on Freshman Polo Team and Crew Squad; on Class Crew Squad Sophomore year and Class Football Team Junior year; Ivy Orator and on Senior Promenade Committee; member The Cloister and Book and Snake and Torch Honor Society.

Salesman Great Lakes Steel Corporation since graduation, in Detroit 1931–34 and in Chicago since 1934; member First Presbyterian Church, Thomasville, Ga.

Married September 14, 1935, in Kirtland Hills, Ohio, Cynthia Pamela, daughter of George Magoffin Humphrey (LL.B. University of Michigan 1912) and Pamela (Stark) Humphrey.

Death due to a brain tumor and bronchopneumonia. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, parents, and four sisters, Fanny Hanna Bolton, the wife of Julian C. Bolton (B.A. Harvard 1920), Jean Hanna Palmer, the wife of William P. Palmer, Jr. (B.A. Princeton 1930), Kate Hanna Bicknell, the wife of Warren Bicknell, Jr. (B.A. Williams 1935), all of Cleveland, and Constance Hanna McIntosh, the wife of Henry P. McIntosh, 3d (University of Pennsylvania 1927–28), of Mentor, Ohio.

Frederick Carl Rawolle, Jr., B.S. 1933.

Born February 23, 1910, in New York City. Died June 9, 1937, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, Frederick Carl Rawolle (Columbia ex-'05); retired paint manufacturer. Mother, Florence Tappen (Mills) Rawolle.

Brunswick School, Greenwich, Conn., and Gilman Country Day School, Baltimore, Md. Entered the Sheffield Scientific School in 1928; joined Class of 1933 S. as a Senior; biology course; on Class Football Team 1929–30; member The Colony and Berzelius.

Attended Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1933-37 (M.D. 1937); member Christ Episcopal Church, Greenwich.

Took his own life. Buried in Putnam Cemetery, Greenwich. Survived by parents and two brothers, Franklin M. Rawolle, '36, and Charles B. Rawolle of Greenwich.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

MASTERS OF ARTS

Elbert Marcus Stevens, M.A. 1899.

Born April 12, 1867, in Ringwood, Ill. Died January 28, 1937, in Rochester, Minn.

Father, Marcus Bostwick Stevens, a farmer and teacher in Ringwood; son of Silas Malby and Juliet (Kellogg) Stevens of Mason City, Iowa Mother, May (Pierce) Stevens; daughter of Sidney I. and Esther (Verbec) Pierce.

Preparatory department University of South Dakota; B.A. University of South Dakota 1894 (member Pi Gamma Mu); superintendent of schools, Centerville, S.Dak., 1894-97; studied in Yale Graduate School 1897-99; instructor in modern languages South Dakota School of Mines 1899-1906; graduate student University of Chicago 1903, Cornell University 1907; principal Avery Institute, Charleston, S.C., 1906-09; president Straight College 1909-16; acting professor of psychology and education Carleton College 1916-18; professor of philosophy University of South Dakota since 1918; LL.D. University of South Dakota 1917; alumni secretary University of South Dakota for several years; author *Psychology of Space and Perception* (1915); member Society of Colonial Wars, South Dakota Academy of Science, and First Congregational Church, Vermilion, S.Dak.

Married December 23, 1897, in New Haven, Conn., Mabel Sophronia White (University of South Dakota ex-'94), daughter of John Townsend and Minerva (Parks) White. Children: Doris Amy (B.A. University of South Dakota 1921; M.A. University of Minnesota 1925), the wife of Gustavus W. Thompson; Margaret White (B.A. University of South Dakota 1924; M.S. Washington University 1927), the wife of Oliver Ralph Wilson; Evelyn White (B.A. University of South Dakota 1925), the wife of Arthur B. Hunt (B.A. Carleton College 1925; M.D. University of Minnesota 1929); Marion White (B.A. University of South Dakota 1926; M.A. Johns Hopkins 1930); and Rollin Elbert (B.A. University of South Dakota 1922).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Oak Lawn Cemetery, Minneapolis, Minn. Survived by wife, children, a grandson, three sisters, Mrs. Fred Schrack of Minneapolis, Mrs. Victor C. Wass of Dell Rapids, S.Dak., and Mrs. Charles E. Smith of St. Paul, Minn., and a brother, Homer Stevens of Demorest, Ga.

Keiji Ashida, M.A. 1902.

Born October 23, 1867, in Kamochi (Tamba), Japan. Died August 18, 1936, in Kyoto, Japan.

Father, Estaro Ashida, dealer of cocoons and rice in Kamochi and later in Kyoto. Mother, Ryû Ashida. Yoshio Morimoto, B.D. 1929, M.A. 1933, is a nephew.

B.D. Vanderbilt University 1901; attended Yale Graduate School 1901-02; attended Harvard Divinity School 1909-10 (B.D. 1910); professor of theology Doshisha University since 1910 (dean of the theological department 1920-29 and of the literary department 1924-29).

Married March 3, 1892, Tei, daughter of Sokichi and Moto Tanaka. No children.

Died after a long illness. Buried in Nyakuoji, Kyoto. Survived by an adopted son (nephew), Joji Ashida (R.G. Kyoto Imperial University 1928).

Henry Benjamin Hedrick, M.A. 1912.

Born July 22, 1865, in Washington, D.C. Died October 6, 1936, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Benjamin Sherwood Hedrick (B.A. University of North Carolina 1851), professor of chemistry, University of North Carolina; chief examiner, Patent Office, Washington; son of John Leonard and Elizabeth (Sherwood) Hedrick of Salisbury, N.C. Mother, Mary Ellen (Thompson) Hedrick; daughter of William and Jane (Morrow) Thompson of Chapel Hill, N.C.

B.A. George Washington 1886; assistant on Nautical Almanac, U.S. Naval Observatory, Washington, 1886–96, and senior assistant 1896– 1910; enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1910–15 (M.A. 1912, Ph.D. 1915; member Sigma X1); employed at Yale as chief computer on the Lunar Tables 1910–18; mathematical astronomer, Department of Territorial Magnetism, Carnegie Institution of Washington 1918–20; in charge of Ballistic Theory Section, Army Ordnance Department, Aberdeen Proving Grounds, Md., 1920 until retirement in 1932; had since lived in Washington; author: *Catalogue of Zodiacal Stars* . . . (1905), *Interpolation Tables or Multiplication Tables of Decimal Fractions* (1918), and in collaboration with Professor Ernest W. Brown, *Tables of the Motion of the Moon* (1919); fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member American Mathematical Society, American Astronomical Society, and St. Alban's Episcopal Church, Washington.

Married April 30, 1896, in Walton, N.Y., Hannah Fancher, daugh-

ter of Abraham Lansing and Anna Rebecca (Fancher) Mace. Children: Benjamin Mace, ex-'19 (graduate U.S. Military Academy 1918; LL.M. Washington College of Law 1925); Anna Fancher (B.A. Vassar 1921; M.A. George Washington 1927; LL.B. 1932); and Eleanor (B.A. Vassar 1924; M.D. Columbia 1929), the wife of Otho F. Beamer (D.O. Still College of Osteopathy).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Mrs. Alice Hedrick Olcott (B.A. Mount Holyoke 1880) of Arlington, Va., Miss Jennie Hedrick of Washington, and Miss Ellen Annabella Hedrick (B.A. Smith 1892), and a brother, William A. Hedrick (B.A. George Washington 1884; Ph.D. Johns Hopkins 1889) of Silver Spring, Md.

Everett Henry Fitch, M.A. 1913.

Born August 2, 1869, in Noank, Conn. Died October 3, 1936, in Noank, Conn.

Father, Charles Henry Fitch, a machinist in Noank; son of Elisha and Mary (Peabody) Fitch of Mystic, Conn. Mother, Eliza (Peckham) Fitch; daughter of Stephen and Phoebe Frances (Gates) Peckham of Ledyard, Conn. Yale relatives include: Hibberd R. Norman, '99, Edwin G. Norman, '02, and Albert C. Norman, '05 (cousins).

Mystic Valley Institute; B.A. Colgate University 1893 (member Phi Beta Kappa), M.A. 1896; instructor classical languages and assistant principal Gouverneur (N.Y.) High School 1893-95; head of the Latin department Ottawa (Kansas) University 1895-1905; instructor in Classics Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn., since 1905; enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1905-13; instructor in elementary Greek Yale Divinity School 1917-18; author: *Comes Vergilianus* (1902); member New England Classical Association, and member board of deacons Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven, Conn., since 1910.

Married December 31, 1895, in Gouverneur, Delta Elizabeth, daughter of Ferris Judson and Julia Elnora (Smith) Leach.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Noank Valley Cemetery, Noank. Survived by wife and two sisters, Mrs. May Fitch Patterson of Noank and Mrs. John McIlwraith of Framingham, Mass. His brother, Frederick T. Fitch, M.D. 1904, died in 1935.

Henry William Voigt, M.A. 1923.

Born March 25, 1883, in Kankakee, Ill. Died February 26, 1937, in Reading, Pa.

Father, Albert Louis Voigt, a farmer in Kankakee; son of John Frederick and Wilhelmina (Manskia) Voigt. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Kukuck) Voigt; daughter of Ernest Christopher and Maria Dorothea Kukuck.

Preparatory School of Northwestern College; B.A. Northwestern (now North Central) 1912; teacher of Latin Mendota (III.) High School 1912–14; attended Evangelical Theological Seminary 1914–16 (B.D. 1916); ordained by Evangelical Association, Streator, III., 1916; attended Yale Divinity School and Yale Graduate School 1917–18 and 1921–22; for more than six years minister New England Conference of Evangelical Church; minister Manchester Church in Fall River, Mass., and also held pastorates in Bridgeport, Conn., Everett, Mass., and Chatsworth, III.; professor and head of department of English Schuylkill College, which later merged with Albright College, since 1922; editor of religious section for the handbook *Good Reading*; had contributed to *The Crusader* and *The Evangelical Messenger*; member East Pennsylvania Conference of Evangelical Church and Christ Evangelical Church, Reading.

Married June 16, 1923, in Delanco, N.J., Ethel Helena Osmond (Pennsylvania State College 1918), daughter of Charles Marquedent and Hannah Corlies Tripner (Apple) Osmond. Children: Henry William, Jr., David Quentin, Alvi Osmond, Yvonne Evadne, Thalia Violet, and Benjamin John.

Death due to lobar pneumonia and myocarditis. Buried in Laureldale Cemetery, Reading. Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Miss Dorothy Voigt, Miss Omeda Voigt (North Central College 1918), and Miss Helen Voigt, and two brothers, Benjamin Voigt (M.D. University of Illinois 1910) of Elgin, Ill., and Herbert Voigt of Kankakee.

Ridgley Colfax Clark, M.A. 1929.

Born August 6, 1882, in Dexter, Maine. Died March 23, 1937, in Seymour, Conn

Father, Edward Wise Clark, night watchman in the Dexter Woolen Mills; son of Benjamin and Dorcas (Annis) Clark of Bowerbank, Maine. Mother, Vesta Grace (Staples) Clark; daughter of Daniel and Lucretia (Tucker) Staples of Oldtown, Maine.

Dexter High School; principal Dennysville (Maine) High School 1905–06; B.A. Bowdoin 1908 (member P1 Gamma Mu); principal Fryeburg (Maine) Academy 1908–13 and superintendent of schools, Fryeburg, 1912–13; superintendent of schools Guilford, Conn., 1913– 17 and in Seymour, Conn., since 1917; attended Harvard summer of 1925, New York University summer of 1927, and Yale Graduate School 1928–29; contributed to American Education, Popular Educator, American Educational Digest, Journal of Education, and American School Board Journal; secretary Seymour Chamber of Commerce 1928– 34; adviser Seymour Public Health Association and Seymour Playground Association; director Seymour Public Library since 1919; member State Teachers Association, State Superintendents Association, New England Superintendents Association, National Department of Superintendents, National Education Association, Parent-Teachers Association, Masonic order, and Seymour Congregational Church.

Married June 27, 1912, in Fryeburg, Idella May, daughter of Stephen Wesley and Ida May (Woodruff) Hill. Children: Leonard Hill, David Ridgley, and Bruce Harmon.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Congregational Cemetery, Seymour. Survived by wife and children.

DOCTORS OF PHILOSOPHY

George William Davis, Ph.D. 1891.

Born August 3, 1858, in Rochester, Kent, England. Died November 13, 1936, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, George Davis, a farmer in Wolcott, NY.; son of Henry Davis, who lived in England Mother, Ann (Spencelayh) Davis; daughter of Francis and Ann (Evenden) Spencelayh of Strood, Kent, England.

Graduate Victoria University, Manchester, England, 1881; minister Chapel Allerton, Leeds, England, 1882–83; came to United States 1884, attended Rochester Theological Seminary 1884–85 and Auburn Theological Seminary 1885–86; ordained to Presbyterian ministry 1884; minister Huron (N.Y.) Presbyterian Church 1885–88 and New Preston (Conn) Congregational Church 1888–92; enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1888–91; minister Macalester Presbyterian Church, St. Paul, Minn., and professor of Biblical science Macalester College 1892–99; in charge of Students' Mission, Paris, France, 1899–1901; minister First Presbyterian Church, Mankato, Minn., 1901–07; professor of social and political science Macalester College 1907 until retirement in 1933; minister St. Anthony Park Congregational Church 1909–15; had lived in St. Paul and Seattle since retirement; D.D. Macalester 1901.

Married January 28, 1885, in New York City, Sarah Emily, daugh-

ter of Josiah and Sarah (Clarke) Grimshaw of Leeds. Children: Conrad (University of Minnesota ex-'13) and Constance Emily (B.A. University of Minnesota 1913; B.S. Simmons 1915), the wife of Arthur C. Houlahan. Mrs. Davis died May 11, 1918. Married (2) July 7, 1919, in Rochester, Minn., Ethel Mary, daughter of Barnet and Elizabeth (Dowdall) Creech.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Huron, N.Y. Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

Fred Elmer Marble, Ph.D. 1897.

Born June 21, 1861, in Honeoye Falls, N.Y. Died March 25, 1937, in Atlantic City, N.J.

Father, Albert Burt Marble, in police department, Rochester, N.Y.; son of Sylvester and Mary B. (Waldron) Marble. Mother, Frances Elizabeth (Hunt) Marble; daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Hunt of Pittsford, N.Y.

Cook Academy, Montour Falls, N.Y.; B.A. University of Rochester 1887; B.D. Rochester Theological Seminary 1890; attended Yale Graduate School 1895–97; studied at University of Berlin, Germany, 1897–98, and at Harvard Theological School summers of 1902 and 1907; ordained Baptist minister in Wallingford, Conn., September 25, 1890; minister First Church, Wallingford, 1890–97, First Church, Brattleboro, Vt., 1898–1902, North Avenue Church, Cambridge, Mass, 1902–11; lecturer and supply minister in Cambridge 1911–19; manager Bureau of University Travel in Boston, Mass., 1913–17; in charge of Far East and round-the-world business of the American Express Travel Department in New York City 1919–21; director of world cruises 1922, 1923, 1925, and 1928; retired in 1928 and made his home in New Haven and Stony Creek, Conn.; author: *Round the World Travel-Guide* (1925); member Delta Upsilon and First Baptist Church, Branford, Conn.

Married December 3, 1891, in Wallingford, Adeline Louise, daughter of Dennis Edward and Emily-Adeline (Wallace) Morris. No children.

Death due to cerebral apoplexy. Survived by wife (died November 17, 1937).

Katharine Jeannette Bush, Ph.D. 1901.

Born December 30, 1855, in Scranton, Pa. Died January 19, 1937, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, William Henry Bush, an accountant in Waterbury and New Haven, Conn.; son of Henry and Lydia (Strong) Bush of Easthampton, Conn. Mother, Eliza Ann (Clark) Bush; daughter of Rev. John Clark (B.A. 1806) and Lucy (Peck) Clark of Waterbury. Yale relatives include a great-uncle, Rev. Jehu Clark (B.A. 1794); and John C. Smith, '81, and Ralph H. Smith, '88 S. (cousins).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven; about 1879 started to work as an assistant to Professor Addison E. Verrill, Curator of Zoology in the Peabody Museum of Natural History at Yale, in studies on marine invertebrates, and continued in this association until retirement in 1910 because of ill-health; had also worked for the United States National Museum; enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1899–1904 and 1908–09; was the first woman to receive the degree of doctor of philosophy in zoology at Yale; assistant editor for zoology, 1882–90, *Webster's International Dictionary* (1890); publications: papers on the classification of annelida and mollusca, with descriptions of many new species, in *Bulletins* of the United States Fish Commission, *Proceedings* of the United States National Museum, and other scientific journals; had resided in Farmington, Conn., since 1910; member American Society of Naturalists, American Society of Zoologists, and Congregational Church, Farmington.

Unmarried.

æ

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury. Survived by a sister, Charlotte Bush Coe, the wife of Professor Wesley R. Coe, '92 S.

Elmer Ellsworth Shumaker, Ph.D. 1902.

Born September 15, 1862, in Muncy, Pa. Died November 21, 1936, in Blakely, Pa.

Father, Jasper Shumaker, owner and operator of a woolen mill in Dalton, Pa. Mother, Sarah (Dorworth) Shumaker.

Keystone Academy, Factoryville, Pa.; taught in public schools in Glenburn and Dunning, Pa., 1882–85; attended Harvard 1885-89 (B.A. summa cum laude 1889; member Phi Beta Kappa), Princeton Theological Seminary 1889–90, and General Theological Seminary 1890–91 (B.D. 1891); ordained deacon in the Protestant Episcopal church May 23, 1891; in charge of Zion Episcopal Church, Manchester Center, Vt., 1891–92; studied at University of Berlin 1892–93; minister Mound City (Ill.) Congregational Church 1893–96; ordained to Congregational ministry in Mound City February 27, 1894; professor Southern Collegiate Institute and minister Albion (Ill.) Congregational Church 1896–98; attended Yale Graduate School 1898–99 and 1906– 07; minister North Church, Newburyport, Mass., 1900–03, and Covenant Church, Chicago, 1903–06; acting minister Wood Memorial Church, Cambridge, Mass., 1908–10; minister Shawmut Church, Boston, Mass., 1912–14; secretary Church Peace Squadron of AmeriGraduate School

can Branch, World Alliance of Churches for Promotion of International Friendship, Cambridge, 1915; lecturer on world peace and a league of nations with headquarters at Glenburn, Pa., and Cambridge 1918; minister First Congregational Church, Adams, Mass., 1921–26; president Pure Coal Company, Blakely, since 1926; author: God and Man-Philosophy of the Higher Life (1909), and The World Crisis and the Way to Peace (1915); member First Congregational Church, Adams.

Married August 12, 1891, in Dalton, Pa., Harriet, daughter of William Clarke and Emily (Chamberlin) Hall. Son, Brooks (B.A. Harvard 1916).

Shot in his office by an unidentified assailant. Survived by wife and son.

Stanley Rossiter Benedict, Ph.D. 1908.

Born March 17, 1884, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died December 21, 1936, in Elmsford, N.Y.

Father, Wayland Richard Benedict (B.A. University of Rochester 1865, M.A. 1868; graduate Rochester Theological Seminary 1870), professor of philosophy and psychology University of Cincinnati; son of Nehemiah Wisner and Laura Angeline (Tobey) Benedict of Rochester, N.Y. Mother, Anne (Kendrick) Benedict; daughter of Asahel Clark Kendrick (B.A. Hamilton 1831), professor of Greek University of Rochester, and Anne Elizabeth (Hopkins) Kendrick.

B.A. University of Cincinnati 1906; student in Yale Graduate School 1906-08 and laboratory assistant at Yale 1907-08; instructor in chemistry Syracuse University 1908-09; associate in biological chemistry Columbia University 1909–10; assistant professor chemical pathology Cornell University Medical College 1910-11, assistant professor of biochemistry 1911-12, and professor and head of the department 1912-36; investigator of many topics in the field of metabolism; designed numerous analytical methods which found wide and important uses both in clinic and in research; president American Society of Biological Chemists 1919-21 (secretary 1916); vice-president Harvey Society 1920-21; Harvey lecturer, New York Academy of Medicine, 1916; on editorial board Journal of Biological Chemistry since 1920 and managing editor since 1926; contributed more than seventy papers to this Journal; councilor, Society of Experimental Biology and Medicine 1923-25; member Phi Beta Kappa, Sigma Xi, American Chemical Society, National Academy of Sciences, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Physiological Society, and corresponding member, Société de Biologie de Paris.

Married June 18, 1914, in Norwich, N.Y., Ruth Fulton (B.A. Vassar 1909; Ph.D. Columbia 1923), daughter of Frederick S. Fulton (B.A.

Colgate 1882; M.D. New York Homeopathic Medical College 1885) and Bertrice Joanna (Shattuck) Fulton (B.A. Vassar 1885). Mrs. Benedict is assistant professor of anthropology at Columbia University.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston, Mass. Survived by wife and three sisters, Mary K. Benedict (B.A. Vassar 1897; Ph.D. Yale 1903; M.D. Johns Hopkins 1919) of New Haven, Conn., Miss Florence L. Benedict (B.A. Vassar 1907) of Philadelphia, Pa., and Miss Agnes E. Benedict (B.A. Vassar 1911) of New York City.

Ernst Barnes Lytle, Ph.D. 1908.

Born March 23, 1875, in Decatur, Ill. Died September 5, 1936, in Springfield, Ill.

Father, John Lytle, a grocer in Decatur; son of Andrew and Nancy Ann (McKay) Lytle of Waterford, Pa. Mother, Sidney (Smith) Lytle; daughter of George and Mary (Barnes) Smith of Waterford.

Decatur High School and Illinois State Normal School; taught in public schools in Decatur 1895–97; B.S. University of Illinois 1901, M.A. 1904 (member Phi Delta Kappa and Sigma Xi); instructor in mathematics University of Illinois Academy 1901–04; attended Yale Graduate School 1906–08; instructor in mathematics University of Illinois 1904–06 and 1908–10, associate 1910–20, assistant professor 1920–29, and associate professor since 1929; coauthor: *Trigonometry* (1930); had contributed to *School Science and Mathematics* and *American Mathematical Monthly*; member American Mathematical Society, Central Association of Science and Mathematics Teachers, and First Presbyterian Church, Urbana, Ill.

Married August 15, 1912, in Mechanicsburg, Ill., Alice Evelyn Fullenwider (B.A. University of Illinois 1907), daughter of William Allan and Alice (Elkins) Fullenwider. Children: Edith (B.A. University of Illinois 1935); William Fullenwider (University of Illinois 1939); and Myra (University of Illinois 1941).

Death due to diabetes. Buried in Mechanicsburg Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, Aten L. Lytle of Los Angeles, Calif, and George A. Lytle (Cornell ex-'93) of Harristown, Ill.

Mary Winslow Smyth, Ph.D. 1910.

Born March 27, 1873, in Bangor, Maine. Died March 17, 1937, in Cambridge, Mass.

Father, Rev. Newman Smyth (B.A. Bowdoin 1863, M.A. 1866; D.D. New York University 1881, Yale 1895, and Bowdoin 1921);

198

minister of Center Church (Congregational), New Haven, Conn.; fellow of the Yale Corporation 1899–1921; son of Professor William Smyth (B.A. Bowdoin 1822, M.A. 1825, D.D. 1863) and Harriet Porter (Coffin) Smyth of Brunswick, Maine. Mother, Anna Marston (Ayer) Smyth; daughter of Nathan Chase and Lucy (Wellington) Ayer of Bangor. Nephew, William Smyth, '32.

B.L. Smith College 1895, M.A. 1905; attended Yale Graduate School 1903–10; associate professor of English language Elmira College 1922–24; engaged in writing; coauthor: *British Ballads from Maine* (1929); resided in New Haven until 1930 and then in Cambridge; secretary Folk-Song Society of the Northeast since 1930; member St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Unmarried.

Death due to endocarditis. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by mother, a brother, Nathan A. Smyth, '97, and two sisters, Miss Winifred Smyth (certificate Yale School of the Fine Arts 1906) and Ethel Smyth Tileston, the wife of Wilder Tileston (B.A. Harvard 1895, M.D. 1899), clinical professor of medicine at Yale.

Carl Gustaf Erickson, Ph.D. 1922.

Born February 8, 1877, in Oslo, Norway. Died October 20, 1936, in Lutherland, Pa.

1

Father, Anders Magnus Erickson, a farmer in North Dakota; son of Eric and Brita May Erickson of Dahlsland, Sweden. Mother, Kajsa (Storberg) Erickson; daughter of Ole and Anna Marie Storberg of Dahlsland.

Hope Academy, Moorhead, Minn.; B.A. Gustavus Adolphus College 1904; B.D. Augustana Theological Seminary 1908; ordained in Swedish Lutheran Church, Chicago, 1908; held pastorates in Iron River, Mich., 1908-09, White Rock, S.Dak., 1909-10, South Bend, Ind., 1911–14, and Portland, Conn., 1914–20; student Yale Graduate School 1916–22; president and professor of philosophy Upsala College 1920-36; vice-president New England Conference of The Augustana Synod 1918–20; D.D. Augustana College and Theological Seminary 1932; received Order of Vasa from the King of Sweden in 1935; contributing editor Augustana Quarterly 1928-29; author. How Can We Make Our Preaching More Effective (1928), Academic Freedom in Church Colleges (1928), Lutheran Catholicity in America (1929), The Deepening of Vital Spirituality Through Preaching (1935), and The Psychological Aspect of Pietism (1935); member board of trustees American-Scandinavian Foundation, Philadelphia, Augustana Book Concern, Rock Island, Ill., and Augustana Home for the Aged, Brooklyn, N.Y.; on board of governors John Morton Memorial Museum, Philadelphia; and member First Lutheran Church, East Orange, N.J.

Married April 8, 1913, in South Bend, Ind., Hilda Othelia, daughter of Daniel Peterson and Mathilda (Nelson) Berg. Children: Carl Edward (B.A. Upsala College 1935); Olga Miriam (B.A. Upsala College 1936); and Dorothy Marie.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange, N.J Survived by wife, children, and mother.

Walter Bell Denny, Ph.D. 1926.

Born May 5, 1882, in Newark, N.J. Died June 23, 1937, in London, England.

Father, Edward Bell Denny, a steamfitting contractor in Newark; son of William Henry and Rebecca (Bell) Denny of Staten Island. Mother, Jeannie Butler (Campbell) Denny; daughter of Charles Geddes and Delia (Crane) Campbell of Newark.

Newark Academy and Newark High School; attended School of Pharmacy, New York City; Moody Bible Institute; Oberlin College 1904-07 and 1912-13 (B.A. 1913, S.T.M. 1914; member Phi Beta Kappa); on a world tour 1907-08; in Avon, Ill., 1908-09; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1913-14 (B.D. 1914); ordained 1910 in Three Oaks, Mich.; minister First Congregational Church, Three Oaks, 1910–12, First Congregational Church, Platteville, Wis., 1914-17, Central Square Congregational Church, Bridgewater, Mass., 1917-20, and First Congregational Church, Owosso, Mich., 1920-23; assistant professor at Olivet College 1920-22; registered in Yale Graduate School 1923–26; minister Huntington Congregational Church, Shelton, Conn., 1923-25 and First Congregational Church, Southington, Conn, 1925-26; professor of philosophy and Biblical literature Russell Sage College since 1926; on sabbatical leave studying abroad 1936-37; author. The Four Gospels and the Christian Life (1925), and The Career and Significance of Jesus (1933); associate member American School of Oriental Research, Jerusalem; member National Society of Biblical Instructors, Society of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, Hudson River Valley Association of Congregational Christian Ministers, and First Congregational Church, Ansonia, Conn.

Married (1) in July, 1908, in Avon, Ill., Mabel Alice, daughter of Willis E. and Edith A. Stevens. Son, Wayne Belding (B.A. Oberlin 1935). Mrs. Denny died in April, 1923. Married (2) August 31, 1927, in Ansonia, Lois Miriam Jeynes (B.S. New York State College for Teachers 1926), daughter of Alfred William and Rosina Eva (Hettich) Jeynes, and sister of Paul H. Jeynes, '18 S., and Payson H. Jeynes, '33 S.

200

Death due to peritonitis. Cremation took place at Golder's Green, London, and ashes were scattered in Garden of Rest, Golder's Green. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Miss Julia Denny (B.S. Boston University 1927, M.A. 1931) of Woodstock, Vt., and two brothers, Robert Campbell Denny (M.E. Cornell 1903) of Madison, N.J., and Edward Bell Denny, Jr. (Oregon State Agricultural College 1912–14) of Damariscotta, Maine.

William Albert Landis, Ph.D. 1935.

Born March 27, 1893, in St. Cloud, Minn. Died December 29, 1936, in Glen Ridge, N.J.

Father, William Alexander Landis, a railroad division superintendent; son of William Alexander and Rose (Marteeny) Landis of Waterloo, Iowa. Mother, Ida Jane (Rock) Landis; daughter of John H. and Annah C. (Sheppard) Rock of Osakis, Minn.

Osakis High School; B.S. University of Chicago 1914 (member Phi Chi and Phi Delta Kappa); attended first semester Johns Hopkins School of Medicine and second semester University of Pennsylvania 1914-15, summer session Harvard 1915; taught in Buhl (Idaho) High School 1915–16, Globe (Ariz.) High School 1916–17; served in United States Intelligence Bureau in South America 1917-19; attended Columbia 1919-20 (M.A. 1920); principal Dover (N.J.) High School 1920-21, Cranford (N.J.) High School 1921-22; instructor in science Pasadena (Calif.) High School 1922-24, and in science and mathematics Franklin (Los Angeles) High School 1924–25 and San Diego (Calif.) High School 1925; attended Graduate School of Education, Stanford University, summer 1925; principal Taft (Calif.) Union High School 1925–26, and Carlsbad Union High School, Oceanside, Calif., 1926–29; engaged in tutoring work in New York City 1929–31; instructor in mathematics Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn., 1931-35 (treasurer 1932-35); registered in Yale Graduate School 1932-35; instructor in mathematics and science New Jersey State Teachers College at Montclair 1935-36 and instructor in mathematics Friends' Seminary, New York City, a short time in 1936; member Episcopal church.

Married (1) June 30, 1920, in Pittsburgh, Pa., Elizabeth, daughter of Jacob and Elizabeth M. (Bright) Van Wagener. Mr. and Mrs. Landis were divorced in 1929. Married (2) August 31, 1933, in New York City, Dorothy E., daughter of Francis James and Elizabeth (Bexon) Hildick.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Cremated at Linden, N.J. Survived by wife.

Felix Paquin, Jr., Ph.D. 1935.

Born March 14, 1909, in Galveston, Texas. Died February 6, 1937, in Galveston, Texas.

Father, Felix Paquin (graduate in surveying University of Missouri 1888, Ph.B St. Louis College of Pharmacy 1897), owner of Galveston Laboratories, son of J. Paquin of Columbia, Mo. Mother, Sarah Scott (Young) Paquin of Jacksonville, Ill.

Ball High School, Galveston; B A. Rice Institute 1929 (member Phi Lambda Upsilon), fellow in chemistry Rice Institute 1929-30; instructor in biochemistry University of Texas School of Medicine 1930-32, M A. University of Texas 1932; student Yale Graduate School 1932-35 and laboratory assistant in physiological chemistry 1933-34 (member Sigma X1), adjunct professor in biological chemistry University of Texas School of Medicine since 1935.

Unmarried.

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound. Cremation took place at San Antonio, Texas. Survived by parents.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

DOCTORS OF MEDICINE

Caryl Fenelon Seely White, M.D. 1881.

Born April 5, 1856, in New Haven, Conn. Died March 3, 1937, in Guilford, Conn.

Father, Moses Clarke White, M.D. 1854. Mother, Mary (Seely) White.

Hopkins Grammar School; entered Yale with Class of 1878 S. but withdrew after a few months because of an injury; attended Yale School of Medicine 1878-81; attended New York Post-Graduate Medical School 1887-88; practiced medicine in New Haven 1888-1911 and in Guilford 1911 until retirement in 1917; had since lived in Guilford; member New Haven Medical Association, and First Methodist Episcopal Church, New Haven.

Married June 26, 1894, in New Haven, Annie Mary, daughter of George Cornelius and Harriet Louise (Stebbins) Leete. No children.

Death due to mitral regurgitation. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife and a brother, Eugene H. White of New Haven.

William Patrick John Burke, M.D. 1890.

Born February 25, 1868, in Roxbury, Conn. Died October 17, 1936, in Newington, Conn.

Father, Patrick Burke, a brassworker in Torrington, Conn., whose parents came from County Tipperary, Ireland. Mother, Ann (Cox) Burke, whose parents came from County Langford, Ireland.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven; entered Yale School of Medicine 1887; interne Springside Farm, New Haven, 1890-91; practiced medicine in Danbury, Conn., 1891-92, in Sandy Hook, Conn., 1892-93, and in New Haven until retirement in June, 1936; commissioned Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, U.S. Army, March 20, 1918; Officers' Training Camp, Fort Oglethorpe, Ga., May 14-July 5; assistant to surgeon, 154th Depot Brigade, Camp Meade, Md., July 5-December 21, 1918; member Connecticut State Medical Society, New Haven County Medical Society, and St Rita's Roman Catholic Church, Hamden, Conn.

Married October 26, 1897, in New Haven, Catharine Jane, daughter of Michael and Ellen (Reynolds) Cannon. Children: William Reynolds, Anna Loretta, Francis Andrew, Ellen Florence (Mrs. M. Herbert Schoeller), Thomas Edwin (died 1904), Mildred Rose, Joseph Edmund, Veronica Mary, and Vincent Aloysius (died 1916). Death due to myocarditis. Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughters, three sons, and six grandchildren.

Ambrose Kirk Brennan, M.D. 1893.

Born January 12, 1871, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 24, 1937, in Plainfield, N.J.

Father, Joseph Brennan, a musician; organist St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Church, Bridgeport, Conn.; son of Joseph and Catherine (Keegan) Brennan of County Cavan, Ireland. Mother, Josephine Cecelia (Kirk) Brennan; daughter of William and Ellen (Casey) Kirk of County Cork, Ireland. Yale relatives include a brother, Edward L. Brennan, ex-'94 L.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven; entered Yale School of Medicine 1890; house officer Lying-In Hospital, French Hospital, and Vanderbilt Clinic, New York City, 1893-94; assistant in obstetrics Yale School of Medicine 1896-1900, in pediatrics 1896-98; had practiced medicine in Plainfield since 1903; on staff of Muhlenberg Hospital, Plainfield, 1917-37; medical examiner Knights of Columbus 1905-37 and Independent Order of Foresters 1907-37; member St. Mary's Roman Catholic Church, Plainfield.

Married June 26, 1901, in New Haven, Jane Frances, daughter of Stephen and Catherine (Farrell) Shanley. Children. Kathryn Farrell (B.A. St. Elizabeth College 1924), the wife of Denis J. O'Mahoney (M.E. Stevens Institute of Technology 1923); Regina Josephine (B A St. Elizabeth College 1927); and Ambrose Kirk, Jr. (B.S. in M E. Villanova College 1931).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughters, son, three brothers, Joseph P. Brennan of New Haven, Stephen J. Brennan of Seattle, Wash., and J. Russell Brennan of North Plainfield, and two sisters, Mrs. Alice K. Swain of New Haven and Mrs. Vincent P. Boudren of Washington, D.C.

William Joseph Hogan, M.D. 1898.

Born June 22, 1876, in Torrington, Conn. Died May 22, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, John Francis Hogan; in clothing business, Torrington; son of John and Nora (O'Donnell) Hogan of Goshen, Conn. Mother, Catherine (Carroll) Hogan; daughter of John and Ellen (Clancy) Carroll of Ireland.

Torrington High School; attended Yale School of Medicine 1894–98; interne Bellevue Hospital, New York City, February 1, 1900–July 1, 1901; had practiced medicine in Torrington since 1901; attending

204

surgeon Torrington Hospital 1917-36; chief of surgical division Charlotte Hungerford Hospital, Torrington, 1919-36, and subsequently consulting surgeon; special course in surgery at New York Polyclinic Hospital 1915-16; examiner, Draft Board No. 18, Torrington July, 1917-September, 1918; fellow American College of Surgeons; member Litchfield County Medical Society, American Medical Association, and St. Francis Roman Catholic Church, Torrington.

Married June 25, 1919, in Torrington, Catherine Veronica, daughter of Patrick and Ellen (Donahue) Dunn. Daughter, Elizabeth.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in St. Francis Cemetery, Torrington. Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Mrs. John Dunn, and a brother, John F. Hogan, all of Torrington.

Alfred Harrold Thomas, M.D. 1898.

Born January 6, 1875, in Woodstock, Ill.

Died April 15, 1937, at New Brighton, Staten Island, N.Y.

Father, George Wilbur Thomas, bookkeeper for Jones & Sellers, an abstract and title firm in Chicago; son of Edwin Eldridge and Naomi (Patterson) Thomas of Woodstock. Mother, Mary Newell (Stark) Thomas; daughter of Benjamin and Cordelia Adeline (Wise) Stark of Beloit, Wis.

New Britain (Conn.) Public High School and Phillips-Andover; attended Yale School of Medicine 1895–98 (on University Football Team 1897; member Delta Epsilon Iota); interne J. Hood Wright Hospital, New York City, and Paterson (N.J.) General Hospital 1898-1900; had practiced medicine on Staten Island since 1902; attending physician 1904-07 and attending surgeon 1907-37 S. R. Smith Infirmary (now Staten Island General Hospital) and Mariner's Family Asylum, Staten Island; commissioned Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, U.S. Army, April 9, 1917; went overseas August 9, 1917, and served as surgeon with British Army in London and in France until May, 1918; in charge of surgical section 41st Division, A.E.F., June, 1918-January, 1919; transferred to 77th Division January, 1919; promoted to rank of Major February 19, 1919; returned to United States April 28, 1919, and discharged May 25; received decoration from French government; Fellow American College of Surgeons and member Richmond County Medical Society, New York State Medical Society, and Christ Episcopal Church, New Brighton.

Married (1) January 31, 1906, in Andover, Mass., Mary Isabelle, daughter of Eben Augustus and Martha Ann (Dixon) Baldwin. Son, Eben Baldwin. Mrs. Thomas died in May, 1912. Married (2) November 10, 1914, in Toronto, Canada, Marie, daughter of Joshua and Alice Victoria (Roberts) Paul. Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Eastford, Conn. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Edwin S. Thomas, '95 L.

Robert Joseph Boyle, M.D. 1908.

Born October 27, 1885, in East Haven, Conn. Died August 6, 1936, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, James Boyle, a merchant in East Haven; son of Richard and Mary (Bailey) Boyle of Hartford. Mother, Josephine (Schneider) Boyle; daughter of Christian and Carolyn (Föicher) Schneider of Neuwied, Germany.

Boardman Manual Training School, New Haven; entered Yale School of Medicine 1904 (member Alpha Kappa Kappa); interne St. Francis Hospital, Hartford, 1908–09; practiced medicine in Hartford 1908–21 and in Bristol, Conn., since 1921; urologist St. Francis Hospital, Hartford, 1910–21, and Bristol Hospital since 1922; secretary Hartford Medical Society 1917; member Connecticut State Medical Society and St. Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, Bristol.

Married September 14, 1916, in Hartford, Sarah, daughter of Terrence and Margaret (Little) Donaghy. Children. Mary Alice (died July 6, 1936), Clare Louise, and Terrence.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in St. Joseph's Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by wife, one daughter, son, mother, a sister, Miss Josephine Boyle of Hartford, and four brothers, Arthur Boyle (D.D.S. Philadelphia Dental College 1906) of Hartford, James F. Boyle, '12 S., William Boyle (LL.B. Georgetown University 1918), and Raymond G. Boyle, '16 S.

Herman Robert White, M.D. 1912.

Born December 21, 1888, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 14, 1937, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Isaac White, a liquor dealer in New Haven; son of Herman Robert and Sarah White of Russia. Mother, Lena (Kusslow) White; daughter of Samuel Kusslow of Latvia.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven; attended Yale School of Medicine 1908–12; interne St. Francis Hospital, Hartford, Conn., 1912–13; had practiced medicine in New Haven since 1913, specializing in otolaryngology; commissioned First Lieutenant Medical Reserve Corps, U.S. Army, February 7, 1918; overseas April 24, 1918–May 26, 1919, attached to British Expeditionary Forces; promoted to rank of Captain February 17, 1919; received discharge May 28; interne New Haven Hospital 1929–30 and assistant resident surgeon 1930; assistant in surgery Yale School of Medicine 1930 and clinical assistant

206

in otolaryngology 1931–36; assistant attending otolaryngologist Grace Hospital, New Haven, 1931–35 and attending otolaryngologist since 1935; fellow American Medical Association; member Connecticut State Medical Society, New Haven County Medical Society, New Haven Medical Association, and B'nai Jacob Synagogue.

Married October 10, 1920, in New Haven, Eva, daughter of Morris and Rose (Resnik) Green of Southbridge, Mass. Children: Marilyn and Barbara.

Death due to burns received in an accident. Buried in B'nai Jacob Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughters, father, four sisters, Ethel White Schoenfeld, the wife of Samuel Schoenfeld (B.S. Columbia 1930) of New York City, Mrs. Jacob Rogowski of Port Chester, N.Y., Mrs. Morris Greenberg of Hartford, and Mrs. Samuel Lopatin of Worcester, Mass., and a brother, Abraham White of New York City.

William Edgar Callison, M.D. 1927.

Born May 11, 1899, in Locust, W.Va. Died February 26, 1937, in Winchester, Ind.

Father, William Henry Callison, a farmer in Locust; son of Josiah and Nancy (Hill) Callison of Locust. Mother, Laura Frances (Whiting) Callison; daughter of Ebenezer and Sally (McMillion) Whiting of Droop, W.Va.

Bound Brook (N.J.) High School; B.S. Rutgers 1922; Yale Graduate School 1922–23; assistant in physiology Yale School of Medicine 1922–25; M.D. Yale 1927 (member Phi Chi, Sigma Xi); appointed for interneship Union Memorial Hospital, Baltimore, Md., but was ill 1927–28; instructor pharmacology and toxicology Yale School of Medicine 1928–33; interne Cincinnati (Ohio) General Hospital 1933– 34; resident physician Fort Hamilton Hospital, Hamilton, Ohio, 1934– 35; engaged in private practice of medicine in Winchester since 1935; member Rotary Club, Randolph County Medical Association, and Winchester Presbyterian Church.

Married August 9, 1928, in Great Barrington, Mass., Elizabeth Emma Crofts (B.A. Oberlin 1920; M.S. Yale 1924), daughter of Charles James and Mary Elizabeth (Burns) Crofts. Children: James Crofts, Mary Frances, and William Charles.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Bound Brook (N.J.) Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Ima Caroline Callison (New Jersey College for Women 1923), and two brothers, James K. Callison of Bound Brook and Quincy S. Callison of Somerville, N.J.

George Marion Hanson, M.D. 1936.

Born September 15, 1910, in Salt Lake City, Utah. Died January 15, 1937, in Salt Lake City, Utah.

Father, Albert Nathaniel Hanson (University of Utah ex-'01; M.D. College of Physicians and Surgeons [Baltimore, Md.] 1908), a physician and surgeon in Salt Lake City; son of Hans and Hannah Margaret (Sorenson) Hanson of Fillmore, Utah. Mother, Daisy Virginia (Holbrook) Hanson (University of Utah ex-'01); daughter of Orson Chandler and Mary Virginia (Ray) Holbrook of Fillmore.

East High School, Salt Lake City; B.A. University of Utah 1932; entered Yale School of Medicine 1932 (member Alpha Kappa Kappa); interne Memorial Hospital, Morristown, N.J., for a short time. Unmarried.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Mt. Olivet Cemetery, Salt Lake City. Survived by parents, two sisters, Ruby Rae Hanson Rice (B.A. University of Utah 1916), the wife of Earl C. Rice (University of Utah 1915-17) of San Diego, Calif., and Florence Eugenia Hanson Browning (B.A. University of Utah 1923), the wife of Frank Browning (University of Utah 1916-17) of Ogden, Utah, and two brothers, Theodore C. Hanson (B.A. Stanford University 1932; LL.B. Harvard 1935) and Albert L. Hanson (B.A. University of Utah 1923), both of Salt Lake City.

DOCTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Helen Robertson Howe Gage, Dr.P.H. 1923.

Born September 12, 1876, in Georgetown, D C. Died January 6, 1937, in Suffield, Conn.

Father, Rev. Samuel Henry Howe (B.A. Hanover College 1861, D D 1877; graduate Princeton Theological Seminary 1864); minister Park Congregational Church, Norwich, Conn.; son of John M. and Sally (Robertson) Howe of Flemingsburg, Ky. Mother, Katharine Boucher (Buss) Howe; daughter of Ralph and Caroline (Boucher) Buss of Castleton and Cohoes, N.Y.

Norwich Free Academy; attended Wellesley College 1895-96; M.D. Woman's Medical College of Pennsylvania 1901; interne Woman's Hospital, Philadelphia, 1901-02; engaged in special medical studies in Philadelphia 1902-03; professor of pediatrics and assistant at the Shiang-ya Hospital and Medical School, Yale-in-China, Changsha, Hunan, 1904-22; assistant at Mission Hospital of the Norwegian Lutheran Church, Changsha, 1905-10; studied in Yale Graduate School 1918-19, 1922-24 (C.P.H. 1919, Dr.P.H. 1923); health officer at Suffield Academy since 1924; president Hartford County Y.W.C.A. 1925-28, member of the Board since 1925 and of the Rural Communities Committee of the National Board 1925-30; member League of Women Voters, Annual Conference on Cause and Cure of War, Connecticut League of Nations Association, and First Congregational Church, Suffield.

Married January 12, 1904, in Norwich, Brownell Gage, '98, son of Charles Tyler and Sarah Anne (Perrin) Gage. Children: Katharine Perrin (B.A. Wellesley 1926); Robertson (died 1917); Emily Thornton (B.A. Wellesley 1930); and Eleanor Williams, the wife of Dean Frederick Betts.

Death due to carcinoma. Cremation took place at Springfield, Mass. Survived by husband, daughters, one grandchild, a sister, Miss Louise C. Howe (Wellesley 1893–95) of Norwich, and two brothers, Samuel H. Howe, Jr., '02, and J. Ralph Howe, '04.

į

SCHOOL OF LAW

BACHELORS OF LAWS

Conrad Gustavus Bacon, LL.B. 1871.

Born May 18, 1844, in Middletown, Conn. Died October 23, 1936, in Middletown, Conn.

Father, John Plum Bacon, a merchant in Middletown and vicepresident Middletown Savings Bank; son of John and Martha (Bates) Bacon of Middletown. Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (Southmayd) Bacon; daughter of John B. and Elizabeth (Perkins) Southmayd of Middletown.

Middletown public schools; entered Yale School of Law 1869; practiced law independently in Middletown 1871 until retirement in 1925 with exception of 1884–88 which he spent in Pittsford, N.Y., in partnership with his brother in Bacon Brothers (general store); assistant clerk Connecticut House of Representatives 1874–75, clerk 1875–76; clerk State Senate 1876–77; town clerk of Middletown 1891–92; postmaster of Middletown 1894–98; chairman Democratic Town Committee 1894–1902; representative in General Assembly 1912–13; member Middletown.

Married (1) November 4, 1868, in Meriden, Conn., Ellena, daughter of William J and Lucy J. (Birdsey) Ives. Daughter, Ellena Ives (Mrs. Arthur L. Allen; died July 26, 1932). Mrs. Bacon died July 29, 1870. Married (2) September 15, 1874, in Toronto, Ont., Canada, Anna Louise, daughter of William and Caroline (Buckley) Donaldson. Son, Frederic Stanley (B.A. Trinity 1899; LL.B. Yale 1902). Mrs. Bacon died October 22, 1932.

Death due to chronic myocarditis and infirmities of age. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Middletown. Survived by son, and four grandchildren.

Charles [Louis] Hequemburgh Hubbell, LL.B. 1884.

Born December 27, 1863, in Davenport, Iowa. Died August 24, 1936, in Denver, Colo.

Father, George Edward Hubbell (Yale School of Law 1849-50), a lawyer in Davenport, son of John Lawrence and Sophia (Morse) Hubbell of Salisbury, Conn. Mother, Mary Brewster (Pease) Hubbell; daughter of Obadiah and Mary (Brewster) Pease.

Davenport High School; attended Griswold College 1880–82, Yale School of Law 1882–84 (member Kent Club); worked in father's office in Davenport 1884–86; practiced law in Minneapolis, Minn., 1886–87, Seattle, Wash., 1888–89, and in Davenport 1889–1907; member firm of Hubbell & Hubbell 1889–97, 1902–07; judge Municipal Court of Davenport 1897–1900; claim adjuster in Canada for John Deere Plow Company and Moline Plow Company 1907–10; with Hubbell Construction Machinery Company 1910–36 (president 1910– 18); member Scott County Bar Association and Davenport Unitarian Church (president Unitarian Laymen's League 1924–25).

Married October 18, 1892, in Davenport, Emilie Marie, daughter of William Frederick and Marie Therese (Petersen) Hahn. Children: Edward Lawrence (B.S. University of Illinois 1922) and Dorothy Marie (Mrs. Jerome H. Skelley).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Oakdale Cemetery, Davenport. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. John T. Manson of New Haven, Conn., and two brothers, George E. Hubbell, Jr., of Clinton, Wis., and James P. Hubbell (University of Illinois ex-'92) of Corpus Christi, Texas.

Prentice William Chase, LL.B. 1887.

Born November 27, 1859, in Old Mystic, Conn. Died July 18, 1936, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Emery Edward Chase, a mechanic in Westerly, R.I.; son of Edward Emery and Amy (Burgess) Chase of Killingly, Conn. Mother, Fannie (Babcock) Chase; daughter of Nathaniel and Fannie (Allen) Babcock of Vernon, Conn.

Worked in Hyde's Woolen Mill, Old Mystic, 1874-80, and for Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, 1880-85; entered Yale School of Law 1885 (member Kent Club); practiced law in New Haven 1887 until retirement in 1921; specialized in criminal law; continued to reside in New Haven; member Company A, Third Regiment, Connecticut National Guard 1878-80, and Second Company, Governor's Foot Guard 1892-1902; served on Common Council of New Haven 1899-1900.

Married March 6, 1889, in New Haven, Helen Frances, daughter of Thomas and Margaret (Hanna) Sproat. Son, Prentice Thomas, '12 S., '17 L.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs. Ella Chase Hall of New Haven, and three brothers, Warren M. Chase of Wakefield, R.I., Edgar Chase of Westerly, and Sylvester Chase of New Haven.

Yale University Obituary Record

Andrew Julius Brown, LL.B. 1889.

Born July 18, 1868, in Yalesville, Conn. Died January 18, 1937, in Yalesville, Conn.

Father, Andrew Jackson Brown, foreman for Charles Parker Box Factory, Yalesville; son of Ervin and Lois (Bronson) Brown of Burlington, Conn. Mother, Mary Hall (McKenzie) Brown; daughter of William and Mary Blakeslee (Hall) McKenzie of Yalesville.

Meriden High School; attended Yale School of Law 1887–89; assistant superintendent Charles Parker Box Factory, Yalesville, 1889– 1915; engaged in farming 1915–20; a building contractor 1920 until retirement in 1933; member Yalesville Methodist Episcopal Church.

Married June 15, 1892, in East Hartford, Conn., Fannie Eliza, daughter of Joseph and Sarah Jane (White) French. Children: Lois Mary; Elizabeth Avaline; Francis Andrew James (B.S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1926); Elsie Marguerite; and James Alexander (B.S. Tufts 1933).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Center Street Cemetery, Wallingford, Conn. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, seven sisters, Mrs Frederick E. Tucker of Meriden, Conn., and Mrs. Mary Brown McKinnon, Mrs. Frederick P. Loomis, Miss Harriet E. Brown, Mrs Richard P. Dunn, Miss Frances Brown, and Miss Alice R. Brown, all of Yalesville, and two brothers, William McK. Brown, '99 S., and Robert E. Brown, '08 S.

Louis Bassial Eppstein, LL.B. 1890.

Born August 31, 1869, in St. Joseph, Mo. Died November 20, 1936, in New York City.

Father, Leopold Eppstein, in wholesale liquor business in Denison, Texas; son of Moses and Gerta (Gutman) Eppstein of Augsburg, Germany. Mother, Henrietta (Westheimer) Eppstein; daughter of Isaac and Yetta (Marx) Westheimer of Hessen, Germany.

St. Joseph High School; attended University of Illinois 1883–84; read law in an office in Denison 1884–88; attended University of Virginia 1888–89; entered Yale School of Law 1889; circuit court judge in the Southwest 1896–1900; practiced law in Denison 1890–1907 and in New York City since 1907, specializing in corporation, tax, and copyright law; partner Eppstein & Axman 1920–26, and of Eppstein & Hirshfield (his nephew, Ira W. Hirshfield, B.A. Columbia 1917, LL.B. 1920) since 1926.

Unmarried.

Death due to heart failure. Buried in Mt. Pleasant (N.Y.) Cemetery. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Maurice W. Hirshfield of New York City, with whom he had resided since coming to New York.

Frank Hewitt Hinckley, LL.B. 1890.

Born August 11, 1867, in Stonington, Conn. Died December 21, 1936, in Mystic, Conn.

Father, Samuel Hobart Hinckley, an accountant with Thomas Foster, Utica, N.Y.; son of Elias and Catherine (Barnes) Hinckley of Clinton, N.Y. Mother, Amanda Jean (Hewitt) Hinckley; daughter of Benjamin Babcock and Rhoda (Pendelton) Hewitt of Norwich, N.Y.

Groton (Conn.) public schools; entered Yale School of Law 1888 (treasurer and secretary Kent Club); practiced law independently in Mystic 1892–1936; prosecuting attorney Town Court of Stonington 1892–1911, judge 1919–23, and judge of probate since 1922; representative in General Assembly 1899 and 1901; member Constitutional Convention 1902; senator from his district 1917–19; trustee Elm Grove Cemetery Association since 1933 and president since 1935; member Union Baptist Church, Mystic.

Married April 26, 1902, in Hartford, Conn., Sarah May, daughter of Edward E. Boyd. No children. Mrs. Hinckley died in October, 1934.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Elm Grove Cemetery, Mystic. Survived by mother.

Benjamin Hynes Charles, LL.B. 1891.

Born April 26, 1866, in Chester, Ill. Died May 22, 1937, in St. Louis, Mo.

Father, Rev. Benjamin Hynes Charles (B.A. Center College 1853; D.D. Parsons College 1883), a Presbyterian minister; president Synodical College for Women, Fulton, Mo., and Ward College, Nashville, Tenn.; son of William Breeden and Elvira (Crutcher) Charles of Brandenburg, Ky. Mother, Achsah Susan (Holmes) Charles; daughter of Joseph Bright and Achsah (Bond) Holmes of Chester, Ill.

Westminster Preparatory School; B.A. Westminster College (Mo.) 1885, M.A. 1888 (member Omicron Delta Kappa); instructor in Latin and Greek Westminster College 1885–88; read law in office of Judge William Hartzell in Chester 1889–90; attended Yale School of Law 1890–91; member of law firm of Charles & Lackey, St. Louis, 1891– 1900; practiced law independently 1900–03; associate city counselor for St. Louis 1903–10; specialized in legal requirements for municipal bond issues; practiced independently in St. Louis 1910–17 and as a member of firm of Charles & Rutherford 1917–27, practiced independently 1927–36 and as a member of firm of Charles & Trauernicht since 1936; LL.D. Westminster College 1930; trustee Westminster College 1909–36 (president of board 1933–36); president Yale Club of St. Louis 1920–21; member American Bar Association, Missouri State Bar Association, St. Louis Bar Association, St. Louis Chamber of Commerce, and Westminster Presbyterian Church, St. Louis (deacon since 1917).

Married June 30, 1903, in Keokuk, Iowa, Nancy McCandless, daughter of Robert Gray Horne (B.A. Monmouth College 1868) and Martha Sara (Hamill) Horne. Children: Benjamin Hynes, 3d (M.B., Ch.B. University of Edinburgh 1934); Robert Horne, '35; and William Hamill, '35.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Oakland Cemetery, Keokuk. Survived by wife, sons, and a brother, Joseph W. Charles (B.A. Westminster College 1887; M.D. Washington University 1891) of St. Louis.

Albert James Kenyon, LL.B. 1891.

Born July 1, 1871, in Bloomfield, Conn. Died January 18, 1937, in Greenwich, Conn.

Father, Greene Tew Kenyon, a shoe merchant in Hartford; son of Sprague and Mary (Chappell) Kenyon, whose ancestors came from England in 1647 and settled in Rhode Island. Mother, Lucinda Frances (Loweree) Kenyon; daughter of Andrew Gosline Loweree, whose ancestors came from Germany in 1749 and settled on Long Island, and Martha Treat (Wolcott) Loweree.

Branford (Conn.) High School and private tutor; attended Yale School of Law 1889–92, 1895–96; LL.M. Yale 1896; practiced law in office of Simeon E. Baldwin, '61, 1891–96, and in office of Edwin P. Arvine in New Haven 1896–98; trial justice of the peace in Branford 1891–95; traveled in United States 1898–1901; in law department Manhattan Railway Company and assistant to the general counsel Interborough Rapid Transit Company, New York City, since 1902; served in First Division Connecticut Battalion Naval Reserves June 15–September 10, 1898; officer in Naval Militia of New York 1912–17; Lieutenant, National Naval Volunteers, April 6, 1917–March 31, 1919, with assignments as navigating or executive officer; delegate to General Convention of Protestant Episcopal Churches; member Phi Sigma Kappa, Sons of the American Revolution, Veterans of Foreign Wars, and Trinity Episcopal Church, Branford.

Married October 8, 1902, in Fair Haven, Conn., Clara Gertrude, daughter of William Hubbard and Ella (Bishop) Davis. Children: Esther Davis, Elizabeth Wolcott (died 1906), and Roger Wolcott, ex-'33.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Guilford, Conn. Survived by wife, one daughter, son, mother, and a sister, Miss Clara Kenyon of New Haven.

214

School of Law

1

John Wilber Roby, LL.B. 1891.

Born January 8, 1868, in Delphos, Ohio. Died January 14, 1937, in Lima, Ohio.

Father, John Roby, proprietor of the Phelan House, Delphos; son of John and Mary (Munger) Roby of Bavaria. Mother, Martha Malinda (Searing) Roby; daughter of Caleb and Martha (Helt) Searing of Maumee, Ohio.

Delphos High School; taught school in Vanwert County 1887–88; attended Ohio Wesleyan University 1888–89, Normal School, Ada, Ohio, 1889–90, and Yale School of Law 1890–91 and 1893–94 (LL.M. *magna cum laude* 1894); member of law firms of Reeves & Roby, Delphos, 1894–95, Richie, Leland & Roby, Lima, 1895–1902, Roby & McLaughlin, Lima, 1902–18, and Roby & Jackson, Lima, 1918–32; had practiced independently in Lima since 1932; vice-president the Union Savings & Loan Company since 1923 and attorney since 1898; president Ohio Building Association League 1935–36 (member of executive committee and legislative committee for many years); one of the originators of the Lima Public Library and a trustee and treasurer 1900–25; member Allen County Bar Association; senior warden Christ Episcopal Church, Lima.

Married June 2, 1896, in Delaware, Ohio, Lena Curren (B.A. Ohio Wesleyan 1892), daughter of Joseph Francis and Mary Allison (Gavitt) Curren. Children: Mary Kathryn (B.A. Ohio Wesleyan 1919), the wife of Dwight O'Ferrall; Martha Curren (B.A. Ohio Wesleyan 1920), the wife of Richard C. Stevenson; and Annette (Ohio Wesleyan 1919–20; Cincinnati Conservatory of Music 1921–23), the wife of Neil Ahlefeld.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Memorial Park Cemetery, Lima. Survived by wife, daughters, mother, and five grandchildren.

William Henry Marlatt, LL.B. 1892.

Born September 19, 1869, in Lebanon, Ohio. Died June 21, 1937, in Martinsburg, W.Va.

Father, Henry Harford Marlatt, a grocer in Lebanon; son of William and Hepzibah Marlatt of Lebanon. Mother, Hester (Wager) Marlatt.

Lebanon High School; attended National Normal University, Lebanon, 1886-89, and Cincinnati Law School 1889-90; taught school at Midway, Ala., 1890-91; in Yale School of Law 1891-92 (member Corbey Court); since 1892 had practiced law in Cleveland, Ohio, for many years in partnership with his classmate Francis W. Treadway (died 1925); United States Commissioner for the Northern District of Ohio 1903-22; coauthor with Mr. Treadway: Obio Mechanic's Lien Laws (1901), president Ohio Society Sons of the American Revolution; member Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Cleveland.

Married October 31, 1899, in Cleveland, Julia Katherine, daughter of Herman Ledyard and Sarah Hannah (Smith) Morgan. No children.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife.

Jo Ralph Jaques, LL.B. 1894.

Born February 13, 1873, in Ottumwa, Iowa. Died March 12, 1937, in Ottumwa, Iowa.

Father, William Henry Clay Jaques (Harvard Law School 1866–67), a lawyer and city attorney in Ottumwa. Mother, Florence (Williams) Jaques.

Ottumwa High School; studied at State University of Iowa as an undergraduate 1889–92 and in the Law School 1892–93; attended Yale School of Law 1893–94 (member Delta Tau Delta); partner in law firms of Jaques & Jaques, and Jaques, Tisdale & Jaques, Ottumwa, since 1894.

Married in June, 1900, in Wapello County, Iowa, Kate, daughter of Enoch Rupe.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Ottumwa Cemetery. Survived by wife and two sisters, Mrs. Estella J. Moehn and Mrs. Mabel J. Galbraith, both of Los Angeles, Calif.

Elmore Sherwood Banks, LL.B. 1895.

Born May 24, 1866, in Southport, Conn. Died July 31, 1936, in Deep River, Conn.

Father, Simon Banks, a merchant in Fairfield, Conn.; son of Aaron and Polly A (Sherwood) Banks of Fairfield. Mother, Hannah (Dwyer) Banks, born in Ireland. Yale relatives include a niece, Marion Banks Sherwood (M.S. 1924, Ph.D. 1928).

Hopkins Grammar School; member Class of 1888 at Yale for a year and a half (member Gamma Nu); taught school in Kentucky for one year, bought and operated his father's store in Fairfield; entered Yale School of Law 1893; town clerk of Fairfield 1894–96; practiced law in Bridgeport, Conn., 1895 until retirement; member of firm of Davenport & Banks 1899–1914; judge of probate, District of Fairfield, 1896–1914; prosecuting attorney Court of Common Pleas of Fairfield County 1906–11; member Connecticut General Assembly 1901–12 (speaker 1909–10), state senator 1921–22; had lived in Fairfield and East Haddam, Conn., since 1914; attended Congregational church.

Married April 4, 1898, in Sebree, Ky., Beulah May, daughter of Asa Board and Permelia Emeline (Hancock) Galloway. No children.

216

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Fountain Hill Cemetery, Deep River. Survived by wife and two half sisters, Mrs. Herbert B. Sherwood and Mrs. Fred Bishop, both of Southport.

Benedict M. Holden, LL.B. 1895.

Born February 17, 1874, in Bristol, Conn. Died February 19, 1937, in New York City.

Father, Felix Holden, a farmer in Bristol; son of Owen and Bridget (Riley) Holden of Cavan, Ireland. Mother, Jane (Farley) Holden; daughter of Phillip and Margaret (Fox) Farley of Cavan.

Bristol High School; read law in office of Newell & Jennings in Bristol before entering Yale School of Law in 1894; admitted to Connecticut bar 1895; practiced in office of Holcomb & Pearce, Hartford, Conn., 1895-98; served as sergeant major Second Battalion, 27th Regiment, in the Philippines during Spanish-American War; practiced independently in Hartford 1901-34; senior member firm of Holden, Gill & Flynn in Hartford since 1934; during World War was in charge of principal army supply depot at Philadelphia, and also supervised supply depots at Pittsburgh, Columbus, Ohio, and Toronto; in November, 1918, became assistant director of purchases and set up Contract Adjustment Board in Washington; chairman Veterans' Home Commission since 1927; director St. Francis Hospital and Neuro-Psychiatric Institute of Hartford; member Hartford Water Commission, Academy of Political and Social Sciences, American Bar Association, Connecticut State Bar Association, Hartford Chamber of Commerce, Military Order of Carabao, United Spanish War Veterans, Veterans of Foreign Wars, Connecticut Home Guard, Massachusetts Bay Colony in New England, and St. Joseph's Cathedral, Hartford.

Married November 18, 1902, in New Britain, Conn., Grace Frances, daughter of James and Ellen (Callery) Farrell. Children: Mary, the wife of Roger V. Stephenson (Dartmouth *ex-*'24), and Benedict M., Jr., '31, '34 L.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Mount St. Benedict Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, a brother, James F. Holden of Forestville, Conn., and four sisters, Miss Margaret T. Holden of Hartford, Miss Jeannette Holden and Mrs. Joseph Green of Bristol, and Mrs. Arthur F. Roche of Forestville.

Ward Church, LL.B. 1899.

Born December 14, 1873, in Lakewood, N.J Died January 28, 1937, in North Haven, Conn.

Father, Charles Washburn Church (B.A. Wesleyan 1864), an insurance solicitor in Waterbury, Conn. Mother, Frances Antoinette (Newton) Church

Washington (D.C.) High School; entered Yale School of Law 1896 (member Wayland Club); partner law firm of Newton, Church & Hewitt in New Haven, Conn., from 1899 until firm was dissolved in 1914, had since practiced independently in New Haven; member New Haven County Bar Association, New Haven Grays 1898–1903, and North Haven Congregational Church.

Married October 1, 1903, in New Haven, Daisy White, daughter of Lewis and Elsie (White) Norton. No children.

Took his own life. Buried in Center Cemetery, North Haven. Survived by wife.

Leo James Flynn, LL.B. 1900.

Born February 9, 1878, in Dubuque, Iowa. Died March 3, 1937, in Dubuque, Iowa.

Father, John Flynn, superintendent American Express Company in Dubuque, son of Maurice and Margaret (Galvin) Flynn of Dubuque. Mother, Johanna (Duffy) Flynn; daughter of James and Helen Duffy of LaSalle, Ill.

Dubuque High School; LL.B. State University of Iowa 1899; attended Yale School of Law 1899–1900; practiced law in firm of Fouk and Lyon in Dubuque 1901–11; with Interstate Commerce Commission as examiner, attorney examiner, senior examiner, and head examiner 1911–36, and since 1921 assigned to the Bureau of Formal Cases; authority on legislation pertaining to management and control of railroad, truck, and bus transportation; author. *Coordination of Motor Transportation* (1932), a report to the Interstate Commerce Commission on which Congress based the present truck and bus regulations; member American Bar Association, Iowa State Bar Association, Phi Kappa Psi, and St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Church, Dubuque

Unmarried.

Death due to cardiac failure. Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Dubuque. Survived by a brother, Willard M. Flynn of Madison, Wis.

Daniel Joseph Danaher, LL.B. 1901.

Born August 8, 1873, in Meriden, Conn. Died March 16, 1937, in Meriden, Conn.

Father, John Danaher, a stone mason in Meriden; served in Company C, 7th Connecticut Regiment during Civil War; son of John Danaher of Limerick, Ireland. Mother, Margaret (Sullivan) Danaher; daughter of John Sullivan of County Clare, Ireland. Yale relatives include: John A. Danaher, '20, and Francis R. and Cornelius J. Danaher, Jr., both ex-'27 (nephews).

Meriden High School; studied law in the office of his brother, Cornelius J. Danaher, '93 L., for three years; entered Yale School of Law 1900; admitted to Connecticut bar 1901; practiced law in Meriden with his brother 1901–25 and independently since 1925; prosecutor and city attorney for Meriden 1913–14; member Meriden Bar Association, New Haven County Bar Association, and St. Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, Meriden.

Married July 14, 1925, in Great Kills, N.Y., Loretta, daughter of John and Margaret (Conroy) Burke. Daughter, Mary Lou (died in infancy).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Sacred Heart Cemetery, Meriden. Survived by wife, a brother, Cornelius J. Danaher, '93 L., and a sister, Mrs. Burton A. Conklin of Meriden.

William Henry Jackson, LL.B. 1901.

Born May 14, 1871, 1n Waterbury, Conn. Died September 15, 1936, in Fairfield, Conn.

Father, Charles Jackson, a sculptor in Waterbury; son of Timothy and Catherine (Curry) Jackson of Mitchelstown, County Cork, Ireland. Mother, Brigid (Walsh) Jackson; daughter of Michael and Alice (Hennessey) Walsh of Aherlow, County Tipperary, Ireland. Yale relatives include: Charles B. Jackson, '07, Andrew J. Jackson, ex-'10 S., Joseph F. Jackson, '20, and Wilfrid A. Jackson, '23 (nephews).

Waterbury High School; entered Yale School of Law 1898 (member Corbey Court and Phi Delta Phi); did not engage in practice of law; associated with various printing and publishing companies including the Yale University Press and the Wynkoop, Hallenbeck, Crawford Company and its successor, the DeVinne-Hallenbeck Company, until retirement in 1934; attended St. Thomas' Roman Catholic Church, Fairfield.

Married September 5, 1901, in New York City, Eleanor Schieffelin, daughter of Henry and Mary (Schieffelin) Sayers. Children: William Henry, Jr., '26; and Eleanor, Marie, and Joan (all died in infancy). Death due to colitis. Buried in St. Joseph's Cemetery, Waterbury. Survived by wife, son, and three brothers, Joseph A. Jackson of New Haven, and Jerome A. Jackson and Frederick S. Jackson, '96, '99 L., of New York City.

William E. Andrew, LL.B. 1902.

Born August 14, 1875, in New York City. Died March 25, 1937, in Neptune, N.J.

Father, William E. Andrew, manufacturer of oleomargarine in Newark, N J. Mother, Louise (Garner) Andrew.

Trinity Military Institute; attended Yale School of Law 1897-99 and 1901-02; on a ranch in the West 1899-1901; engaged in prospecting and mining in Nevada 1903-05 and in ranching in Colorado and Wyoming 1905-07; admitted to New Jersey bar 1908; practiced law in Jersey City, N.J., 1908-13, and in Asbury Park, N.J., since 1913; member of firm of Andrew & Tumen 1913-25 and had since practiced independently; city magistrate of Asbury Park 1933-36; member of Asbury Park Methodist Church.

Married June 18, 1909, in Jersey City, Anna Kathrine, daughter of Henry and Pauline (DeTain) Muller. No children.

Death due to a gastro-intestinal hemorrhage. Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Middletown, N.J. Survived by wife, and stepmother, Mrs. Minnie Andrew of Atlantic Highlands, N.J.

Carl Dudley Eshelman, LL.B. 1905.

Born February 18, 1881, in Centerville, Wash. Died January 16, 1937, in Tacoma, Wash.

Father, Rev. Jacob Thomas Eshelman, minister First Christian Church, Tacoma; son of Frederick and Emily (Cave) Eshelman of Missouri. Mother, Prudence E (Billington) Eshelman; daughter of Alvin and Caroline Billington of Maine.

Tacoma High School; B.A. University of Washington 1904; studied law in office of M. K. Snell, Tacoma, and admitted to Washington State bar 1904; entered Yale School of Law 1904 (member Book and Gavel), practiced law independently in Tacoma 1905–15; internal revenue agent, U.S. Treasury Department, Tacoma, since 1916; member Tacoma, Washington State, and American Bar associations, and First Christian Church, Tacoma.

Married August 29, 1914, in Tacoma, Jessie Casimer, daughter of John Olson and Oline (Brandness) Brathen of Norway. Children: John Jacob, Arleigh Casimer, and Sally Lou.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mountain View Burial

Park, Tacoma. Survived by wife, children, two brothers, Rufus S. Eshelman and Floyd P. Eshelman of Tacoma, and a sister, Ethlyn Vera Eshelman Linder of Walla Walla, Wash.

James Lewis Malcolm, LL.B. 1910.

Born June 18, 1887, in Catskill, N.Y. Died April 7, 1937, in Catskill, N.Y.

Father, Joseph Malcolm, part owner Malcolm & Company Knitting Mills, Catskill. Mother, Jennie (Lewis) Malcolm.

Phillips-Andover; attended Yale School of Law 1907-10; with Kneeland, Harrison & Hewitt, lawyers in New York City, 1910-13; had practiced law in Catskill since 1913 and as a partner with R. Hunter McQuistion, '09 L., in firm of McQuistion & Malcolm, New York City, since 1920; Greene County (N.Y.) attorney 1912 and corporation counsel for several years; referee in bankruptcy, Greene County, 1916–30; owner, president, and editor Greene County Examiner since July, 1936; during World War served as director of military census for Greene County, legal adviser of Draft Board, and secretary of home defense committee before going to Washington as supervisor of Bureau of Imports, War Trade Board; subsequently commissioned First Lieutenant, Air Service; president Greene County Tuberculosis Committee; trustee Catskill Savings Bank since 1914; director Tanners National Bank; chairman Republican Town Committee; charter member and past president Catskill Rotary Club, and trustee Christ's Presbyterian Church, Catskill.

Married October 22, 1913, in Catskill, Jessie Chase (Smith ex-'09), daughter of Judge Emory A. Chase and Mary (Churchill) Chase. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Catskill Rural Cemetery. Survived by wife.

MASTERS OF LAWS

Adam Pearson, LL.M. 1895.

Born August 30, 1872, in Mount Vernon, N.Y. Died March 8, 1937, in Mount Vernon, N.Y.

Father, David Pearson, head bookkeeper Home Insurance Company, New York City; son of Adam and Jane (Stewart) Pearson of Cockenzie, Scotland. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Savage) Pearson; daughter of Bernard and Anne (Cardwell) Savage of New York.

LL.B. New York Law School 1894; attended Yale School of Law 1894-96 (LL.M. 1895, D.C.L. 1896); practiced law in New York City

1897–1912, and in Mount Vernon since 1912; a founder of Saturday Night Debating Club and member First Reformed Church, Mount Vernon.

Unmarried.

Death due to septicemia. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by two sisters, the Misses Anne C. and Agnes L. Pearson of Mount Vernon.

Lester Irving Heyman, LL.M. 1908.

Born March 13, 1886, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died June 17, 1937, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, Morris Hyman. Mother, Rosa Hyman (Mrs. Max Hecht).

LL.B. St. Louis Law School, Washington University, 1907; admitted to Missouri bar 1907; enrolled in Yale School of Law 1907-08; member firm of Eilers, Heyman & Schaumberg in St. Louis for a number of years; with Hoosier Universal Machine Company, Goshen, Ind., for some time and the Nutting Truck Company in Chicago; in sales department of the Garstin Export Sales Company, New York City, in 1935.

Married; divorced.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in St. Louis. Survived by mother.

222

DIVINITY SCHOOL

William Henry Young, B.D. 1878.

Born March 18, 1853, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 14, 1937, in Mt. Vernon, N.Y.

Father, Edward Young, employed in United States Bureau of Statistics. Mother, Maria Augusta (Bishop) Young, whose parents came from Nova Scotia.

Attended Cornell University 1869-71; traveled in Europe several years; attended Yale Divinity School 1877-78; ordained to Baptist ministry in Washington, D.C., June 5, 1877; minister Milford (Del.) Baptist Church 1878-79; Baptist state missionary for Delaware 1879-85; minister Metropolitan Baptist Church, Washington, D.C., 1885-90; assistant principal Martyn College of Elocution 1888-90; professor of preaching Howard College 1890; professor of English and homiletics Acadia University, Nova Scotia, 1890–92; president School of Christian Elocution, Chicago, 1892-93; minister First Baptist churches in Athens, Ga., 1893-1908, Decatur, Ga., 1908-11, Thomson, Ga., 1912-17, and of churches in Colorado 1917-25; author: How to Preach with Power, and Tact in Soul Winning (both published about 1900); contributed to The Christian Index and other Baptist periodicals; had traveled considerably since 1925; moderator Georgia Baptist Convention and The Southern Baptist Convention; member First Baptist Church, Denver, Colo.

Married July 20, 1882, in Newcastle, Del., Annie Behan, daughter of M. and Isaline Heath. Children: Eleanor May (B.A. Wellesley 1910; M.A. Columbia 1915) and Georgia Annie (died May 1, 1917). Mrs. Young died May 1, 1917.

Death due to hypertrophied prostate. Buried in Thomson (Ga.) Cemetery. Survived by one daughter.

Charles Henry Ricketts, B.D. 1879.

Born April 17, 1852, in Wales, Mass. Died July 15, 1936, in Preston, Conn.

Father, John Ricketts, a Methodist clergyman in Wales, Mass. Mother, Ann (Stevens) Ricketts.

B.A. Amherst 1876; entered Yale Divinity School 1876 (Commencement Speaker); minister at Thorndike (Mass.) Congregational Church 1879-80; ordained at Palmer (Mass.) Congregational Church October 28, 1880, and minister there 1880-84; minister Union Congregational Church, Rockville, Conn., 1884-90, First Congregational Church, Somers, Conn., 1890-97, and Greeneville (Third) Congregational Church, Norwich, Conn., 1897 until retirement in 1932; had lived in Norwich since retirement; contributed a column once a week to Norwich Daily Bulletin under name of "The Man Who Talks"; member Connecticut General Assembly 1896–97; moderator New London County Association of Congregational Ministers for twelve years.

Married November 24, 1885, in Rockville, Verrena, daughter of James John and Mary Ann (Fletcher) Synyer. Children: Paul Stevens; Jay Synyer (Connecticut State College ex-'16); Kirk Fletcher (B.Arch. Syracuse University 1920); and John Bradford (Connecticut State College ex-'24).

Death due to myocardial degeneration. Buried in Rockville Cemetery. Survived by wife and four sons.

George Lindsay, B.D. 1882.

Born October 27, 1850, in Edinburgh, Scotland. Died June 21, 1937, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, William Lindsay, a farmer in Blakesburg, Iowa; son of George and Elizabeth (Sheerer) Lindsay of Ayrshire, Scotland. Mother, Janet (Henderson) Lindsay; daughter of David and Susanna (Mc-Morran) Henderson of Ayrshire, Scotland.

Attended Tabor College, and Yale Divinity School 1879-82; member of the Yale Dakota Band of home missionaries; ordained at Redfield (S.Dak.) Congregational Church and minister there 1882-85; minister of Congregational churches at Pierre, S.Dak., 1885-86, and Coupeville, Wash., 1886-92; principal Puget Sound Academy, Whidby Island, 1887-90; minister Congregational church, Aberdeen, Wash, 1892-96, Phillips Congregational Church, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1896-99, White Water, Colo., 1899-1901, and Chamberlain, S.Dak., 1901-04; in manufacturing business in Ottumwa, Iowa, 1904-07; minister Hedrick (Iowa) Presbyterian Church 1907-11 and Shellsburg (Iowa) Presbyterian Church 1911 until retirement in 1921; had lived at Monte Vista Grove, Pasadena, since 1929; member Cedar Rapids Presbytery.

Married December 25, 1878, in Glenwood, Iowa, Lucy Orinda, daughter of Origen and Hannah (Townsend) Cumings. Children: Origen (died 1904); Ernest Earl (B.A. Coe College 1916; M.A. State University of Iowa 1920, Ph.D. 1922); Leonard (died 1883); and Janet (Mrs. Lu Venator). Mrs. Lindsay died November 13, 1933.

Death due to pernicious anemia and rheumatic heart disease. Buried in San Gabriel (Calif.) Cemetery. Survived by one son, daughter, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Susannah Venator of Chillicothe, Iowa, and Mrs. Emma Jackson of Westwood, Calif., and a brother, Lloyd Lindsay of Oklahoma City, Okla.

Charles Russell Bruce, B.D. 1885.

Born August 29, 1854, in West Brookfield, Mass. Died December 2, 1936, in Summerville, S.C.

Father, Dexter Bruce, operator of a sawmill in Brookfield. Mother, Emily A. (Russell) Bruce of Brookfield and Belchertown, Mass.

B.A. Amherst 1879; taught school 1879-82; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1882-83, Yale Divinity School 1883-85, and Andover Theological Seminary 1885-86; ordained December 22, 1886, at New Hampton (Iowa) Congregational Church and minister there 1886–88; missionary and circuit minister Sun Prairie, Wis., 1888–90, Eagle Grove, Iowa, 1890-91 and 1894-95, Hull, Iowa, 1891-93, Green Mountain, Iowa, 1894–95, and Plankinton, S.Dak., 1895–97; editor Union City Courser, Elk Point, S.Dak., 1897-1912; minister in Minneapolis, Minn., 1912–13, Sanborn, N.Dak., 1913–14, Gann Valley, S.Dak., 1914–15, Dickey, Mont., 1915–16, Humboldt and Highmore, S.Dak., 1916-17, Cleveland, N.Dak., 1917-18, Elgin and Miller, S.Dak., 1918-19, and Faulkton, S.Dak., 1919-20; minister Myron Church and engaged in ranching at Pompey's Pillar, Mont., 1920–22; minister Usk and Corsick, Wash., 1922-23, VanCleve (Iowa) Congregational Church 1923-26, and Red Granite, W1s., 1926 until retirement in 1927; lived in Penney Farms, Fla., 1927-32, Jacksonville, Fla., 1933, Charleston, S.C., 1934-35, and in Summerville since July, 1935; member Circular Congregational Church, Charleston.

Married (1) in 1886, in Ohio, Abigail Powers. An adopted son, Mark Powers. Mrs. Bruce died November 21, 1932. Married (2) July 11, 1935, in Tryon, N.C., Harriet Warren Idleman, daughter of John Farly and Josephine Elizabeth (Stopplebine) Warren.

Death due to cardiac dilatation. Buried in Magnolia Cemetery, Charleston. Survived by wife.

Norman Plass, B.D. 1886.

Born May 4, 1860, in Claverack, N.Y. Died September 12, 1936, in Cleveland Heights, Ohio

Father, Gilbert Plass, a farmer in the Hudson River valley. Mother, Mary (Benedict) Plass.

Hudson (N.Y.) Academy; B.A. Williams 1882 and M.A. 1885 (member Zeta Ps1); attended Yale Divinity School 1882-86; ordained Schodack (N.Y.) Reformed Church June 22, 1886, and minister there 1886-87; minister of churches in Detroit, Mich., 1887-88, Medina, Ohio, 1888-91, Lincoln, Nebr., 1891-93, Cleveland, Ohio, 1893-94, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1894-96, and Barrington, R.I., 1896-98; state superintendent Rhode Island Anti-Saloon League 1897-99; superintendent Buffalo District and District of Greater New York Anti-Saloon League 1899–1902; financial secretary and professor of theism and Christian evidence Washburn College January–June, 1902; president Washburn College 1902–08; D.D. Williams College 1904; LL.D. Colorado College 1908; president Redeemable Investment Company, Boston, Mass., 1908–10; business manager Pennsylvania Chautauqua Association 1914–18 and of the Coit-Alher Canadian Chautauquas 1918–20; vice-president Interstate Mortgage Corporation, New York City, 1921–25; educational adviser and field representative Home Study Department, Columbia University, in Toronto, Baltimore, and Cleveland, 1925 until retirement in 1932; had lived in Cleveland since 1932; member Plymouth Church of Shaker Heights, Ohio.

Married (1) June 18, 1884, in Williamstown, Mass., Jessie Charlotte Wheeler. Children. Helen, Raymond, and Katherine Married (2) March 16, 1912, in Hoboken, N.J., Annette, daughter of Aimé and Susanne (Kuhnan) Sunier. Son, Gilbert Norman.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife and children.

John Henry Mueller, B.D. 1887.

Born April 21, 1857, in Sunikon, near Zurich, Switzerland. Died September 18, 1936, in Castine, Maine.

Father, Felix Mueller, a schoolteacher in Sünikon. Mother, Barbara Mueller of Sünikon.

Came to United States 1874; worked in a machine shop in York, Pa., for about five years; B.A. Lebanon Valley College 1884, M.A. 1886; attended Yale Divinity School 1884–87; ordained to Congregational ministry in New Haven, Conn., in 1887; minister Ellsworth (Conn.) Congregational Church 1887–92, Bloomington (Ill.) Unitarian Church 1892–1913, Barneveld (N.Y.) Unitarian Church 1913–19, and Castine Unitarian Church 1919 until retirement in 1934; had lived in North Castine since retirement; president Illinois Conferences 1904.

Married (1) February 28, 1883, in Poughkeepsie, N.Y., Sarah Eva, daughter of Albert Pease. Children: John Howard (B.S. Illinois Wesleyan 1912; M.S. University of Louisville 1914; Ph.D. Columbia 1916) and Albert Felix. Mrs. Mueller died about 1901. Married (2) July 6, 1904, in Bloomington, Ill., Ruth Cunard, daughter of Francis A. and Jane (Cunard) Baller. Children. Henry Cunard, Barbara J., and Caleb Shreeve.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Castine Cemetery. Survived by wife and children.

Albert Shepard Bromer, B.D. 1891.

Born March 18, 1867, in Schwenkville, Pa. Died February 17, 1937, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Albert Bromer, born in Kehl, Baden, Germany; came to the United States in 1852; a clothing manufacturer in Schwenkville; son of Ursula (Kospiel) Bromer of Kehl-am-Rhein, Baden, Germany. Mother, Catherine (Shepard) Bromer; daughter of William and Elizabeth Shepard of Baden-Baden, Germany.

B.S Ursinus 1888; attended Yale Divinity School 1888-91; ordained at Calvary Reformed Church, Scranton, Pa., September 17, 1891, and minister there 1891-92; minister Grace Reformed Church, Philadelphia, 1892-1910; member Board of Foreign Missions, Reformed Church of the United States, 1908-33, treasurer 1914-33; assistant editor *Church Messenger* 1917-34; business manager Reformed Church Board of Publications 1904-34; secretary of Business and Real Estate of the Board of Christian Education 1923-34; D.D. Ursinus 1928; member Philadelphia Classis.

Married June 28, 1911, in Greensburg, Pa., Sue, daughter of Joseph North Peirsol and Lena (Zimmerman) Souder. No children.

Death due to post encephalitis. Buried in Schwenkville Cemetery. Survived by wife, four brothers, Edward S. Bromer, '93 D., Rev. Frank S. Bromer (M.E. Lehigh 1896) of Brickerville, Pa., Ralph S. Bromer, '08, and Jacob Bromer (died March 17, 1937), and five sisters, Mrs. Irvin S. Schwenk of Schwenkville, Pa., Mrs. Samuel B. Weller of Philadelphia, Katherine Bromer Hunsicker, the wife of James A. Hunsicker (B.A. Ursinus 1892; graduate Union Theological Seminary 1895) of Eckert, Colo., Minne Bromer Logan (B.L. Ursinus 1897), who married John D. Logan (B.A. Dalhousie 1893; B.A. Harvard 1894, Ph.D. 1896), of Lakeview, Ontario, and Cordelia Bromer Fell (B.A. Allentown College for Women 1900), the wife of Francis J. Fell of Phoenixville, Pa.

Walter Conkling Blakeslee, B.D. 1901.

Born June 5, 1875, in Mason City, Iowa. Died March 14, 1937, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Rev. Newton Tracy Blakeslee (Western Reserve 1864-65; Lane Theological Seminary 1865-67; graduate Andover Theological Seminary 1868), Private 85th Ohio Volunteers during Civil War; minister North Side Congregational Church, Milwaukee, Wis.; son of Chiles Taylor and Achsah (Taylor) Blakeslee of Chagrin Fälls, Ohio. Mother, Emma Alida (Patterson) Blakeslee; daughter of James and Josephine (Shaler) Patterson of New London, Wis. B A. Beloit 1896; taught in Billings (Mont.) High School 1896–98; attended Yale Divinity School 1898–1901; ordained at Ashland (Nebr.) Congregational Church November 4, 1901, and minister there until 1903; minister Two Rivers (Wis.) Congregational Church 1903– 06; in office of Shepley, Routan & Coolidge, architects in Chicago, 1906–16, Coolidge & Hodgson in Muskegon and Grand Rapids, Mich., 1916–26; in construction department International Harvester Company 1926 until retirement in 1930; member St. John's Episcopal Church, Bethesda, Md.

Married December 25, 1901, in Beloit, Wis., Carolyn, daughter of Charles Wesley and Sarah Jane (Bonar) VanAkin. Children: Horace William (graduate U.S. Naval Academy 1925); Newton VanAkin (B A. Trinity College [Conn.] 1931); Sarah Jane, the wife of Francis Speight; and Carolyn.

Death due to hypertensive heart disease. Buried in Bethesda Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and one granddaughter.

George Leslie Omwake, B.D. 1901.

Born July 13, 1871, in Greencastle, Pa. Died February 3, 1937, in Collegeville, Pa.

Father, Henry Omwake; engaged in farming and fruit growing in Antrim Township, Franklin County, Pa.; son of John and Elizabeth (Ledy) Omwake of Washington Township, Pa. Mother, Eveline (Beaver) Omwake; daughter of John and Dorothy (Mowen) Beaver of Franklin County, Pa., and Washington County, Md.

State Normal School, Shippensburg, Pa., and Mercersburg Academy; B.A. Ursinus College 1898, M.A. 1901 (member Phi Beta Kappa); attended Yale Divinity School 1898-1901; lecturer on education Ursinus College 1901-03, dean 1903-09, professor history and philosophy of education 1903-24, vice-president 1909-12, president 1912-36, and professor of history of the Christian church 1924-36; Ped.D. Franklin and Marshall 1910, LL.D. 1923; LL.D. Lafayette 1923; editor and coauthor. J. H. A. Bomberger, Centenary Volume (1917), Forward Movement Handbook of the Reformed Church in the United States (1920), and The Great Advance (1926); contributed to many journals and periodicals; president General Council of the Presbyterian and Reformed Churches 1918–20; secretary Association of College Presidents of Pennsylvania (president 1918), and Department of Education, Forward Movement of the Reformed Church 1919-21; trustee Pennsylvania State Education Association since 1910; assistant director Committee on Public Safety of Pennsylvania 1917; member Council of the Reformed Churches of America holding Presbyterian system (president 1920-21), American Section of World Alliance of the Reformed and Presbyterian Churches (chairman 1926–27); delegate Western Section World Alliance 1922 (chairman 1926); member National Council of Church-Related Colleges since 1934, Committee of Fifteen of Liberal Arts College Movement (secretary 1930–33), National Education Association, Society of College Teachers of Education (trustee Commission on Intelligence Tests 1912), the Presser Foundation (chairman scholarship department 1916–37), Sons of the Revolution, Huguenot Society of Pennsylvania (president 1932–34), and Historical Society of Pennsylvania; first recipient of Mercersburg 1932 Alumni Plaque, awarded for distinguished service and achievement; member Trinity Reformed Church, Collegeville.

Married August 28, 1906, in Collegeville, Sophie Hendricks (Palatinate College 1889), daughter of Joseph and Sarah (Hendricks) Casselberry. Children: Stanley (B.S. Ursinus College 1931; M.B.A. University of Pennsylvania 1933) and Eveline Beaver (B.A. Ursinus College 1933; M.A. Columbia 1937).

Death due to valvular heart disease. Buried in Trinity Reformed Church Cemetery, Collegeville. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Miss Katherine Omwake of Greencastle, and five brothers, John Omwake of Cincinnati, Ohio, Augustus B. Omwake of Washington, D.C., J. Edward Omwake of Greencastle, Jere S. Omwake (LL.B. Dickinson 1894) of Shippensburg, and Howard R. Omwake (B.A. Princeton 1901, M.A. 1904; Ped.D. Temple 1930; Litt.D. Gettysburg 1930) of Salisbury, N.C.

Harry Otis Pritchard, B.D. 1906.

Born July 10, 1876, in Franklin, Ind. Died October 24, 1936, in Indianapolis, Ind.

Father, Edgar Daily Pritchard, a farmer in Franklin; son of James Martin and Lucretia (Stevens) Pritchard of Johnson County, Ind. Mother, Julia Ann (Mitchell) Pritchard; daughter of Jefferson and Eliza Jane (Abbett) Mitchell of Johnson County.

Attended Franklin Collegé 1897–99 (member Sigma Alpha Epsilon); B.A. Butler University 1902, M.A. 1903; ordained to Disciples of Christ ministry June 12, 1902; enrolled in Yale Divinity School 1905–06; minister Disciples of Christ Church, Shelbyville, Ind., 1903–07; minister University Church, Cotner College, Bethany, Nebr., 1907–13; president Eureka (Ill.) College 1913–19; general secretary National Board of Education (College Association since 1935) of Disciples of Christ, Indianapolis, since 1919, and Executive Secretary, Department of Higher Education, United Christian Missionary Society, July 1, 1935, until death; LL.D. Cotner College 1916 and Texas Christian University 1922; Bondurant lecturer University of Illinois 1916; alumni lecturer Yale Divinity School 1916-17; president Council of Church Boards of Education in America 1923-24; advisory member American Council on Education; member Commission on International Good Will, Federal Council of Churches of Christ in America; on educational committee Near East Relief; had contributed to *World Call, Christian Century*, and *Christian Education*; member P1 Kappa Delta (also founder 1913) and Business Men's Forum.

Married August 28, 1901, in Franklin, Hattie Macauley, daughter of Alonzo N. and Laura Jane (Morgan) Byers. Children: Helen Louise (B.A. Hiram College 1924), the wife of Wilson D. Criswell (B.A. Hiram College 1924); Grace Jayne (Butler College ex-26 and Eureka College ex-27), the wife of Ervin W. Wicklund; Harmon Otis (B.S. Butler College 1929); Paul Byers (M.E. University of Cincinnati 1936), and Robert Claire (Butler College ex-36).

Death due to malignant hypertension. Buried in Memorial Park Cemetery, Indianapolis. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a brother, Wilson Emmett Pritchard of Franklin.

230

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

Roy Leon Marston, M.F. 1902.

Born September 10, 1877, in Skowhegan, Maine. Died July 6, 1936, in Togus, Maine.

Father, Charles Albert Marston, a lumberman in Skowhegan; state representative and senator; son of Isaiah and Eliza (Coburn) Marston of Waterville, Maine. Mother, Sarah (Steward) Marston, daughter of Philander Coburn and Phoebe (Lowden) Steward of Skowhegan.

Skowhegan High School; B.A. Bowdoin 1899; attended Yale School of Forestry 1900-02; instructor in forestry at Yale 1902-04 and assistant professor 1904–06; in charge of all work on the Forest Reservation, U.S. Military Academy 1902-10, in addition to some teaching and landscape and water supply work for the Academy; as consulting forester 1905-10 worked in the South and West, in Canada, Mexico, Korea, and China; in charge of investigation of pulp industry and survey of available pulp material for Tariff Board; prepared a topographical map and working plans for 225,000 acres of estate of A. and P. Coburn and organized Coburn Heirs, Inc., in 1910 (treasurer and general manager 1910-28, president and general manager since 1928); treasurer and general manager Boston & Boothbay Land Company 1908-28; president Vincent E. Squiers, Inc., real estate, 1931-35; director First National Bank, Skowhegan, Skowhegan Trust Company, and Central Maine Power Company; commissioned Captain Maine National Guard July, 1913; served on Mexican border 1916; called into active service April, 1917, as Captain, Company E, 2d Maine Infantry, which became 103d Infantry, 26th Division; first National Guard officer to land in France; overseas August 25, 1917-March 8, 1919; appointed officer in charge of Fuel and Forage, Advance Section, November 22, 1917; wounded in Lunéville Sector January, 1918; promoted to rank of Major October 22, 1918, and Lieutenant Colonel February 13, 1919; cited by French and United States governments and recommended for Distinguished Service Medal; member board of managers National Homes for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers 1919–22 and vice-president 1922-29; representative in Maine Legislature 1912–13; had lectured on forestry subjects at Bowdoin College and the University of Maine; conducted a column on men and events in Bangor Daily News April-June, 1936; member American Association for the Advancement of Science, Society of American Foresters, and Federated Church, Skowhegan.

Married (1) November 29, 1904, in New Haven, Conn., Julie Fowler, daughter of Henry Spencer and Mary Frances (Parmele) Parmelee, and sister of Henry F. Parmelee, '94 S Mr. and Mrs. Marston were divorced in 1915. Married (2) October 17, 1915, in Skowhegan, Mary Eliza, daughter of Frank and Clara Angeline (Drew) Emery. Children: Sarah, Coburn, Roy Leon, Jr., and Mary Jane.

Death followed an operation for appendicitis. Buried in Skowhegan Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, mother, two sisters, Lola M. Blunt (Mills College 1901-02), the wife of James W. Blunt, of Longmeadow, Mass., and Mrs. Thomas E. Greenway of Skowhegan, and two brothers, Lieutenant Commander Coburn S. Marston (U.S. Naval Academy 1905) of San Diego, Calif., and Clair R. Marston of Waterville.

Hazen Douglas, M.F. 1917.

Born August 14, 1894, in Woburn, Mass. Died January 14, 1937, in Dundalk, Md.

Father, Ainslie Elliott Douglas, a salesman in Boston, Mass., for S. A. Woods Machine Company. Mother, Ida M. (Kinear) Douglas. Peabody (Mass.) High School; B.S. University of Maine 1915; machinist in Boston 1915–16; attended Yale School of Forestry 1916– 17; with Nelson Blower & Furnace Company, Boston, 1917–18; inspector of airplanes and airplane engines, Bureau of Aircraft Production, U.S. Government, May, 1918–January, 1919; appraisal expert, Inventory Section, January–March, 1919; instructor at Motor Transport School, Quartermaster Corps, Camp Holabird, Md., 1919–24; instructor in mechanical drawing and electricity, Baltimore, Md., public schools 1924–37; member Masonic order and Second Congregational Church, Peabody, Mass.

Married February 24, 1917, in Lynn, Mass., Helen Brown, daughter of John and Elizabeth (Brown) Halse. Children: Malcolm, Robert Elliott, and Bruce.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, Peabody. Survived by wife and children.

SUPPLEMENT

NOT PREVIOUSLY REPORTED

Emanuel Frank Snydacker, B.A. 1892.

Born August 24, 1870, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 8, 1936, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Godfrey Snydacker, born in Enger, Germany; taught school in Germany; came to United States 1849; senior partner Snydacker & Company, bankers in Chicago; son of Joseph Snydacker of Enger. Mother, Hannah (Frank) Snydacker, born in Germany; came to United States 1849; daughter of Emanuel and Elise (Reese) Frank of Auhausen, Germany. Brother, Joseph G. Snydacker, '85 S.

South Division High School, Chicago. Hugh Chamberlain Greek Prize on entrance examination; dissertation appointment Junior year and speaker at Junior Exhibition; first dispute appointment Senior year; in Yale Orchestra Freshman year.

Copartner Snydacker & Company 1892-94; attended College of Physicians and Surgeons of Chicago (University of Illinois School of Medicine) 1894-98 (M.D. 1898); interne Illinois Eye and Ear Infirmary, Chicago, 1898-99; had practiced in Chicago as oculist and aurist since 1899; oculist Michael Reese Hospital, Chicago, 1906-22, and consulting oculist since 1922; oculist and aurist Ravenswood Hospital, Cook County Hospital, and St. Mary's Hospital, Chicago; civil service examiner for State of Illinois, Illinois Eye and Ear Infirmary, 1902-05; instructor ophthalmology College of Physicians and Surgeons, Chicago; member American Medical Association.

Married July 3, 1897, in Canton, Ohio, Ruth, daughter of Henry Clay and Clara (Underhill) Fogle. Children. Clara (B.A. Vassar 1921), the wife of Hardy Steeholm (B.A. University of Wisconsin 1922); James (B.A. University of Wisconsin 1925); and Daniel (University of Wisconsin ex-'31; M.D. Northwestern 1935).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife, children, a brother, Arthur C. Snydacker of Paris, France, and two sisters, Mrs. Rose Snydacker Goodkind, the wife of Maurice L. Goodkind (M.D. Columbia 1889), and Mrs. Louis Eckstein, both of Chicago.

McCormick Jewett, B.A. 1912.

Born November 15, 1890, in Chicago, Ill. Died December 7, 1935, at Daytona Beach, Fla.

- Father, Samuel Rountree Jewett, '83. Mother, Lucy Virginia (McCormick) Jewett. Yale relatives include: Medill McCormick, '00, Robert R. McCormick, '03, Chauncey McCormick, '07, and W. McCormick Blair, '07 (cousins).

Chicago Latin School. First dispute appointment Junior year and dissertation appointment Senior year.

Owing to ill-health unable to engage actively in business except for short periods before 1922 when he was associated with business interests of his family

Unmarried

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by three sisters, Eleanor (University of Illinois 1914-17), the wife of Godfrey Lundberg of Winnetka, Ill., Emita (Ph.B. University of Chicago 1916), who married Karl Krueger (Mus.M. University of Kansas 1914) of Kansas City, Mo., and Lucy (B A Wellesley 1918), the wife of Leo Brady (M.D. Johns Hopkins 1913) of Baltimore, Md.

Lewis Newkirk Stanton, B.A. 1912.

Born October 6, 1888, in Oneonta, N Y. Died March 18, 1936, in Monticello, N.Y.

Father, William Graham Stanton; son of Lewis Newkirk and Alice (Gordon) Stanton of Narrowsburg, N.Y. Mother, Margaret Jane (Campbell) Stanton; daughter of Andrew and Mary Ann (Lannigan) Campbell of St. Josephs, N.Y.

Boston Latin School. On Freshman Track and Cross-Country teams; second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; member Zeta Psi.

Attended Yale School of Law 1912-14 (LL.B. 1914; member Phi Delta Phi), practiced law in Monticello; in office of District Attorney George L Cooke 1914-15; engaged in practice independently 1915-28; with Ellsworth Baker, attorney, 1928-31, member firm of Stanton & Goldstien, Monticello, 1931-34; assistant district attorney for Monticello 1934-35; member Sons of Veterans, Sullivan County Bar Association, and St Peter's Roman Catholic Church, Monticello.

Married September 21, 1917, in New York City, Theresa Bridget, daughter of John Cornelius and Honora Teresa (White) Lennon. Children Lewis Newkirk, Jr.; William John; Mary Honora; and Theresa Bridget (died December 8, 1926). Death due to acute myocarditis. Buried in Liberty (N.Y.) Cemetery. Survived by wife, sons, one daughter, mother, and a half brother, William G. Stanton of Narrowsburg.

Sidney Johnston Scudder, B.A. 1914.

Born August 1, 1891, in San Antonio, Texas. Died January 11, 1936, in Merrick, N.Y.

Father, Silas Downer Scudder, vice-president Fourth Ward Trust Company, Passaic, N.J.; son of Silas Downer and Sarah (Conover) Scudder of Velore, India. Mother, Sarah Weld (Scudder) Scudder (Mount Holyoke 1886); daughter of Ezekiel and Ruth Tracy (Weld) Scudder of San Antonio, and Asbury Park, N.J.

Horace Mann School, New York City, Curtis High School, Staten Island, N.Y., and Phillips-Andover. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; on University Basketball Team Junior year.

In real-estate and insurance business, Long Beach, N.Y., 1914–15; with E. Meyer, Jr. & Company, brokers in New York City, 1915–16; receiving teller, assistant to the vice-president, and paying teller Fourth Ward Trust Company 1916–18; inspector of airplanes and airplane engines, Bureau of Aircraft Production, U.S. Government, February-October, 1918; Private 31st Coast Artillery, Fort Hancock, N.J., October-November, 1918; in auditing department Air Reduction Company, Inc., New York City, 1918–21, chief clerk, Oklahoma City, Okla., office 1921–22 and in Chicago, Ill., office 1922–24; secretary Damon Agency, Inc., general insurance and real-estate agents, Jamaica, N.Y., 1924–31; clerk Greater New York-Suffolk Title & Guarantee Company, Jamaica, 1931; vice-president Long Island National Agencies, Inc., since 1932; member Community Presbyterian Church, Merrick.

Married March 14, 1922, in Oklahoma City, Bessie June, daughter of Martin Spurgeon and Emilie Louisa (Eddings) Tupper. Children: Kenneth Tupper and Sarah Anne.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Old Tenant Churchyard, Freehold, N.J. Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, Dr. Frank D. Scudder, '10, and Tracy Scudder.

Cornelius Breck Comegys, B.A. 1918.

Born January 30, 1896, in Scranton, Pa. Died June 1, 1936, in Scranton, Pa.

Father, Cornelius Comegys (St. John's College, Annapolis, Md., ex-'78), a lawyer in Scranton; son of Henry Cornelius Comegys (M.D. University of Maryland 1854) and Helen Augusta (Boon) Comegys of Greensboro, Md. Mother, Sarah (Bevan) Comegys; daughter of Thomas D. Bevan of Scranton.

Central High School, Scranton. Scholar of the first rank Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; contributed to the *Yale Courant*; on University Track and Cross-Country teams Junior year; member Freshman Debating Team, Beta Theta P1, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Studied in a law office in Scranton June-October, 1918; enlisted as Private in Air Corps, U.S. Army, October 4, 1918; assigned to Aircraft Production Service, New York City; promoted to Corporal December 15, 1918; received discharge February 7, 1919; attended Yale School of Law February, 1919–June, 1920 (LL.B. 1920; associate editor *Yale Law Journal* 1919–20); admitted to the bar in Lackawanna County, Pa., August 7, 1920, and had since practiced law in Scranton; attorney for North Scranton Bank since 1928 and director since 1933; president Lions Club 1922–24 and member (vestryman 1935–36) Church of the Epiphany (Episcopal), Glenburn, Pa.

Married September 21, 1920, in Scranton, Mildred Blanche Conrad (B.A. Wellesley 1917), daughter of Otto Richard and Kathrine (Palmer) Conrad. Children: Cornelius Breck, Jr., and Richard Conrad.

Death followed an operation for perforated gastric ulcer. Buried in Hickory Grove Cemetery, Waverly, Pa. Survived by wife, sons, father, and three sisters, Miss Margaret B. Comegys (B.A. Wellesley 1914; M A. Columbia 1926) of Wellesley, Mass., Miss Helen A. Comegys (B.A. Wellesley 1921) of Washington, D.C., and Miss Esther Comegys (B.A. Wellesley 1921; M.A. University of Pennsylvania 1926) of Bryn Mawr, Pa.

Stanton Edgar Rockwell, B.A. 1922.

Born June 8, 1900, in New York City. Died September 4, 1933, in Loomis, N.Y.

Father, Louis Fred Rockwell, president Rockwell & Company, merchants in New London, Conn.; son of Sidney Edgar and Ellen (Farnum) Rockwell of Los Angeles, Calif. Mother, Joanna (vonHoff) Rockwell; daughter of Frank and Joanna (Ploeg) vonHoff of New York City.

Bridgeport (Conn.) High School and Phillips-Exeter. Scholar of the second rank first three years; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa; in Freshman Glee Club; University Swimming Team Sophomore year; secretary Yale Chess Club Junior year; enrolled as Quartermaster (1st class), U.S.N.R.F., in Yale Naval Training Unit October 1, 1918, until demobilized.

In merchandise office Franklin Simon & Company, New York City,

1922-23; with Lord & Taylor, New York City, 1923-26 (merchandise manager [apparel] at time of resignation); patient at Loomis Sanatorium, Loomis, N.Y., 1926-30; advertising sales representative New Yorker 1930 until retirement in June, 1933; about 1931 built a house in Westport, Conn., which had since been his residence.

Married May 9, 1931, in West Chester, Pa., Elizabeth, daughter of Joseph Henry and May (Mendenhall) Oat. No children.

Death due to tuberculosis. Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New London. Survived by wife, mother, and a brother, Harold A. Rock-well, '26.

Kenjiro Yamagawa, Ph.B. 1875.

Born September 9, 1854, in Wakamatsu, Fukushima Prefecture, Japan. Died June 26, 1931, in Tokyo, Japan.

Father, Naoye Yamagawa (1812–60). Mother, Yen (Saigo) Yamagawa (1817–89).

Civil engineering course.

Assistant professor of physics Tokyo Imperial University 1877–79, professor 1879–1901, and president 1901–05 and again 1913–20; Sc.D. Tokyo Imperial University 1888; organized Meiji Technological Institute, Tobata, Kyushu Island, a privately endowed college of engineering (president 1910–31); president, Kyushu Imperial University, Fukuoka, Japan, 1911–13; chairman, moral education section, textbook committee Department of Education, and president examining committee for certification of teachers of middle class schools 1910; member Tokyo Academy 1898–1906; member House of Peers of the Imperial Japanese Diet 1904–23; member of Privy Council since 1923; Baron 1915.

Married April 17, 1881, in Tokyo, Ryu, daughter of Arata and Naka Niwa. Children: Makoto (special student Sheffield Scientific School 1916–17); Yasushi (died 1885); Tsuya (died 1890); Sayo, the wife of Professor Kanji Terano (Doctor of Engineering, Tokyo Imperial University); Tadasu; Takeru (Doctor of Law, Tokyo Imperial University); and Teru, the wife of Professor Ryotaro Azuma (M.D. Tokyo Imperial University). Mme. Yamagawa died March 23, 1916.

Death due to ulcer of the stomach. Buried in Aoyama Cemetery, Tokyo. Survived by three sons and two daughters.

Bernard Berens, Ph.B. 1877.

Born November 2, 1857, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died September 12, 1935, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Bernard Berens (M.D. University of Bonn 1836), born in Gravenstein, Westphalia, and came to America 1838; practiced medicine in Philadelphia; son of Conrad and Anna Maria Elisabetta (Severin) Berens of Gravenstein Mother, Rachel Susan (Passmore) Berens, daughter of Samuel and Susan (Knorr) Passmore of Philadelphia. Brother, Dr. Conrad Berens, '80.

Private tutor Select course; on Class Committee; Commencement Speaker; member St Anthony and Delta Psi.

Studied medicine at University of Pennsylvania 1877-80 (M.D. 1880), practiced medicine and surgery in Philadelphia 1880-1935; resident physician Philadelphia Hospital 1880-81; demonstrator in anatomy Philadelphia School of Anatomy 1882-97; surgeon Will's Eye Hospital, Philadelphia, 1892-94; examining surgeon to Civil Service Board of Philadelphia 1896-1900; demonstrator in chemistry University of Pennsylvania and instructor in therapeutics for five years; president Philadelphia Athletic Club; member Philadelphia County Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of Pennsylvania, American Medical Association, American Laryngological Society, and Zoology Society of Philadelphia; attended Holy Trinity Church (Episcopal), Philadelphia.

Married October 6, 1888, in New York City, Rebecca Virginia, daughter of Josiah and Manuela (Perez y Saavedra) Moorhead. Daughter, Rebecca Christie (Mrs. Birdsall). Mrs. Berens died April 18, 1918.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by daughter and a grandson.

James Hugh Kimball, Ph.B. 1892.

Born December 4, 1870, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 3, 1934, in Glencoe, Ill.

Father, James Brooks Kimball, a chief engineer U.S. Navy. Mother, Hester Elizabeth (Rice) Kimball; daughter of John B. and Mary Anne (Warren) Rice.

Siglar's School, Newburgh, N.Y. Entered Yale in 1890; civil engineering course; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

Independently engaged in real-estate business in Chicago 1892– 1911; exchange teller Hibernian Banking Association, Chicago, 1911– 21; manager foreign and domestic exchange department Continental and Commercial Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago, 1921 until retirement in 1932 because of ill-health.

Married September 7, 1903, in Chicago, Marie Albina, daughter of W Edward LaMarche. Son, James Brewster (Beloit College ex-'26).

Death due to aortic insufficiency. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife and son.

Philip Dowell, Ph.B. 1895.

Born December 3, 1864, in Attica, Ind. Died June 25, 1936, in DeLand, Fla.

Father, Rev. John Franz Oscar Dowell (Augustana Seminary 1860–61), a Lutheran minister in Watago, Ill., Attica, and New York City. Mother, Anna Louisa (Appell) Dowell; daughter of Andrew Magnus and Anna Britta (Hendrickson) Appell of Småland, Sweden.

Augustana College Preparatory Department; B.A. Augustana 1885, M.A. 1889; instructor in botany Augustana College 1889-90 and Hope Academy, Moorhead, Minn., 1890-91; studied in Yale Graduate School 1891-92 and as a graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1892-93; attended University of Nebraska 1893-94; joined Class of 1895 S. as a Senior. Biology course; general honors.

Assistant in biology at Yale 1895–96, also student in Yale Graduate School (M.A. 1896); taught natural sciences Upsala College 1896-97; professor biology and physics Muhlenberg College 1898-1902; Ph.D. Augustana College 1900; teacher of biology Port Richmond high schools, Staten Island, N.Y., 1902 until retirement in 1929; had since lived in Port Richmond and in Pierson and Glenwood, Fla.; botanical assistant and assistant curator, Division of Plants, United States National Museum summers 1902–18; author of many papers on ferns and violets; member Torrey Botanical Club since 1904, associate editor of its bulletin 1907–11 and editor 1911–13; member American Fern Society since 1906, president 1911, and editor of its journal 1911-12; chairman publications committee Staten Island Institute of Arts and Sciences 1906–28 and honorary curator of botany 1908–36 (presented over 1,000 herbarium specimens to the Institute); fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member Botanical Society of America, New York Entomological Society, New York Association of Biology Teachers, Botanical Society of Washington, Alpha Tau Omega, and Wasa Lutheran Church, Port Richmond.

Married August 29, 1894, in Stanton, Iowa, Anna Severina Albertina Dorothea, daughter of Rev. Bengt Magnus Halland and Hannah (Swenson) Halland. Children: Carl Philip (Augustana College 1913– 14; B.S. in E.E. University of Illinois 1919); Otis Francis (University of Illinois ex-'24); Mildred Anna (died 1902); and Harold Magnus (University of Illinois 1923–24; University of Pennsylvania 1924–26). Mrs. Dowell died December 16, 1930.

Death followed an operation. Buried in Moravian Cemetery, New Dorp, N.Y. Survived by sons and two sisters, Miss Lydia Dowell and Mrs Mary D Nordgren, both of Galva, Ill.

Augustus Heaton, Ph.B. 1897.

Born November 1, 1875, in New York City. Died April 11, 1936, in Hyères, France.

Father, Augustus Goodyear Heaton (École des Beaux Arts 1864); artist and author; son of Augustus and Rosabella (Crean) Heaton of Philadelphia, Pa. Mother, Mary Adelaide Whiting (Griswold) Heaton; daughter of Almon Whiting and Mary Adelaide Griswold of Newton, Mass. Yale relatives include a cousin, Ferrars H. Tows, '98.

Peekskill Military Academy and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Civil engineering course.

With engineering department Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1897-1900; employed in different types of work, including a few years' association with his classmate John B. Rose in the Rose Brick Company, Roseton, N.Y.; in U.S. army service July 17, 1917-February 11, 1919; commissioned First Lieutenant, Signal Corps, September 25, 1917; superintendent of construction Field No. 2, Mineola, N.Y., Love Field, Dallas, Texas, and Engineers Repair Depot, Texas; served overseas March, 1918-February 9, 1919, as liaison officer at Paris; returned to France soon after release from the Army and had since resided in that country.

Married (1) June 1, 1910, in Philadelphia, Anna, daughter of Ephraim and Mary (Agard) Brice. Mrs. Heaton died January 26, 1919. The records of Mr. Heaton's two later marriages are not available.

Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by brother, Dr D R. Perry Heaton, '06. His brother, John H. Heaton, '00, died in 1933

George Francis Sheedy, Ph.B. 1899.

Born January 1, 1877, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died October 12, 1935, in New York City.

Father, Roger Sheedy, a boilermaker, Bridgeport Boiler Works; son of Roger and Margaret (Condon) Sheedy of County Cork and County West Meath, Ireland. Mother, Margaret (Hughes) Sheedy; daughter of John Hughes of Bridgeport.

Bridgeport High School. Biology course.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1899–1902 (M.D. 1902; member Phi Rho Sigma); engaged in private practice in Bridgeport 1902–10 (visiting physician Lake View Home and St. Vincent's Hospital, Bridgeport); withdrew from general practice to specialize in nervous and mental diseases; resident in neuropsychiatry Providence Retreat, Buffalo, N.Y, 1911, and Trenton (N.J.) State Hospital 1912; instructor and assistant professor department of physiology and experimental medicine, Fordham University School of Medicine, 1914–16; neuropsychiatrist New York Department of Welfare 1916–20, United States Public Health Service 1921; resident physician Hudson County Hospital for the Insane, Secaucus, N.J., 1922–26; engaged in practice in New York City 1927–35; member Roman Catholic church.

Unmarried.

Death due to perforated ulcer of the stomach. Buried in St. Michael's Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Edward J. Tole of Trenton, N.J.

Sih-zung Nie, Ph.B. 1910.

Born August 8, 1884, in Shanghai, China. Died February 5, 1933, in Shanghai, China.

St. John's College, Shanghai. Civil engineering course.

Attended University of Pennsylvania 1910–11 (M.S. 1911) and Syracuse University 1911–12 (C.E. 1912); connected with the Chinese National Railway Corporation for a time; commercial manager Han Yeh Ping Iron & Steel Company, Shanghai, and manager Oriental Land Company, Ltd.; rebuilt Tien An Tang Church for Chinese and established a free school.

Married October 17, 1912, in Shanghai, Way Ing, daughter of F. K. and M. Y. Tsao. Children: A-Tsung (died in infancy), Jones, Jessie, James, and Joseph.

Mr. Nie was an uncle of Mme. Sun Yat-sen, Mme. Chiang Kai-shek, and Mme. K'ung, wife of Hsiang-hsi K'ung (LL.D. 1937).

Chohei Shirasu, M.A. 1899.

Born August 5, 1874.

Died December 13, 1930, in Kobe, Japan.

Doshisha University 1893; studied in Yale Graduate School 1897– 99; attended George Washington University 1899–1901 (Ph.D. 1901). Reported as having retired some years before his death.

Survived by a brother, Bunpei Shirasu of Kawabegun, Hyogoken, Japan.

Teisaburo Takahashi, M.A. 1901.

Reported to have died several years ago.

Attended Rikkijo College 1897; enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1900-02, coming from Tokyo, Japan.

In 1915 his address was reported as 1n care of Mitsui & Company of Tokyo and in 1924 in care of Fuji Paper Company, also in Tokyo.

Yale University Obituary Record

Kazusada Tanaka, M.A. 1902.

Reported to have died several years ago.

Keiogijuku University 1897; attended Yale Graduate School 1901-02.

Taught for several years at Keiogijuku University, Tokyo, Japan.

Nariyoshi Nishiike, M.A. 1903.

Reported to have died several years ago.

Doshisha College 1893; attended Yale Graduate School 1901-03; he reported his position as chief secretary, Chamber of Commerce, Kyoto, Japan, in 1908, 1914, and 1917.

Zenjiro Watanabe, M.A. 1906.

Died March 17, 1936.

Attended Waseda University and came to the United States from Iyo, Japan, enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1905-06.

In 1926 he notified the University Secretary's office that he was teaching in the Higher Commercial School, Matsuyama, Japan. This is the only direct communication on file.

Elmer Ellsworth Snoddy, M.A. 1910.

Born May 13, 1863, in Stilesville, Ind. Died April 20, 1936, in Lexington, Ky.

Father, James Henry Snoddy (Northwestern Christian University 1856), a teacher in public schools in Indiana and South Dakota; son of Absalom and Irene (Jones) Snoddy of Hendricks County, Ind. Mother, Charlotte (Drake) Snoddy; daughter of Joseph and Lorcey (Beach) Drake of Edinburg, Ind.

Studied in preparatory department of Hiram College; teacher in public schools in Indiana and South Dakota for ten years; ordained minister Disciples of Christ 1888; B.A. Hiram 1896; studied at University of Chicago Graduate School 1897 and 1901–02, University of Michigan 1903, and Yale Graduate School 1909–10; professor of Greek Hiram College 1896–1910 and of philosophy 1910–14; professor of philosophy Transylvania University 1914 until retirement in 1935; professor of doctrine at College of the Bible since 1914; LL.D. Drake 1928, D D. Transylvania 1934; member Kentucky Academy of Science and Central Christian Church, Lexington.

Married August 28, 1894, in Kent, Ohio, Mina, daughter of Charles Curtis and Elizabeth (Spencer) Bradley. Son, Leland Bradley (Transylvania 1914-17; B.S. University of Kentucky 1921, M.A. 1923, Ph.D. University of Virginia 1929).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Lexington Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, four sisters, Mrs. Barton H. Douglass, Mrs. Byron Douglass, and Mrs. William Yohe of Spokane, Wash., and Mrs. Sylvia S. Mead of Beresford, S.Dak., and two brothers, Fay Snoddy (Hiram College ex-'10) and Joseph A. Snoddy, both of Ford, Wash.

Ishiro Miyake, Ph.D. 1901.

Born December 29, 1869, in Kumamoto, Kyushu, Japan. Died November 22, 1931, in Shizuoka, Japan

Father, Osamu Kamada (Central College, Tokyo); a teacher of Chinese classics. Mother, Kio Kamada. Ishiro Kamada changed his name when adopted by the Miyake family. Yale relatives include a cousin, Kumato Morita, Ph.D. 1892.

Attended academic and collegiate departments of Doshisha University, Kyoto, Japan (B.A. 1894); student in Yale Divinity School 1897–98 and Graduate School 1897–1901; lecturer at Waseda University 1902–03; professor of English, Sixth National College, Okayama, Japan, 1903–23; professor Shizuoka National College 1923–31.

Married March 12, 1896, in Hiroshima, Japan, Kazu, daughter of Taisuke and Tokuko (Takaoka) Miyake. Children: Kikuyo, the wife of Samezo Kuruma; Michiko (died 1908); Yasuo (B.S. Tokyo Imperial University); and Shizuo (B.S. Tokyo Imperial University).

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Tokyo. Survived by wife, one daughter, two sons, and a brother, Tasuku Harada (B.D. Yale 1891; D.D. Amherst 1910; LL.D. University of Hawaii and University of Edinburgh 1910).

George Conklin Kinne, M.D. 1908.

Born April 7, 1875, 11 Ypsilanti, Mich. Died September 15, 1926, in Honolulu, T.H.

Father, Willard Bradford Kinne, a jeweler in Ypsilanti; son of Amasa Farrington Kinne (B.A. Dartmouth 1837, M.D. 1841) and Susan (Smith) Kinne of Jaffrey, N.H., and Ypsilanti. Mother, Lydia (Reno) Kinne; daughter of Elisha and Mary Jane (Pomeroy) Reno of Ypsilanti.

Ypsilanti High School; Alma College 1898–1900; entered Yale School of Medicine 1904 (member Alpha Kappa Kappa); interne Lawrence & Memorial Associated Hospitals, New London, Conn., 1908–09; practiced medicine in Seattle, Wash, Portland, Ore., and Everson, Wash. Married in Boston, Mass., Agnes B. Tatterfield. Mrs. Kinne is reported to have died some years before her husband.

Death due to cardiac collapse. Buried in Homilani Cemetery, Hilo, Hawan. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Carlton Fyler Drake, LL.B. 1877.

Born August 29, 1858, 11 Oswego, Ill. Died January 4, 1935, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Chester Parsons Drake, a farmer and ranchman in Austin, Texas. Mother, Caroline Moore (Fyler) Drake; daughter of Harlan Fyler.

General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven, Conn.; entered Yale School of Law 1875; practiced law 1877-83; lumberman in Austin, 1883-1901; miner, and street railway operator in Douglas, Ariz.; member Protestant Episcopal church.

Married December 13, 1885, in Austin, Mary, daughter of George and Fanny (Goodrich) Boardman. Son, Carl Boardman. Mrs. Drake died February 1, 1901.

Death due to a complication of diseases. Buried in Los Angeles. Survived by son.

Edward Lyon Robinson, LL.B. 1880.

Born July 31, 1857, in Columbus, Ohio.

Died September 5, 1934, in Worthington, Ohio.

Father, D. Azro Ashley Buck Robinson, secretary and treasurer Columbus Gas Light & Coke Company; son of Isaac and Julia (Harwood) Robinson of Calais, Vt. Mother, Ellen Josephine (Burnett) Robinson; daughter of Calvin Burnett of Morrisville, Vt.

Columbus High School; member Yale Class of 1880 during Freshman year; attended Ohio State University 1877–78; entered Yale School of Law 1878 (member Kent Club); with Columbus Gas Light & Coke Company 1880; practiced law in Columbus 1880–88; member 101 Cattle Company, Chase County, Kans., 1888–94, and legal adviser 1900–02; prosecuting attorney for Chase County 1894–95; in hotel business in Columbus 1895–97; in Williamsburg, Va., 1897–98; engaged in farming near Plain City, Ohio, 1898–1900 and 1902–04; had practiced law in Worthington since 1904; mayor of Worthington 1908– 09 and 1924–27, councilman 1912–17, 1918–19, and 1924; justice of the peace of Sharon township since 1923.

Married December 29, 1881, in Columbus, Helen Mary, daughter of Deming and Adelia (Williams) Day. Children: Helen Burnett (B.A. Ohio State 1906) and Gertrude Lucile (B.A. Ohio State 1913, M.A. 1916, died 1933). Mrs. Robinson died July 13, 1904. Death due to pancreatitis. Buried in Green Lawn Cemetery, Columbus. Survived by one daughter.

Nelson Royal, LL.B. 1882.

Born July 9, 1857, in Alford, Mass. Died December 4, 1935, in Des Moines, Iowa.

Father, Ambrose Royal, a farmer in Alford. Mother, Mary (Boucher) Royal.

Natchaug High School, Willimantic, Conn.; taught at Coventry District School, Willimantic, 1874–78; read law in an office in Rockville, Conn., 1878–80; entered Yale School of Law 1880; had practiced law in Des Moines since 1882; city treasurer of Des Moines 1885–89, president Board of Education 1894–96; president Des Moines Trust Company 1910–19; member Congregational church, Coventry, Conn.

Married September 25, 1882, in New Haven, Conn., Emma Jenny, daughter of Chapin E. and Emeline (Mather) Clarke. Children: Myrtle Emeline (B.A. State University of Iowa 1906), the wife of Burnam A. Moffatt (B.A. State University of Iowa 1904); Jessie Corrinne Flanders (State University of Iowa ex-'09); Chester Ambrose (State University of Iowa 1911-15); Leonard Clarke (Iowa State College ex-'21); and Nelson, Jr. (Grinnell College ex-'28; B.S. Iowa State College 1931). Mrs. Royal died July 17, 1927.

Death due to a cerebral embolism. Cremation took place at Des Moines. Survived by children, six grandchildren, and a brother, Greeley Royal of Chicopee Falls, Mass.

Katsutoro Fukushima, LL.B. 1893.

Born May 12, 1865, in Shizuoka, Japan. Died before July 1, 1936.

Father, M. Fukushima, an official in Shizuoka.

Attended Tokyo preparatory school of Imperial University; enrolled in Yale School of Law 1892-93.

The report of Mr. Fukushima's death was received from the Yale Alumni Association of Japan.

Lee Gray, LL.B. 1893.

Born February 17, 1870, in El Monte, Calif. Died January 7, 1932, in Sacramento, Calif.

Father, Josiah Holcomb Gray, a merchant and county commissioner in Phoenix, Ariz.; son of Thomas Gray. Mother, Annie Elizabeth (Curtis) Gray. Territorial Normal School of Arizona; attended Yale School of Law 1891-93; admitted to Arizona bar 1894; practiced law in Phoenix 1893-1900 and subsequently in Reno, Nev., 1905-11; lived in Rockford, Ill, 1912-13; practiced law in Colfax, Calif., 1915-28, and in Sacramento 1928 until retirement in 1931.

Married July 8, 1915, in San Rafael, Calif, Elizabeth Estelle, daughter of William M. and Anna Maria (Cox) Short. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Ashes interred in Tombstone, Ariz. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Joseph Lyman Sparks of Tucson, Ariz

Thomas Francis Farrell, LL.B. 1894.

Born August 22, 1868, in Webster, Mass. Died April 9, 1932, in Providence, R I.

Father, Thomas Farrell, born in Drashane, County Tipperary, Ireland; came to United States in 1849; an insurance agent in Webster; son of John and Nellie (Hickey) Farrell of Drashane. Mother, Catherine (Thompson) Farrell, born in Grandstown, County Tipperary; came to United States in 1841; daughter of Henry Thompson of Grandstown.

Webster High School and Phillips-Exeter; entered Yale School of Law 1892 (editor *Yale Law Journal* 1893-94); had practiced law in Providence since 1895; member City Planning Commission, Providence, since 1913; member St. Peter and St. Paul's Cathedral, Providence.

Unmarried.

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in St. Francis Cemetery, Pawtucket, R.I. Survived by a brother, John T. Farrell (M.D. Jefferson Medical College 1886) of Providence and West Warwick, R.I.

Thomas West Hardy, LL.B. 1894.

Born January 22, 1869, in Campbell, Calif. Died November 7, 1935, in Alameda, Calif.

Father, William Benjamin Hardy (Virginia Military Institute 1861), a lawyer in San Jose, Calif.; major in Confederate Army during Civil War. Mother, Virginia Taylor (Williams) Hardy; daughter of Silas and Susan Marie (West) Williams of Louisa County, Va.

San Jose public schools; studied law four years in his father's office; entered Yale Law School in 1893 as a member of Senior Class; admitted to California bar 1894; practiced in San Jose 1894–98; engaged in gold mining in Alaska 1898–1901; held various political offices 1901–04; connected with railway mail service of the Ogden & San Francisco Railway with headquarters in Ogden, Utah, 1904–06, and in San

246

Francisco 1906–17; engaged in stock raising and general ranching at Stone Cañon, Monterey County, Calif., 1917–18; associated with New York Life Insurance Company, San Francisco, 1918 until retirement in 1931; member California National Guard, and Presbyterian church.

Married August 17, 1908, in Alameda, Maria Theresa, daughter of John D. and Ursula (Benzing) Schmitz.

Death due to angina pectors. Entombed in Mountain View Mausoleum, Piedmont, Calif. Survived by wife.

Edward Martin Burke, LL.B. 1895.

Born November 11, 1869, in Worcester, Mass. Died November 23, 1935, in Westerly, R.I.

Father, Michael W. Burke. Mother, Honora (O'Brien) Burke.

Westerly High School; B.A. Union College 1893 (member Delta Upsilon); attended Yale School of Law 1893-95; admitted to Connecticut bar 1895 and Rhode Island bar 1896; had practiced law in Westerly since 1895; judge of probate for Westerly District for twentynine years; member Westerly Chamber of Commerce.

Married June 30, 1908, Mary E. Currier of Sunapee, N.H. No children. Mrs. Burke died in June, 1927.

Death due to chronic nephritis. Buried in River Bend Cemetery, Westerly. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Henry Michael Burke, LL.B. 1897.

Born August 1, 1875, in South Manchester, Conn. Died April 13, 1933.

Father, James Michael Burke, a merchant in South Manchester; son of Michael and Elizabeth (Butler) Burke of County Tipperary, Ireland, and Connecticut. Mother, Norah (Barrett) Burke; daughter of Thomas and Margaret (Prindable) Barrett of Greenwich, Conn.

South Manchester High School, Hannum (now Morse) Business College, and Collins Street Classical School, Hartford, Conn.; attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (member Kent Club); practiced law in South Manchester and Hartford 1897 until retirement in 1922; justice of the peace, Manchester, Conn., 1898–1907; town counsel for Manchester 1903–05; member Republican Town Committee 1902–09 and secretary and chairman 1906–08; prosecuting attorney Town Court of Manchester 1909–11; representative in Connecticut General Assembly and served as clerk of Judiciary Committee 1909; director Manchester Business Men's Association 1904–07; member Senatorial Committee, Fourth Senatorial District, 1910–12, and Congressional Committee, First Congressional District, 1912; for ten years treasurer and secretary Manchester Fire Department; president Holy Name Society 1913–15; member St. James Roman Catholic Church, South Manchester.

Married February 27, 1900, in Manchester, Catherine Mary, daughter of John and Bridget (Sheedy) Donahue. Children: James Donahue (Holy Cross 1921–22); Mary Loretta (Ph.B. College of New Rochelle 1924); Henry Francis (died in infancy); and Thomas (died in infancy).

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in St. James Cemetery, South Manchester. Survived by wife, one son, daughter, one grandson, and two brothers, Leo J. and William Burke of Manchester.

James Cyrus Murtagh, LL.B. 1902.

Born June 16, 1880, in Waverly, Iowa. Died September 28, 1928, in Waterloo, Iowa.

Father, James Xerxes Murtagh, a manufacturer in Shell Rock, Iowa. Mother, Mercy L. Murtagh.

Shell Rock High School; Nora Springs Seminary; LL.B. State University of Iowa 1901; attended Yale School of Law 1901-02 (member Wayland and Kent clubs); had practiced law in Waterloo since 1902 and was well known as a defense lawyer in criminal cases; a leader in civic activities; member Izaak Walton League, Sons of the American Revolution, fraternal orders, and Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church, Waterloo.

Married Children: Marjorie (Mrs. Silas B. Hayes); Dorothy (Mrs. Kehoe); Josephine (Mrs. Russel Hackett); and Marion (Mrs. Peterson).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Waterloo. Survived by four daughters, mother, and two brothers, C. B. Murtagh and E. J. Murtagh, both of Algona, Iowa.

Charles Clinton Bunker, LL.B. 1906.*

Born February 19, 1879, 1n Mercer, Maine. Died June 17, 1936, 1n Long Island City, N.Y.

Father, John Bunker, a farmer in Mercer; son of Moses and Mary Philbrick (Williams) Bunker of Mercer. Mother, Emeline Bassford (Cutts) Bunker; daughter of George and Ann (Metcalf) Cutts of New Portland, Maine.

Gloucester (Mass.) High School; B.A. Dartmouth 1903; attended Harvard Law School 1903-04 and Yale School of Law 1904-06; prac-

* This biography was published with an incorrect statement on page 218, Number 95, 15 October 1936. It is here reprinted in corrected form in an effort to make restitution for an unfortunate error. ticed law in New York City 1906-09; in office of William S. Pettit, Far Rockaway, N.Y., 1909-23; had practiced law independently in Far Rockaway since 1923; president Far Rockaway Exchange Club; member Chamber of Commerce of the Rockaways, Queens County Bar Association, and Rockaway Lawyers' Club.

Married (1) July 27, 1909, in Elizabeth, N.J., Mercie Wadsworth, who died January 9, 1920, in Far Rockaway. Son, John Wadsworth, ex-'36 S. Married (2) June 30, 1921, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Lydia Ann, daughter of Benjamin Yarrington and Anna M. (Nelson) Peck. Son, Charles Clinton, Jr.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, children, three brothers, Edmund R. Bunker, John W. Bunker of California, and Delmont M. Bunker of Mercer, and two sisters, Mrs. James R. Pringle of Gloucester, and Mrs. Mabel Bunker Gray of California.

James Robert Crouch, LL.B. 1910.

Born August 10, 1876, in Bamberg, S.C. Died February 1, 1929, in Greenville, S.C.

Father, Rev. John Calhoun Crouch, a Baptist minister in Orangeburg, S.C.; son of Robert and Margaret (Cox) Crouch of Charleston, S.C. Mother, Jane (Sandifer) Crouch; daughter of James and Nancy Ann Sandifer of Bamberg County, S.C.

Sheridan High School, Orangeburg; B.S. South Carolina Military Academy 1899; taught physics and chemistry in Orangeburg 1899– 1902; Commandant Bingham Military School, Asheville, N.C., 1902– 08; attended Asheville Law School 1908–09 and Yale School of Law 1909–10 (member Kent Club); engaged in real-estate business in Fort Motte, S.C., 1910–19, and in Greenville 1920–29 as member of firm of Crouch & Redmon.

Married December 27, 1905, in Charleston, Charlotte, daughter of Robert and Evelyn (McCord) Adams. Son, James Robert, Jr.

Death due to an accident. Buried in Fort Motte Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, and three sisters, Mrs. Robert Simmons of Florence, S.C., Mrs. T. H. MacMillan of Jefferson, S.C., and Mrs. C. F. Cauthen of McBee, S.C.

John Herrimon Holt, LL.M. 1884.

Born August 10, 1860, in Sutton, W.Va. Died December 10, 1933, in Huntington, W.Va.

Father, Homer A. Holt, justice Circuit Court of West Virginia and justice Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia. Mother, Mary A. (Byrne) Holt. Attended Randolph-Macon College two years; LL.B. Georgetown University 1881; practiced law in Little Rock, Ark., 1881–83; attended Yale School of Law 1883–84; practiced law in Wheeling, W.Va., 1884– 89, and in Huntington after 1889.

Married in 1888, in Wheeling, Effie, daughter of J. Dallas Ewing. Children Dorcas (Mrs. Shank), Helen (Mrs. Hall), and Kleo.

Death due to a pulmonary hemorrhage. Buried in Springhill Cemetery, Huntington. Survived by daughters.

Frank Anton Meyer, LL.M. 1886.

Born July 21, 1865, in San Francisco, Calif. Died March 27, 1935, in Petaluma, Calif.

Father, Anton Meyer, born in Switzerland; owner of a hotel in Petaluma. Mother, Johanna (Oeser) Meyer, born in Germany.

Petaluma Grammar School; B.S. Santa Clara College 1883; LL.B. and LL.M. University of Washington 1885; admitted to the bar of the District of Columbia; attended Yale School of Law 1885–86; attorney in Petaluma 1886–1935; member Rotary International, and St. Vincent's Church (Catholic), Petaluma.

Married December 26, 1899, in New York City, Caroline Appolonia, daughter of Robert and Babette (Poehlmann) Stollberg. Children. Mercy (B.A. University of California 1923), the wife of Frank Eugene Forsburg (University of California *ex-*'23), and Lucille (San Jose College 1926), the wife of Mervyn P. Col.

Death due to arteriosclerosis and acute dilation of the heart. Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Petaluma. Survived by wife, daughters, and three grandchildren.

Ira Thomas Crask, LL.M. 1908.

Born July 17, 1875, in Lebanon, Ind. Died March 7, 1936, in Lebanon, Ind.

Father, John Sturgeon Crask, a farmer in Lebanon. Mother, Nancy Jane (Padgett) Crask.

Public High School, West Lebanon, Central Normal College, Danville, Ind., and Indiana State Normal College, Terre Haute; principal of high schools at Veedersburg and Melotte, Ind.; LL.B. Indiana University 1907, admitted to Indiana bar 1907; attended Yale School of Law 1907–08; had practiced law in Lebanon since 1908; owner of considerable agricultural real estate in central Indiana and operated and leased this property; member Boone County Bar Association, and Methodist Episcopal Church, West Lebanon.

Unmarried.

7

250

Supplement

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Brown's Wonder Cemetery, Center Township, Ind. Survived by two sisters, Mrs. Susan Alice Johnson and Mrs. Mary J. Nichols, and four brothers, John R., Robert E., Albert N., and James W. Crask.

John Charles Rogers, LL.M. 1909.

Born June 7, 1872, in Newport, Ky. Died May 30, 1931, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, James Rogers, a wagonmaker in Cincinnati; son of Anthony and Ann (Coyne) Rogers of Selinville, Ohio. Mother, Mary Ann (Flanigan) Rogers; daughter of Cornelius and Mary (Duffey) Flanigan of Newport, Ky.

Cincinnati public schools; LL.B. Cincinnati Law School 1895; attended Yale School of Law 1908-09 (president Yale Senate first term); member firm of Crosley & Rogers in Cincinnati since 1895; organized Cincinnati Free Day Nursery of which he was president for twenty-five years; member Church of The Immaculate Conception, Newport.

Married February 14, 1904, in Louisville, Ky., Effie Luetta, daughter of George and Elizabeth (Hotmire) Shaneyfelt. No children.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by wife, two sisters, Miss May F. Rogers of Rockaway Beach, N.Y., and Mrs. Ida Yago of Fort Thomas, Ky., and a brother, James Rogers of Rockaway Beach.

Aaron Merritt Hills, B.D. 1874.

Born February 4, 1848, in Dowagiac, Mich Died September 11, 1935, in Altadena, Calif.

Father, Henry Cleveland Hills, pioneer settler in Cass County, Mich.; son of Hezekiah and Olive (Warren) Hills of Windsor Locks, Conn., and Bristol, N.Y. Mother, Julia Ann (Chesbrough) Hills; daughter of Abram Chesbrough of Tinmouth, Vt. Yale relatives include: Rev. William T. Hutchins, '76 D. (brother-in-law); and Will Hutchins, '01 (nephew).

B.A. Oberlin 1871; attended Yale Divinity School 1871-74; ordained at First Congregational Church, Ravenna, Ohio, June 2, 1874, and minister there 1874-84; minister First Congregational Church, Allegheny, Pa., 1884-90, and College Church, Olivet, Mich., 1890-91; state evangelist in Michigan 1891-93; minister Central Congregational Church, Springfield, Mo., 1893-94; evangelist in Oberlin, Ohio, 1894-98; professor of theology Asbury College 1898-99; president Peniel College, Greenville, Texas, 1899-1906, Central Holiness University, Oskaloosa, Iowa, 1906-08, Illinois Holiness College, Georgetown, Ill., 1908-10, and Oklahoma Holiness College, Bethany, Okla., 1910-12; professor of theology Star Hall, Manchester, England, 1912-15; dean of theology Pasadena College 1916-22 and professor of Greek and homiletics 1922 until retirement in 1932; D.D. Peniel College 1906; LL.D. Pasadena College 1925; author of a number of books, including Holiness and Power (1897), Life of Charles G. Finney (1902), Scriptural Holiness and Keswick Teaching Compared (1912), The Uttermost Salvation (1927), Homiletics and Pastoral Theology (1929), and Fundamental Christian Theology (1931).

Married (1) May 26, 1874, Altha Alamanda Ford (B.L. Oberlin College 1870), daughter of James and Jane (Cowles) Ford of Madison, Ohio Children Nellie Ford (B.A. Oberlin 1898); Henry Merritt (B.A. Oberlin 1898); and Ann Althea (died 1930). Mrs. Hills died August 20, 1886. Married (2) August 9, 1887, Huldah Jane Frischkorn. Children: James Aaron (B.A. Oberlin 1908; B.D. Drew Seminary 1912); Charles Finney; Mary Woodbridge (Mrs. C. Abner Everitt); and Dwight Moody (University of Kansas ex-'19). Mrs. Hills died in 1935.

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, Altadena. Survived by sons and two daughters.

George Washington Henderson, B.D. 1883.

Born November 16, 1850, in Clark County, Va. Died February 6, 1936, in Wilberforce, Ohio.

Barre (Vt.) High School; B.A. University of Vermont 1877, M.A. 1880 (member Phi Beta Kappa and Delta Psi); principal Craftsbury (Vt.) Academy 1878-80, 1886-88; attended Yale Divinity School 1880-83; studied at University of Berlin on Hooker Fellowship 1883-84 and as a graduate student at Yale Divinity School 1884-85; principal Newport (Vt.) Graded School 1885-86; ordained at Central Congregational Church, New Orleans, La., September 16, 1888, and minister there, 1888-90; professor of theology and minister of University Church, Straight College, 1890-1904; professor of theology Fisk University 1904-09; professor of ancient classics Wilberforce University 1909 until retirement in 1932 (member Alpha Phi Alpha); assistant moderator Congregational National Council 1895; D.D. University of Vermont 1896; had contributed to religious publications; member Society of Political Economy, American Geographical Society, and Trinity African Methodist Church of Wilberforce.

Married April 2, 1889, in New Orleans, La., Mamie Virginia, daughter of John Thomas and Anna (Mullen) Harris. No children.

Death due to a paralytic stroke. Buried in Cherry Grove Cemetery, Xenia, Ohio. Survived by wife.

Supplement

Anthony Howells, B.D. 1883.

Born August 14, 1856, in Landilo, Wales. Died March 22, 1923, in Seattle, Wash.

Attended Yale Divinity School 1880-83; ordained at Mt. Carmel, Pa., June 10, 1883, and minister there 1883-84; minister at Audenried, Pa., 1884-85, Plymouth Church, Pa., 1885-87, Congregational Church, Cheney, Wash., 1887; then resided in Port Angeles, Wash., for some years and in Seattle, Wash., 1895-96; engaged in the dairy business in Woodinville, Wash., 1896-1920; deputy sheriff of Snohomish County, Wash., 1922.

Married in Blossburg, Pa., Mary Jones. Children: Jacob, Victor Hugo, and Anthony Heber.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Bear Creek Cemetery, Woodinville. Survived by two grandchildren and a daughter-in-law.

John Oliver Thrush, B.D. 1888.

Born November 15, 1861, in Keyser, W.Va. Died April 3, 1936, in River Falls, Wis.

Father, John Skinner Thrush, a farmer in Mineral County, W.Va.; son of Richard and Frances Hornbuckle (Rogers) Thrush of Mineral County. Mother, Margaret Jane (Rawlings) Thrush; daughter of Benjamin and Nancy (Smith) Rawlings of Mineral County.

B.A. Lebanon Valley College 1884; attended Yale Divinity School 1885–88; ordained Postville (Iowa) Congregational Church September 20, 1888, and was minister there 1888–90; minister First Congregational Church, Spencer, Iowa, 1891–99, 1910–18, and 1934–35, First Congregational Church, Webster City, Iowa, 1899–1909, First Congregational Church, River Falls, 1918 until retirement in 1926; D.D. Grinnell 1916.

Married May 7, 1891, in Rockford, Iowa, Ada Elizabeth, daughter of Luther and Ella (Lyons) Brown. Children: Waldo Brown (Carleton College 1911–13; University of Minnesota 1915–17); Carol Margaret (Grinnell ex-'18), the wife of William L. Rouse; Marion Virginia (Milwaukee-Downer College 1921), the wife of Frederick Mann (B.A. University of Wisconsin 1920).

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, River Falls. Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, and a brother, James Thrush of Keyser.

ļ

Evan Evans, B.D. 1893.

Born June 7, 1860, in Llangeler, Wales. Died June 16, 1936, in New Milford, Conn.

Father, Samuel Evans, a wheelwright in Llangeler, County Carmarthenshire, Wales.

Came to United States 1883; Oberlin Academy; B.A. Marietta 1890; attended Yale Divinity School 1890–93; ordained May 2, 1894, at New Preston, Conn.; minister New Preston Hill Congregational Church 1894–98 and 1907 until retirement in November, 1935; minister King's Highway Church, Bridgeport, Conn., 1899–1906; served in Connecticut Legislature 1922–23.

Married November 10, 1898, in New Preston, Lucy Marie, daughter of Abiel C. and Caroline (Patterson) Lemmon. No children. Mrs. Evans died in 1909.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in New Preston Cemetery. Survived by several nieces and nephews.

George Tudor Jones, B.D. 1900.

Born January 22, 1871, in Macomb, Ill.

Died January 12, 1932, in Westbury, Wayne County, N.Y.

Father, Rev. Lemuel Jones, general missionary for Massachusetts and for New York; son of Tudor and Elizabeth (Lee) Jones who came from Wales. Mother, Elizabeth (Jones) Jones; daughter of John and Margarette (Edwardes) Jones. Yale relatives include: Rev. John W. Norris, '94 D. (brother-in-law).

B.A. Amherst 1895; unoccupied 1895-97 because of ill-health; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1897-98, and Yale Divinity School 1898-1900; ordained in Congregational Church, Tomahawk, Wis., in December, 1900, and was minister there 1900-02; minister Otisco (N.Y.) Congregational Church 1902-04 and Bethesda Congregational Church, Edwardsville, Pa., 1904-05; college minister Straight University 1905-06; minister Guys Mills (Pa.) Congregational Church 1906-08, First Unitarian Church, New Castle, Pa., 1908-10, First Congregational Parish, Harvard, Mass., 1910-14, Unitarian Church, Warwick, Mass., 1914-20, and in Ellsworth, Maine, 1920-25; supplied various pastorates and engaged in writing since 1925.

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in family burial ground at South Onondaga, N.Y. Survived by three sisters, Mrs. Franklin G. Webster of Rochester, N.Y., Mrs. Grace J. Richards of Westbury, and Miss Ruth E. Jones of Syracuse, N.Y., and two brothers, Roger L. Jones of Fulton, N.Y., and Ezra W. Jones of Pasadena, Calif

Hall Laurie Calhoun, B.D. 1902.

Born December 11, 1863, in Conyersville, Tenn Died September 4, 1935, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, John Shelton Calhoun, a farmer in Conversville; son of John and Agnes Abigal Calhoun of Tennessee. Mother, Martha Louise (Hall) Calhoun; daughter of John and Temperance (Perry) Hall of Tennessee.

Union City (Tenn.) High School; taught in high schools at Union City and Mason, Tenn., 1883-88; B.A. Transylvania 1892; attended College of the Bible 1888-92; ordained minister Disciples of Christ in Lexington, Ky., June 10, 1892; teacher in Academy of the University of Kentucky 1892-93; evangelist for Disciples of Christ 1893-96; minister Franklin (Tenn.) Christian Church 1896–1900; professor Bible subjects and languages Georgie Robertson Christian College, Henderson, Tenn., 1900-01; entered Yale Divinity School 1901; attended Harvard Graduate School 1902-04 (M.A. 1903, Ph.D. 1904); professor of Old Testament literature College of the Bible 1904–17 and dean 1909–17; minister Christian Church in Nicholasville, Ky., 1904– o6, and in Providence, Ky., 1906-17; professor Old Testament literature Bethany (W.Va.) College 1917-25; copresident Freed-Hardeman College 1925-26; minister Belmont Avenue Church of Christ, Nashville, since 1926; radio preacher Central Church of Christ, Nashville, since 1928; trustee Midway (Ky.) Orphan School 1907-17; member International Sunday School Lesson Committee 1908-17.

Married December 31, 1890, in Lexington, Ky., Mary Ettah, daughter of John Cockerel and Huldah (Peyton) Stacey. Children: Mary Ettah (Transylvania 1909–10); John Laurie (Kentucky State 1912–13); James Edwin (Cumberland University Law School 1933– 34); Margaret Lee (B.S. Ohio State 1925); and Dorothea Eloise (B.S. Peabody College 1931).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Nashville. Survived by wife and children.

Raymond Wendell Steiner, B.D. 1921.

Born July 6, 1886, in Mt. Cory, Ohio. Died June 9, 1936, in Norwalk, Ohio.

Father, Theophilus Reuben Steiner, a farmer in Mt. Cory; son of Isaac and Mary (Rothen) Steiner, who lived near Bluffton, Ohio. Mother, Mary (Green) Steiner; daughter of William and Mary Rachel (Hummon) Green of Mt. Cory.

Findlay College Academy; B.A. Findlay College 1911; ordained September 10, 1910, at Wooster, Ohio, in Church of God, and in Congregational Church 1919; minister Wharton (Ohio) Circuit Churches of God 1912–16, Amherst (Ohio) First Congregational Church 1917–20; attended Oberlin Seminary 1916–17, Yale Divinity School 1920–21; minister York Street Congregational Church, Newport, Ky., 1921–26, Eastwood Congregational Church, Columbus, Ohio, 1926– 28, Evangelical Congregational Church, Struthers, Ohio, 1928–29, and First Congregational Church, Berlin Heights, Ohio, since 1929; president Erie County Ministerial Association; member Congregational and Christian Union.

Married September 6, 1916, in Attica, Ohio, Harriet Matilda, daughter of Jacob Martin and Martha (Beamer) Fink. Children: Raymond Fink, Richard Calvin, Wendell Eugene, and Cheryl Kathleen.

Death due to acute appendicitis. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Berlin Heights. Survived by wife, children, parents, and four brothers, Otto B. Steiner of Chicago, Ill., Lloyd G. Steiner (M.D. University of Michigan 1924) of Ann Arbor, Mich., and Ralph T. Steiner and Harold W. Steiner, both of Mt. Cory.

George Morris Cohen, B.F.A. 1926.

Born January 1, 1902, in Hartford, Conn. Died March 2, 1931, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Jacob Cohen, a real-estate broker in Hartford; son of Kalman and Pearl Witkin of Vilna, Russia. Mother, Lena (Older) Cohen; daughter of Barnet and Sarah Older of Kovna, Russia. Yale relatives include Morris Older, '04 L. (uncle); and Marynn H. Older, Yale School of the Fine Arts 1931-33 (cousin).

Hartford High School; worked in architects' offices in Hartford 1919-22; attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1922-26; associated in Hartford with F. C. Walz 1926-28, and Henry F. Ludorf 1928-29, member firm of Cohen & Fox in Hartford since 1929; member The Temple, Hartford.

Married June 19, 1927, in Hartford, Sonia, daughter of Samuel L. and Rose (Grossman) Cramer. No children.

Death due to rheumatic heart disease. Buried in Zion Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, father, two brothers, Morris G. Cohen (LL.B. New York University 1917) of Hartford and Nathan Cohen of Waterbury, Conn., and two sisters, Dora C. Shuman, the wife of Solomon Shuman (B.A. Harvard 1918) of Worcester, Mass, and Mrs. Harold Post of Hartford.

Seymour Lee Hinman, B.F.A. 1927.

~

Born April 15, 1903, in Deposit, N.Y. Died April 10, 1936, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Seymour Lee Hinman, president Hinman Brothers, dealers in grain and feed in Deposit; son of Martin and Marian (Hunt) Hinman of Deposit. Mother, Florence Emma (Campbell) Hinman; daughter of Thomas and Rebecca Adaline (Birdsall) Campbell of Deposit.

Utica Academy; attended Hamilton College first semester 1922-23 (member Alpha Delta Phi); studied in Yale School of the Fine Arts 1923-27; traveled abroad 1927-28; assistant in office of J. Lister Holmes, an architect in Seattle, 1929-30, and partner 1930-31; building manager Securities Mortgage Company, Seattle, 1931-35, member firm of Graham & Painter, Ltd., architects and engineers, Seattle, since 1935; member American Institute of Architects, Washington Building and Managers Association, and Westminster Presbyterian Church, Utica, N.Y.

Married October 23, 1925, in New Haven, Conn., Effie Marian, daughter of Sumner Charles and Julia Augusta (Bunker) Poor. Children. Patricia, Ann, and Karen.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Seattle Survived by wife, daughters, and mother, Mrs. DeWitt C. Hurd of Long Beach, Calif.

George Adalbert Wilmot, M.F. 1906.

Born April 23, 1876, in Dublin, Ireland Died September 3, 1935, in Graaff Reinet, South Africa.

Attended St. Aidan's College, Grahamstown, South Africa; St. Mary's, Canterbury, England; University of the Cape of Good Hope (1895); and Jesuit College, Katwijk, Holland (1896).

Student Yale School of Forestry 1904-06; in charge of Forestry School at Tokai, Cape Peninsula, South Africa, where students were sent from England to study forestry, 1906-16; manager Constantia Timber Company, East Griqualand, South Africa, 1916-19; consulting forester The Lion Match Company, Ltd., Durban, Natal, 1919-35; also independently engaged as a consulting forester 1919-23; author of several articles on forestry published in various periodicals; honorary secretary for South Africa of the Empire Forestry Association; member Berzelius.

Married October 3, 1907, in Wynberg, Cape Peninsula, Debie

Irwin Lange, daughter of Robert Irwin and Elizabeth Susan (Lange) Scholtz. Children. Victor George Aidan (St. Aidan's College); Hum-

8 Yale University Obstuary Record

phrey Irwin: Ann Kathleen Mary, the wife of Lieutenant Peter Moseley, R.N., Valerie Doris Mary; Rosemary; and Christopher John (St. Aidan's College).

Killed by a falling tree. Buried in Graaff Reinet. Survived by wife and children.

DATES OF DEATH OF OTHER INDIVIDUALS WITH YALE AFFILIATION

REPORTED JULY 1, 1936-JULY 1, 1937

RECIPIENTS OF HONORARY DEGREES

Francis G. Peabody (D.D. 1887), December 28, 1936 Elihu Thomson (M A. 1890), March 13, 1937 Elihu Root (LL.D. 1900), February 7, 1937. Edwin H Blashfield (M.A 1914), October 12, 1936 Arthur K. Rogers (M.A 1914), November 1, 1936 Lauress J. Birney (D.D 1915), May 10, 1937. William T. Hornaday (M A 1917), March 6, 1937 William S. Sims (LL.D. 1919), September 28, 1936 Ossip Gabrilowitsch (M.A. 1924), September 14, 1936 Edward S. Robinson (M A 1927), February 27, 1937 William Gillette (M.A. 1930), April 29, 1937.

NON-GRADUATES YALE COLLEGE

CLASS

- 1869 Edward O. Babcock, March 2, 1934
- 1874 Harry H. Cabot, September 9, 1936.
- 1875 Jacob Painter, Jr., February 16, 1937.
- 1882 Charles Sumner, February 3, 1936
- 1884 Martin Andrews, October 10, 1935
- 1885 Warren S. Bickham, December 1, 1936
- 1885 William F. Fisher, February 13, 1937
- 1885 Eben C. Norton, April 11, 1936.
- 1889 George J. Kennedy, February 16, 1937
- 1889 Endicott G Putnam, November 8, 1936
- 1891 Henry M. Billings, September 10, 1936.
- 1891 Benjamin W. B. Brown, November 26, 1936
- 1891 Marshall J. Root, September 7, 1936
- 1892 Benjamin F. Bedford, Jr., August 17, 1930
- 1897 Jacob L. Frey, Jr, March 7, 1934
- 1897 Louis Hinkey, February 9, 1937.
- 1897 Edward Lasker, August 8, 1936.
- 1897 Chester McV. McCance, January 2, 1937.
- 1902 Ross S. Bacon, March 13, 1937.
- 1904 George H. O'Brien, November 29, 1936
- 1906 Arthur B. Baker, September 5, 1936.
- 1906 Jacob S. Grauman, January 28, 1934
- 1909 Norman F. Peters, January 27, 1937

CLASS

- 1911 Edward M O'Bryan, November 27, 1936.
- 1912 G E. Ralph McCoy, August 26, 1936.
- 1913 Richard F Decker, May 15, 1937.
- 1913 James McDonald, Jr, July 2, 1936.
- 1920 Richard L Carpenter, December 30, 1935.
- 1923 Herman H Alexander, May 16, 1937
- 1924 F. Curtis Perkins, Jr, May 20, 1937
- 1924 David Weiss, August 1, 1936.
- 1926 Baxter M. Badham, September 15, 1936.
- 1933 George B M Olmsted, January 18, 1937.
- 1935 Alfred E Loyd, Jr, July 29, 1936
- 1937 Edward S Abbott, December 21, 1936
- 1937 Murray R. Bliss, August 9, 1936.
- 1939 Philip R Duggan, September 1, 1936
- 1939 William F. Knox, Jr, November 1, 1936
- 1939 Charles D Mackay, Jr., September 30, 1936
- 1940 Robert M Carpenter, 3d, January 12, 1937.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- 1872 James Y Player, September 13, 1936
- 1876 William A Shelton, January 31, 1937
- 1881 Seymour P Bradley, June 13, 1937
- 1881 John H Robinson, November 12, 1936.
- 1882 Herbert D Lacey, March 13, 1937.
- 1883 William Howard Hart, February 20, 1937
- 1886 Henry B Joy, November 6, 1936.
- 1888 Edwin R. Hodge, September 18, 1936
- 1889 Alfred C Schwab, February 25, 1937
- 1890 Frederic Carter, April 24, 1937
- 1890 Duncan S Johnson, February 16, 1937.
- 1891 Robert F. Elmer, November 16, 1936
- 1893 John M Boden, November 24, 1936.
- 1895 Benjamin B Stebbins, November 7, 1936.
- 1896 James Leslie Ming, March 1, 1936.
- 1896 Thomas G Sloan, October 30, 1936
- 1896 Perry Warren, October 6, 1936
- 1898 Ralph H Cumings, January 26, 1935.
- 1899 E Leslie Fletcher, November 2, 1936
- 1899 Erwin F Keene, December 28, 1936
- 1900 William Preston Gibson, February 15, 1937.
- 1902 Tennis Wick, February 23, 1937.
- 1905 Howard T Muzzy, July 14, 1936.
- 1905 Perit Coit Myers, January 3, 1937

CLASS

- 1905 David B Trumbull, April 21, 1936.
- 1906 William B. Runciman, July 28, 1936
- 1907 Roger W. Hooper, April 2, 1937.
- 1909 Richard R. Wood, March 23, 1937.
- 1910 Lytton J. Shields, October 31, 1936.
- 1910 Edgar A. Stevens, October 4, 1936.
- 1912 Joseph F. Fitzgibbon, April 22, 1937
- 1912 Olin R. Kuhn, April 17, 1937.
- 1914 J Arthur Jamison, January 14, 1936.
- 1915 Charles B Kellogg, May 19, 1937.
- 1915 Harold A Prout, July 27, 1935
- 1918 Walter L. Conner, January 22, 1937
- 1919 Francis G. Walthew, February 2, 1937.
- 1920 Charles F. Bartholomew, December 20, 1936.
- 1920 Lawrence LeV. Jones, Jr., September 15, 1936.
- 1921 Joseph R. Walker, Jr., June 23, 1936.
- 1922 Richard P Richards, February 28, 1933.
- 1924 Samuel F Gandelman, December 1, 1936.
- 1927 H Kenneth McClung, September 21, 1936.
- 1928 Holman D. Gibson, June 22, 1933
- 1928 William J. Hynes, Jr, December 31, 1936.
- 1933 John L Prost, June 10, 1937.

SPECIAL STUDENT IN THE SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

1918 Masataro Miura, died about 1929

GRADUATE SCHOOL

- 1876 T. Berry Smith, May 8, 1933
- 1884 Joel N. Eno, February 7, 1937.
- 1887 Oliver L. Fassig, December 6, 1936
- 1887 Robert A Moorman, October 22, 1924
- 1896 Kakıchı Tsunashıma, June 29, 1936.
- 1899 Mabel C. Hawes, December 18, 1936.
- 1899 Timothy R. MacAnally, July 9, 1935
- 1902 Tetsujiro Nanjo, June 20, 1937.
- 1910 Winfield Dudgeon, December 26, 1932.
- 1912 Charles A. Fox, December 12, 1931.
- 1913 Karl J. Holliday, February 6, 1936.
- 1916 William T. Thayer, June 20, 1935.
- 1917 Ruth A. Wardall, July 15, 1936.
- 1921 William F Turnbull, May 14, 1937
- 1923 H. Hall T Glessner, January 15, 1937
- 1923 Mrs. George H. Godfrey, November 16, 1935.

CLASS

- 1924 Joe M Russell, December 21, 1936.
- 1933 E Mabel Mason, July 20, 1936.
- 1936 Irmgard A. Reader, August 8, 1936.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

- 1875 Nathan C Mackey, April 21, 1930.
- 1890 William Fletcher Stone, August 14, 1936
- 1901 Frank G. Atwood, September 14, 1936.
- 1901 Frank E Phillips, August 27, 1936.
- 1903 Frank C. Atchison, November 10, 1936
- 1906 William H Barr, August 16, 1936.
- 1911 Tracy Farnam, December 29, 1936.
- 1917 Nicholas V Walsh, May 1934.
- 1922 Lawrence S. Otell, July 27, 1936.
- 1923 Francis V. V. Wethey, March 5, 1937.

SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1888 Iver N Lawson, died in 1937.
- 1894 Edward L. Brennan, August 23, 1936.
- 1897 Arthur H Jones, July 7, 1936.
- 1897 Frank E Newberry, May 19, 1937.
- 1899 Junius C. Ayler, some time ago.
- 1899 Charles E Buell, June 1935.
- 1903 Eugene F. Kernan, several years ago.
- 1904 John W. Hudspeth, September 7, 1934.
- 1905 James Ernest Hurlbut, December 26, 1935.
- 1905 John B Packer, January 28, 1937.
- 1906 Samuel P Landers, August 1935.
- 1909 Robert W Adams, August 27, 1918
- 1925 Truman M Bigelow, November 9, 1936.

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1887 William M Johnson, July 4, 1936
- 1910 J Alexander Shireman, August 5, 1936.

DIVINITY SCHOOL

- 1875 Francis J Marsh, November 4, 1932.
- 1885 Francis D Rood, died in 1936.
- 1886 John F Tucker, December 3, 1935.
- 1888 Keizo Koyano, died in 1934.
- 1893 Edwin M Griffin, October 26, 1936.
- 1910 Leonard J Carter, April 29, 1936.
- 1927 Lealand E. R. Phillips, date not known.

Non-Graduates

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

CLASS

- 1885 Mrs. Frederick H. Stevens, May 28, 1937.
- 1887 Charles F. Carter, November 9, 1934.
- _1889 Mrs. Frederick S. Chase, April 4, 1937.
- 1889 Elizabeth S. Pitman, July 31, 1936.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1879 Mrs. Morris Penrose, September 21, 1936.
- 1879 Sarah W. Talcott, July 22, 1936.
- 1886 Alice G. Cartwright, March 16, 1931.
- 1886 Mrs. Sidney Hosmer, April 20, 1937.
- 1892 Caroline Clifford Newton, December 22, 1936.
- 1892 Annie M. VanWinkle, died in 1937.
- 1897 Colin D. Barrett, May 22, 1937.
- 1898 Mrs. Merle E Towner, May 2, 1937.

SCHOOL OF MUSIC

RECIPIENT OF CERTIFICATE

1909 Anna Y. Fanslowe, August 27, 1936.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1897 Maude R. Russell, December 24, 1935.
- 1903 Mabel D. Bosworth, May 20, 1925.
- 1907 J. Edward Keegan, February 26, 1937.
- 1907 Mrs. Gertrude H. Paswaters, January 14, 1937.
- 1912 Charles V. Perry, August 19, 1936.
- 1917 Mrs. Robert K. Osborne, March 13, 1937.
- 1923 Mabel M. Allan, July 15, 1931.
- 1931 Mrs. Donald C. Bruce, August 7, 1936.

STATISTICS

ŧ

	Graduates	Non-graduates
Yale College	176	40
Sheffield Scientific School	79	47
Graduate School	25	19
School of Medicine	II	10
School of Law	38	15
Divinity School	18	5
School of the Fine Arts	6*	8
School of Music	1	8
School of Forestry	3	
Recipients of Honorary degrees	11	-
		·
	368	152

DEATHS RECORDED IN THIS VOLUME

The age of the 170 graduates of Yale College who died between July 1, 1936, and July 1, 1937, averages 61.4, and the age of the 73 graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School averages 59.3

The Rev. SAMUEL DUNHAM, BA 1860 (page 5), who became the senior alumnus on December 22, 1934, was the fifth graduate of Yale to live more than one hundred years His successor is. HENRY HAVEN GORTON, BA. 1862, of Waterford, Conn., born February 3, 1840

The oldest living graduate of the Sheffield Scientific School is: NATHAN EDWARD BECKWITH, Ph B 1874, of Los Gatos, Calif., born April 4, 1848. He succeeds Arthur VANHARLINGEN, Ph B 1864 (page 139)

*Includes 4 who held certificates

† Recipient of certificate

INDEX

Graduates of the different Schools of the University are distinguished from graduates of YALE COLLEGE by italic letters as follows DIVINITY SCHOOL, d, SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS, art, SCHOOL OF FORESTRY, f, GRADUATE SCHOOL, ma, ms, or dp; SCHOOL OF LAW, l or ml, SCHOOL OF MEDICINE, m; SCHOOL OF MUSIC, mus; SCHOOL OF NURSING, n, SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL, s.

CLASS	р	AGE	CLASS		PAGE
1918 5	Allderdice, Lawrence	186	1916	Brittingham, Harold H.	122
1923	Allinson, Samuel J.	130	1932	Brockunier, Sawyer R.	136
1887	Anderson, Chandler P	38	1891 d	Bromer, Albert S.	227
1902 /	Andrew, William E.	220	1909	Brooks, Harold	112
1 877	Andrews, James P.	17	18891	Brown, Andrew J	212
1933	Armstrong, Roscoe W., Jr.	•	1929	Brown, Charles E	135
1902 <i>ma</i>	Ashıda, Keiji	191	1891 5	Brown, Douglas	153
1893	Avery, John W.	59	1905	Brown, Frame C.	99
	•••		1913	Brown, Joseph E., Jr	120
1871 <i> </i>	Bacon, Conrad G	210	1876 s	Brown, W. McCulloh	142
1903	Bacon, Ernest F.	93	1895 s	Brownell, Edward E	158
1913	Baker, Richard W	119	1889	Browning, Philip E	45
1895 l	Banks, Elmer S	216	1893	Brownson, Wendell G.	59
1900	Bardeen, Norman	87	1885 d	Bruce, Charles R.	225
1904	Barker, Will T.	95	1878	Bruen, Alexander Jay	20
1931	Barna, Leslie A	135	1901	Buckingham, Charles B.	90
1908 s	Bassett, L Earle	175	1906 /	Bunker, Charles C.	248
1898	Bassett, Samuel E	77	1895 l	Burke, Edward M	247
1910 <i>s</i>	Bates, Lindell T.	178	1897 l	Burke, Henry M	247
1895	Beam, Willoughby P.	68	1890 m	Burke, William J.	203
1912 s	Beck, Broussais C	181	1901 dp	Bush, Katharine J.	195
1868	Beckwith, Isbon T	.9	1891	Bushnell, Curtis C.	50
1898 5	Beinecke, Bernhard, Jr	160			
1908 dp	Benedict, Stanley R.	19 7	1898	Cadwalader, Bertram L.	79
1877 s	Berens, Bernard	237	1902 d	Calhoun, Hall L.	255
1906 s	Berry, William T.	173	1927 m	Callison, William Edgar	207
1899	Bicknell, John	85	1884 s	Campbell, Albert P.	147
1886	Bidwell, Daniel D.	37	1900	Carey, Robert D	88
1929	Birks, Reginald	134	1891 5	Carpenter, Henry A.	154
1878	Birnie, Douglas Putnam	19	1895	Carson, William	68
1890	Bishop, Frank S.	48	1895	Carter, Walter F	68
1892	Bishop, Frederic C	54	1906	Carver, Charles, Jr.	103
1901 <i>d</i>	Blakeslee, Walter C	227	1880	Chapin, Walter H.	2 7
1891 s	Booth, Arthur E	152	1891	Charles, Benjamin H.	213
1907 1908 m	Boulton, Howard	105	1887 /	Chase, Prentice W	211
1908 m	Boyle, Robert J. Brady John W	206	1890 s	Cheney, Horace B.	150
1890 1890 m	Brady, John W Brannan Ambrose K	48	1899 /	Church, Ward Churchill Robert C	218 182
1893 m 1898	Brennan, Ambrose K. Bridge George A	204 78	1912 5	Churchill, Robert C. Clancey John M	
1898	Bridge, George A Brinsmade, James Beebee	78 102	1905 s 1891 s	Clancey, John M. Clark, Noyes D	172
1906	Dimoniage, James Deebee	102	Frogra	Charry Hoyes D	154

CLASS	р	AGE	CLASS		PAGE
1929 ma	Clark, Ridgley C.	193	1894 5	Folger, Ernest R.	157
1894	Cochran, Thomas	63		Folsom, Henry T.	32
1926 art	Cohen, George M	256		Fox, James C.	60
1 866	Collin, Charles A	6	18931	Fukushima, Katsutoro	245
1899	Colwell, Henry C.	86)]]-		-+5
1918	Comegys, C Breck	235	1897 5	Gaffney, Cornelius J.	160
1907	Connell, Lawrence M.	106	1923 dpb	Gage, Mrs. Brownell	208
1897	Cooke, William G	75	1895	Gale, Charles S.	70
1903 5	Couch, Bradford M.	170	1882	Gardes, Henry W.	31
1904	Craffey, James T	96	1875	Garver, John A.	13
1879	Crane, Oliver T	25	1876 s	Gibson, Robert J.	143
1908 ml	Crask, Ira T	250	1875 s	Gifford, Livingston	140
1910/	Crouch, James R	249	19135	Gillett, Darwin L	183
1878	Currier, Andrew F	21	1898	Glaenzer, Richard B.	81
1905 s	Curtiss, James B	172	1906	Glazier, W. Stuart	103
			1898	Goulding, Philip S.	82
1878	Dana, Arthur P	22	1918	Grab, Frederic D	126
1901 /	Danaher, Daniel J.	219	1911 5	Graff, Wesley M.	179
1896 s	Darte, Franck G.	159	1887	Grant, Madison	40
1894	Davies, Thomas F	65	1899 5	Gray, Harry LeB.	164
1891 dp	Davis, George W	194	1893 I	Gray, Lee	245
1888 2	Davison, G Howard	149	1894 s	Gwathmey, Archibald B.	158
1901 5	Day, Charles E	166		-	-
1909	Dean, Lyall	112	1902	Hall, John R.	91
1898	Delano, Moreau	80	1881	Halleck, Reuben Post	29
1926 dp	Denny, Walter Bell	200	1931 5	Hanna, Howard M., Jr.	188
1931	Dickerman, Charles H, 2d	136	1936 m	Hanson, George M.	208
1908 5	Dodd, Hıram W	176	1894 /	Hardy, Thomas W.	246
1917 <i>1</i>	Douglas, Hazen	232	1925 s	Harr, Richard W.	188
1895 s	Dowell, Philip	239	1887	Hartridge, Clifford W	41
1918	Downey, George F , Jr	125	1911	Hartwell, Harold T	117
1877 <i>I</i>	Drake, Carlton F	244	1910	Hayne, Robert Y.	115
1901 5	Duhan, Jacob	167	1906	Headley, Harold W.	104
1860	Dunham, Samuel	5	1897 <i>s</i>	Heaton, Augustus	240
1890	Durand, Hamilton H	49	1912 ma	Hedrick, Henry B.	191
			1883 d	Henderson, George W.	252
1895	Eells, Stillman W	69	1908 ml	Heyman, Lester I.	222
18907	Eppstein, Louis B	212	1874 d	Hills, Aaron M	251
1922 dp	Erickson, Carl G	199	1890 I	Hinckley, Frank H.	213
1905/	Eshelman, Carl D	220	1927 art	Hinman, S Lee	257
1904	Evans, E Webster	96	1878	Hite, Wallace Worth	22
1893 d	Evans, Evan	254	1898 m	Hogan, William J.	204
0 1		-	1895 /	Holden, Benedict M.	217
1894 /	Farrell, Thomas F.	246	1884 ml	Holt, John H.	249
1886 s	Farrington, Harvey	148	1925	Hopkins, James M, Jr.	132
1904 5	Farson, John	171	1910	Hopkins, Stephen V.	116
1913 ma	Fitch, Everett H	192	1883 d	Howells, Anthony	253
1900/	Flynn, Leo J	218	1875	Howland, Clark P.	14

٠

266

Þ

Index

		1			/
CLASS		PAGE	CLASS	•	PAGE
1880	Hubbard, John T.	28	1926	Manus, Ernest H.	133
1884 /	Hubbell, Charles H.	210	1897 dp	Marble, Fred E	195
			1892 /	Marlatt, William H.	215
1898 s	Ingraham, Edward R.	161	1902 f	Marston, Roy L.	231
	T .1 337"11. T		1902	Mason, Frank T.	92
1905	Jack, William J.	100	1889	Mason, Henry E	46
1901 /	Jackson, William H	219	1906 s	Merwin, Marcus G	173
1886	Jaggard, Herbert A.	38	1886 ml	Meyer, Frank A.	250
1894 /	Jaques, Jo R.	216	1901 dp	Mıyake, Ishıro	243
1885	Jarvis, William	36	1895 s	Morrogh, Charles A	159
1887	Jennings, Oliver G	42	1894	Moseley, Henry Perkins	66
1878	Jewett, Carlton R.	23	1916	Moss, J Lathrop, Jr	123
1912	Jewett, McCormick	234	1887 d	Mueller, John H	226
1901 S	Johnson, Nelson C	167	1880 5	Munger, Carl E	145
1884	Jones, Daniel A.	33	1926	Munger, John C.	133
1900 d	Jones, George Tudor	254	1902 /	Murtagh, James C	248
1901 <i>s</i>	Jones, Hugh MacK	168	-		
1879	Jones, T. A. Frank	26	1892 5	Nettleton, Edward S	155
1908 s	Kane, John I.	*77	1883	Nettleton, Walter	33
1900 3	Kauffman, Harold M.	177	1923	Newman, Ansley	131
•••	Keating, Vincent L	75 121	1910 s	Nie, Sih-zung	24 I
1913 1909	Kennedy, Leonard	113	1903 ma	Nishiike, Nariyoshi	242
1891	Kenyon, Albert J.	113 214	1927	Noonan, William F	134
1898	Kernochan, Frederic	83	1879 s	Nordhoff, Walter	144
1892 s	Kimball, James H.	238	1915 s	Norris, Robert V , Jr	186
1891	Kingsbury, Howard Tha	-	_		
1908 m	Kinne, George C.	• •	1891	Oastler, Frank R	52
1900 //	Kittredge, Francis W	243 117	1913 5	O'Hara, James R.	184
1916	Knapp, James W	122	1885 s	Oliver, Henry	148
1910	mapp, James W	1 4 4	1901 d	Omwake, George L.	228
1935 dp	Landıs, William A.	201	1900	Ordway, Clarence E	89
1874	Leal, John	13			
1918	Lewis, Clement B	127	1892	Paddock, Robert A.	55
1901 5	Lewis, Cooke	168	1935 dp	Paquin, Felix, Jr	202
1899 s	Lindenberg, Frank H.	164	1907	Patterson, Simon T.	108
1882 d	Lindsay, George	224	1933	Patterson, Thomas M, J	r 137
1875 s	Lindsley, C. Purdy	140	1895 ml	Pearson, Adam	221
1879	Livingston, Herman	27	1871	Peck, Charles H.	12
1903	Lockwood, Franklin	, 94	1870	Phelps, Carrington	11
1907	Longley, Ŵilliam H	107	1876	Philip, John H	15
· · · ·			1 1019	Dhilling Howard N	107

- JJJ - E	—		-	• •	-
1874	Leal, John	13			
1918	Lewis, Clement B	127	1892	Paddock, Robert A.	55
1901 5	Lewis, Cooke	168	1935 dp	Paquin, Felix, Jr	202
1899 2	Lindenberg, Frank H.	164	1907	Patterson, Simon T.	108
1882 d	Lindsay, George		1933	Patterson, Thomas M, Jr	137
1875 5	Lindsley, C. Purdy	140	1895 ml	Pearson, Adam	221
1879	Livingston, Herman	27	1871	Peck, Charles H.	12
1903	Lockwood, Franklin	04	1870	Phelps, Carrington	11
1907	Longley, William H	107		Philip, John H	15
1908 dp	Lytle, Ernest B.		1917	Phillips, Howard N	125
<i>,</i> ,	y y) -	1881	Pickersgill, Frederick	30
1908	McCarthy, John C	109	1886 <i>d</i>	Plass, Norman	225
1916	McLennan, John H	123	1906	Prendergast, Richard	105
1911 5	McNeale, Donald M		1906 d	Pritchard, Harry O.	229
1909	McWilliams, Arthur P.	114		· ·	
1910/	Malcolm, James L.	•	1893	Rathbone, Gerald L.	61
1907 s	Manning, Henry S.		1933 s	Rawolle, Frederick C., Jr.	189
	-				

	•	-	-		
CLASS		PAGE			PAGE
1895	Rawson, Frederick H	70	1901 ma	Takahashi, Teisaburo	241
1902	Richardson, Milo B, Jr.	93		Tanaka, Kazusada	242
1889	Richardson, Oliver H	47	1884	Taylor, William A.	35
1879 d	Ricketts, Charles H	223	1869	Terry, Henry T	10
1914 5	Robertson, W Lowell	184		Thaw, Benjamin, Jr	17 7
1880 /	Robinson, Edward L.	244	1898 m	Thomas, Alfred H	205
1891 /	Roby, John W	215	1892	Thompson, Alfred C	57
1922	Rockwell, Stanton E.	236	1899	Thompson, Clarence E,	Jr. 87
1876	Rodger, James G.	15	1888 d	Thrush, John O	253
1909 ml	Rogers, John C.	251	1882	Titche, Bernard	31
1916	Roll, Ralph L	124	1900 s	Troup, Philip	165
1882 /	Royal, Nelson	245	1897	Trowbridge, Luther S.	76
1902 s	Runyon, Carroll T	170	1895	Truesdell, G. Frederick	72
-	•	•	1896	Truslow, Henry A.	74
1898 5	Sanford, Irvin W	162	1911	Tsao, Yun-siang	118
1892 5	Sargent, William P	156	-		
1923	Schley, Charles E.	131	1907 s	VanBrunt, George W.	175
1909	Schulze, Theodore	114	1864 s	VanHarlingen, Arthur	139
1904	Scott, Basil J	98	1923 ma	Voigt, H William	193
1901	Scoville, Herbert	90	1000	Waddell Canall I	
1914	Scudder, Sidney J	235	1903	Waddell, Carroll J.	95
1919	Seitz, Robert W.	128	1901 s	Wade, Jeptha H., Jr Wada, Babart P	169
1892 5	Sessions, Albert L.	156	1893	Wade, Robert B.	61
1899 5	Sheedy, George F	240	1911 s	Warren, Samuel	181
1884	Sherwood, Taylor		1869	Warren, Stanley P	II
1904	Shields, Thomas M	34	1906 ma	Watanabe, Zenjiro	242
1899 <i>ma</i>	Shirasu, Chohei	99 241	1892	Webster, Stuart	58
1902 dp	Shumaker, E Ellsworth	196	1891	Weed, Hanford S	53
1898 s	Sikes, Zenas H	162	1907	Wells, Harold S.	109
1898	Simmons, Frank H	84	1878	Wendell, B Rush	24
-	Smith, Carl B	-	1877	Wheaton, Frank W	18
1905		101	1875 5	Wheeler, Alfred N.	141
1896	Smith, George Arthur	72	1914 5	Wheeler, Leslie	185
1920 1910 de	Smith, N Jerome	129	1875 5	Whipple, Henry S.	142
1910 dp	Smyth, Mary W	198	1898	Whitaker, Ezra D.	85
1910 <i>ma</i>	Snoddy, Elmer E	242	1881 m	White, Caryl F. S.	203
1892	Snydacker, Emanuel F	233	1912 m	White, Herman R	206
1908	Sperry, Joel A	110	1908	Wick, Henry C , Jr.	111
1881	Sprague, Henry H	30	1884	Wilder, Amos P	35
1890 5	Spruce, Charles B	151	1882 5	Williams, Chauncey P	146
1896	Stalter, E Gerald	73	1893	Williams, Edward M.	62
1912	Stanton, Lewis N	234	1919 5	Williams, John G.	187
1921 d	Steiner, Raymond W	255	1906 f	Wilmot, George A	257
1899 ma	Stevens, Elbert M.	190	1878 5	Winslow, Francis D	144
1888	Stevenson, Edward A	44	1887	Woodward, Frederick S	43
1865	Stimson, Henry A	6	1894	Wright, William R.	66
1877	Strong, Charles H	18	1878	Wurts, John	24
1892	Swayne, Alfred H	55			•
1898 5	Svkes, Walter H, Jr	163		Yamagawa, Kenjiro	237
1892	Synnott, Martin J	56	1878 d	Young, William H.	223

FORMS OF BEQUEST

BECAUSE of the constantly increasing tendency on the part of alumni and other friends to provide for the growing needs of the University by bequests, and the many inquiries received each year as to the proper wording thereof, there are given below forms for the convenience of those who plan to remember Yale in their wills.

(GENERAL)

I give and bequeath to Yale University, a corporation existing under the laws of the State of Connecticut, and located in the City of New Haven, in said State,

dollars, to be used at the discretion of the Corporation of said University.

(SPECIFIC)

I give and bequeath to Yale University, a corporation existing under the laws of the State of Connecticut, and located in the City of New Haven, in said State,

dollars, and direct that the income therefrom shall be used for the purposes following, that is to say:

(Here specify in detail the purposes.)

• . •

As in some states a bequest for charitable purposes is void unless the will is executed at least a certain length of time (varying in different states) before the death of the testator, and is attested by two or more credible, and at the same time disinterested, witnesses, it is advisable to ascertain the requirements of the law in the state in which the testator resides, and to be careful that such requirements are complied with